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BOARD’S REPORT

To,

The Members,

CAPITAL INDIA FINANCE LIMITED (“the Company”)

Your Board of Directors (“Board”) take pride in presenting their 26th Annual Report together with the Audited Financial 
Statements (both on standalone and consolidated basis) (“Financial Statements”) for the Financial Year ended on 
March 31, 2020 (“FY 2019-20” or “period under review”). The summarised consolidated and standalone financial 
performance of your Company is as follows:

1.	 FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS	

(Rs. In Lakhs)

Particulars Consolidated Standalone

Year ended
31st March, 

2020

Year ended
31st March, 

2019

Year ended
31st March, 

2020

Year ended
31st March, 

2019

Total Income 11,899.48 5965.19 10,524.04 5,689.15

Less: Total Expenditure 9,465.24 4845.80 6,399.65 4,097.94

Profit before tax 2,434.24 1119.39 4,124.39 1,591.21

Less: Tax Expense 1,048.18 468.41 1,086.13 471.13

Profit for the year (Owners of the 
Company)

1,723.08 650.98 3,038.26 1,120.08

Other Comprehensive Income 11.59 (5.08) 7.08 (5.08)

Total Comprehensive Income for the 
year (Owners of the Company)

1,734.67 645.90 3,045.34 1,115.00

Add: Balance brought forward from 
previous year

534.99 135.17 1,020.09 151.16

Less: Appropriations:

Transfer to Special Reserve under 
Section 45-IC of the RBI Act, 1934

607.64 203.91 607.65 203.91

Dividend on equity shares 310.94 35.03 310.94 35.03

Tax on Dividend 63.98 7.13 63.98 7.13

Other Additions/Deductions during 
the year

93.33 - - -

Surplus in the Statement of Profit 
and Loss 

1,193.77 534.99 3,082.86 1,020.09

2.	 RESERVES 

	 In order to comply with the provisions of Section 45-IC of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934, (“RBI Act, 
1934”), the Company has transferred Rs. 607.64 Lakhs to Special Reserve Funds and has also made a provision 
of Rs.67.83 Lakhs for Employee Stock Options and Rs. 1,338.98 Lakhs for Expected Credit Losses (‘ECL’) during 
the period under review. Total provisions for ECL of the Company as at the end of FY 2019-20 is Rs. 1,733.71 
Lakhs.

	 Except as mentioned above, no amount was transferred to any reserve by the Company during the period under 
review.
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3.	 SHARE CAPITAL 

	 During the period under review, there is no change in the Authorised and Paid up share Capital of the Company.

	 As on March 31, 2020, the authorised share capital of the Company is Rs. 21,400 Lakhs divided in to 21,40,00,000 
(Twenty-one crore forty lakhs) equity shares of Rs.10/- (Rupees Ten only) each and paid up share capital of the 
Company is Rs. 7,773.43 Lakhs divided into 7,77,34,260 (Seven crore seventy-seven lakhs thirty-four thousand 
two hundred sixty) equity shares of Rs.10/- (Rupees Ten only) each. 

4.	 NON-CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES

	 During the period under review, the Securities Issuance Committee of the Board had vide resolution dated January 
13, 2020, allotted 40 (Forty) Unlisted Unrated Redeemable Non-Convertible Debentures having face value of 
Rs.100 Lakhs each on private placement basis for an aggregate amount of Rs. 4,000 Lakhs. Necessary disclosures 
in this connection has been made to BSE Limited, the stock exchange where the equity shares of the Company are 
listed.

5.	 INFORMATION ON THE STATE OF AFFAIRS OF THE COMPANY

	 The Company is engaged in the business of finance and investments as a Non–Banking Financial Company without 
accepting public deposits for which the certificate of registration has been obtained from the Department of Non-
Banking Supervision, Reserve Bank of India. 

	 During the period under review, on standalone basis, the Company’s total income was Rs.10,524.04 Lakhs as 
compared to Rs.5,689.15 Lakhs during the previous financial year and the Company has earned a Profit Before 
Tax of Rs. 4,124.39 Lakhs as compared to Rs. 1,591.21 Lakhs during the previous financial year. 

	 The inter-corporate loans and investments made by the Company during the period under review, were in the 
ordinary course of business and at arm’s length. The Financial Statements are forming part of this Annual Report.

6.	 CHANGE IN NATURE OF BUSINESS

	 There was no change in the nature of business activity of the Company during the period under review.

7.	 DETAILS OF HOLDING, SUBSIDIARY, JOINT VENTURE OR ASSOCIATE COMPANY(IES)

	 During the period under review, the Company does not have any Holding/Joint Venture/Associate Company and 
has the following 7 (Seven) subsidiaries:

S.No. Name of Subsidiary Percentage of 
Shareholding

1 Capital India Home Loans Limited 99.70%

2 Capital India Asset Management Private Limited 100%

3 Capital India Wealth Management Private Limited 100%

4 CIFL Holdings Private Limited 100%

5 CIFL Investment Manager Private Limited 100%

6 Rapipay Fintech Holding Private Limited 100%

7 Rapipay Fintech Private Limited 62.8%*

	 *including 26.66% of holding through its Subsidiary Company i.e. Rapipay Fintech Holding Private Limited

Note:

	 	 As required under Rule 8 (1) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014, the Board’s Report has been prepared 
on Standalone Financial Statements and a Report on the Performance and Financial Position of each of the 
subsidiaries, as included in the Consolidated Financial Statements, is presented herewith in Form AOC-I as 
Annexure-I.

	 	 In terms of Regulation 16(1)(c) of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (“Listing Regulations”), the Board of Directors adopted a Policy 
for Determining Material Subsidiary (“Material Subsidiary Policy”) in terms of which none of the subsidiaries 
are material subsidiaries of the Company. Details of the Material Subsidiary Policy are given in the Corporate 
Governance Report which is annexed to and forms an integral part of this Board’s Report.
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	 	 The standalone audited financial statements of each of the subsidiaries are available on the website of the 
Company at https://capitalindia.com under the “Investors” tab. Members interested in obtaining a copy of 
the standalone audited financial statements of the subsidiaries may write to the Company Secretary at the 
Registered Office of the Company.

	 	 In accordance with the third proviso of Section 136 (1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rules made 
thereunder, the Annual Report of the Company, containing therein its Financial Statements would be placed 
on the website of the Company at https://capitalindia.com (“Website”) under the “Investors” tab. 

8.	 DIVIDEND

	 Your Directors are pleased to recommend a final dividend of Re. 0.10/- (Rupee Ten Paisa only) per equity share for 
the FY 2019-20 payable to those shareholders whose names appear in the Register of Member as on the Record 
Date. The final dividend on 7,77,34,260 (seven crores seventy-seven lakhs thirty four thousand two hundred and 
sixty) equity shares, if approved by the members of the Company at the ensuing Annual General Meeting, would 
entail an outflow of Rs. 77,73,426/- (Rupees Seventy-seven lakhs seventy three thousand four hundred twenty six 
only) towards dividend.

9.	 INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM AND INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS

	 The Company has in place an adequate Internal Financial Control System with reference to the financial statements 
and Internal Control System, commensurate with the size, scale and complexity of its operations.

	 The Directors have laid down Internal Financial Control procedures to be followed by the Company which ensures 
the compliance with various policies, practices and statutes, keeping in view the organization’s pace of growth and 
increasing complexity of operations for orderly and efficient conduct of its business. 

	 The Audit Committee of the Board, is vested with the powers to evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Internal Financial Control system of the Company, thereby ensuring that:

	 1.	 Systems have been established to ensure that all the transactions are executed in accordance with the 
management’s general and specific authorisation. 

	 2.	 Systems and procedures exist to ensure that all the transactions are recorded so as to permit preparation of 
Financial Statements in conformity with the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) or any other 
criteria applicable to such Statements, and to maintain accountability for effective and the timely preparation 
of reliable financial information.

	 3.	 Access to assets is permitted only with the management’s general and specific authorisation. No assets of the 
Company are allowed to be used for personal purposes, except in accordance with the terms of employment 
or except as specifically permitted.

	 4.	 The existing assets of the Company are verified /checked at reasonable intervals and appropriate action is 
taken with respect to differences, if any.

	 5.	 Appropriate systems are in place for prevention and detection of frauds and errors and for ensuring adherence 
to the Company’s various policies as listed on the Website and otherwise disseminated internally.  

10.	 DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL

	 The composition of the Board is governed by the relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and rules 
made thereunder, the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015, the Articles of Association of the Company, and all other applicable laws and is in accordance 
with the best practices in corporate governance from time to time.

	 i.	 Board of Directors

		  The Company aims for an appropriate mix of Executive, Non-Executive and Independent Director to maintain 
the independence of Board and separate its functions of governance and management. As on March 31, 
2020, the Board of the Company consists of following 6 (Six) directors:
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Sr. 
No

Name DIN Designation Details

1. Mr. Vinod Somani 00327231 Independent 
Director 

Appointed as an Additional Director in the capacity of 
Non – Executive Independent Director by the Board 
w.e.f. December 20, 2017 and as an Independent 
Director by the shareholders in their Annual General 
Meeting held on June 2, 2018.

2. Mr. Yogendra Pal 
Singh

08347484 Independent 
Director 

Appointed as an Additional Director in the capacity of 
Non – Executive Independent Director by the Board 
w.e.f. February 13, 2019 and as an Independent 
Director by the shareholders in their Annual General 
Meeting held on September 30, 2019

3. Mr. Keshav Porwal 06706341 Managing 
Director

Appointed as an Additional Director in the capacity 
of Managing Director by the Board w.e.f. November 
27, 2017 and as Managing Director by the 
shareholders in their Annual General Meeting held 
on June 2, 2018.

4. Mr. Amit Sahai 
Kulshreshtha

07869849 Executive 
Director & 
CEO

Appointed as an Additional Director in the capacity 
of Executive Director & CEO by the Board w.e.f. 
November 27, 2017 and as an Executive Director 
& CEO by the shareholders in their Annual General 
Meeting held on June 2, 2018.

5. Mr. Vineet Kumar 
Saxena

07710277 Non- 
Executive 
Director

Appointed as an Additional Director of the Company 
in the capacity of Non – Executive Director by the 
Board w.e.f. November 27, 2017 and as Non – 
Executive Director by the shareholders in their 
Annual General Meeting held on June 2, 2018.

6. Ms. Shraddha Suresh 
Kamat

07555355 Non- 
Executive 
Director

Appointed as an Additional Director of the 
Company in the capacity of Women Non – Executive 
Director by the Board w.e.f. November 27, 2017 
and as Women Non – Executive Director by the 
shareholders in their Annual General Meeting held 
on June 2, 2018.

	 Further, none of the Directors of your Company are disqualified under the provisions of Section 164 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 and rules made thereunder.

	 ii.	 Fit and Proper Criteria 

		  All the Directors of the Company duly meet the fit and proper criteria stipulated by the Reserve Bank of India.

	 iii.	 Directorships ceased during the year

		  Mrs. Promila Bhardwaj resigned from the position of Independent Director with effect from April 1, 2019 due 
to her personal reasons. Mr. Subodh Kumar resigned from the position of Non-Executive Director with effect 
from August 31, 2019 due to his personal reasons.

	 iv.	 Declaration of Independence:

		  All the Independent Directors of the Company have submitted the declaration of their independence in 
conformity of Section 149(7) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rules made thereunder, stating that they meet 
the criteria of independence as provided in Section 149(6) of the Act and are not disqualified from continuing 
as Independent Directors. 

		  During the period under review, the Independent Directors of the Company had no pecuniary relationship 
or transactions with the Company, other than the sitting fees, commission and reimbursement of expenses 
incurred by them for the purpose of attending the meetings of the Company.
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	 v.	 Retirement by Rotation 

		  In accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and rules made thereunder, and the Articles of 
Association of the Company, Mr. Vineet Kumar Saxena, Non-Executive Director of the Company, is liable to 
retire by rotation at the ensuing Annual General Meeting and has offered his candidature for re-appointment 
as a Non-Executive Director of the Company at the ensuing Annual General Meeting.			 

	 vi.	 Key Managerial Personnel 

		  As on March 31, 2020, the Company has the following KMPs in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2013 and rules made thereunder:

		  Mr. Keshav Porwal 			   -	 Managing Director

		  Mr. Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha 		  - 	 Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer

		  Mr. Neeraj Toshniwal          		  - 	 Chief Financial Officer

		  Mr. Rachit Malhotra     			   - 	 Company Secretary & Compliance Officer

		  During the period under review, there was no change in the Key Managerial Personnel (“KMP”) of the 
Company.

	 vii.	 Board Meetings

		  During the period under review, 4 (Four) Board meetings were held and the intervening gap between the 
meetings were within the period prescribed under the Companies Act, 2013 and rules made thereunder.

	 viii.	 Committees of the Board

		  The following are the Committees constituted by the Board:

		  i)	 Audit Committee;

		  ii)	 Nomination & Remuneration Committee;

		  iii)	 Stakeholder Relationship Committee; 

		  iv)	 Investment Committee; 

		  v)	 Risk Management Committee;

		  vi)	 Asset-Liability Committee;

		  vii)	 Management Committee;

		  viii)	 Credit Committee;

		  ix)	 Securities Issuance Committee; and 

		  x)	 IT Strategy Committee.

		  xi)	 Corporate Social Responsibility Committee

	 ix.	 Composition of the Committees:

		  The following was the composition of the Committees during the period under review: 

Sl.No. Committee meeting Composition

1
 

Audit Committee Mr. Vinod Somani (Chairman)

Mr. Yogendra Pal Singh (Member)

Mr. Vineet Kumar Saxena (Member)

2 Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee

Mr. Vinod Somani (Chairman)

Mr. Yogendra Pal Singh (Member)

Mr. Vineet Kumar Saxena (Member)

3 Stakeholders Relationship 
Committee

Mr. Vinod Somani (Chairman)

Mr. Yogendra Pal Singh (Member)

Mr. Vineet Kumar Saxena (Member)
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4 Investment Committee Mr. Vineet Kumar Saxena (Chairman)

Mr. Keshav Porwal (Member)

Mr. Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha (Member)

5 Risk Management 
Committee

Mr. Achal Kumar Gupta (Chairman)

Mr. Keshav Porwal (Member)

Mr. Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha (Member)

6 Asset-Liability Committee Mr. Vinod Somani (Chairman)

Mr. Keshav Porwal (Member)

Mr. Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha (Member)

7 Management Committee Mr. Keshav Porwal (Chairman)

Mr. Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha (Member)

Mr. Vineet Kumar Saxena (Member)

8 Credit Committee Mr. Vinod Somani (Chairman)

Mr. Keshav Porwal (Member)

Mr. Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha (Member)

Mr. Vineet Kumar Saxena (Member)

9 Securities Issuance 
Committee

Mr. Vinod Somani (Member)

Mr. Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha (Member)

Mr. Vineet Kumar Saxena (Member)

10 IT Strategy Committee Mr. Yogendra Pal Singh (Chairman)

Mr. Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha (Member)

Mr. Vineet Kumar Saxena (Member)

Mr. Manish Gupta (Member)

11 Corporate Social 
Responsibility Committee

Mr. Yogendra Pal Singh (Chairman)

Mr. Keshav Porwal (Member)

Mr. Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha (Member)
	

	 x.	 Board and Committee Meetings

		  Details of meetings of Board and Committees are as below:

S. No Board of Directors / Committee No. of meetings Date of Meetings
1. Board of Directors (Board)

4

May 10, 2019

August 14, 2019

November 12, 2019

February 14, 2020

2 Audit Committee (AC)

4

May 10, 2019

August 14, 2019

November 12, 2019

February 14, 2020

3 Stakeholder Relationship Committee (SRC) 1 November 12, 2019

4 Nomination & Remuneration Committee 
(NRC)

5

May 10, 2019

May 20, 2019

August 14, 2019

November 12, 2019

February 14, 2020
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5 Risk Management Committee (RMC)

3

May 10, 2019

August 20, 2019

November 21, 2019

6 Asset-Liability Committee (ALCO)

4

May 10, 2019

August 14, 2019

November 12, 2019

February 14, 2020

7 Investment Committee (IC)

7

April 15, 2019

August 14, 2019

September 16, 2019

November 12, 2019

November 27, 2019

January 11, 2020

February 26, 2020

8 IT Strategy Committee (IT)
2

August 14, 2019

November 12, 2019

9 Securities Issuance Committee (SIC) Nil Nil

10 Management Committee (MC) 14

May 3, 2019

July 16, 2019

September 4, 2019

November 12, 2019

December 5, 2019

January 27, 2020

March 9, 2020

11 Credit Committee (CC) Nil Nil

12 Corporate Social Responsibility Committee 1 September 27, 2019

	 xi.	 Attendance of Directors/Members at the Board and Committee meetings

		  As per clause 9 of the Secretarial Standard-I on Meetings of the Board of Directors, issued by the Institute of 
Company Secretaries of India, the attendance of Directors/Members at the Board and Committee meetings 
held during the period under review is provided as under:

Name of Director/
Member

Board AC NRC SRC RMC IC SIC MC IT ALCO

Mr.Vinod Somani 4/4 4/4 5/5 1/1 - - - - - 4/4

Mr. Yogendra Pal Singh 4/4 4/4 5/5 1/1 - - - - 2/2 -

Mr. Keshav Porwal 4/4 - - - 3/3 7/7 - 6/7 - 4/4

Mr. Amit Sahai 
Kulshreshtha

4/4 - - - 3/3 7/7 - 7/7 2/2 4/4

Mr. Vineet Kumar Saxena 4/4 4/4 5/5 1/1 - 7/7 - 7/7 2/2 -

Ms. Shraddha Suresh 
Kamat

2/4 - - - - - - - - -

Mr. Subodh Kumar* 1/2 - - - - - - - - -

Mr. Achal Kumar Gupta - - 3/3 - - - -

Mr. Manish Gupta - - - - - - - - 2/2 -

	 *Resigned from the position of Non-Executive Director w.e.f. August 31, 2019
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	 xii.	 Separate Meeting of Independent Directors

		  In accordance with the provisions of Schedule IV to the Act and Regulation 25(3) of the SEBI (LODR) 2015, 
separate meeting of Independent Directors of the Company was held on February 5, 2020 to discuss relevant 
items including the agenda items as prescribed under the applicable laws. The meeting was attended by all the 
Independent Directors of the Company.

10	 POLICIES GOVERNING THE APPOINTMENT AND REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS AND 
EMPLOYEES

	 The Nomination & Remuneration Committee develops the competency requirements of the Board based on the 
industry and strategy of the Company, conducts a gap analysis and recommends the reconstitution of the Board, 
as and when required. It also recommends to the Board, the appointment of Directors having good personal and 
professional reputation and conducts reference checks and due diligence, before recommending them to the Board. 
Besides the above, the Nomination & Remuneration Committee ensures that the new Directors are familiarized with 
the operations of the Company and endeavors to provide relevant training to the Directors.

	 In accordance with the provisions of Section 178 of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Securities and Exchange 
Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, the Board has adopted a Policy 
on diversity of the Board of Directors and a Policy on remuneration of the directors, key managerial personnel 
and other employees. The Policy on Diversity of the Board of Directors have been framed to encourage diversity 
of thought, experience, knowledge, perspective, age and gender in the Board. The Policy on remuneration of 
the directors, key managerial personnel and other employees is aligned to the philosophy on the commitment of 
fostering a culture of leadership with trust. 

	 The Policy on remuneration of the directors, key managerial personnel and other employees aims: (a) that the level 
and composition of remuneration is reasonable and sufficient to attract, retain and motivate Directors, Executives 
and Other Employees of the quality required to run the Company successfully; (b) that relationship of remuneration 
to performance is clear and meets appropriate performance benchmarks; (c) that remuneration to Directors, 
Executives and Other Employees involves a balance between fixed and variable pay reflecting short and long-term 
performance objectives appropriate to the working of the Company and its goals; and (d) to enable the Company 
to provide a well-balanced and performance-related compensation package, taking into account shareholder 
interests, industry standards and relevant Indian corporate regulations. The detailed policy on remuneration of 
the directors, key managerial personnel and other employees is available on the Website of the Company at  
URL https://capitalindia.com

	 The Company has also formulated a Fit and Proper Criteria policy for inter alia determining the qualification, 
technical expertise, positive attributes, integrity and independence of the directors. The Company has received 
declarations from all the Directors of the Company that they are meeting the criteria laid down in the Fit and 
Proper Criteria Policy and the applicable provisions of the Master Direction - Non-Banking Financial Company 
- Systemically Important Non-Deposit taking Company and Deposit taking Company (Reserve Bank) Directions, 
2016 (“Master Directions”) issued by the Reserve Bank of India in this regard.

11	 REMUNERATION OF THE EMPLOYEES

	 Disclosure with respect to the ratio of remuneration of each of the Director and employees of the Company 
as required under the provisions of Section 197(12) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 5(1) of the 
Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, is forming part of this report as  
Annexure II.

	 The statement containing names of top ten employees in terms of remuneration drawn and the particulars of 
employees as required under Section 197(12) of the Companies Act, 2013, read with Rule 5(2) and 5(3) of the 
Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, is provided in a separate 
annexure on the website of the Company which forms part of this report. In terms of Section 136 of the Companies 
Act, 2013, the said annexure is open for inspection at the Registered Office and Corporate Office of the Company. 
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12	 PREVENTION OF SEXUAL HARASSMENT OF WOMEN AT WORKPLACE

	 The Company has framed a Policy on Prevention of Sexual Harassment at Workplace in accordance with the 
applicable laws for all employees of the Company to inter alia ensure that the women employees are not subject to 
any form of sexual harassment and to constitute the Internal Complaints Committee to redress the complaints, if 
any. Your company is fully committed to protect the rights of any women, of any age, whether employed or not, 
who alleges to have been subjected to any act of sexual harassment within the Company’s premises. Your Company 
provides a safe and healthy work environment.

	 During the period under review, there were no cases of sexual harassment reported to the Company.

13	 POLICY ON PERFORMANCE EVALUATION OF THE DIRECTORS, BOARD AND ITS COMMITTEES

	 The Nomination & Remuneration Committee has devised a policy for the performance evaluation of the Independent 
Directors, Board, its Committees and the other individual Directors and has laid down the performance evaluation 
and assessment criteria/parameters. The Independent Directors in terms of Schedule IV to the Companies Act, 2013 
and the provisions of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015, at its separate meeting, evaluated the performance of the Chairman, Non-Independent Directors 
and the Board as a whole.

	 The Nomination & Remuneration Committee carried out the evaluation of every Director’s performance and the 
Board carried out a formal evaluation of its own performance, Board Committees and the performance of each 
of the Directors, without the presence of the Director being evaluated. The criteria/parameters laid down for the 
evaluation of performance of the Independent Directors is provided in the Corporate Governance report, forming 
part of this Annual Report.

14	 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS REPORT

	 As required under Regulation 34 of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015, the Management Discussion and Analysis Report is enclosed as a part of this 
Annual Report.

15	 DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

	 The Board acknowledges the responsibility for ensuring compliance with the provisions of Section 134(3)(c) read 
with Section 134(5) of the Companies Act, 2013 in preparation of the Financial Statements for the financial year 
ended on March 31, 2020 and state: 

	 a.	 that in the preparation of Annual Accounts for the Financial Year ended as at March 31, 2020, the applicable 
Accounting Standards have been followed along with the proper explanation relating to the material departures. 

	 b.	 that the Directors have selected such Accounting Policies and applied them consistently and made judgements 
and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
Company at the Financial Year ended as at March 31, 2020 and of the profit and loss of the Company for 
the Financial Year ended on March 31, 2020.

	 c.	 that the Directors have taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate accounting records 
in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 for safeguarding the assets of the Company 
and for preventing and detecting fraud or other irregularities.

	 d.	 that the Directors have prepared the annual accounts on a going concern basis.

	 e.	 that the Directors have laid down internal financial controls to be followed by the Company and that such 
internal financial controls are adequate and are operating effectively; and

	 f.	 there is a proper system to ensure compliance with the provisions of all applicable laws and that such systems 
are adequate and operating effectively.

	 Based on the framework of internal financial controls and compliance systems established and maintained by the 
Company, work performed by the internal, statutory and secretarial auditors and external consultants, including 
audit of internal financial controls over financial reporting by the statutory auditors, and the reviews performed by 
management and the relevant Board Committees, including the Audit Committee, the Board is of the opinion that 
the Company’s internal financial controls were adequate and effective during the period under review.
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16	 PUBLIC DEPOSITS 

	 The Company did not accept any public deposits during the year under review. Therefore, the disclosures as 
required under the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules made thereunder, and Master Directions are not applicable 
on the Company.

17	 PARTICULARS OF LOANS, GUARANTEES OR INVESTMENTS

	 Loans, guarantees and investments covered under Section 186 of the Companies Act, 2013 forms part of the Notes 
to the Financial Statements provided in this Annual Report.

18	 AUDITORS 

	 a)	 STATUTORY AUDITORS:

		  Pursuant to the provisions of Section 139 of the Companies Act, 2013, M/s Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP, 
Chartered Accountants (Firm Regn. No.: 117366W/W100018), were appointed as the Statutory Auditors of 
the Company at the 24thAnnual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company for a period from the conclusion 
of the said 24thAGM till the conclusion of the 29th AGM of the Company. 

		  The report submitted by the Statutory Auditors on the Financial Statements of the Company forms part of this 
Annual Report. There has been no qualifications, reservations or adverse remarks or disclaimer given by the 
Statutory Auditors in their report.

	 b)	 SECRETARIAL AUDITORS

		  The Board had appointed M/s Naveen Garg & Associates, Company Secretaries, as the Secretarial Auditors 
of the Company to undertake the Secretarial Audit for the financial year 2019-20 in terms of the provisions 
of Section 204 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of 
Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014.

		  The Secretarial Auditors have submitted their report in the Form MR-3, which forms part of this Annual 
Report. There are no observations, reservations or adverse remarks in the Secretarial Audit Report.

	 c)	 INTERNAL AUDITORS

		  The Board had appointed M/s Aneja Associates, Chartered Accountants, as the Internal Auditors to undertake 
internal audit of the Company for the financial year 2019-20 in terms of the provisions of Section 138 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 and rules made thereunder.

19	 COST RECORDS

	 The provisions of the Section 148 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Companies (Cost Records and Audit) 
Rules, 2014, are not applicable on the Company for the period under review.

20	 EXTRACT OF ANNUAL RETURN

	 The details forming part of the extract of the Annual Return in form MGT-9 is annexed herewith as “Annexure III”.

	 The extract of annual return of the Company has been placed on the website of the Company and can be accessed 
at the Website of the Company at URL https://capitalindia.com.

21	 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

	 It has always been the Company’s endeavor to excel through better Corporate Governance and fair and transparent 
practices. The Company has put in place efficient and effective system to ensure proper compliance with regulatory 
provisions. The Company understands and respects its fiduciary role and responsibility towards its stakeholder and 
society at large. 

	 The report on Corporate Governance under regulation 34 read with Schedule V of the Securities and Exchange 
Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 for the financial year 2019-20 
is appended to this Annual Report. 

	 In accordance with the Non-Banking Financial Companies – Corporate Governance (Reserve Bank) Directions, 
2015, issued by Reserve Bank of India, the Company has adopted the Internal Guidelines on Corporate Governance. 
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22	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

	 During the period under review, the transactions entered into with related parties were placed before the Audit 
Committee of the Board for its consideration and noting. The Audit Committee of the Board noted that such 
transactions were in the ordinary course of business and at arm’s length. None of the transaction with related 
party(ies) comes within the ambit of Section 188 of the Companies Act, 2013. Accordingly, the particulars of 
the transactions as prescribed in Form AOC - 2 of the rules prescribed under Chapter IX relating to Accounts of 
Companies under the Companies Act, 2013 are not required to be disclosed as they are not applicable.

	 All related party transactions entered are disclosed in Note 36 of Financial Statements of the Company forming part 
of this Annual Report.

	 In terms of section 188 of the Act read with rules framed thereunder and Regulation 23 of the Listing Regulations, 
your Company has in place Policy on Related Party Transactions dealing with Related Party Transaction. The policy 
is placed on the website of the Company at URL https://capitalindia.com.

23	 CODE OF CONDUCT

	 The Board has approved a Code of Conduct which is applicable to the members of the Board and all the employees 
in the course of day to day operations of the Company. The Code of Conduct has been placed on the website of the 
Company at URL https://capitalindia.com.

	 The Code of Conduct lays down the standard procedure of business conduct which is expected to be followed by the 
Directors and the designated employees in their business dealings and in particular on matters relating to integrity 
in workplace, in business practices and in dealing with stakeholders. All the members of the Board and the Senior 
Management Personnel have confirmed compliance with the Code of Conduct.

24	 VIGIL MECHANISM / WHISTLE BLOWER POLICY

	 Pursuant to the provisions of Section 177(9) & (10) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the rules made 
thereunder and pursuant to the provision of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, the Company has established a Vigil Mechanism to be known as the 
‘Vigil Mechanism Policy’ for its Directors and employees, to report instances of unethical behaviour and actual 
or suspected fraud or violation of the Company’s Code of Conduct. The aim of the policy is to provide adequate 
safeguards against victimisation of the whistle blower who avails the mechanism and provides direct access to the 
Chairman of the Audit Committee, in appropriate or exceptional cases.

	 Accordingly, the Vigil Mechanism Policy has been formulated with a view to provide a mechanism for the Directors 
and employees of the Company to approach the Ethics Officer or the Chairman of the Audit Committee of the 
Company.

	 The purpose of this policy is to provide a framework in order to promote responsible and secure whistle blowing. It 
protects employees willing to raise a concern about serious irregularities within the Company.

	 During the period under review, no such complaint of unethical or improper activity has been received by the 
Company.

25	 COMPLIANCE WITH THE REGULATIONS ISSUED BY THE RESERVE BANK OF INDIA

	 The Company continues to fulfill all the norms and standards laid down under the Master Directions and the other 
applicable regulations issued by the Reserve Bank of India, from time to time.

26	 PREVENTION OF INSIDER TRADING

	 The Company has adopted a revised policy on insider trading with effect from February 14, 2020 namely, the 
Prohibition of Insider Trading Code (“Code”)with a view to regulate the trading in securities by the designated 
persons of the Company. The Code requires pre-clearance for dealing in the Company’s shares and prohibits the 
purchase or sale of Company shares by the designated persons while in possession of unpublished price sensitive 
information in relation to the Company and during the period when the trading window is closed. The Board is 
responsible for the implementation of the Code.

	 The Code can be accessed from the website of the Company at URL https://capitalindia.com/.
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27	 CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS/ 
OUTGO

	 a)	 CONSERVATION OF ENERGY

		  (i)	 Steps taken or impact on conservation of energy - The operations of your Company are not energy-
intensive. However, adequate measures have been initiated for conservation of energy.

		  (ii)	 Steps taken by the Company for utilising alternate source of energy – though the operations of the 
Company are not energy intensive, the Company shall explore alternative source of energy, as and 
when the necessity arises.  

		  (iii)	 Capital investment on energy conservation equipment - Nil 

	 b)	 TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION

		  (i)	 Efforts made towards technology absorption - The minimum technology required for the business has 
been absorbed. 

		  (ii)	 Benefits derived like product improvement, cost reduction, product development or import substitution 
- Not Applicable 

		  (iii)	 In case of imported technology (imported during the last three years reckoned from the beginning of the 
financial year) - Not Applicable 

			   (a)  the details of technology imported;

			   (b)  the year of import;

			   (c)  whether the technology has been fully absorbed; and

			   (d)  if not fully absorbed, areas where absorption has not taken place, and the reasons thereof

		  (iv)	 Expenditure incurred on Research and Development - Not Applicable

	 c)	 FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO 

		  During the year under review, there were no earnings and outgo on account offoreign exchange transactions.

28	 FRAUD REPORTING

	 There was no fraud reported by the Statutory Auditors of the Company, under Section 143(12) of the Companies 
Act, 2013 and rules made thereunder, to the Board during the period under review.

29	 DETAILS OF SIGNIFICANT AND MATERIAL ORDERS PASSED BY THE REGULATORS OR COURTS 
OR TRIBUNALS IMPACTING THE GOING CONCERN STATUS AND COMPANY’S OPERATIONS IN 
FUTURE 

	 There have been no significant and material orders passed by the Regulators or Courts or Tribunals impacting the 
going concern status and Company’s operations in future.

	 Further, no penalties have been levied by the Reserve Bank of India / any other Regulators, during the period under 
review.

30	 MATERIAL CHANGES AND COMMITMENTS, IF ANY

	 There were no material changes and commitments affecting the financial position of the Company which occurred 
between the end of the financial year to which these financial statements relate and the date of this Report.

31	 CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 

	 During the period under review, pursuant to the provisions of Section 135 and Schedule VII to the Companies Act, 
2013, and rules made thereunder, the Company has constituted the Corporate Social Responsibility Committee and 
also approved the Corporate Social Responsibility Policy (“CSR Policy”) on August 14, 2019. 

	 The Company has settled a registered trust namely “Atulya Foundation” to inter alia undertake the CSR activities 
permissible under Schedule VII to the Companies Act, 2013.

	 The Company has contributed Rs.15.00 Lakhs in Atulya Foundation to undertake the CSR activities on the behalf 
of the Company during the financial year 2019-20.
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	 The CSR Policy is placed on the website of the Company at URL https://capitalindia.com and a brief outline of the 
policy and CSR initiatives undertaken by the Company during the year as set out in Annexure-IV of this report in 
the format prescribed in the Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility Policy) Rules, 2014.

32	 CREDIT RATING 

	 During the period under review, the Company has been rated ‘A-‘by Acuite Ratings and Research Limited for raising 
Long term debt of upto Rs. 500 Crore.

33	 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

	 The audited consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended on March 31, 2020are provided in this 
Annual Report which have been prepared in accordance with the relevant Accounting Standards issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

	 The Annual Report including the Balance Sheet, Statement of Profit & Loss, other statements and notes thereto is 
available on the Company’s website at URL www.capitalindia.com.

34	 RISK MANAGEMENT

	 The Risk Management Committee constituted by the Board, has framed and implemented a Risk Management 
framework depicting the process for loan proposal approval, loan management post disbursement and day to day 
monitoring to manage credit risk. It sets out the standards helpful in achieving a high-quality loan portfolio with 
optimal returns. 

	 The framework is regularly reviewed and enhanced in response to changes in the external environment and business 
processes.

35	 HUMAN RESOURCE-INITIATIVES

	 During the period under review, your Company has strengthened its Management team and Core Leadership team 
to steer the Company’s business conscientiously and diligently. Efforts have been put in to attract the best talent from 
the industry to build a strong foundation.

	 Your Company provides an employee friendly environment where employees are empowered and given an 
opportunity to demonstrate their talent, that eventually boost their career growth in the Company.

36	 LISTING OF SECURITIES

	 Presently, the equity shares of the Company are listed on the BSE Limited, Mumbai. The listing fee for the Financial 
Year 2019-20 has been duly paid.

37	 STATEMENT ON COMPLIANCES OF APPLICABLE SECRETARIAL STANDARDS

	 Your Company has devised proper systems to ensure compliance with the provisions of all applicable Secretarial 
Standards and such systems are adequate and operating effectively.

38	 EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTIONS SCHEME

	 In order to motivate, incentivize and reward employees, your Company has instituted the Employee Stock Option 
Scheme in the name of CIFL Employee Stock Option Plan - 2018 (“CIFL ESOP Plan”). The Nomination & 
Remuneration Committee monitors the CIFL ESOP Plan. The CIFL ESOP Plan is in compliance with the Securities 
and Exchange Board of India (Share Based Employee Benefits) Regulations, 2014 (“SEBI SBEB Regulations”). 
Relevant disclosures pursuant to SEBI SBEB Regulations, as on March 31, 2020 are available on the Website of 
the Company at URL https://capitalindia.com.A certificate from M/s Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP, Chartered 
Accountants (Statutory Auditors of the Company), with respect to the implementation of CIFL ESOP Plan would 
be placed before the members at the ensuing Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company and a copy of the 
same shall be available for inspection at the registered office and the corporate office of the Company during the 
working hours.

	 There has been no material change in the CIFL ESOP Plan of the Company during the period under review.

39	 BUSINESS RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

	 The Business Responsibility Report (“BRR”) of your Company for the year 2019-20 forms part of this Annual 
Report as required under Regulation 34(2) (f) of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 and is appended as “Annexure-V”.
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40	 GENERAL DISCLOSURES

	 Your Directors state that no disclosure or reporting is required in respect of the following items as there were no 
transactions on these items during the period under review:

	 a)	 The Company has not bought back any of its securities;

	 b)	 The Company has not issued any bonus share;

	 c)	 The Company has not issued any sweat equity shares;

	 d)	 The Company has not issued equity shares with differential rights as to dividend, voting or otherwise; 

	 e)	 The Company is not liable to transfer amount of dividend lying in the unpaid dividend account to Investor 
Education and Protection Fund (IEPF) pursuant to provisions of Section 125 of the Companies Act, 2013; and

	 f)	 There was no revision in the financial statements between the end of the financial year and the date of this 
report.

41	 MEASURES TAKEN BY THE COMPANY FOR NOVEL CORONAVIRUS DISEASE (“COVID-19”)

	 In January 2020, the World Health Organization (“WHO”) declared the outbreak of a new coronavirus disease in 
Hubei Province, China to be a Public Health Emergency of International Concern. Given the magnitude and the 
extent of its spread, the WHO declared it a Pandemic. Apart from human suffering, it also caused major economic 
disruptions. WHO and public health authorities around the world are taking actions to contain the COVID-19 
outbreak. In order to deal with this public health situation, the corporate sector are playing a key role in implementing 
the strategic policy decision of social distancing, which is most crucial for reducing the rate and extent of the disease 
transmission at community level.

	 Your Company has taken the following measures to contribute towards the containment of the spread of the 
disease:

	 1.	 The Company adopted the wok from home policy from March 18, 2020, well in advance of the spread of 
the disease in and around the offices and/or branches of the Company, so as to maintain the safety of the 
employees and other people; 

	 2.	 The Company has duly filed the web-form ‘Company Affirmation of Readiness towards COVID-19’ deployed 
by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs, on March 23, 2020; and

	 3.	 The Company has pursuant to the Reserve Bank of India circular vide no.: RBI/2019-20/186DOR.No.BP.
BC.47/21.04.048/2019-20 dated March 27, 2020, on COVID-19 – Regulatory Package (COVID Regulatory 
Package), has formulated a Policy on Moratorium of Instalments under COVID-19 RBI Regulatory Package 
that is applicable to all term loan accounts of the Company where in payments are falling due between  
March 1, 2020 to May 31, 2020.
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Form No. MR-3
SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2020
[Pursuant to section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 9 of the Companies (Appointment and 

Remuneration Personnel) Rules, 2014]

To,
The Members,
Capital India Finance Limited
CIN: L74899DL1994PLC128577

I have conducted the secretarial audit of the compliance of applicable statutory provisions and the adherence to good 
corporate practices by Capital India Finance Limited (“Company”). The secretarial audit was conducted in a manner 
that provided me a reasonable basis for evaluating the corporate conducts/statutory compliances and expressing my 
opinion thereon.

Based on my verification of the Company’s books, papers, minutes books, forms and returns filed and other records 
maintained by the Company and also the information provided by the Company, its officers, agents and authorised 
representatives during the conduct of the secretarial audit, I hereby report that in my opinion, the Company has, during 
the audit period covering the financial year ended March 31, 2020, complied with the statutory provisions listed hereunder 
and also that the Company has proper Board processes and compliance mechanism in place, to the extent, in the manner 
and subject to the reporting made hereinafter.

I have examined the books, papers, minutes books, forms and returns filed and other records maintained by the Company 
for the financial year ended on March 31, 2020, according to the provisions of: 

(i)	 The Companies Act, 2013 (the “Act”) and the rules made thereunder, including any modification or re-enactment 
for the time being in force; 

(ii)	 The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 (“SCRA”) and the rules made thereunder; 

(iii)	 The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations and Bye-laws framed thereunder; 

(iv)	 Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the rules and regulations made thereunder to the extent of Foreign 
Direct Investment, Overseas Direct Investment and External Commercial Borrowings, wherever applicable; 

(v)	 The following Regulations and Guidelines prescribed under the Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992 
(“SEBI Act”): - 

	 (i)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and Takeovers) Regulations, 
2011;

	 (ii)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015;

	 (iii)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2009;

	 (iv)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Share based Employee Benefits) Regulation, 2014;

	 (v)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing of Debt Securities) Regulations, 2008 

	 (vi)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Registrars to an Issue and Share Transfer Agents) Regulations, 
1993 regarding the Companies Act, 2013 and dealing with client 

	 (vii)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Delisting of Equity Shares) Regulations, 2009 (Not Applicable);

	 (viii)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Buyback of Securities) Regulations, 1998 (Not Applicable); 

	 (ix)	 Securities and Exchange Board of India (Depositories and Participants) Regulations, 2018; and

	 (x)	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulation, 
2015.

(vi)	 I have relied on the representation made by the Company and its officer for system and mechanism framed by the 
Company for compliances under the following Acts, Laws & Regulations of the Company:   

	 o	 Employees Provident Fund and Miscellaneous Provisions Act, 1952 and Provisions of Employee State 
Insurance Act, 1948
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	 o	 Workmen’s Compensation Act, 1923, Equal Remuneration Act, 1976, and all other allied labour laws, as 
informed / confirmed to me;

	 o	 Income Tax Act, 1961;

	 o	 Finance Act, 1994;

	 o	 Prevention of Money Laundering Act, 2002;

	 o	 Goods and Service Tax Act, 2017

	 o	 Maharashtra Shops and Establishments Act, 1948;

	 o	 Delhi Shops and Commercial Establishment Act, 1954;

	 o	 Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013;

	 o	 Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 and rules, regulations, circulars, notification issued by Reserve Bank of India 
from time to time for Non-Banking Finance Company;

I have also examined compliance with the applicable clauses of the following:

	 (i)	 Secretarial Standard issued by The Institute of Company Secretaries of India; and

	 (ii)	 The Uniform Listing Agreement entered into by the Company with BSE Limited as per Securities and 
Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulation, 2015.

During the period under review the Company has complied with the provisions of the Act, Rules, Regulations, Guidelines, 
Standards, etc. mentioned above.

I further report that: -

o	 The Board of Directors of the Company is duly constituted with proper balance of Executive Directors, Non- 
Executive Directors, Independent Directors and Woman Director. The changes in the composition of the Board of 
Directors that took place during the period under review were carried out in compliance with the provisions of the 
Act;

o	 Adequate notice is given to all Directors to schedule the Board/Committee Meetings, Agenda and detailed notes on 
agenda were sent at least seven days in advance and a system exist for seeking and obtaining further information 
and clarification on the agenda items before the meeting and for meaningful participation at the meeting;

o	 All decisions of the Board and Committees were carried with requisite majority while the dissenting members’ views 
are captured and recorded as part of the minutes.

I further report that based on review of compliance mechanism established by the Company and on the basis of the 
Compliance Certificate(s) issued by the Company Secretary & Compliance Officer and taken on record by the Board 
of Directors at their meeting(s), I have an opinion that there are adequate systems and processes in the Company, 
commensurate with the size and operations of the company to monitor and ensure compliance with applicable laws, rules, 
regulations and guidelines.

I further report that during the audit period the Company has following specific events / actions having a major impact 
on Company’s affair in pursuance of the referred laws, rules, regulations, standards etc.:

o	 The Shareholders of the Company vide resolution passed through Postal Ballot dated January 1, 2020 have 
approved material related party transactions with Rapipay Fintech Private Limited and Rapipay Fintech Holding 
Private Limited for upto an aggregate amount of Rs. 50,00,00,000/- (Rupees Fifty Crore only), 

o	 Allotment of 40 (Forty) Unlisted Unrated Unsecured Redeemable Non-Convertible Debentures having face value of 
Rs. 1,00,00,000/- (Rupees One Crore Only) each bearing fixed rate of interest @ 9% per annum for an aggregate 
amount of Rs. 40,00,00,000 (Rupees Forty Crores only), vide resolution passed by the Securities Issuance Committee 
of the Board through circulation dated January 13, 2020;

o	 Granted employee stock options pursuant to the CIFL Employee Stock Option Plan, 2018, in the following manner:

	 a)	 3,05,000 (Three Lakhs and Five Thousand) options exercisable into not more than 3,05,000 (Three Lakhs 
and Five Thousand) equity shares of the Company of face value of Rs. 10/- (Rupees Ten only) each, fully paid-
up, vide resolution passed by the Nomination & Remuneration Committee of the Board in its meeting dated 
May 20, 2019; 
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	 b)	 40,000 (Forty Thousand) options exercisable into not more than 40,000 (Forty Thousand) equity shares of 
the Company of face value of Rs. 10/- (Rupees Ten Only) each, fully paid-up, vide resolution passed by the 
Nomination & Remuneration Committee of the Board in its meeting dated August 14, 2019; and 

	 c)	 70,000 (Seventy Thousand) options exercisable into not more than 70,000 (Seventy Thousand) equity shares 
of the Company of face value of Rs. 10/- (Rupees Ten only) each, fully paid-up vide resolution passed by the 
Nomination & Remuneration Committee of the Board in its meeting dated November 12, 2019.

For Naveen Garg & Associates
(Company Secretaries)

(Naveen Garg)
Proprietor

Membership No: - 32159                                                                                     
CP No: -11815

Date: 26/05/2020
Place: New Delhi

This report is to be read with my letter of even date which is annexed as “Annexure A” and forms an integral part of this 
report.
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“Annexure A”

To,											         
The Members,
Capital India Finance Limited
CIN: L74899DL1994PLC128577

Our Secretarial Audit Report for the Financial Year March 31, 2020 is to be read along with this letter.

1.	 It is the responsibility of the management of the Company to maintain secretarial records, devise proper system 
to ensure compliance with the provisions of all applicable laws and regulations and to ensure that the systems are 
adequate and operate effectively.

Auditor’s Responsibility

2.	 My responsibility is to express an opinion on these secretarial records, standards and procedures followed by the 
Company with respect to secretarial compliances.

3.	 I believe that audit evidence and information obtained from the Company’s management is adequate and appropriate 
for us to provide a basis for my opinion.

4.	 Wherever required, I have obtained the management’s representation about compliance of laws, rules and regulations 
and happening of events etc.

Disclaimer

5.	 The Secretarial Audit Report is neither an assurance as to the future visibility of the Company nor of the efficiency 
or effectiveness with which the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

6.	 I have not verified the correctness and appropriateness of financial records and books of accounts of the Company.

For Naveen Garg & Associates
(Company Secretaries)

											         

(Naveen Garg)
Proprietor

Date:26/05/2020 	 Membership No:- 32159                                                                                     
Place: New Delhi 	 CP No:-11815
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Annexure – I

Form AOC-1

(Pursuant to first proviso to sub-section (3) of Section 129 read with Rule 5 of Companies 
(Accounts) Rules, 2014)

Statement containing salient features of the financial statement of subsidiaries/ associate 
companies/ joint ventures

Part-A: Subsidiaries	 (Rs. In Lakhs)

Sr. 
No.

Name of 
subsidiary 
companies

Capital India 
Home Loans  

Limited

Capital 
India Wealth 
Management 

Private 
Limited

Capital 
India Asset 

Management 
Private 
Limited

CIFL 
Holdings 
Private 
Limited

CIFL 
Investment 
Manager 

Private Limited

Rapipay 
Fintech 

Holding Private 
Limited 

Rapipay 
Fintech Private 

Limited 

1 The date since 
when the 
subsidiary was 
acquired 

11 August 2017 29 August 
2017

12 September 
2017

18 September 
2017

14 September 
2017

20 September 
2019

21 September 
2019

2 Reporting year 
for the subsidiary

 31 March 2020  31 March 
2020

 31 March 
2020

 31 March 
2020

 31 March 2020  31 March 2020  31 March 2020

3 Reporting 
currency and 
exchange rate as 
on the last date 
of the relevant 
Financial year 
in the case 
of foreign 
subsidiaries.

 Not Applicable  Not Applicable  Not Applicable  Not 
Applicable 

 Not Applicable  Not Applicable  Not Applicable 

4 Share Capital 9,002.50 3.00 5.00 3.00 3.00 936.51 3,320.00

5 Reserves & 
surplus

(1,168.42) (2.00) (2.37) (2.00) (2.00) (52.92) (1,856.03)

6 Total Assets 9,536.70 1.34 2.93 1.35 1.35 885.79 5,567.88

7 Total Liabilities 1,702.62 0.34 0.30 0.34 0.34 2.20 3,642.07

8 Investments 863.41 - - - - 885.00 -

9 Turnover 801.08 - - - - - 794.28

10 Profit before tax (777.73) (0.64) (0.66) (0.64) (0.64) (52.92) (1,366.25)

11 Provision for tax (39.14) - - - - - (338.31)

12 Profit after tax (738.59) (0.64) (0.66) (0.64) (0.64) (52.92) (1,027.94)

13 Proposed 
dividend

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

14 % of 
shareholding

99.70% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 62.8*

*including 26.66% of holding through its Subsidiary Company i.e. Rapipay Fintech Holding Private Limited

Part B: Associates & Joint Ventures

Not Applicable

For and on behalf of Board of Directors 
Capital India Finance Limited

Keshav Porwal	 Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha	 Neeraj Toshniwal	 Rachit Malhotra
Managing Director	 Executive Director & CEO	 Chief Financial Officer	 Company Secretary & 		
DIN - 06706341	 DIN – 07869849	 PAN - ACCPT2249N	 Compliance Officer
			   M. No. A39894
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Annexure II

Particulars of employees for the year ended on March 31, 2020 as required under Section 197 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 5 of Companies (Appointment & Remuneration of Managerial 
Personnel) Rules, 2014:         

The ratio of the remuneration of each director to the median 
remuneration of the employees of the company for the financial 
year

Name of the Director Ratio to the median

Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha 10.49

Keshav Porwal 10.03

The percentage increase in remuneration of each director, Chief 
Financial Officer, Chief Executive Officer, Company Secretary or 
Manager, if any, in the financial year

Name of Director/CS/
CFO

% increase

Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha

Keshav Porwal

Rachit Malhotra

Neeraj Toshniwal

82.11

73.39

82.04

54.16

The percentage increase in the median remuneration of 
employees in the financial year

There is decrease in the median remuneration of 
employees in the financial year.

The number of permanent employees on the rolls of Company 95 as on March 31, 2020.

Average percentile increase already made in the salaries of 
employees other than the managerial personnel in the last 
financial year and its comparison with the percentile increase in 
the managerial remuneration and justification thereof and point 
out if there are any exceptional circumstances for increase in the 
managerial remuneration

Percentage increase in the salaries of employees 
other than KMPs – 36%

Percentage increase in managerial remuneration  - 
73%.

Affirmation that the remuneration is as per the remuneration 
policy of the company

Yes; the remuneration paid is as per the 
remuneration policy of the company.
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Annexure-III
Form No. MGT-9

EXTRACT OF ANNUAL RETURN
As on the financial year ended on March 31, 2020

[Pursuant to section 92(3) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rule 12(1) of the Companies 
(Management and Administration) Rules, 2014]

I.	 REGISTRATION AND OTHER DETAILS:

CIN : L74899DL1994PLC128577

Registration Date : 16/11/1994

Name of the Company : Capital India Finance Limited

Category / Sub-Category of the Company : Company Limited by Shares

Address of the Registered office and contact 
details

: 2nd Floor, DLF Centre, Sansad Marg, New Delhi-110001

Whether listed company Yes 

Name, Address and Contact details of Registrar 
and Transfer Agent, if any

: KFin Technologies Private Limited,
(formerly known as Karvy Fintech Private Limited),    
Karvy Selenium Tower B, Plot 31-32, Gachibowli, 
Financial District, Nanakramguda, Hyderabad – 500 032
Contact No: +91 040 - 67162222
Fax No: +91 40 23001153 
E-mail: venu.sp@karvy.com

II.	 PRINCIPAL BUSINESS ACTIVITIES OF THE COMPANY

	 All the business activities contributing 10% or more of the total turnover of the Company shall be stated:

Name and Description of main products/ 
Services

NIC Code of the Product/ 
service

% to total turnover of the 
Company

Financing & Investments – granting loans 65923 100.00%

III.	 PARTICULARS OF HOLDING, SUBSIDIARY AND ASSOCIATE COMPANIES:

Sl. 
No.

NAME AND ADDRESS OF 
THE COMPANY

CIN/GLN HOLDING/ 
SUBSIDIARY/
ASSOCIATE

% of Shares 
Held

Applicable
Section

1 Capital India Home Loans 
Limited

U65990DL2017PLC322041 Subsidiary 99.7% Section 2(87)(ii)

2 Capital India Asset 
Management Private Limited

U65999DL2017PTC323549 Subsidiary 100% Section 2(87)(ii)

3 Capital India Wealth 
Management Private Limited

U65999DL2017PTC322881 Subsidiary 100% Section 2(87)(ii)

4 CIFL Holdings Private 
Limited

U65990DL2017PTC323832 Subsidiary 100% Section 2(87)(ii)

5 CIFL Investment Manager 
Private Limited

U65929DL2017PTC323719 Subsidiary 100% Section 2(87)(ii)

6 Rapipay Fintech Holding 
Private Limited 

U65990DL2019PTC345495 Subsidiary 100% Section 2(87)(ii)

7 Rapipay Fintech Private 
Limited 

U72200DL2009PTC189149 Subsidiary 62.8%* Section 2(78)(ii)

*including 26.66% of holding through its Subsidiary Company i.e. Rapipay Fintech Holding Private Limited
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IV.	 SHAREHOLDING PATTERN (Equity Share Capital Break up as percentage of Total Equity)

	 i.	 Category-wise Share Holding
Category of
Shareholders

No. of Shares held at the beginning of the year No. of Shares held at the end of the year % change 
during the 

year Demat Physical Total % of 
Total 

Shares

Demat Physical Total % of 
Total 

Shares

A. Promoters
(1) Indian         

a) Individual/ HUF - - - - - - - - -

b) Central Govt. - - - - - - - - -

c) State Govt.(s)

d) Bodies Corp 5,67,75,720 - 5,67,75,720 73.04 5,67,75,720 - 5,67,75,720 73.04 -

e) Banks/FI - - - - - - - - -

f) Any Other - - - - - - - - -

SUB TOTAL (A) (1): 5,67,75,720 - 5,67,75,720 73.04 5,67,75,720 - 5,67,75,720 73.04 -
(2) Foreign - - - - - - - - -
a) NRI- Individuals - - - - - - - - -

b) Other Individuals - - - - - - - - -

c) Bodies Corp. - - - - - - - - -

d) Banks/FI - - - - - - - - -

e) Any other… - - - - - - - - -
SUB TOTAL: (A) (2) - - - - - - - - -
Total Shareholding of 
Promoter (A)= (A)(1)+(A)(2)

5,67,75,720 - 5,67,75,720 73.04 5,67,75,720 - 5,67,75,720 73.04 -

B. PUBLIC SHAREHOLDING
(1) Institutions - - - - - - - - -

a) Mutual Funds - - - - - - - - -

b) Banks / FI - - - - - - - - -

c) Central Govt. - - - - - - - - -

d) State Govt.(s) - - - - - - - - -

e) Venture Capital Funds - - - - - - - - -

f) Insurance Companies - - - - - - - - -

g) FIIs - - - - - - - - -

h) Foreign Venture Capital 
Funds

- - - - - - - - -

i) Others (specify) - - - - - - - - -
SUB TOTAL (B)(1): - - - - - - - - -
(2) Non Institutions - - - - - - - - -
a) Bodies corporate 16,46,,572 - 16,46,572 21.18 16,45,823 - 16,45,823 21.17 (0.01)

i)
ii)

Indian
Overseas

6 6 6 6

b) Individuals

i) Individual shareholders 
holding nominal share 
capital upto Rs. 2 Lakh 

3,77,813 - 3,77,813 0.49 3,41,590 - 3,41,590 0.44 (0.05)

ii) Individual shareholders 
holding nominal share 
capital in excess of Rs 2 
Lakh

41,15,001 - 41,15,001 5.29 41,58,714 - 41,58,714 5.29 (0.00)

c) Others (specify) - -  - - - - - - - 

i) Non-Resident Indian - -  - - - - - - - 

ii) Clearing Member - -  - - - - - - - 

iii) Clearing House - -  - - - - - - - 
SUB TOTAL (B)(2): 2,09,58,540 - 2,09,58,540 26.96 2,09,58,540 - 2,09,58,540 26.96 -
Total Public Shareholding
(B)= (B)(1)+(B)(2)

2,09,58,540 - 2,09,58,540 26.96 2,09,58,540 - 2,09,58,540 26.96 -

C. Shares held by Custodian 
for GDRs & ADRs

- - - - -

Grand Total (A+B+C) 7,77,34,260 - 7,77,34,260 100.00 7,77,34,260 - 7,77,34,260 100.00 0.00
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	 ii.	 Shareholding of Promoters	

Sl. 
No.

Shareholder’s Name Shareholding at the beginning of the year Shareholding at the end of the year % change 
in share 
holding 
during the 
year

No. of 
Shares

% of total 
Shares 
of the 
company

%of Shares 
Pledged / 
encumbered to 
total shares

No. of Shares % of total 
Shares 
of the 
company

%of Shares 
Pledged / 
encumbered to 
total shares

1 Capital India Corp LLP 5,67,75,720 73.04 - 5,67,75,720 73.04 - 0.00

Total 5,67,75,720 73.04 - 5,67,75,720 73.04 - 0.00

	 iii.	Change in Promoters’ Shareholding (please specify, If there is no change)

Sl. 
No.

Shareholding at the beginning of the year Cumulative Shareholding during 
the year

1. CAPITAL INDIA CORP LLP No. of shares % of total share of 
the Company

No. of shares % of total share 
of the Company

At the beginning of the year 5,67,75,720 73.04 - -

Addition: Allotment of equity shares 
pursuant to preferential allotment 
on June 8, 2018

0 0

At the End of the year - - 5,67,75,720 73.04

	 iv.	�Shareholding Pattern of Top Ten Shareholders (other than Directors, Promoters and Holders of GDRs 
and ADRs):

Sl. 
No.

For each of Ten Shareholders Shareholding at the beginning of  
the year

Cumulative Shareholding during 
the year

No. of shares % of total share of 
the Company

No. of shares % of total share 
of the Company

At the beginning of the year 2,05,98,898 26.50% - -

Date wise Increase / Decrease 
in Shareholding during the year 
specifying the reasons for increase / 
decrease (e.g. allotment / transfer / 
bonus/ sweat equity etc.)*:

- - (16,601) 0,03

At the End of the year(or on the date 
of separation, if separated during the 
year)

- - 2,05,82,297 26.47%

*The aforesaid information is based on List of top ten shareholders as on March 31, 2020.
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	 v.	 Shareholding of Directors and Key Managerial Personnel:	 (Rs. In Lakhs)

S. 
No.

Name Shareholding Date Increase/ 
Decrease 
in Share-
holding

Reason Cumulative 
Shareholding During 

the Year

No. of Shares at 
the beginning/ End 

of the Year

% of Total 
Shares 
of the 

Company

No. of 
Shares

% of Total 
Shares 
of the 

Company

A Directors (including Independent Directors)

1. Vinod Somani Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

2. Yogendra Pal Singh Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

3. Keshav Porwal Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

4. Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

5. Vineet Kumar Saxena Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

6. Shraddha Suresh Kamat Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

B Key Managerial Personnel(s)

9. Neeraj Toshniwal (Chief 
Financial Officer)

Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

10. Rachit Malhotra 
(Company Secretary)

Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

V.	 INDEBTEDNESS

	 Indebtedness of the Company including interest outstanding/accrued but not due for payment 

(Rs. In Lakhs)

 Secured Loans 
excluding deposits

Unsecured Deposits Total

Indebtedness at the beginning of the financial 
year

 

i) Principal Amount       12,679.69              550.00             -   13,229.69 

ii) Interest due but not paid                         -                             -               -                              -   

iii) Interest accrued but not due 105.92 99.72 - 205.64 

Total (i+ii+iii)           12,785.61              649.72 -   13,435.33 

Change in Indebtedness during the financial 
year

    

Addition - 4,000.00 - 4,000.00 

Reduction (5,034.15) (550.00) - (5,584.15)

Net Change (5,034.15)           3,450.00            -   (1,584.15)

Indebtedness at the end of the financial year    

i) Principal Amount                7,645.54 4,000.0 - 11,645.54 

ii) Interest due but not paid - - - -

iii) Interest accrued but not due 66.09 69.93             -                     136.02 

Total (i+ii+iii) 7711.63 4069.93 - 11,781.56 
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VI.	 VI.	REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL

	 A.	Remuneration to Managing Director, Whole-time Directors and/or Manager:

(Rs. In Lakhs)

Sl. 
No.

Particular of Remuneration Name of MD/WTD/ Manager Total

Keshav Porwal
(MD)

Amit Sahai 
Kulshreshtha 

(Executive Director 
& CEO)

1 Gross salary
Salary as per provisions contained in section 17(1) of 
the Income-tax Act, 1961

182.40 182.00 364.40

Value of perquisites u/s 17(2) Income-tax Act, 1961 8.33 8.00 16.33

Profits in lieu of salary under section 17(3) Income- 
tax Act, 1961

- - -

2. Stock Option - - -

3. Sweat Equity - - -

4. Commission
-as % of profit
-others, specify

- - -

5. Others - 9.60 9.60

Total (A) 190.73 199.60 390.33

Ceiling as per the Act In compliance with the 
ceiling as per the Act

In compliance with 
the ceiling as per the 
Act

-

	 Remuneration to other directors:	

Sl. 
No.

Particulars of 
Remuneration 

Name of Directors Total

Vinod 
Somani

Achal 
Kumar 
Gupta

Promila 
Bhardwaj

Yogendra 
Pal Singh

Vineet 
Kumar 
Saxena

Shraddha 
Suresh Kamat

Subodh 
Kumar

1 Independent Directors     

(a) Fee for attending 
Board /Committee 
meetings

8.90 NIL NIL 8.55 NIL NIL NIL 17.45

 (b) Commission NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL

 (c) Others, please specify NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL

 Total (1) 8.90 NIL NIL 8.55 NIL NIL NIL 17.45

2 Other Non Executive 
Directors

    

 (a) Fee for attending 
board committee 
meetings

NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL

 (b) Commission - - - - - - - -

 (c) Others, please specify. - - - - - - - -

 Total (2) NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL

 Total (B)=(1+2) 8.90 NIL NIL 8.55 NIL NIL NIL 17.45

 Total Managerial 
Remuneration (A)+(B)

NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL

 Overall Ceiling as per the 
Act.

NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL
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	 B.	Remuneration to Key Managerial Personnel Other Than MD/Manager/WTD

(Rs. In Lakhs)

Sl. 
No.

Particulars of Remuneration Name of Key Managerial 
Personnel

Rachit 
Malhotra 

(CS)

Neeraj 
Toshniwal 

(CFO)

Total

1 Gross Salary

(a) Salary as per provisions contained in section 17(1) of the 
Income-tax Act, 1961

45.53 96.69 142.22

(b) Value of perquisites u/s 17(2) Income-tax Act, 1961 - 0.32 0.32

(c) Profits in lieu of salary under section 17(3) Income-tax 
Act, 1961

- - -

2 Stock Option - - -

3 Sweat Equity - - -

4 Commission - - -

 - as % of profit - - -

 - others, specify - - -

5 Others 1.34 3.78 5.12

 Total (B) 46.88 100.79 147.67

VII.	 Penalty / Punishment/ Compounding of offences

Type Section of the 
Companies Act

Brief 
Description

Details of Penalty / 
Punishment / Compounding 
fees imposed

Authority 
(RD / NCLT 
/ Court)

Appeal made 
if any (give 
details)

A. COMPANY

Penalty - - - - -

Punishment - - - - -

Compounding - - - - -

B. DIRECTORS

Penalty - - - - -

Punishment - - - - -

Compounding - - - - -

C. OTHER OFFICERS IN DEFAULT

Penalty - - - - -

Punishment - - - - -

Compounding - - - - -
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Annexure - IV
ANNUAL REPORT ON CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (“CSR”) ACTIVITIES 

1.	 A brief Outline of Company’s CSR Policy, including overview of the projects or programs undertaken and a reference 
to the web-link to the CSR Policy and projects or programs

	 The CSR Policy of the Company outlines multiple areas covered under Schedule VII of Companies Act, 2013 
read with rules made thereunder, as amended with an objective to increasingly contribute to activities that are 
beneficial to society and community at large, chart out a mechanism for undertaking CSR Activities, engage with the 
Company’s key stakeholders in matters related to CSR Activities and align / sync the activities undertaken by the 
Company with the applicable laws. The CSR Policy of the Company can be accessed on the Company’s website  
www.capitalindia.com.

2.	 The Composition of the CSR committee: 

	 As on the date of this report, the composition of CSR committee is as follows:

S. 
No.

Name of Member Designation/Category Role in the CSR Committee

1 Yogendra Pal Singh Independent Director Chairman of Committee

2 Keshav Porwal Managing Director Member of Committee

3 Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha Executive Director & Chief 
Executive Officer

Member of Committee

3.	 Average Net Profit of the Company for last three Financial Years: Rs. 655.15 Lakhs

4.	 Prescribed CSR Expenditure (two per cent of the amount as in item 3 above): Rs. 13.10 Lakhs

5.	 Details of CSR Spend during the Financial Year:

	 (a)	 Total amount spent for the Financial Year (2019-20): Rs. 15.00 Lakhs 

	 (b)	 Amount unspent, if any: Nil

	 (c)	 Manner in which the amount was spent during the Financial Year 2019-20 is detailed below:

(Rs. In Lakhs)

S. 
No.

CSR 
Project 
or activity 
identified

Sector in 
which the 
Project is 
covered
(as per 
Schedule VII)

Projects or 
programs

Amount
outlay
(budget)
Project 
or 
program 
wise
(Rs. In 
Lakhs)

Amount 
spent on the 
Project or 
program:
(1) Direct 
(2) Overheads

Cumulative
expenditure 
up to the 
reporting
period

Amount 
spent 
Direct or
through
imple-
menting
agency*

Local area 
or other

State 
and 
District

1 Contribution 
to Trust 
registered 
u/s 11 of 
Income Tax 
Act

Refer Note - 1 New Delhi New 
Delhi

15.00 15.00
(Direct)

15.00 Atulya 
Foundation

TOTAL 15.00 15.00 15.00

*details of implementing agency. 	
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6.	 In case the Company fails to spend the 2% of the Average Net Profit (Rs.) of the last 3 financial years, the reasons 
for not spending the amount shall be stated in the Board’s report: 

	 Not Applicable. 

7.	 Responsibility Statement of the CSR Committee:

	 The CSR Committee of the Company hereby confirms that the implementation and monitoring of the CSR projects 
and activities is in compliance with the CSR objectives and policy of the Company.

Note - 1

Activities relating to:—

(i) 	 eradicating extreme hunger and poverty;

(ii)	 promotion of education;

(iii) 	 promoting gender equality and empowering women;

(iv) 	 reducing child mortality and improving maternal health;

(v) 	 combating human immunodeficiency virus, acquired immune deficiencysyndrome, malaria and other diseases;

(vi) 	 ensuring environmental sustainability;

(vii) 	 employment enhancing vocational skills;

(viii) 	 social business projects;

(ix) 	 contribution to the Prime Minister’s National Relief Fund or any other fund set up by the Central Government or the 
State Governments for socio-economic development and relief and funds for the welfare of the Scheduled Castes, 
the Scheduled Tribes, other backward classes, minorities and women; and

(x) 	 such other matters as may be prescribed.

For and on behalf of Board of Directors 

		  Keshav Porwal	 Yogendra Pal Singh
		  Managing Director	 Chairman – CSR Committee		
		  DIN: 06706341 	 DIN: 08347484 
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Annexure - V

BUSINESS RESPONSIBILITY REPORT
for the financial year 2019-2020

[Pursuant to Regulation 34(2)(f) of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015]

As mandated by the recent amendment in the provisions of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations 
and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (“Listing Regulations”) India’s top 1000 listed entities based on market 
capitalisation on the BSE and NSE are required to submit a ‘Business Responsibility Report’ (“BRR”) along with their 
Annual Report. The reporting framework is based on the ‘National Voluntary Guidelines on Social, Environmental and 
Economic Responsibilities of Business’ (“NVGs”) released by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India, in 
July 2011 which contains 9 Principles and Core Elements for each of those 9 Principles.

Capital India Finance Limited (“Company”) recognizes its role as a corporate citizen and endeavors to adopt the best 
practices and the highest standards of Corporate Governance through transparency in business ethics, accountability to its 
customers, government and others. The Company’s activities are carried out in accordance with sound corporate culture 
and the Company is constantly striving to better them.

The Company takes pride in presenting its first BRR, in line with the NVGs and the BRR requirement of the Listing 
Regulations. This BRR provides information about the key initiatives undertaken by the Company, driven by the triple 
bottom line aspects viz., social, environmental and economic. 

SECTION A: GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE COMPANY

Sl. 
No.

Particulars Company Information

1. Corporate Identity Number (CIN) of 
the Company

L74899DL1994PLC128577

2. Name of the Company Capital India Finance Limited

3. Registered address 2nd Floor, DLF Centre, Sansad Marg, New Delhi – 110001

4. Website www.capitalindia.com

5. E-mail id secretarial@capitalindia.com

6. Financial Year reported FY 2019-2020

7. Sector(s) that the Company is 
engaged in (industrial activity code-
wise)

As on March 31, 2020, the Company is an NBFC with the main 
business of Financing and Investments – granting Loans

The NIC code is 65923

8. List three key products/services that 
the Company manufactures/provides 
(as in balance sheet)

Financing and Investment – Granting of Loans

9. Total number of locations where 
business activity is undertaken by the 
Company

a. Number of International 
Locations:

0

b. Number of National Locations: 2

10. Markets served by the Company –
Local/State/National/International

The Company together with its subsidiaries, serves the national market 
only
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SECTION B: FINANCIAL DETAILS OF THE COMPANY

Sl. 
No. 

Particulars Company information

1. Paid up Capital as on March 31, 2020 7,77,34,260 equity shares of Rs. 10 each aggregating to Rs. 
77,73,42,600

2. Total Turnover (Rs. in Lakhs)

a) Standalone 10524.04

b) Consolidated 11899.48

3. Total profit after taxes (Rs. in Lakhs)

a) Standalone 3038.26

b) Consolidated 1386.06

4. Total Spending on Corporate Social 
Responsibility (CSR) as percentage of 
profit after tax (%)

Rs. 15,00,000 (Rupees Fifteen Lakhs)

5. List of activities in which expenditure in 
4 above has been incurred

Kindly refer to the Annual Report of CSR Activities

SECTION C: OTHER DETAILS

Sl. 
No.

Particulars Company Information

1. Does the Company have any Subsidiary Company/
Companies?

Yes. As on March 31, 2020, the Company has 7 
(Seven) subsidiaries as follows:
  Capital India Home Loans Limited 
  Rapipay Fintech Private Limited 
  Rapipay Fintech Holding Private Limited 
  Capital India Asset Management Private Limited
  �Capital India Wealth Management Private 

Limited
  CIFL Holdings Private Limited
  CIFL Investment Manager Private Limited

2. Do the Subsidiary Company/Companies participate in the 
BR Initiatives of the parent company? If yes, then indicate the 
number of such subsidiary company(s)

No

3. Do any other entity/entities (e.g. suppliers, distributors 
etc.) that the Company does business with, participate in 
the BR initiatives of the Company? If yes, then indicate the 
percentage of such entity/entities? [Less than 30%, 30-60%, 
More than 60%]

No
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SECTION D: BR INFORMATION

1.	 Details of Director/Directors responsible for BR

Sl. 
No.

Particulars Information

1. Details of the Director/Director responsible for 
implementation of the BR policy/policies

i. DIN 07869849

ii. Name Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha

iii. Designation Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer

2. Details of the BR head

i. DIN 07869849

ii. Name Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha

iii. Designation Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer

iv. Telephone Number Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer

(022) 4503 6000

v. E-mail ID secretarial@capitalindia.com

2.	 Principle-wise (as per NVGs) BR Policy/policies

	 Principles to assess compliance with Environmental, Social and Governance Norms

	 P1:	 Businesses should conduct and govern themselves with Ethics, Transparency and Accountability

	 P2:	 Businesses should provide goods and services that are safe and contribute to sustainability throughout 
their life cycle

	 P3:	 Businesses should promote the wellbeing of all employees

	 P4:	 Businesses should respect the interests of, and be responsive towards all stakeholders, especially those 
who are disadvantaged, vulnerable and marginalized

	 P5:	 Businesses should respect and promote human rights

	 P6:	 Business should respect, protect, and make efforts to restore the environment

	 P7:	 Businesses, when engaged in influencing public and regulatory policy, should do so in a responsible 
manner

	 P8:	 Businesses should support inclusive growth and equitable development

	 P9:	 Businesses should engage with and provide value to their customers and consumers in a responsible 
manner
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(a)	 Details of compliance (Reply in Y/N)

Sr. 
No.

Questions P1 P2 P3 P4 P5 P6 P7 P8 P9

1. Do you have a policy/policies for…. Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

2. Has the policy being formulated in consultation 
with the relevant stakeholders?

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

3. Does the policy conform to any national / 
international standards? If yes, specify? (50 
words)

4. Has the policy been approved by the Board?  
If yes, has it been signed by MD/ owner/ CEO/ 
appropriate Board Director?

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

5. Does the company have a specified committee 
of the Board/ Director/ Official to oversee the 
implementation of the policy

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

6. Indicate the link for the policy to be viewed 
online?

7. Has the policy been formally communicated to all 
relevant internal and external stakeholders?

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

8. Does the company have in-house structure to 
implement the policy/ policies?

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

9. Does the Company have a grievance redressal 
mechanism related to the policy/ policies to 
address stakeholders’ grievances related to the 
policy/ policies?

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

10. Has the company carried out independent audit/ 
evaluation of the working of this policy by an 
internal or external agency?

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

(b)	 If answer to the question at serial number 1 against any principle, is ‘No’, please explain why: (Tick up to 
2 options): Not Applicable

Sr. 
No.

Questions P1 P2 P3 P4 P5 P6 P7 P8 P9

1. The company has not understood the Principles

2. The company is not at a stage where it finds itself 
in a position to formulate and implement the 
policies on specified principles

3. The company does not have financial or 
manpower resources available for the task

4. It is planned to be done within next 6 months

5. It is planned to be done within the next 1 year

6. Any other reason (please specify)
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(c)	 Governance related to BR

Sl. 
No. 

Particulars Information

1. Indicate the frequency with which the Board of 
Directors, Committee of the Board or CEO to assess 
the BR performance of the Company. Within 3 
months, 3-6 months, Annually, More than 1year

The BR Performance of the Company is periodically 
assessed.

2. Does the Company publish a BR or a Sustainability 
Report? What is the hyperlink for viewing this 
report? How frequently it is published?

This is the first year when this requirement 
became applicable on the Company. The Business 
Responsibility Report forms part of the Annual 
Report and is available at the Company website at 
www.capitalindia.com. Going forward, the Company 
will publish it on

SECTION E: PRINCIPLE-WISE PERFORMANCE

PRINCIPLE 1

Sl. 
No. 

Particulars Information

1. Does the policy relating to ethics, bribery and 
corruption cover only the company? Yes/ No. Does 
it extend to the Group/Joint Ventures/ Suppliers/
Contractors/NGOs/Others?

Yes, the policy covers the Company and all its third 
parties including investors and clients

2. How many stakeholder complaints have been 
received in the past financial year and what 
percentage was satisfactorily resolved by the 
management? If so, provide details thereof, in about 
50 words or so.

During the financial year, the Company received 3 
(Three) investor complaint which were satisfactorily 
resolved. 

The Company is committed to providing effective 
and prompt service to all its stakeholders. The 
management records and redresses grievances. 
Complaints and grievances are addressed in a time-
bound manner. Regular analysis of customer issues 
is conducted and where required corrective measures 
are taken in the Company’s processes.

The Company submits a periodic status of complaints 
received, redressed and outstanding from its 
stakeholders along with the nature of complaints and 
their mode of redressal to the Board of Directors.
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PRINCIPLE 2

Sl. 
No. 

Particulars Information

1. List up to 3 of your products or services whose design 
has incorporated social or environmental concerns, 
risks and/or opportunities.

The Company operates in financial solutions and our 
sustainability strategy strives to make : 

  Our business sustainable 

  Our clients’ businesses sustainable 

  Our ecosystem sustainable

2. For each such product, provide the following details in 
respect of resource use (energy, water, raw material 
etc.) per unit of product (optional):

a. �Reduction during sourcing/production/ distribution 
achieved since the previous year throughout the 
value chain?

b. �Reduction during usage by consumers (energy, 
water) has been achieved since the previous year?

The Company operates in financial services sector, 
therefore this aspect doesn’t relate to the nature of the 
business. However, the Company extensively monitors 
its energy consumption, and waste generation as a 
part of its sustainability roadmap.

3.	 Does the company have procedures in place for 
sustainable sourcing (including transportation)? If 
yes, what percentage of your inputs was sourced 
sustainably? Also, provide details thereof, in about 50 
words or so.

The Company’s nature of business doesn’t present 
opportunities for sustainable sourcing aspect in a 
holistic way.

4. Has the company taken any steps to procure goods 
and services from local &small producers, including 
communities surrounding their place of work?

If yes, what steps have been taken to improve their 
capacity and capability of local and small vendors?

The Company operates in financial services sector, 
therefore this aspect doesn’t relate to the nature of 
the business.

5. Does the company have a mechanism to recycle 
products and waste? If yes what is the percentage of 
recycling of products and waste (separately as <5%, 
5-10%, >10%). Also, provide details thereof, in about 
50 words or so

The Company operates in financial services sector, 
therefore this aspect doesn’t relate to the nature of 
the business.

PRINCIPLE 3

1.	 Employee Details:

Sl. 
No.

Particulars Information

1. Total number of employees 95

2. Total number of employees hired on temporary/contractual/
casual basis

Not Applicable 

3. Number of permanent women employees 15

4. Number of permanent employees with disabilities Nil

5. Does the Company an employee association that is recognized 
by the management.

Nil

6. What percentage of permanent employees is members of this 
recognized employee association?

Not Applicable 
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2.	 Number of complaints relating to child labor, forced labor, involuntary labor, sexual harassment in the last 
financial year and pending, as on the end of the financial year.

Sl. 
No. 

Category No of complaints filed during 
the financial year

No of complaints pending as on 
end of the financial year

1. Child labor / forced labor / 
involuntary labor

Nil Nil

2. Sexual harassment Nil Nil

3. Discriminatory employment Nil Nil

3.	 Percentage of the under mentioned employees who were given safety & skill up- gradation training in the 
last year

(a)	 Permanent Employees			   : 84

(b)	 Permanent Women Employees			  : 15

(c)	 Casual/Temporary/Contractual Employees	 : Nil

(d)	 Employees with Disabilities			   : Nil

PRINCIPLE 4

Sl. 
No.

Particulars Information

1. Has the company mapped its internal and external stakeholders? 
Yes/No

Yes

2. Out of the above,has the company identified the disadvantaged, 
vulnerable & marginalized stakeholders.

Yes

3. Are there any special initiatives taken by the company to engage 
with the disadvantaged, vulnerable and marginalized stakeholders? If 
so, provide details thereof, in about 50 words or so.

The Company has undertaken various 
CSR Programmes for identified 
stakeholders. The details of the 
programs can be found in Annual 
Report of CSR Activities

PRINCIPLE 5

Sl. 
No.

Particulars Information

1. Does the policy of the company on human rights cover only the 
company or extend to the Group /Joint Ventures /Suppliers /
Contractors /NGOs /Others?

The Policy of the Company covers the 
Company

2. How many stakeholder complaints have been received in the past 
financial year and what percent was satisfactorily resolved by the 
management?

The Company did not receive any 
stakeholder complaint during the past 
financial year regarding violation of 
Human Rights
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PRINCIPLE 6

Sl. 
No. 

Particulars Information

1. Does the policy relating to Principle 6 cover only the company 
or extends to the Group/Joint Ventures/Suppliers/Contractors/
NGOs/others?

Yes, the policy covers the Company and 
all its third parties including investors 
and clients

2. Does the company have strategies/ initiatives to address global 
environmental issues such as climate change, global warming, etc.? 
Y/N. 

If yes, please give hyperlink for webpage etc.

The Company promotes ecological 
sustainability and green initiatives, and 
adopts energy saving mechanisms, by 
encouraging its employees, customers 
and all its other stakeholders to use 
electronic medium of communication 
and to reduce usage of papers as much 
as possible.

3.	 Does the company identify and assess potential environmental risks? 
Y/N

No

4. Does the company have any project related to Clean Development 
Mechanism? If so, provide details thereof, in about 50 words or so. 
Also, if Yes, whether any environmental compliance report is filed?

No

5. Has the company undertaken any other initiatives on – clean 
technology, energy efficiency, renewable energy, etc. Y/N. If yes, 
please give hyperlink for web page, etc.

No

6. Are the Emissions/Waste generated by the company within the 
permissible limits given by CPCB/SPCB for the financial year 
being reported?

The Company, being a non-banking 
financial company doesn’t fall under the 
purview of CPCB/SPCB.

7. Number of show cause/ legal notices received from CPCB/SPCB 
which are pending (i.e. not resolved to satisfaction) as on end of 
Financial Year.

Not Applicable

PRINCIPLE 7

Sl. 
No.

Particulars Information

1. Is your company a member of any trade and chamber or 
association? If Yes, Name only those major ones that your business 
deals with

The Company operates in financial 
services sector, therefore this aspect 
doesn’t relate to the nature of the 
business.

2. Have you advocated/lobbied through above associations for the 
advancement or improvement of public good? Yes/No; 

If yes specify the broad areas (drop box: Governance and 
Administration, Economic Reforms, Inclusive Development Policies, 
Energy security, Water, Food Security, Sustainable Business 
Principles,Others)

Not Applicable
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PRINCIPLE 8

Sl. 
No.

Particulars Information

1. Does the company have specified programs /initiatives 
/projects in pursuit of the policy related to Principle 8? 
If yes details thereof.

The Company’s CSR initiatives are aligned to 
the mission of transforming rural lives and driving 
a positive change in the communities where it 
operates.

Kindly refer the Annual Report on CSR activities in 
the Company’s Annual Report

2. Are the programs /projects undertaken through in-house 
team /own foundation /external NGO /government 
structures /any other organization?

Since most of the projects implemented by the 
Company are through Registered Trust, proper care 
is taken to ensure that the Trust formed, is able to 
execute the programs efficiently.

3. Have you done any impact assessment of your 
initiative?

The Company continuously monitors the CSR 
projects at multiple stages of the project.

4. What is your company’s direct contribution to 
community development projects (amount in INR and 
the details of the projects undertaken)?

Kindly refer the Annual Report on CSR activities in 
the Company’s Annual Report

5. Have you taken steps to ensure that this community 
development initiative is successfully adopted by the 
community? Please explain in 50 words, or so.

Yes

Kindly refer the Annual Report on CSR activities in 
the Company’s Annual Report

PRINCIPLE 9

Sl. 
No.

Particulars Information

1. What percentage of customer complaints/consumer 
cases are pending as on the end of financial year?

Nil

2. Does the company display product information on 
the product label, over and above what is mandated 
as per local laws? Yes/No/N.A./ Remarks (additional 
information)

N.A.

3. Is there any case filed by any stakeholder against the 
company regarding unfair trade practices, irresponsible 
advertising and/or anti-competitive behavior during the 
last five years and pending as on end of financial year? 
If so, provide details thereof, in about 50 words or so.

NO

4. Did the Company carry out any customer survey/ 
customer satisfaction trends?

N.A.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS REPORT
Your Company is a NBFC focused on providing bespoke financing solutions to its customers and has been in existence 
for more than two decades. At present, the Company falls within the category of “Non-Banking Finance Company - 
Systemically Important Non-Deposit taking Company”. Your Company is registered with the Reserve Bank of India 
(“RBI”) as a NBFC without accepting public deposits under section 45 IA of the RBI Act, 1934. Capital India is a 
professionally managed finance company with registered office at Delhi and Corporate office at Mumbai. Main objects of 
the Company are as under:

  	 To provide financial services of all kinds, including fund based financial services

  	 To carry on business, profession or vocation of acting as consultants, advisors for all matters

The Company focuses on being a partner credit institution and provides customised financial solutions to Indian Corporates 
and Enterprises for their growth and working capital requirements. Capital India has an in-house team of experts to 
evaluate, value and estimate marketability of all kinds of assets. Also, the enterprise-wide loan management system, 
OmniFin (developed by AS Software Services Private Limited), which provides single platform operational support such as 
risk management, documentation management and customer service and consequently enabling your Company to focus 
its resources on delivering quality services to the customers.  

The Company primarily focuses on two business segments – Mid Corporate and Emerging Corporate / Small and Medium 
Enterprises (SME) for its financing activities. The Product portfolio of the Company primarily consists of Working Capital 
Loan, Project Finance, Loan Against Property, Project Finance – Real Estate and Structured Finance. 

The Company’s product suite is as follows:

Working Capital Loan

  	 Short-term financial support for hassle-free management of day-to-day operations.

  	 Easy option to cover recurring expenses like inventory management, accounts payable and payroll.

  	 Flexible options to cater to seasonal fluctuations in business.

Project Finance

  	 Capital funding to mid-range and emerging corporates, based on projected cash flows and sufficient collateral.

  	 Financial assistance for expansion, diversification, funding for capital expenditure and other growth-oriented 
strategies of businesses.

  	 Well-defined processes backed by credit appraisal and secured by project assets.

Loan Against Property

  	 Easy loans against property collateral for various corporate requirements, ranging from debt consolidation to take 
over of existing facilities.

  	 Equitable or registered mortgage over the financed property, with personal guarantee and corporate guarantee.

  	 Enhanced focus on collateral valuation and loan serviceability.

Project Finance – Real Estate

  	 Project-specific funding to facilitate the acquisition, construction and development of residential, commercial, retail, 
township and industrial real estate projects.

  	 Long-term loans for re-development projects and property development ventures.

Structured Finance

  	 Customized term loans, inter-corporate deposits, subscription to debt instruments and convertible preference shares.

  	 Tailor made structured financial services to support acquisitions, expansions, buyouts and diversifications.

  	 Promoter funding secured against property, pledge of marketable securities or fixed deposits, guarantee of corporate 
entity, owner or promoter, debt service reserve account, etc.
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Vendor Finance

  	 Vendor Finance is a form of post-sale funding designed to finance genuine trade book debts for sale of goods / 
services with the comfort that the payment for the receivables financed will be received from the buyer of such goods 
/ services at the end of the credit period 

  	 Vendor Financing involves provision of credit to a supplier of a large corporate / Original Equipment Manufacturer 
(Anchor) against an accepted bill / invoice. Under this arrangement, the lender finances the existing receivable of a 
supplier for supplies already made to a large corporate / Anchor 

  	 Vendor Financing is a generally revolving credit line and is liquidated by virtue of collection / repayment of the 
underlying receivables so financed

Our Strengths

We believe the following are our principal strengths:

Experienced, highly motivated and dedicated management team

We have an experienced, highly motivated and dedicated senior management team, with significant experience in the 
banking, financial services, consultancy and infrastructure sectors. Keshav Porwal, our Managing Director has approximately 
two decades of experience in the financing and real estate industry. Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha, our Executive Director and 
CEO has prior experience in investment banking, consulting and infrastructure sectors. Vineet Kumar Saxena, CEO of 
Capital India Home Loans, our subsidiary, has prior experience in the financial services sector, having been associated 
with Barclays Bank PLC, ICICI Personal Financial Services Limited and ICICI Bank Limited, among others. Our new and 
dynamic senior management team has already implemented a number of changes in the Company for steady growth of 
the business. One of the changes was to diversify our lending focus to become sector agnostic and lend with a focus on 
good quality collateral asset. 

Institutional philosophy of prudent risk management controls through streamlined procedures

We maintain healthy and high-quality loan asset portfolio in synchronization with our institutional philosophy of lending 
against security and cash flows. We have instituted prudent and comprehensive risk management controls, policies, 
and procedures that are critical for the long-term sustainable development of our organization. Our risk management 
committee which is a Board level committee oversees and monitors the overall credit risk management framework. Our 
credit risk governance framework comprises of primarily three-units, (i) our business teams, that generates lead; (ii) the 
credit risk unit, that independently manages the risk, provides policy guidance, performs credit analysis, risk reporting 
and credit monitoring. Our credit risk unit comprises of various sub-units, such as credit underwriting, policy unit and 
portfolio monitoring unit, which are responsible for management of credit risks; and (iii) the internal audit unit, which 
independently assesses the design and operational effectiveness of the entire credit risk management framework. Our 
credit risk governance framework incorporates the requirement of senior management and credit committee approval, 
with built-in escalation matrices at pre-defined credit thresholds, which enables us to ensure that high-ticket advances are 
sanctioned by our senior management. 

We have implemented enterprise-wide loan management system, OmniFin, which provides single platform operational 
support such as risk management, documentation management and customer service and consequently aids our decision-
making. We have integrated OmniFin with services of third-party credit assessment service products, Perfios - Insight to 
increase the operational efficiency of loan disbursement and risk assessment processes. We believe that our streamlined 
credit risk governance framework and loan management system have contributed to our operational efficiency and 
enhances our ability to take prudent credit decisions. 

Our Strategies

Focus on Emerging Corporate / SME segment borrower category: Emerging corporates and SME players add to the 
growth story of India. As part of Portfolio diversification strategy, your company intends to lend to this segment which is 
fast growing and provides a healthy Portfolio on Company’s balance sheet. Your Company’s management has decade 
long experience in Financial services and understands this segment so as to lend judiciously.

Further strengthening credit assessment and risk management procedures: In line with our institutional philosophy 
of implementing prudent risk management controls, we continuously endeavor to strengthen various aspects of our credit 
and risk management, including credit assessment and due diligence procedures for appraisal of the borrower’s credit 
worthiness and mitigation of the credit risk. We are committed to efficiently maintain healthy and high-quality loan asset 
portfolio. 
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In relation to origination and appraisal of our advances, we propose to continuously review and upgrade our credit risk 
governance framework, including enhancing our resources. In addition, we have integrated our loan management system, 
OmniFin with services of third party credit assessment service products, such as Perfios - Insight, which we believe would 
increase the operational efficiency of loan disbursement and risk assessment processes. 

Leverage on the relationship and experience of our senior management for business growth:  We intend to continue 
growth at a stable but steady pace. Therefore, instead of focusing on opening of new branches, we wish to leverage the 
experience and business relationships of our senior management to grow our business. Our new senior management has 
a diversified track record that can help us identify suitable customers across industries which meet our risk appetite. We 
also believe our senior management’s acumen of the market trends, demands and industry developments, would enable 
us to adapt and take advantage of market opportunities.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk management forms an integral part of Company’s business. As an NBFC, the Company is exposed to various risks 
related to its lending business and operating environment. The objective is to evaluate and monitor various risks that the 
Company is subject to and follow stringent policies and procedures to address these risks. Effective risk management forms 
the core of our business. Our credit risk management process encompasses astute underwriting, structuring & regulatory 
checks, coupled with appropriate credit & approval delegation & monitoring of the portfolio at regular interval. Our team 
of seasoned professionals continuously monitor risk and suggest early measures to control risk at minimum level. We have 
also established effective risk management systems, policies & internal controls to address various other types of risk viz 
operational risk, liquidity risk, market risk, compliance & regulatory risk. Our focus on developing sector expertise across 
our products segments help us in constantly monitoring event risks. 

The Company’s Risk Management Committee assists the Board in addressing various risks and discharges duties relating 
to corporate accountability. The Risk Management Committee reviews the effectiveness of risk management systems in 
place and ensure that they are effectively managed. It also provides an independent and objective oversight on corporate 
accountability and risks and considers reports of the Audit Committee on all categories of identified risks.

POSSIBLE THREATS

Our Industry has faced certain challenges in the period under review, related to Liquidity and defaults by Large Companies, 
therefore there may be significant roadblocks to the growth of the Company in shorter term. Default and delay by a 
number of large and small established financial companies  is likely to cause certain short-term variances and may make 
it difficult for the Company to raise debt in near future. Even the fall in Interest rates have not boosted the Liquidity for 
NBFCs, and there has been instances of Rating downgrades of NBFC and certain Housing Finance Companies, of which 
Reliance Home Finance is the recent example. 

Changes in interest rates are expected to have significant impact on the Company’s business and operations. Finance 
costs are dependent on various external factors, including Indian and global credit markets and, in particular, interest 
rate movements and adequate liquidity in the debt markets. Changes in RBI repo rates could affect the interest charged 
on interest-earning  assets and the interest rates paid on interest-bearing liabilities. Adverse conditions in the global and 
Indian economy resulting from economic dislocations or liquidity disruptions may adversely affect availability of credit, and 
decreased liquidity may lead to an increase in interest rates.

Despite recent push by the RBI, the resolution of stressed assets in the system is likely to take more time. Also, the effect 
of various loan waivers on credit culture in the rural areas is still to be seen.

Your Company acknowledges these possible negative factors and has a plan to mitigate them through its deep domain 
knowledge, strong risk framework and an efficient collection mechanism under the stewardship of the management team.

MOU with Union Bank of India for Loan Co-origination

Capital India Finance Limited, announced signing of Memorandum of Understanding with Union Bank of India (“Union 
Bank”), for Co-origination of loans under the Co-origination guidelines prescribed by Reserve Bank of India. This 
partnership enables the Company to cater to a large section of unserved customers in the small and emerging corporate 
segment through an efficient blend of economically priced and innovative financing solutions. This arrangement would 
entail joint contribution of credit at the facility level, by both lending partners, i.e. the Union Bank and  the Company. It 
is envisaged that the benefit of low-cost funds from Banks and efficient operations of NBFC would be passed on to the 
borrower through adoption of blended products to suit the requirements of borrowers. The model envisages sharing of 
risks and reward between the Bank and the NBFC by ensuring appropriate alignment of respective business objectives. 
This arrangement will promote increase in the credit off-take in respective market and offer timely delivery of the credit 
at significantly lower cost.
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The company is in discussion for similar partnerships with 2-3 other PSU banks as well.

Covid-19 – Pandemic of the Century

The SARS-Cov-2 virus responsible for COVID -19 continues to spread across the globe and India. It has contributed to a 
significant decline and volatility in global and Indian Financial Markets and a significant decrease in the economic activities. 
On 11th March 2020, the COVID-19 outbreak was declared as a global pandemic by the World Health Organization. 
On 24th March 2020, the Indian Government had announced a strict 21-day lockdown which kept on getting extended 
across the country with gradual and modest relaxations. 

In accordance with the RBI guidelines relating to COVID-19 Regulatory Package, your Company granted a moratorium 
of three months on payments of instalments and/or interest falling due between 1st March 2020 and 31st May 2020 
to eligible borrowers. Till 31st March, 38.87 % of our loan book assets have been under moratorium. For such accounts 
where the moratorium is granted, the asset /Stage-wise classification shall remain stand still during the moratorium period. 
(i.e. the number of days past-due shall exclude the moratorium period for the purposes of asset classification). 

The Company has recognized provisions as on 31st March 2020 towards its assets including loans based on the information 
available at the point of time including economic forecasts, in accordance with the Expected Credit Loss (ECL) method. 
The Company believes that it has considered all the possible impact of known events arising out of COVID 19 pandemic in 
the preparation of financial results. However, the impact assessment of COVID 19 is a continuing process given its nature 
and duration. We will continue to monitor for any material changes to future economic conditions and we keep performing 
stress testing of our books on a periodic basis implementing the updated economic scenario. 

The breakout of the unexpected disease has brought us to a halt. However, these are the times when a robust business 
practice and preparedness is tested. We have ensured that our employees, customers, and businesses are least impacted 
in these extraordinary times.

Customers – We are proactively trying to service customers with every possible avenue. The team is actively in touch 
with customers via calls, emails, social media, and website. Our business team is reaching out to customers and educating 
them about the impact of moratorium and other policy decisions. Continuous discussions with customers has helped us in 
understanding their requirements better and keeping our Loan book free of any kind of stress in near future.

Businesses – The Covid-19 lockdown has not had any impact on our ability to render services to our customers or lenders. 
The Business and Credit teams are actively communicating with customers having high risk business profiles to jointly 
evaluate the best possible solution to mitigate the crises.

In our efforts for the health and wellbeing of its employees,steps have been taken to ensure efficient workplace and have 
moved meetings and trainings to virtual formats. Frequent communication via emails and video calls to boost employee 
morale and create health awareness. After the Government’s relaxation pertaining to financial services on 17th April 
2020, we have opened our Registered Office at New Delhi with minimum employee strength. Our Mumbai office however 
remain closed till further notice from the Central and State Governments. 

Government of India has announced a host of measures, as a part of its economic package “Atmanirbhar Bharat Abhiyan”, 
to mitigate downside risks to macro risk due to COVID-19. These measures are a combination of short-term ones, directed 
to resolve immediate challenges and long-term measures directed at reforms in key end markets. While these measures 
are much needed to address the ongoing concerns of the economy, we are yet to see how soon they bring the pre-Covid 
normalcy in the economy. We, as a Group, would like to reiterate that we are committed to play our role in nation building 
and are prepared with our resources and expertise.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
1.	 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PHILOSOPHY

	 Corporate Governance means the manner a company acts within the ambit of integrity, fairness, equity, 
transparency, accountability and commitment to values. The elements of Corporate Governance for the Company 
are independence, transparency, accountability, responsibility, compliance, ethics, values and trust. The Company 
believes in maintaining high ethical and legal standards as a part of what it does every day as part of its Corporate 
Governance measures. The Company is highly committed to “Act with Integrity” which means that any activity done 
by the Company is strictly on the grounds of high moral values.

	 The Company has framed these Guidelines with the objective to put in place a system of rules, practices and 
processes relating to corporate governance framework within which the Company shall be administered and 
controlled, so as to balance the interests of various stakeholders of the Company and also the community within 
which it operates. The Guidelines shall ensure that the Company acts in accordance with the highest standards of 
corporate governance in all its activities and that the affairs of the Company are conducted with integrity, fairness, 
accountability and transparency.

2.	 BOARD OF DIRECTORS

	 The Company is managed and controlled through a professional and qualified Board of Directors (“Board”). Board 
plays the most pivotal role in overseeing and protecting the long term interest of the stakeholders of the Company. 
The Board provides leadership, strategic guidance, objective and independent views to the Company’s management 
while discharging its fiduciary responsibilities and ensure high standards of ethics, transparency and disclosures.

	 As on March 31, 2020, the Board consists of 6 (six) Directors comprising 2 (two) executive directors, 2 (two) non-
executive independent directors, 1 (one) non-executive woman director and 1 (one) non-executive director. The 
composition of the Board is in conformity with the Companies Act, 2013 and rules made thereunder  (“the Act”) 
and the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 
(“Listing Regulations”) enjoining specified combination of executive, non-executive and independent directors with 
at least one woman director.

	 During the period under review, 4 (Four) meetings of the Board were held on May 10, 2019, August 14, 2019, 
November 12, 2019 and February 14, 2020.

	 The attendance of the members of the Board at their meetings held during the period under review, is as follows:

Sr. 
No.

Name, Designation 
and DIN of 
Director

No. of Board 
meetings 
held during 
the tenure 
of director/
financial year 
2019-20

No. of Board 
meetings 
attended 
during the 
financial year 
2019-20

Whether 
attended 
the last 
Annual 
General 
meeting

Shareholding 
in the 
Company as 
on March 31, 
2020

Number of 
Directorships 
in other 
Companies 
as on March 
31, 2020#

Committee 
Membership and 
Chairmanship 
in other 
Companies as 
on March 31, 
2020$

Names of 
the listed 
entities 
where the 
director is 
a director 
and the 
category of 
directorship

1. Mr.Vinod Somani 
Chairman 
(Independent 
Director) 
(00327231)

4 4 Yes Nil Nil 1 N.A.

2. Mr. Yogendra Pal 
Singh*
Independent Director 
(08347484)

4 4 Yes Nil Nil 1 N.A.

3. Mr. Keshav Porwal
Managing Director
(06706341)

4 4 Yes Nil Nil 1 N.A.

4. Mr. Amit Sahai 
Kulshreshtha
Executive Director 
&chief Executive 
Officer
(07869849)

4 4 Yes Nil Nil Nil N.A.
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Sr. 
No.

Name, Designation 
and DIN of 
Director

No. of Board 
meetings 
held during 
the tenure 
of director/
financial year 
2019-20

No. of Board 
meetings 
attended 
during the 
financial year 
2019-20

Whether 
attended 
the last 
Annual 
General 
meeting

Shareholding 
in the 
Company as 
on March 31, 
2020

Number of 
Directorships 
in other 
Companies 
as on March 
31, 2020#

Committee 
Membership and 
Chairmanship 
in other 
Companies as 
on March 31, 
2020$

Names of 
the listed 
entities 
where the 
director is 
a director 
and the 
category of 
directorship

5. Mr. Vineet Kumar 
Saxena
Non-Executive 
Director
(07710277)

4 4 Yes Nil Nil Nil N.A.

6. Ms. Shraddha Suresh 
Kamat 
Woman Non-
Executive Director
(07555355)

4 1 NO Nil Nil Nil N.A.

7. Mr. Subodh Kumar
Non-Executive 
Director
(07781250)

2 1 N.A Nil Nil Nil N.A.

	 # includes directorship in other listed entities only.

	 $ includes audit committee and stakeholders relationship committee in all public listed entities only. No member is holding any 
chairmanship in the other public listed entities.

	 Inter-se relationship among Directors

	 None of the Director is in anyway related to the other Directors.

	 Key Board skills/expertise/competencies

	 The Company has identified the key Board skills that sets out the expertise that the Directors of the Company should 
possess for proper functioning of the Company. The matrix is set out on the basis of the business, the industry 
wherein the Company operates in and the Policy on remuneration of the directors, key managerial personnel and 
other employees. It is not mandatory for all the Directors to possess all the skills, however the Board as a whole 
possess such skills outlined below:

	 	 Leadership experience and ability in inspiring, motivating other officials together with practical understanding 
of the business of the Company.

	 	 Experience and ability to identify opportunities and threats to the Company and to develop strategies, inter-alia 
to grow revenue and market share, build brand awareness and equity.

	 	 Strong understanding of corporate finance, accounts and performance management principles.

	 	 Familiarity with diverse business functions such as finance, risk, investment etc.

	 	 Experience and ability to acknowledge corporate governance and best management practices.

	 	 An entrepreneurial mindset with outstanding organizational and leadership skills.

	 	 Analytical abilities and problem-solving skills.

	 	 Excellent communication and public speaking skills.

	 	 Experience in identifying key risks to the Company related to each key area of operations, the ability to monitor 
risk, compliance and knowledge of legal and regulatory requirements that are applicable to the Company.

	 	 Experience and stature necessary to be highly effective, working with other members of the Board in serving 
the long-term interests of shareholders.

	 	 Ability and willingness to devote sufficient time to the affairs of the Board and the Company and to carry out 
their duties effectively.
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	 Confirmation as regards Independence of Independent Director

	 During the period under review, all Independent Director have confirmed and submitted declaration to the effect 
that they meet the criteria of independence as laid down under section 149 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Listing 
Regulations. 

	 The Independent Directors have also submitted the declaration that they have registered themselves with the Indian 
Institute of Corporate Affairs for inclusion of name in the Data Bank as required under rule 6 of the Companies 
(Appointment and Qualification of Directors) Rules, 2014.

	 Based on the disclosures received from all the Directors, Your Board confirm that, in its opinion, the independent 
directors fulfill the conditions specified in the Listing Regulations and are independent of the management and have 
relevant expertise and experience.

	 Cessation of an Independent Director

	 During the period under review, Mrs. Promila Bhardwaj has resigned from the position of Independent Director of 
the Company with effect from April 1, 2019. 

	 Familiarization Programme for Independent Directors

	 In compliance with Regulation 46(2)(i) of SEBI (LODR) 2015, Company organized separate Familiarization 
Programmefor Independent Directors.

	 Board Functioning and Procedure

	 The Company sends a detailed agenda folder setting out the business to be transacted at the Meeting(s) to each 
Director at least seven days before the date of the Board and Committee Meetings.

	 The Members of the Board have complete liberty to express their opinion and decisions taken on the basis of 
consensus arrived at after detailed discussion at the Board Meeting. 

	 The Chairman, Chief Executive officer and Company Secretary keep the members of the Board informed about any 
material development /business update through various modes.

	 The Company has a well-established framework for the meetings of the Board and its Committee which seeks to 
systematize the decision-making process at the Board and Committee meetings in an informed and efficient manner. 

3.	 COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

	 The Board Committees play a vital role in strengthening the Corporate Governance practices and focus effectively 
on the issues and ensure expedient resolution of the diverse matters. The Board Committees are set up under formal 
approval of the Board to carry out clearly defined roles which are considered to be performed by the members of 
the Board as a part of good governance practice. The Board supervises the execution of its responsibilities by the 
Committees and is responsible for their actions. The minutes of the proceedings of the meetings of all Committees 
are placed before the Board for its review and noting. The Board Committees can request special invitees to join the 
meeting, as deemed appropriate.

	 a)	 Audit Committee

		  The Audit Committee has been constituted in terms of the provisions of Section 177 of the Act read with 
the Companies (Meetings of Board and its Powers) Rules, 2014 and the applicable provisions of the Listing 
Regulations to provide assistance to the Board of Directors in its responsibility for overseeing the quality and 
integrity of the accounting, auditing and reporting practices of the Company. 

		  As on March 31, 2020, the Audit Committee comprises the following members:

Sl. No. Committee meeting Composition

1 Audit Committee

 

Mr. Vinod Somani (Chairman)

Mr. Yogendra Pal Singh (Member)

Mr. Vineet Kumar Saxena (Member)
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	 Meetings

	 During the period under review, 4 (four) meetings of the Audit Committee were held on May 10, 2019, August 14, 
2019, November 12, 2019 and February 14, 2020. The intervening period between Audit Committee Meetings 
was within the maximum time gap prescribed under Regulation 18 of Listing Regulations.

	 The attendance of the members of the Audit Committee at their meetings held during the period under review, is as 
follows:

Sr. 
No.

Name of the member Position in 
Committee

No. of Committee 
meetings held during 

the tenure of member/
financial year 2019-20

No. of Committee 
meetings attended 
during the financial 

year 2019-20

1. Mr. Vinod Somani Chairman 4 4

2. Mr. Yogendra Pal Singh Member 4 4

3. Mr. Vineet Kumar Saxena Member 4 4

	
	 Terms of Reference 

	 The terms of reference of the Audit Committee of the Board includes the following:

	 1.	 the remuneration and terms of appointment of auditors of the company;

	 2.	 review and monitor the auditor’s independence and performance, and effectiveness of audit process; 

	 3.	 examination of the financial statement and the auditors’ report thereon;

	 4.	 approval or any subsequent modification of transactions of the company with related parties;

	 5.	 scrutiny of inter-corporate loans and investments;

	 6.	 valuation of undertakings or assets of the Company, wherever it is necessary; 

	 7.	 evaluation of internal financial controls and risk management systems;

	 8.	 monitoring the end use of funds raised through public offers and related matters; 

	 9.	 oversee the vigil mechanism established by the Company for Directors and employees to report genuine 
concerns.

	 The Audit Committee shall also exercise the following powers in addition to the powers specified above:

	 1.	 To investigate any activity within its terms of reference;

	 2.	 To seek information from any employee;

	 3.	 To obtain outside legal or other professional advice;

	 4.	 To secure attendance of outsiders with relevant expertise, if it considers necessary;

	 5.	 Oversight of the company’s financial reporting process and the disclosure of its financial information to ensure 
that the financial statement is correct, sufficient and credible;

	 6.	 Recommending to the Board, the appointment, re-appointment and, if required, the replacement or removal 
of the statutory auditor and the fixation of audit fees;

	 7.	 Approval of payment to statutory auditors for any other services rendered by the statutory auditors;

	 8.	 Reviewing, with the management, the annual financial statements before submission to the Board for approval, 
with particular reference to:

		  a.	 Matters required to be included in the Director’s Responsibility Statement to be included in the Board’s 
report in terms of clause (2AA) of section 217 of the Companies Act, 1956 or Board’s report in terms 
of clause (c) of sub-section 3 of section 134 of the Companies Act, 2013;

		  b.	 Changes, if any, in accounting policies and practices and reasons for the same;

		  c.	 Major accounting entries involving estimates based on the exercise of judgment by management;

		  d.	 Significant adjustments made in the financial statements arising out of audit findings;

		  e.	 Compliance with listing and other legal requirements relating to financial statements;
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		  f.	 Disclosure of any related party transactions; and

		  g.	 Qualifications in the draft audit report.

	 9.	 Reviewing, with the management, the quarterly financial statements before submission to the Board for 
approval;

	 10.	 Reviewing, with the management, the statement of uses / application of funds raised through an issue (public 
issue, rights issue, preferential issue, etc.), the statement of funds utilized for purposes other than those stated 
in the offer document/prospectus/notice and the report submitted by the monitoring agency monitoring the 
utilization of proceeds of a public or rights issue, and making appropriate recommendations to the Board to 
take up steps in this matter;

	 11.	 Reviewing, with the management, performance of statutory and internal auditors, and adequacy of the internal 
control systems;

	 12.	 Reviewing the adequacy of internal audit function, if any, including the structure of the internal audit department, 
staffing and seniority of the official heading the department, reporting structure coverage and frequency of 
internal audit;

	 13.	 Discussion with the internal auditors on any significant findings and follow up there on;

	 14.	 Reviewing the findings of any internal investigations by the internal auditors into matters where there is 
suspected fraud or irregularity or a failure of internal control systems of a material nature and reporting the 
matter to the Board;

	 15.	 Discussion with statutory auditors before the audit commences, about the nature and scope of audit as well as 
post-audit discussion to ascertain any area of concern;

	 16.	 To look into the reasons for substantial defaults in the payment to the depositors, debenture holders, 
shareholders (in case of non-payment of declared dividends) and creditors;

	 17.	 To review the functioning of the Whistle Blower mechanism, in case the same is existing;

	 18.	 Approval of appointment of CFO (i.e., the whole-time Finance Director or any other person heading the 
finance function or discharging that function) after assessing the qualifications, experience & background, etc. 
of the candidate; and

	 19.	 Carrying out any other function as is mentioned in the terms of reference of the Audit Committee.

	 b)	 Nomination & Remuneration Committee

		�  The Nomination & Remuneration Committee has been constituted in terms of the provisions of Section 178 
of the Act and the applicable provisions of the Listing Regulations.

		  As on March 31, 2020, the Nomination & Remuneration Committee comprises the following members:

Sr. No Committee meeting Composition

1 Nomination & Remuneration Committee Mr. Vinod Somani (Chairperson)

Mr. Yogendra Pal Singh (Member)

Mr. Vineet Kumar Saxena (Member)

	 Meetings

	 During the period under review, 5 (Five) meetings of the Nomination & Remuneration Committee were held on May 
10, 2019, May 20, 2019, August 14, 2019, November 12, 2019 and February 14, 2020.

	 The attendance of the members of the Nomination & Remuneration Committee at their meetings held during the 
period under review, is as follows:
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Sr. 
No.

Name of the member Position in 
Committee

No. of Committee 
meetings held during 

the tenure of member/
financial year 2019-20

No. of Committee 
meetings attended 
during the financial 

year 2019-20

1. Mr. Vinod Somani Chairman 5 5

2. Mr. Yogendra Pal Singh Member 5 5

3. Mr. Vineet Kumar Saxena Member 5 5

	
	 Terms of Reference 

	 The terms of reference of the Nomination & Remuneration Committee of the Board include the following: 

	 1.	 To identify persons who are qualified to become Directors and who may be appointed in senior management 
in accordance with the criteria laid down;

	 2.	 To recommend to the Board their appointment and removal; 

	 3.	 To carry out evaluation of every Director’s performance; 

	 4.	 To formulate the criteria for determining qualifications, positive attributes and independence of a Director 
recommend to the Board a policy, relating to the remuneration for the directors, Key Management Personnel 
and other employees; and

	 5.	 While formulating the policy under sub-section (3) of section 178 of the Companies Act ensure that:

		  a.	 the level and composition of remuneration is reasonable and sufficient to attract, retain and motivate the 
Directors of the quality required to run the company successfully;

		  b.	 relationship of remuneration to performance is clear and meets appropriate performance benchmarks; 
and

		  c.	 remuneration to Directors, Key Management Personnel and senior management involves a balance 
between fixed and incentive pay reflecting short and long-term performance objectives appropriate to 
the working of the company and its goals.

	 Annual Performance Evaluation

	 Pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and rules made thereunder, Listing Regulations and 
Performance Evaluation Policy (“PEP”) of the Company, the Board and the Nomination & Remuneration Committee, 
has carried out the formal evaluation of performance of the Board, its Committees and individual directors, including 
independent directors. The evaluation has been carried out through a questionnaire, as provided in the PEP, covering 
various aspects of the functioning of the Board, its Committees and performance of the Directors, such as, adequacy 
of the constitution and composition of the Board and its Committees, discharge of roles and responsibilities by the 
Board, its Committees and Directors, frequency of the meetings, attendance, regulatory compliances and corporate 
governance. 

	 The individual Directors and members of the Board and its Committees had submitted their response on a scale of 
1 (strongly disagree) – 5 (strongly agree) for evaluating the Board as a whole, Committees of the Board and of their 
peer Board members, including Chairman of the Board.

	 c)	 Stakeholders Relationship Committee

		�  The Stakeholders Relationship Committee has been constituted in terms of the provisions of Section 178 of the 
Act and the applicable provisions of the Listing Regulations.

		  As on March 31, 2020, the Stakeholders Relationship Committee comprises the following members:

Sl. No. Committee meeting Composition

1 Stakeholders Relationship Committee Mr. Vinod Somani (Chairman)

Mr. Yogendra Pal Singh (Member)

Mr. Vineet Kumar Saxena (Member)
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	 Meetings

	 During the period under review, 1 (one) meeting of the Stakeholders Relationship Committee was held on 
November12, 2019.

	 The attendance of the members of the Stakeholders Relationship Committee at their meeting held during the period 
under review, is as follows:

Sr. 
No.

Name of the member Position in 
Committee

No. of Committee 
meetings held 

during the tenure of 
member/financial 

year 2019-20

No. of Committee 
meetings attended 
during the financial 

year 2019-20

1. Mr. Vinod Somani Chairman 1 1

2. Mr. Yogendra Pal Singh Member 1 1

3. Mr. Vineet Kumar Saxena Member 1 1

	

	 Terms of Reference 

	 The terms of reference of the Stakeholders Relationship Committee of the Board include the following:

	 1.	 To take note of transfer and transmission of shares;

	 2.	 To approve requests of shareholders for dematerialization, re-materialisation of shares, issue or split of shares, 
consolidation of shares and issue of duplicate share certificates;

	 3.	 To look after the grievances of the security holders of the listed entity including but not limited to complaints 
related to: 

		  a.	 Transfer of shares;

		  b.	 Non-receipt of annual report; and 

		  c.	 Non-receipt of declared dividends.

	 4.	 To ensure expeditious redressal of investor complaints received through SCORES and other mediums; and

	 5.	 To ensure periodical reporting of investor grievances in the prescribed manner from time to time.

	 d)	 Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Committee

		�  In compliance to section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013, the Company has duly constituted Corporate Social 
Responsibility Committee. 

		  As on March 31, 2020, the Corporate Social Responsibility Committee comprises the following members:

Sr. 
No.

Committee meeting Composition

1. Corporate Social Responsibility Committee Mr. Yogendra Pal Singh (Chairman)

Mr. Keshav Porwal (Member)

Mr. Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha (Member)

	
	 Meetings

	 During the period under review, 1 (one) meeting of the Corporate Social Responsibility Committee was held on 
September 27, 2019.

	 The attendance of the members of the Corporate Social Responsibility Committee at their meeting held during the 
period under review, is as follows:
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	 Tenure of Service of Executive Directors

Sr. No. Name of the member Position in 
Committee

No. of Committee 
meetings held 

during the tenure 
of member/
financial year 

2019-20

No. of Committee 
meetings attended 
during the financial 

year 2019-20

1. Mr. Yogendra Pal Singh Chairman 1 1

2. Mr. Keshav Porwal Member 1 1

3. Mr. Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha Member 1 1

	
	 Terms of Reference 

	 The terms of reference of the Corporate Social Responsibility Committee of the Board include the following:

	 a)	 formulate and recommend to the Board, a Corporate Social Responsibility Policy which shall indicate the 
activities to be undertaken by the Company in the areas or subject, specified in Schedule VII to the Companies 
Act, 2013;

	 b)	 recommend the amount of expenditure to be incurred on the activities referred to in clause (a); 

	 c)	 monitor the Corporate Social Responsibility Policy of the Company from time to time; and

	 d)	 any other matter(s) in relation to above which the Committee deems fit and which is not reserved to be 
approved by the Board under the Companies Act, 2013 or any other applicable law, for the time being in 
force.

	 The CSR activities undertaken by the Company are in line with the CSR Policy of the Company and are pursuant to 
Section 135 and Schedule VII of the Companies Act, 2013. The CSR Policy detailing the summary of CSR activities 
along with relevant details is accessible at Company’s website at URL www.capitalindia.com.

4.	 REMUNERATION PAID TO DIRECTORS 

	 The Non-Executive Directors, excluding the Independent Directors, are neither paid any sitting fees for attending the 
meetings of the Board and/or any Committee thereof nor any commission on net profits.

	 Details of remuneration paid to Directors of the Company for the Financial Year ended on March 31, 2020 is as 
under:

(Rs. In Lakhs)

Sr. 
No

Name Sitting Fees Salary Perquisites 
and 

Benefits

Details 
of Stock 
options

Shares 
in profit/ 
Incentive

Total

1. Mr.Vinod Somani 8.90 - - - - 8.90

2. Mr.Yogendra Pal 
Singh

8.55 - - - - 8.55

3. Mr. Keshav Porwal - 182.40 8.33 - - 190.73

4. Mr. Amit Sahai 
Kulshreshtha

- 191.60 8.00 - - 199.60

5. Mr. Vineet Kumar 
Saxena

- - - - - -

6. Ms. Shraddha 
Suresh Kamat 

- - - - - -

7. Mr. Subodh Kumar* - - - - - -
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Notes:	
a)	 Salary and perquisites include all elements of remuneration i.e. salary, reimbursement and other allowances and 

benefits including employer’s provident fund contribution and perquisite value.

	 Tenure of Service of Executive Directors

Sr. 
No.

Name & Designation of 
Executive Director

Period of 
appointment 

Date of appointment Notice period

1. Keshav Porwal
Managing Director

5 years November 27, 2017 3 Calendar months

2. Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha
Executive Director & Chief 
Executive Officer

5 years November 27, 2017 3 Calendar months

	 Appointments of executive directors are governed by the resolutions passed by the Board and the Shareholders 
of the Company, which cover the terms and conditions of such appointments, read with the service rules of the 
Company. There is no separate provision for payment of severance fee under the resolutions governing their 
appointment. The remuneration paid to executive directors of the Company is approved by the Shareholders of the 
Company upon the recommendation of the Nomination & Remuneration Committee of the Board and the Board. 
The Company’s remuneration strategy is market driven and aims at attracting and retaining high caliber talent. The 
strategy is in consonance with existing industry practice and is directed towards rewarding performance, based on 
review of achievements on periodical basis.

5.	 GENERAL BODY MEETINGS 

	 Annual General Meeting

	 The details of the Annual General Meeting(s) of the Company held during the preceding three years are stated 
below:

Sr. 
No.

Year of 
Annual 
General 
Meeting 

Place Time Brief description of Special Resolutions passed, if any 

1. 2019 The Magnolia Habitat 
World, India Habitat 
Centre, Lodhi Road, 
New Delhi – 110003

09:00 A.M i)   �Revision in the remuneration of Mr. Keshav Porwal, 
Managing Director of the Company;

ii)  �revision in the remuneration of Mr. Amit Sahai 
Kulshreshtha, Executive Director & Chief Executive 
Officer of the Company;

iii) �issue of non-convertible debentures and other debt 
securities; and 

iv) issuance of securities.

2. 2018 The Magnolia Habitat 
World, India Habitat 
Centre, Lodhi Road, 
New Delhi – 110003

09:00 A.M. i)   �Appointment of Mr. Keshav Porwal as the Managing 
Director of the Company;

ii)  �Appointment of Mr. Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha as an 
Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer of the 
Company;

iii) �Issue and allotment of equity shares of the Company on 
preferential allotment basis through private placement;

iv) �Issue of non-convertible debentures / debt securities; 
and

i)   �Issue and allotment of securities including equity shares, 
convertible preference shares, convertible debentures, 
Global Depository Receipts, American Depository 
Receipts etc., by way of Qualified Institutions Placement 
(“QIP”) or through any other method, and in compliance 
of applicable laws.
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3. 2017 Farm House of 
Kapil Constructions 
Private Limited, 
Anandgram (Near 
Rajokari), Church 
Road Extension, Mata 
Amritanandmayi Math, 
Abdul Gaffar Khan 
Marg, New Delhi – 
110070

11:00 A.M. i)   �Re-appointment of Mr. Samai Singh as an Independent 
Director of the Company;

ii)  �Approval for ratifying related party transaction entered 
between the Company and Sainik Mining and Allied 
Services during the financial year 2016-17; and

iii) �Approval for charging fees from the members/
shareholders to make delivery of the documents/
papers etc. through requested mode of delivery to the 
members/shareholders.

	 Extra-ordinary General Meeting 

	 No Extra-ordinary General Meeting was held during the financial year ended on March 31, 2020.

	 Postal Ballot

	 During the period under review, the Company has approached the shareholders for seeking their approval through 
postal ballot. The details of the postal ballot are as follows:

	 Date of Postal Ballot notice: November 12, 2019

	 Voting period: December 2, 2019 to January 1, 2020

	 Date of declaration of results: January 2, 2020

	 Date of approval: January 1, 2020

Sr. 
No.

Particulars No. of votes 
with assent

% of Assent No. of votes 
with Dissent

% of Dissent

1. Approval for material related party 
transactions with Rapipay Fintech 
Private Limited

20518011 99.99 500 0.00

2. Approval for material related party 
transactions with Rapipay Fintech 
Holding Private Limited

20518011 99.99 500 0.00

	 M/s Arun Gupta & Associates, Company Secretaries were appointed as Scrutinizer for conducting the postal ballot 
(including voting through electronic means) process in a fair and transparent manner.

6.	 MEANS OF COMMUNICATION

	 Information like quarterly / half yearly / annual financial results and press releases on significant developments in 
the Company that have been made available from time to time, to the press and presentations made to institutional 
investors or to the analysts are hosted on the Website of the Company at URL www.capitalindia.com and have also 
been submitted to the BSE Limited, the stock exchange where the shares of the company are listed, to enable them 
to put them on its website and communicate to the shareholders. The quarterly / half-yearly / annual financial results 
are generally published in English and Hindi language newspapers. Moreover, a report on Management Discussion 
and Analysis has been given elsewhere in this report. The Company electronically files all reports / information 
including results, shareholding pattern and corporate governance report, at BSE’s website (www.listing.bseindia.
com).

7.	 VIGIL MECHANISM / WHISTLE BLOWER POLICY

	 Pursuant to the provisions of Section 177(9) & (10) of the Act read with the rules made thereunder and pursuant to 
the provisions of the Listing Regulations, the Company has established a Vigil Mechanism namely ‘Vigil Mechanism 
Policy’ for its Directors and employees, to report instances of unethical behaviour, actual or suspected fraud or 
violation of the Company’s Code of Conduct. The aim of the Vigil Mechanism Policy is to provide adequate 
safeguards against victimization of Whistle Blower who avails the mechanism and also provides direct access to the 
Chairman of the Audit Committee, in appropriate or exceptional cases.
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	 Accordingly, the Vigil Mechanism Policy has been formulated with a view to provide a mechanism for the Directors 
and employees of the Company to approach the Ethics Officer or the Chairman of the Audit Committee of the 
Company.

	 The purpose of the Vigil Mechanism Policy is to provide a framework to promote responsible and secure whistle 
blowing. It protects employees willing to raise a concern about serious irregularities within the Company.

	 The Vigil Mechanism Policy has been appropriately communicated within the Company and has been hosted on the 
Company’s website at URL www.capitalindia.com.  

	 During the FY 2019-20, no such complaint of unethical or improper activity has been received by the Company. 
None of the person has been denied access to the Audit Committee.

8.	 CODE OF CONDUCT 

	 The commitment to ethical professional conduct is a must for every employee including members of the Board 
and senior management personnel of the Company. The Code of Conduct is intended to serve as a basis for 
ethical decision making in conduct of professional work. The Code of Conduct enjoins that each individual in the 
organisation must know and respect existing laws, accept and provide appropriate professional views and be upright 
in his conduct and observe corporate discipline. The code of conduct is available on the Website of the Company at 
URL www.capitalindia.com. All the members of the Board and senior management personnel affirm compliances 
with the Code of Conduct annually. Declaration signed by the Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer to this 
effect, is as under:

	 I declare that all the members of the Board and senior management personnel have affirmed compliance with the 
Code of Conduct for the financial year ended on March 31, 2020.

For and on behalf of the Board of
Capital India Finance Limited      

										        
	 Date: June 1, 2020 	 Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha
	 Place: Mumbai					     Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer

9.	 COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE FROM THE PRACTICING COMPANY SECRETARY 

	 A certificate from M/s Arun Gupta & Associates, Company Secretaries, certifying the Company’s compliance 
with the provisions of Corporate Governance as stipulated in Regulation 34(3) read with Schedule-V to the Listing 
Regulations, is appended herewith and forms part of this Report.

10.	 DISCRETIONARY REQUIREMENTS

	 A)	 Non-Executive Chairman

		  The Board has a Non-Executive Chairman and hence, is in compliance with the Regulation 17 of Listing 
Regulations.

	 B)	 Unqualified financial statements

		  The Auditors’ Report on the audited annual accounts of the Company does not contain any qualification 
from the Statutory Auditors and it shall be the endeavor of the Company to continue the trend by building up 
accounting systems and controls which ensure complete adherence to the applicable accounting standards and 
practices obviating the possibility of the Auditors’ qualifying their report as to the audited accounts.

	 C)	 Separate posts of chairperson and chief executive officer 

		  The Company has separate positions of Non-Executive Chairman, Managing Director and Executive Director 
& Chief Executive Officer.

	 D)	 Reporting of Internal Auditor 

		  The Internal Auditors of the Company reports directly to the Audit Committee. 
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A)	 GENERAL SHAREHOLDERS INFORMATION

	 A)	 Company Registration Details 

		  The Company is registered in the National Capital Territory of Delhi, India. The corporate identity number 
allotted to the Company by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs is L74899DL1994PLC128577.

	 B)	 Annual General Meeting 

		  The 26th Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company would be held on the day, date, time and venue 
as mentioned in the Notice convening the said AGM.

	 C)	 Financial Year

		  The financial year of the Company is a period of twelve months beginning on 1st April every calendar year 
and ending on 31st March the following calendar year.

	 D)	 Dividend and its Payment

		  Dividend of Re.0.10 per share (previous year Re.0.40 per share) amounting to Rs. 77.73 Lakhs (previous 
year Rs. 310.94 Lakhs) is proposed on equity shares. The recommended dividend will be accounted for when 
approved by the shareholders in their Annual General Meeting.

	 E)	 Listing of Shares on Stock Exchange and Stock Code

Sr. 
No.

Name and address of the Stock Exchange Stock Code

1. BSE Limited (“BSE”), Phiroze Jeejeebhoy Towers, Dalal Street,
Mumbai – 400001

530879

	 Annual Listing Fees for the financial year 2020-21 have been duly paid to BSE.

	 F)	 Registrar and Share Transfer Agent

		  All the work relating to the shares held in the physical form as well as the shares held in the electronic 
(dematerialised) form is being done at one single point and for this purpose the SEBI registered category I 
Registrar & Share Transfer Agent has been appointed, whose details are given below: 

		  KFin Technologies Private Limited,
		  (formerly known as Karvy Fintech Private Limited),    
		  Karvy Selenium Tower B, Plot 31-32, Gachibowli, 
		  Financial District, Nanakramguda, Hyderabad – 500 032
		  Contact No: +91 040 - 67162222
		  Fax No: +91 40 23001153 
		  E-mail: venu.sp@karvy.com

	 G)	 Share Transfer System

		  As on March 31, 2020, 99.75% of equity shares of the Company are in dematerialised form. Transfers of 
equity shares in dematerialised form are done through depositories with no involvement of the Company. 
With regard to transfer of equity shares in physical form, the share transfer instruments, received in physical 
form, are processed by our Registrar & Share Transfer Agent,to whom the authority has been delegated 
by the Board, and the share certificates are dispatched within a period of 15 days from the date of receipt 
thereafter subject to the documents being complete and valid in all respects. The Company obtains a half-
yearly certificate from a Company Secretary in practice in respect of the share transfers as required under 
Regulation 40(9) of Listing Regulations and files a copy of the said certificate with the stock exchange, where 
the shares of the Company are listed. A summary of transfer/transmission of equity shares of the Company, 
so approved, is placed on quarterly basis at the Board meetings.
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	 H)	 Distribution of Shareholding 

		  The shareholding distribution of equity shares as on March 31, 2020, is given hereunder:

Shareholding 
between

No. of 
shareholders

% of  
Total

Total  
Shares

Amount  
(Rs. In Lakhs)

% of  
Amount

1 to 10,000 618 98.25 3,59,642           35.96 0.46

10,001 to 1,00,000 4 0.64 83,878             8.39 0.11

1,00,001 & above 7 1.11 7,72,90,740       7,729.07 99.43

Total 629 100.00 7,77,34,260       7,773.43 100.00

	
	 I)	 Dematerialisation of Shares and Liquidity 

		  As on March 31, 2020, the number of equity shares held in dematerialised form was 7,75,42,720 (99.75%) 
and in physical form was 1,91,540 (0.25%) of the total equity share capital of the Company. To enable us 
to serve the shareholders better, we request our shareholders whose shares are in physical mode to get their 
shares dematerialised and update their bank accounts and email ids with respective DPs. The Company does 
not have any GDRs/ADRs or any Convertible instruments having any impact on equity.

	 J)	 Compliances under Listing Regulations 

		  The Company is regularly complying with the Listing Regulations and all information, certificates and returns as 
required under the applicable provisions of the Listing Regulations have been submitted to the stock exchange, 
where the shares of the Company are listed, within the prescribed time.

	 K)	 CEO & CFO Certification

		  In terms of Regulation 17(8) of the Listing Regulations, the Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer 
and the Chief Financial Officer of the Company have given compliance certificate stating therein matters 
prescribed under Part B of Schedule II to the Listing Regulations.

	 L)	 Information on Deviation from Accounting Standards, if any. 

		  There has been no deviation from the Accounting Standards in preparation of annual financial statements for 
the financial year 2019-20.

	 M)	 Investor Correspondence 

		  Mr. Rachit Malhotra 
		  Company Secretary & Compliance Officer
		  Capital India Finance Limited 
		  2nd Floor, DLF Centre, Sansad Marg, 
		  New Delhi – 110001
		  Ph: 011-49546000 
		  Email: secretarial@capitalindia.com

		  During the year ended on March 31, 2020, the Company has received 2 (two) investors complaints and those 
were resolved satisfactorily. There was no pending investor complaint as March 31, 2020.

	 N)	 Commodity price risk or foreign exchange risk and hedging risk.	

		  The Company does not have any exposure to commodity price risks during the financial year ended on March 
31, 2020.

	 O)	 Plant location

	 	 As the Company is engaged in the business of finance, there is no plant location of the Company.
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	 P)	 Address for Correspondence

		  Registered Office:
		  2nd Floor, DLF Centre, Sansad Marg,
		  New Delhi – 110001
		  Tel: 011-4954 6000
		  Email: secretarial@capitalindia.com
		  Website: https://capitalindia.com

		  Corporate Office:
		  A-1402, One BKC, A-Wing, 14th Floor, G-Block,
		  Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra (East), Mumbai,
		  Maharashtra – 400051
		  Tel: 022-4503 6000

	 Q)	 Disclosures

	 i)	 The Company has,except stated elsewhere in the Annual Report, not entered into any materially significant 
related party transactions which have potential conflict with the interest of the Company at large. Your Board, 
on the recommendation of the Audit Committee, had approved a Policy on Related Party Transactions. The 
policy can be accessed from the Website of the Company at URL www.capitalindia.com.

	 ii)	 The Company has complied with the requirements of the Stock Exchange(s), Securities and Exchange Board 
of India (“SEBI”) and other statutory authorities on all matters relating to capital markets during the last three 
years. No penalties or strictures have been imposed on the Company by the Stock Exchange(s), SEBI or other 
statutory authorities relating to the above. 

	 iii)	 The Company has complied with all the mandatory requirements of Corporate Governance as prescribed 
under the Listing Regulations.

	 iv)	 Your Board had approved a Policy for determining material subsidiaries. The policy can be accessed from the 
Website of the Company at URL www.capitalindia.com.

	 v)	 The Company has obtained a certificate from M/s Arun Gupta & Associates, Company Secretaries, to the 
effect that none of the directors on the Board of the Company have been debarred or disqualified from being 
appointed or continuing as directors of companies by SEBI/the Ministry of Corporate Affairs or any such 
statutory authority(ies).

	 vi)	 Your Board had accepted, all the recommendations of the Committee(s) of the Board during the financial year 
ended on March 31, 2020.

	 vii)	 The details of the total fees for services paid by the Company and its subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, to 
M/s Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP, Chartered Accountants (Statutory Auditors of the Company) and all entities 
in the network firm/network entity of which the Statutory Auditors are part of, are provided below:

(Rs. In Lakhs)

Auditor’s remuneration (net of GST credit availed) As at March 31, 2020

Audit fees 19.13

Taxation matters (Tax audit fees) 1.59

Certification& other services 7.40

Total 28.12

	 viii)	 The Company has framed a Policy on Prevention of Sexual Harassment at Workplace in accordance with the 
applicable laws for all employees of the Company to inter alia ensure that the employees are not subject to 
any form of sexual harassment and to constitute the Internal Complaints Committee. Your Company is fully 
committed to protect the rights of any women, of any age, whether employed or not, who alleges to have been 
subjected to any act of sexual harassment within the Company’s premises. Your Company provides a safe 
and healthy work environment. There were no cases of sexual harassment reported during the year ended on 
March 31, 2020.
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	 R)	 Credit Rating 

		  During the period under review, the Company has been rated ‘A-‘ by Acuite Ratings and Research Limited for 
raising Long term debt upto Rs. 500 Crore.

	 S)	 Equity Shares in the Suspense Account

		  There were no outstanding equity shares in the Unclaimed Suspense account of the Company, as on March 
31, 2020. 

	 T)	 Stock Market Price at BSE Limited (BSE)

		  The monthly high and low market prices of equity shares at the BSE Limited (BSE) for the year ended on 
March 31, 2020 are as under

Month High Price (INR) Low Price (INR) No. of Shares Traded

Apr-19 180 123.6 13923

May-19 182 134 13419

Jun-19 184.6 123.1 7283

Jul-19 145.9 85.7 6034

Aug-19 138 79.3 11176

Sep-19 160.5 90.75 13775

Oct-19 137.4 97 9966

Nov-19 122.9 95.1 3360

Dec-19 126 75.6 4325

Jan-20 155 101.2 27999

Feb-20 162.9 100.1 1322104

Mar-20 124.7 56.4 24690

	 U)	 Performance of the Company in comparison with the BSE Indices
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	 V)	 Green Initiative 

		  Pursuant to Section 101 and 136 of the Act read with the Companies (Management and Administration) 
Rules, 2014 and Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014, the Company can send notice of Annual General 
Meeting, financial statements and other communications in electronic form. Your Company is sending the 
Annual Report including the notice of Annual General Meeting, audited financial statements (both standalone 
and consolidated) and the Board’s Report, along with their annexures for the Financial Year 2019-20, in 
the electronic mode, to the shareholders who have registered their email ids with the Company and/or their 
respective Depository Participants (DPs). Shareholders who have not registered their e-mail ids so far are 
requested to register their e-mail ids. Those holding shares in demat form can register their e-mail ids with 
their concerned DPs. Shareholders who hold shares in physical form are requested to register their e-mail ids 
with the Company, by sending a letter, duly signed by the first/sole holder quoting details of Folio No. The 
Annual Report containing audited financial statements (both standalone and consolidated) and Board’s Report, 
along with their annexures and other important information, for the Financial Year 2019-20 is available in 
downloadable form on the Website of the Company at URL www.capitalindia.com.

		  Except as set out above, the Company has not adopted the non-mandatory requirements as to any of the 
other matters recommended under Part E of Schedule II of Regulation 27(1) of the Listing Regulations. 
This Corporate Governance Report of the Company for the financial year ended on March 31, 2020 is in 
compliance with the requirements of Corporate Governance as prescribed under Regulations 17 to 27 and 
clause (b) to (i) of sub-regulation (2) of Regulation 46 of the Listing Regulations, to the extent applicable to the 
Company.

	 W)	 Details of the Directors seeking Appointment/Re-appointment:

		  The following information in respect of directors being appointed/re-appointed is being disclosed in the Notice 
convening the 26th Annual General Meeting of the Company:

		  a) 	 brief resume;

		  b) 	 nature of expertise in specific functional areas;

		  c) 	 disclosure of relationships between directors inter-se;

		  d) 	� names of listed entities in which the director also holds the directorship and the membership of 
Committees of the board; and 

		  (e) 	 shareholding of non-executive directors.
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CERTIFICATE REGARDING COMPLIANCE OF CONDITIONS OF  
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

To, 
The Members,
Capital India Finance Limited
2nd Floor, DLF Centre, Sansad Marg,
New Delhi – 110001

1.	 We have examined the compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance by Capital India Finance Limited (“the 
Company”) for the year ended on 31st March 2020, as stipulated in regulations 17 to 27 and clauses (b) to (i) of 
regulation 46(2) and paragraph C, D and E of Schedule V to the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (“Listing Regulations”).

	 Management’s Responsibility

2.	 The compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance is the responsibility of the management. This responsibility 
includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control and procedures to ensure compliance with 
the conditions of the Corporate Governance stipulated in the Listing Regulations.

	 Auditors’ Responsibility

3.	 Our responsibility is limited to examining the procedures and implementation thereof adopted by the Company for 
ensuring compliance with the conditions of the Corporate Governance. It is neither an audit nor an expression of 
opinion on the financial statements of the Company.

4.	 We have examined the relevant records and documents maintained by the Company for the purposes of providing 
reasonable assurance on the compliance with Corporate Governance requirements by the Company.

	 Opinion

5.	 Based on our examination of the relevant records and according to the information and explanations provided to us 
and the representations provided by the Management, we certify that the Company has complied with the conditions 
of Corporate Governance as stipulated in regulations 17 to 27 and clauses (b) to (i) of regulation 46(2) and paragraph 
C, D and E of Schedule V to the Listing Regulations during the year ended 31st March 2020.

6.	  We state that such compliance is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor the efficiency 
or effectiveness with which the Management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

          			
            For Arun Gupta & Associates

	 Company Secretaries

								        Arun Kumar Gupta
								        Proprietor
    	 Membership No. 21227
Place: New Delhi	 C.P. No. 8003
Date: 01/06/2020 	 UDIN: A021227B000334837
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CERTIFICATE OF NON-DISQUALIFICATION OF DIRECTORS

(Pursuant to Regulation 34(3) and Schedule V Para C clause (10) (i) of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015)

To,
The Members,
Capital India Finance Limited
2nd Floor, DLF Centre, Sansad Marg,
New Delhi – 110001 

We have examined the relevant registers, records, forms, returns and disclosures received from the Directors of Capital 
India Finance Limited having CIN L74899DL1994PLC128577 and having registered office at 2nd Floor, DLF Centre, 
Sansad Marg, New Delhi – 110001 (hereinafter referred to as ‘the Company’), produced before us by the Company for 
the purpose of issuing this Certificate, in accordance with Regulation 34(3) read with Schedule V Para-C Sub clause 10(i) 
of the Securities Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015. 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the verifications (including Directors Identification 
Number (DIN) status at the portal www.mca.gov.in) as considered necessary and explanations furnished to us by the 
Company & its officers, We hereby certify that none of the Directors on the Board of the Company as stated below for 
the Financial Year ending on 31st March, 2020 have been debarred or disqualified from being appointed or continuing as 
Directors of companies by the Securities and Exchange Board of India, Ministry of Corporate Affairs, New Delhi or any 
such other Statutory Authority .

S. 
No.

Name of Directors DIN Date of appointment in 
Company

1. Mr. Vinod Somani
(DIN: 00327231)

00327231 20/12/2017

2. Mr. Yogendra Pal Singh
(DIN: 08347484)

08347484 13/02/2019

3. Mr. Keshav Porwal
(DIN: 06706341)

06706341 27/11/2017

4. Mr. Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha
(DIN: 07869849)

07869849 27/11/2017

5. Mr. Vineet Kumar Saxena
 (DIN: 07710277)

07710277 27/11/2017

6. Mr. Shraddha Suresh Kamat
(DIN: 07555355)

07555355 27/11/2017

Ensuring the eligibility of for appointment / continuity of every Director on the Board is the responsibility of the management 
of the Company. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these based on our verification. This certificate is neither 
an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor of the efficiency or effectiveness with which the management 
has conducted the affairs of the Company.

 For Arun Gupta & Associates

								        Arun Kumar Gupta
								        Company Secretary

ACS. 21227
Place: New Delhi 	 C.P. No. 8003
Date: 01/06/2020 	 UDIN: A021227B000334837
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CEO & CFO CERTIFICATE

To,
The Shareholders and Board of Directors,
Capital India Finance Limited

Sub:	CEO & CFO Certificate under Regulation 17(8) and Regulation 33(2)(a) of Securities and Exchange Board 
of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulation, 2015, for the financial year ended 
on March 31, 2020

We, Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha, Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer and Neeraj Toshniwal, Chief Financial Officer 
of Capital India Finance Limited (“Company”), to the best of our knowledge and belief, certify that:

	 A.	 We have reviewed the financial statements (both on standalone and consolidated basis) and cash flow statements 
for the financial year ended on March 31, 2020 (hereinafter referred to as “Year”) and to the best of our 
knowledge and belief:

		  i.	 these statements do not contain any materially untrue statement or omit any material fact or contain 
statements that might be misleading; and

		  ii.	 these statements together present a true and fair view of the Company’s affairs and are in compliance 
with existing accounting standards, applicable laws and regulations. 	

	 B.	 There is, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no transaction(s) entered into by the Company during the 
Year which are fraudulent, illegal or violative of the Code of Conduct of the Company.

	 C.	 We accept responsibility for establishing and maintaining internal controls for financial reporting and we have 
evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control systems pertaining to the financial reporting and 
that we have disclosed to the Auditors’ and the Audit Committee of the Board, deficiencies in the design or 
operation of such internal controls, if any, of which we are aware and the steps we have taken or propose to 
take to rectify these deficiencies.

	 D.	 We have indicated to the Auditors and the Audit Committee of the Board:

		  i.	 that there are no significant changes in internal control over financial reporting during the Year; and

		  ii.	 that there are no significant changes in accounting policies during the Year and that the same have been 
disclosed in the notes to these statements; and

	 E.	 To the best of our knowledge and belief, there are no instances of significant fraud of which we have become 
aware and the involvement therein, if any, of the management or an employee having a significant role in the 
Company’s internal control system over financial reporting.

					   

Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha 			  Neeraj Toshniwal
Executive Director &			   Chief Financial Officer
Chief Executive Officer			 

Date: May 30, 2020
Place: Mumbai
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Members of Capital India Finance Limited

Report on the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying standalone financial statements of Capital India Finance Limited (“the Company”), 
which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2020, and the Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other 
Comprehensive Income), the Statement of Changes in Equity and the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, 
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid standalone 
financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) in the manner so required and 
give a true and fair view in conformity with the Indian Accounting Standards prescribed under section 133 of the Act read 
with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended (“Ind AS”), and other accounting principles 
generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at March 31, 2020 and its profit, total comprehensive 
income, the changes in equity  and its cash flows for the year ended on that date. 

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit of the standalone financial statements in accordance with the Standards on Auditing specified 
under section 143(10) of the Act (SAs). Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the Auditors’ 
Responsibility for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent  of  the  
Company  in  accordance  with  the  Code  of  Ethics  issued  by  the  Institute  of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI) 
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the standalone financial statements under the 
provisions of the Act and the Rules made thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements and the ICAI’s Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the standalone financial statements. 

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note 48 to the Standalone Financial Statements, which describes that the Company has recognised 
impairment on financial assets to reflect the adverse business impact and uncertainties arising from COVID-19 pandemic. 
Such estimates are based on current facts and circumstances and may not necessarily reflect the future uncertainties and 
events arising from the Covid-19 pandemic.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
standalone financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
standalone financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters. We have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in 
our report.
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Sr. 
No.

Key Audit Matter Auditors’ Response

1 Identification of and provisioning for expected 
credit loss (ECL) on loans in accordance with 
the Company’s policy

(Refer Note 2.2, 6 and 48 to the standalone  
financial statements)

The Company has loans carried at amortised cost 
amounting to Rs. 48,584.47 net of provision for 
ECL Rs. 1,733.71 as at March 31, 2020.

Identification of and provisioning for ECL on loans 
in accordance with the Company’s policy is a key 
audit matter due to the current processes at the 
Company which requires manual interventions, 
management estimates and judgement and 
other stakeholders focus. The most significant 
judgements are:

 �Timely identification and classification of 
the loans which also include considering the 
impact of recent Reserve Bank of India’s (RBI) 
COVID-19 regulatory circulars.

 �Determining the probability of defaults based 
on comparative external ratings and estimation 
of loss given defaults based on the value of 
collaterals and relevant factors. 

 �Inputs and Judgements used in determination 
of management overlay at various asset stages 
considering the current uncertain economic 
environment with the range of possible effects 
unknown to the country arising out of the 
COVID-19 Pandemic.

Accordingly, our audit was focused on 
identification of and provisioning for ECL on 
loans due to the materiality of the balances and 
associated provision.

Our audit approach included testing the design, operating 
effectiveness of internal controls and substantive audit 
procedures in respect of identification of and provisioning 
for ECL on loans in accordance with the Company’s policy. 
In particular:

 �we have evaluated the Company’s internal control system 
in adhering to the Company’s policy for identification of 
and provisioning for ECL on loans;

 �we have identified and tested the design and implementation 
as well as operational effectiveness of key control pertaining 
to identification, classification and staging of loans in 
correct buckets,  key assumptions used for the purpose 
of determination of impairment provision, completeness 
and accuracy of the data inputs used and monitoring of 
overdue positions by business and finance team;

 �we test checked loans to examine the approval process, 
validity of the recorded amounts, loan documentation, 
examined the statement of accounts, indicators of 
impairment, expected credit loss provision,  additional 
provisions made on loans considering the current uncertain 
economic environment arising out of COVID 19 pandemic 
and compliance with identification of and provisioning for 
ECL on loans;

 �evaluated the management judgment, governance 
process and review controls and discussed the process 
and assumptions for identification of and provisioning for 
ECL on loans with senior management including the Chief 
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Head of 
Credit and Risk.

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon

	 The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of other information. The other information 
comprises the Directors’ Report including annexures to Directors’ Report, Management Discussion and Analysis 
Report and Report on Corporate Governance, but does not include the standalone financial statements and our 
auditors’ report thereon.

	 Our opinion on the standalone financial statements does not cover the other information and accordingly, we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

	 In connection with our audit of the standalone financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the standalone financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained during the course of our audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

	 If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Management’s Responsibility for the Standalone Financial Statements	 	

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the Act with respect to 
the preparation of these standalone financial statements that give a true and fair view of the financial position, financial 
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performance (including other comprehensive income), changes in equity and cash flows of the Company in accordance 
with the Ind AS and other accounting principles generally accepted in India. This responsibility also includes maintenance 
of  adequate accounting records in accordance  with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets of the Company 
and for preventing and detecting frauds  and  other  irregularities;  selection  and  application  of  appropriate accounting  
policies;  making  judgments  and  estimates  that  are  reasonable  and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance 
of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the 
accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the standalone financial statement that give a true and 
fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the standalone financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Those Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibility for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the standalone financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these standalone financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the standalone financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

	 Obtain an understanding of internal financial controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible for expressing 
our opinion on whether the Company has adequate internal financial controls system in place and the operating 
effectiveness of such controls.

	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the management.

	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the standalone financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the standalone financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the standalone financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the standalone financial statements that, individually or in aggregate, 
makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable user of the standalone financial statements 
may be influenced. We consider quantitative materiality and qualitative factors in (i) planning the scope of our audit work 
and in evaluating the results of our work; and (ii) to evaluate the effect of any identified misstatements in the standalone 
financial statements.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.
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We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the standalone financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of 
such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1.	 As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our auditwe report that:

	 a)	 We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and 
belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit. 

	 b)	 In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far as it 
appears from our examination of those books.

	 c)	 The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss(including Other Comprehensive Income), Statement of 
Changes in Equity and the Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the books of 
account. 

	 d)	 In  our  opinion,  the  aforesaid  standalone financial  statements  comply  with  the  Ind AS specified under 
Section 133 of the Act, as applicable. 

	 e)	 On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on March 31, 2020 taken on record 
by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on March 31, 2020 from being appointed as 
a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the Act.

	 f)	 With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls over  financial reporting of the Company  and  
the  operating  effectiveness of  such  controls,  refer  to  our  separate  Report  in “Annexure A”. Our report 
expresses an unmodified opinion on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
financial controls over financial reporting.

	 g)	 With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditors’ Report in accordance with the requirements 
of section 197(16) of the Act, as amended, in our opinion and to the best of our information and according 
to the explanations given to us, the remuneration paid by the Company to its directors during the year is in 
accordance with the provisions of section 197 of the Act.

	 h)	 With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditors’ Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the 
Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as amended in our opinion and to the best of our information 
and according to the explanations given to us:

		  i.	 The Company does not have any pending litigations which would impact its financial position;

		  ii.	 The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which there were 
any material foreseeable losses;

		  iii.	 There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and Protection 
Fund by the Company.

2.	 As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2016 (“the Order”) issued by the Central Government in 
terms of Section 143(11) of the Act, we give in “Annexure B” a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 
and 4 of the Order.

For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS LLP
Chartered Accountants

 (Firm’s Registration No. 117366W/W-100018) 

Rukshad N. Daruvala 
(Partner) 

Place: Mumbai 	 (Membership No. 111188) 
Date: June 1, 2020 	 UDIN: 20111188AAAACR3520
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ANNEXURE “A” TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT  
(Referred to in paragraph 1(f) under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ section of our report of even date)

Report on the Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of 
the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)

We have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporting of Capital India Finance Limited (“the Company”) as 
of March 31, 2020 in conjunction with our audit of the financial statements of the Company for the year ended on that date. 

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls based on the internal 
control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control 
stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) issued by 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of 
adequate internal financial controls that are operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, 
including adherence to the Company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, 
the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required 
under the Companies Act, 2013.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls over financial reporting of the Company 
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of India and the Standards on Auditing prescribed under Section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013, to the extent applicable to 
an audit of internal financial controls. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls over financial 
reporting was established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial controls system 
over financial reporting and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls over financial reporting included 
obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness 
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal controls based on the assessed risk. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the 
Company’s internal financial controls system over financial reporting.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal financial controls over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal financial controls over financial reporting includes those policies and 
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions 
and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary 
to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts 
and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorisations of management and directors of the 
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or 
improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that 
the internal financial control over financial reporting may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree 
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion

In our opinion, to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the Company has in all material 
respects, an adequate internal financial controls system over financial reporting and such internal financial controls over financial 
reporting are operating effectively as at March 31, 2020, based on the criteria for internal financial control over financial 
reporting established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on 
Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS LLP
Chartered Accountants

 (Firm’s Registration No. 117366W/W-100018) 

Place: Mumba	 Rukshad N. Daruvala 
Date: June 1, 2020 	 (Partner) 
 	 (Membership No. 111188) 
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AANNEXURE “B” TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

(Referred to in paragraph 2 under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ section of our report of even 
date)

i)	 In respect of the Company’s Property Plant & Equipment: 

	 a)	 The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including quantitative details and 
situation of property plant & equipment.

	 b)	 Some of the property plant & equipment were physically verified during the year by the Management in 
accordance with a regular programme of verification which, in our opinion, provides for physical verification 
of all the property plant & equipment at reasonable intervals. According to the information and explanation 
given to us, no material discrepancies were noticed on such verification.

	 c)	 The Company does not have any immovable properties of freehold or leasehold land and building and hence 
reporting under clause 3(i)(c) of the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2016 (“the CARO 2016”) is not 
applicable.

ii)	 The Company does not have any inventory and hence reporting under clause 3(ii) of the CARO 2016 is not 
applicable. 

iii)	 The Company has not granted any loans, secured or unsecured, to companies, firms, Limited Liability Partnerships 
or other parties covered in the register maintained under Section 189 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”).

iv)	 To the best of our knowledge and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has not 
granted any loans, made investments or provide guarantees under the provisions of Sections 185 and 186 of the 
Act and hence reporting under clause 3(iv) of the Order is not applicable.

v)	 According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has not accepted any deposit during the 
year and hence directives issued by the Reserve Bank of India and the provisions of Sections 73 to 76 or any other 
relevant provisions of the Act and rules framed thereunder are not applicable.

vi)	 Having regard to the nature of the Company’s business / activities, reporting under clause 3(vi) of the CARO 2016 
with respect to maintenance of cost records under Section 148(1) of the Act is not applicable.

vii)	 According to the information and explanations given to us, in respect of statutory dues:

	 (a)	 The Company has been regular in depositing undisputed statutory dues including Provident Fund, Income-tax, 
Goods and Services Tax, cess and other material statutory dues applicable to the appropriate authorities.

		  We are informed that the provisions of ESIC and Custom Duty are not applicable to the Company.

	 (b)	 There were no undisputed amounts payable in respect of Provident Fund, Income-tax, Goods and Services 
Tax, cess and other material statutory dues in arrears as on March 31, 2020 for a period of more than six 
months from the date they became payable.

	 (c)	 There are no dues of Income-tax, Goods and Services Tax, cess and other material statutory dues as on March 
31, 2020 on account of disputes. 

viii)	 In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has not defaulted in the 
repayment of loans or borrowings to financial institutions and banks and there were no repayments due to debenture 
holder. The Company has not taken any loans or borrowings from government.

ix)	 In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, money raised by way of further public 
offer and the term loans have been applied by the Company during the year for the purposes for which they were 
raised, other than temporary deployment pending application of proceeds.

x)	 To the best of our knowledge and according to the information and explanations given to us, no fraud by the 
Company and no material fraud on the Company by its officers or employees has been noticed or reported during 
the year. 

xi)	 In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has paid / provided 
managerial remuneration in accordance with the requisite approvals mandated by the provisions of section 197 read 
with Schedule V to the Companies Act, 2013.
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xii)	 The Company is not a Nidhi Company and hence reporting under clause 3(xii) of the CARO 2016 is not applicable. 

xiii)	 In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us the Company is in compliance with 
Section 177 and 188 of the Act, where applicable, for all transactions with the related parties and the details of 
related party transactions have been disclosed in the financial statements as required by the applicable accounting 
standards.

xiv)	 During the year the Company has not made any preferential allotment or private placement of shares or fully or 
partly convertible debentures and hence reporting under clause 3 (xiv) of the CARO 2016 is not applicable

xv)	 In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, during the year the Company has not 
entered into any non-cash transactions with its directors or directors of its subsidiary company or persons connected 
with him and hence provisions of section 192 of the Act are not applicable.

xvi)	 The Company is required to be registered under section 45–IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 and it has 
obtained the registration.

For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS LLP
Chartered Accountants

 (Firm’s Registration No. 117366W/W-100018) 

	 Rukshad N. Daruvala 
Place: Mumbai 	 (Partner) 
Date: June 1, 2020 	 (Membership No. 111188) 
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Standalone Balance Sheet as at 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)

Particulars Note 
No.

 As at  
 31st March 

2020 

 As at  
 31st March 

2019 

 As at  
 01st April

   2018

ASSETS

(1) Financial Assets

(a) Cash & cash equivalents 3  3,259.29  2,492.58  25.66 

(b) Bank balances other than Cash & cash equivalents 4  1.53  126.53  1,650.00 

(c) Receivables

(i)    Trade Receivables 5  -    -    -   

(ii)   Other Receivables 19.23    - 32.40

(d) Loans 6  48,584.47  55,201.73  10,265.86 

(e) Investments 7  11,150.51  4,536.00  1,504.00 

(f) Other financial assets 8  1,450.02  1,363.97  356.24 

2 Non-financial Assets

(a) Current tax assets(Net) 9  163.46  65.74  126.35 

(b) Deferred tax asset (Net) 10  630.81  278.83  46.89 

(c) Property, plant and equipment 11  1,079.72  1,335.99  829.98 

(d) Capital work in progress 42.16 84.53 235.22

(e) Intangible assets 11A  172.30  3.99  2.37 

(f) Right of use assets 11B  769.80  1,197.74  1,622.34 

(g) Other non-financial assets 12  350.74  319.28  219.36 

Total Assets  67,674.04  67,006.91  16,916.67 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

LIABILITIES

1 Financial Liabilities

(a) Payables 13    

(I) Trade Payables

(i)  �Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises 
and small enterprises

 0.16  7.82  -   

(ii)  �total outstanding dues of creditors 
other than micro enterprises and small 
enterprises

 74.86  90.45  33.60 

(II) Other Payables

(i) �total outstanding dues of micro enterprises 
and small enterprises

 -    -    -   

ii) �total outstanding dues of creditors other than 
micro enterprises and small enterprises

 -    -    -   

(b) Debt Securities 14  4,000.00  -    -   

(c) Borrowings 14A  7,645.54  12,679.69  1,105.32 

(d) Deposits 15  -    550.00  700.00 

(e) Other financial liabilities 16  1,083.59  1,587.98  1,763.34 
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Particulars Note 
No.

 As at  
 31st March 

2020 

 As at  
 31st March 

2019 

 As at  
 1st April  

2018 

2 Non-Financial Liabilities

(a) Current tax liabilities (net) 17  383.34  43.56  -   

(b) Provisions 17A  103.21  272.19  12.54 

(c) Other non-financial liabilities 18  425.56  555.69  222.88 

EQUITY     

(a) Equity share capital 19  7,773.43  7,773.43  350.27 

(b) Other equity 20  46,184.35  43,446.10  12,728.72 

Total Liabilities and Equity   67,674.04  67,006.91  16,916.67 

Notes 1 to 50 forms part of the Standalone Financial Statements				  
				  
In terms of our report attached

For Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP	 For and on behalf of the board	
Chartered Accountants	 Capital India Finance Limited	
Firm Registration No. :117366W/W -100018				  
						    
Rukshad N. Daruvala	 Keshav Porwal	 Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha
Partner	 Managing Director	 Executive Director & CEO
Membership No. : 111188	 DIN : 06706341	 DIN : 07869849
Place: Mumbai	 Place: Mumbai	 Place: Mumbai
Date: 1st June 2020	 Date: 1st June 2020	 Date: 1st June 2020

	 Neeraj Toshniwal	 Rachit Malhotra
	 Chief Financial Officer	 Company Secretary 
	 Place: Mumbai	 Place: New Delhi
	 Date: 1st June 2020	 Date: 1st June 2020
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Statement of Standalone Profit and Loss for the year ended 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)

Particulars Notes  For the year ended  
31st March 2020

 For the year ended  
31st March 2019

Revenue from operations
(i) Interest income 21  10,277.24  4,662.38

(ii) Fees and commission income  101.19  724.44 
(iii) Net gain on fair value changes 22  140.98  251.39 
(I) Total revenue from operations  10,519.41  5,638.21 
(II) Other income 23  4.63  50.94 

(III) Total income (I+II)  10,524.04  5,689.15 

Expenses
(i) Finance costs 24  1,294.35  930.68 
(ii) Impairment of financial instruments 25  1,338.98  266.22 
(iii) Employee benefits expense 26  2,293.91  1,465.10 
(iv) Depreciation and amortization 11,11A&11B  772.22  724.33 
(v) Others expenses 27  700.19  711.61 

(IV) Total expenses (IV)   6,399.65  4,097.94 
(V) Profit before exceptional items and tax (III-IV)  4,124.39  1,591.21 
(VI) Exceptional items  -    -   

(VII) Profit before tax (V -VI )  4,124.39  1,591.21 
(VIII) Tax Expense:

Current Tax  1,440.49  700.98 

Deferred Tax(Credit)  (354.36)  (229.85)
(IX) Profit for the period from continuing operations (VII-VIII)  3,038.26  1,120.08 

(X) Profit from discontinued operations  -    -   

(XI) Tax Expense of discontinued operations  -    -   
(XII) Profit from discontinued operations (After tax) (X-XI)  -    -   
(XIII) Profit for the year  3,038.26  1,120.08 
(XIV) Other Comprehensive Income

(i) Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss  9.46  (7.17)

(ii) Income Tax  relating to items that will not be reclassified to 
profit or loss

 (2.38)  2.09 

Subtotal (A)  7.08  (5.08)
(i) Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss  -    -   

(ii) Income tax relating to items that will be reclassified to profit 
or loss

 -    -   

Subtotal (B)  -    -   
Other Comprehensive Income (A + B)  7.08  (5.08)

(XV) Total Comprehensive Income for the year  3,045.34  1,115.00 
(XVI) Earnings per equity share 28

BEPS  3.91  2.66 
DEPS  3.86  2.64 

Notes 1 to 50 forms part of the Standalone Financial Statements				  

In terms of our report attached

For Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP	 For and on behalf of the board	
Chartered Accountants	 Capital India Finance Limited	
Firm Registration No. :117366W/W -100018				  
						    
Rukshad N. Daruvala	 Keshav Porwal	 Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha
Partner	 Managing Director	 Executive Director & CEO
Membership No. : 111188	 DIN : 06706341	 DIN : 07869849
Place: Mumbai	 Place: Mumbai	 Place: Mumbai
Date: 1st June 2020	 Date: 1st June 2020	 Date: 1st June 2020

	 Neeraj Toshniwal	 Rachit Malhotra
	 Chief Financial Officer	 Company Secretary 
	 Place: Mumbai	 Place: New Delhi
	 Date: 1st June 2020	 Date: 1st June 2020
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Standalone Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)

Particulars Year ended
31st March 2020

Year ended
31st March 2019

A CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Profit before exceptional items and taxes  4,124.39  1,591.21 

Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows:
Add : Non-cash expenses
Depreciation and amortisation expenses  772.22  724.33 

Provision for employee benefits  (159.52)  252.49 
Share based payments to employees  67.83  25.14 
Interest on Lease Liability  111.79  149.87 
Interest income on Lease rental deposits  (23.13)  (16.54)
Impairment on financial instruments  1,338.98  266.22 
Less : Income/expense considered separately
Interest on OCD  (35.51)  -   
Profit on sale of fixed assets  -    (0.11)
Operating profit before working capital changes  6,197.05  2,992.61 
Changes in -
(Increase)/ Decrease in loans and advances  5,278.28  (45,202.09)
(Increase) / Decrease in trade and other receivables  (19.23)  32.40 
(Increase) / Decrease in other financial assets  (74.76)  (1,001.34)
(Increase) / Decrease in other non-financial assets  (31.46)  (99.92)
Increase / (Decrease) in trade payables  (23.26)  64.66 
Increase / (Decrease) in other financial liabilities  (116.85)  (940.73)
Increase / (Decrease) in other non-financial liabilities  (130.13)  332.81 
Cash used in operations  11,079.64  (43,821.60)
Income tax paid  (1,198.43)  (596.82)
Net Cash generated from /(used in) operating activities (A)  9,881.21  (44,418.42)

B CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and Intangible assets  (209.09)  (686.25)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  6.98  39.84 
Purchase of non current investments at amortized cost  (6,579.00)  (3,032.00)
Investment in bank deposits (having original maturity of more 
than 3 months)

 125.00  (126.53)

Net Cash (used in) investing activities (B)  (6,656.11)  (3,804.94)

C CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issue of equity shares at premium  -    49,875.25 
Share issue expenses  -    (332.69)
Payment of dividend and dividend distribution tax thereon  (374.92)  (40.63)
Payment of Lease rent  (499.32)  (491.34)
Repayment of advance towards share application money  -    (12,500.00)
Proceeds from borrowings  4,000.00  12,695.94 
Proceeds from Inter corporate deposits  -    17,500.00 
Repayment of borrowings  (5,584.15)  (17,666.25)
Net cash (used in)/ generated from financing activities (C )  (2,458.39)  49,040.28 

D Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C)  766.71  816.92 
E Cash and cash equivalents as at the beginning of the year  2,492.58  1,675.66 
F Cash and cash equivalents as at the end of the year  3,259.29  2,492.58 
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Particulars As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

Cash in hand  0.31  -   
Cheques and drafts on hand  -    25.12 
Balances with banks
 - in current accounts  3,258.98  2,467.46 

 3,259.29  2,492.58 

Note : The above Cash Flow Statement has been prepared under the ‘Indirect method’ as set out in Ind AS 7 on 
‘Statement of Cash Flows’.			 

Notes 1 to 50 forms part of the Standalone Financial Statements				  

In terms of our report attached

For Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP	 For and on behalf of the board	
Chartered Accountants	 Capital India Finance Limited	
Firm Registration No. :117366W/W -100018				  
						    
Rukshad N. Daruvala	 Keshav Porwal	 Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha
Partner	 Managing Director	 Executive Director & CEO
Membership No. : 111188	 DIN : 06706341	 DIN : 07869849
Place: Mumbai	 Place: Mumbai	 Place: Mumbai
Date: 1st June 2020	 Date: 1st June 2020	 Date: 1st June 2020

	 Neeraj Toshniwal	 Rachit Malhotra
	 Chief Financial Officer	 Company Secretary 
	 Place: Mumbai	 Place: New Delhi
	 Date: 1st June 2020	 Date: 1st June 2020

Standalone Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)
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1	 Corporate Information

	 Capital India Finance Limited (‘the Company’) is a public company domiciled in India and incorporated on 16th 
November 1994 under the provisions of Companies Act, 1956. The Company has received a Certificate of 
Registration number B-14.03278 dated 30th August 2017 from the Reserve Bank of India (‘RBI’) to carry on 
the business of Non-Banking Financial Institution (‘NBFC’) without accepting public deposits. The Company has 
been classified as a Systemically Important Non-Deposit Accepting or Holding Non-Banking Financial Company as 
defined under Section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India (’RBI’) Act, 1934 w.e.f.28th January 2019.The equity 
shares of the Company are listed on the Bombay Stock Exchange (“BSE”) in India.

2	 Significant accounting Policies

2.1	 Basis of Preparation of financial statements

	 A)	 Statement of Compliance

		  These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Indian Accounting Standards (‘Ind AS’) 
notified under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 ( ‘the Act’) read with Companies ( Indian Accounting 
Standards) Rules, 2015 as amended from time to time and other relevant provisions of the Act and guidelines 
issued by the RBI or other regulators to the extent applicable.	

		  The Company has adopted lnd AS from 1st April 2019 and the financial statements for the year ended  
31st March 2020 are the Company’s first Ind AS Financial Statements. However, the effective date of 
transition to Ind AS is 1st April 2018, being the beginning of the earliest period for which the company needs 
to present comparative information.

		  The transition to Ind AS has been carried out from the erstwhile Accounting Standards notified under the 
Act, read with relevant rules issued thereunder, guidelines issued by the RBI and other generally accepted 
accounting principles in India (collectively referred to as ‘the Previous GAAP’). The impact of transition has 
been recorded in the opening reserves as at 1st April 2018 and is provided in Note 45. The corresponding 
comparative previous period as presented in these financial statements have been restated / reclassified in 
order to conform to current year presentation.

		  The adoption of Ind AS has been carried out in accordance with Ind AS 101 First time adoption of Indian 
Accounting Standards. An explanation of how the transition to Ind AS has affected the previously reported 
financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the Company is provided in Note 45.

		  The accounting policies are applied consistently to all the periods presented in the financial statements, 
including the preparation of the opening Ind AS Balance Sheet as at 1st April 2018 being the ‘date of 
transition to Ind AS’.

	 B)	 Functional and presentation currency

		  The Company’s presentation and functional currency is Indian Rupees. All figures appearing in the financial 
statements are in Indian rupees in lakh rounded off to two decimal places as permitted by Schedule III to the 
Act. Per share data are presented in Indian Rupee to two decimal places.

	 C)	 Basis of preparation, presentation and disclosure of financial statements

		  The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments 
that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies.
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and 
services. Further, Assets and liabilities are classified as per the normal operating cycle (determined at 12 
months) and other criteria set out in Schedule III of the Act as applicable to NBFCs.

	 D)	 Fair value measurement

		  Fair value is the price that would be received on sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most 
advantageous market to which the Company has access at that date. 

		  The best estimate of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the transaction 
price. If the Company determines that the fair value on initial recognition differs from the transaction price 
and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability 
nor based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, then the financial instrument 
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is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value on initial recognition 
and the transaction price. Subsequently that difference is recognised in Statement of Profit and Loss on an 
appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but no later than when the valuation is wholly supported by 
observable market data or the transaction is closed out. 

		  All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised 
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement as a whole:

		  Level 1 - Valuation using quoted market price in active markets: The fair value for financial instruments 
traded in active markets at the reporting date is based on their quoted market price, without any deduction 
for transaction costs. A market is regarded as active, if transactions for the asset or liability take place with 
sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

		  Level 2 - Valuation using observable inputs: If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Company 
uses valuation techniques that maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of 
unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates most of the factors that market participants 
would take into account in pricing a transaction.

		  Level 3 - Valuation with significant unobservable inputs: The valuation techniques are used only when fair value 
cannot be determined by using observable inputs. The Company regularly reviews significant unobservable 
inputs and valuation adjustments. Level 3 assets are typically very illiquid, and fair values can only be calculated 
using estimates. 

		  The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 
data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the 
use of unobservable inputs. 

	 E)	 Use of judgment and Estimates 

		  The preparation of the financial statements requires the management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions in the application of accounting policies that affects the reported amount of assets, liabilities 
and the accompanying disclosures along with contingent liabilities as at the date of financial statements and 
revenue & expenses for the reporting period. Although these estimates are based on the management’s best 
knowledge of current events and actions, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in 
outcomes different from the estimates. Difference between actual results and estimates are recognised in the 
year in which the results are known or materialise i.e. prospectively.

		  Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The key 
areas involving estimation uncertainty, higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions 
are significant to the financial statements include:

		  i)	 Impairment of financial assets

		  ii)	 Estimation of fair value measurement of financial assets and liabilities 

		  iii)	 Effective interest rate

		  iv)	 Business model assessment

		  v)	 Provisions and Contingencies

		  vi)	 Useful life and expected residual value of assets

		  vii)	 Tax position for current tax and recognition of deferred tax assets/liabilities

		  viii)	 Measurement of Defined Benefit Obligations and actuarial assumptions

		  ix)	 Classification of lease and related discount rate

	 F)	 First-time adoption of Ind AS – mandatory exceptions and optional exemptions

		  Overall Principle:

		  The Company has prepared the opening Balance Sheet as per Ind AS as of 1st April 2018 (“the transition 
date”) by recognising all assets and liabilities whose recognition is required by Ind AS, not recognising items of 
assets or liabilities which are not permitted by Ind AS, by reclassifying items from Previous GAAP to Ind AS 
as required under Ind AS, and applying Ind AS in measurement of recognised assets and liabilities. However, 
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this principle is subject to certain exceptions and certain optional exemptions availed by the Company as 
mentioned below:

		  Deemed cost for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets –

		  The Company has elected to measure property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets at its Previous 
GAAP carrying amount and use that Previous GAAP carrying amount as its deemed cost at the date of 
transition to IND AS i.e. 01st April 2018.

		  Investments in subsidiaries

		  Upon first-time adoption of Ind AS, the Company has elected to account for its investments in subsidiaries at 
cost i.e. at Previous GAAP carrying value on the date of transition to IND AS i.e. 01st April 2018.

2.2	 Financial Instruments

	 a)	 Recognition and initial measurement –  

		  Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the company becomes a party to the contractual 
provision of the instruments.

		  Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and 
financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial 
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction cost directly attributable to the acquisition of 
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in Statement of Profit and Loss.

	 b)	 Classification and Subsequent measurement of financial assets –

		  On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at

		  -	 Amortised cost

		  -	 FVOCI – debt instruments

		  -	 FVOCI – equity instruments

		  -	 FVTPL

		  Amortised cost - The Company’s business model is not assessed on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but at 
a higher level of aggregated portfolios being the level at which they are managed. The financial asset is held 
with the objective to hold financial asset in order to collect contractual cash flows as per the contractual terms 
that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payment of principal and interest (SPPI) on the 
principal amount outstanding. Accordingly, the Company measures Bank balances, Loans, Trade receivables 
and other financial instruments at amortised cost.

		  FVOCI - debt instruments - The Company measures its debt instruments at FVOCI when the instrument is 
held within a business model, the objective of which is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and 
selling financial assets; and the contractual terms of the financial asset meet the SPPI test.

		  FVOCI - equity instruments - The Company subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value 
through profit or loss, unless the Company’s management has elected to classify irrevocably some of its 
equity instruments at FVOCI, when such instruments meet the definition of Equity under Ind AS 32 Financial 
Instruments and are not held for trading.

		  Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except if and in the period the 
Company changes its business model for managing financial assets.

		  All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL. This 
includes all derivative financial assets.

		  Subsequent measurement of financial assets

		  Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost using effective interest method. 
The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and 
impairment are recognised in Statement of Profit and Loss. Any gain and loss on derecognition is recognised 
in Statement of Profit and Loss.
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		  Debt investment at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income undereffective interest 
method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in Statement of profit and loss. 
Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI. On derecognition,gains and losses accumulated in OCI are 
reclassified to Statement of Profit and Loss.

		  For equity investments, the Company makes selection on an instrument-by-instrument basis to designate 
equity investments as measured at FVOCI. These selected investments are measured at fair value with gains 
and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
the reserves. The cumulative gain or loss is not reclassified to Statement of profit and loss on disposal of the 
investments. These investments in equity are not held for trading. Instead, they are held for strategic purpose. 
Dividend income received on such equity investments are recognised in Statement of Profit and Loss.

		  Equity investments that are not designated as measured at FVOCI are designated as measured at FVTPL and 
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in Statement of Profit and Loss.

		  Financial assets at FVTPL are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest 
or dividend income, are recognised in Statement of Profit and Loss.

	 c)	 Derecognition of financial assets

		  The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of the asset to another party. If the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the 
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Company recognises its 
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for the amount it may have to pay.

		  If the Company enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its Balance Sheet, but retains 
either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets, the transferred assets are not 
derecognised and the proceeds received are recognised as a collateralised borrowing.

	 d)	 Financial guarantee contracts

		  A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse 
the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with 
the terms of a debt instrument.

		  Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Company are initially measured at their fair values and, if not 
designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

	 	 	 the amount of loss allowance determined in accordance with impairment requirements of Ind AS 109; 
and

	 	 	 the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in 
accordance with the principles of Ind AS 115.

	 e)	 Offsetting

		  Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the Balance Sheet when, 
and only when, the Company currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends 
either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

	 f)	 Impairment of financial instruments

		  The Company uses ‘Expected Credit Loss’ (ECL) model, for evaluating impairment of financial assets measured 
at amortised cost or FVTOCI, except for investments in equity instruments. Company follows a ‘three-stage’ 
model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition.

		  Stage 1 (Performing Assets) – includes financial assets that have not had a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition or that have low credit risk at the reporting date. For these assets, 12-month ECL 
is recognised and interest income is calculated on the gross carrying amount of the assets (that is, without 
deduction for credit allowance). 12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that results from default events on 
a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date, if the credit risk has not 
significantly increased since initial recognition.
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		  Stage 2 (Under performing Assets with significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition) – 
includes financial instruments that have had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition (unless 
they have low credit risk at the reporting date) but that do not have objective evidence of impairment. For 
these assets, lifetime ECL are recognised, but interest income is calculated on the gross carrying amount of the 
assets. Lifetime ECL are the expected credit losses that result from all possible default events over the expected 
life of the instrument.

		  Stage 3 (Non-performing or Credit-impaired assets) – includes financial assets that have objective evidence 
of impairment at the reporting date. For these assets, lifetime ECL is recognised and interest income is 
recognised on Net exposure (that is Gross carrying amount less Provision for Expected credit losses).

		  Measurement of Expected Credit Loss

		  Expected Credit Losses (ECL) on financial assets is an unbiased probability weighted amount based out of 
possible outcomes after considering risk of credit loss even if probability is low and incorporate all available 
information which is relevant to the assessment including information about past events, current conditions 
and reasonable and supportable forecasts of future events and economic conditions at the reporting date. 
Measurement of expected credit losses are based on 3 main parameters.

	 	 	 Probability of default (PD): It is defined as the probability of whether borrowers will default on their 
obligations in future. Since the company don’t have any history of past losses therefore it was not 
adequate enough to create our own internal model through which actual defaults for each grade could 
be estimated. Hence, the default study published by one of the recognised rating agency is used for 
estimating the PDs for each range grade.

	 	 	 Loss given default (LGD): It is the magnitude of the likely loss, if there is a default. The LGD represents 
expected losses on the EAD given the event of default, taking into account, among other attributes, the 
mitigating effect of collateral value. 

			   The default study published by one of the recognised rating agency is used for estimating the LGD for 
secured and unsecured loans.

	 	 	 Exposure at default (EAD): EAD represents the expected balance at default, taking into account the 
repayment of principal and interest from the Balance Sheet date to the date of default together with any 
expected drawdowns of committed facilities.

	 g)	 Write offs –The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written-off (either partially or in full) to the extent 
that there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. This is 
generally the case when the Company determines that the borrower does not have assets or sources of income 
that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off and when there is no 
reasonable expectation of recovery from the collaterals held. However, financial assets that are written-off 
could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Company’s procedures for recovery 
of amounts due.

	 h)	 Presentation of allowance for ECL in the Balance Sheet – Loss allowances for ECL are deducted from the 
gross carrying amount of financial assets measured at amortised cost.

	 i)	 Financial liabilities and equity instruments: 

		  Debt and equity instruments issued by the Company are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and 
an equity instrument.

		  Equity instruments

		  An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 
all of its liabilities.

		  Financial liabilities

		  Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified 
as FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading or it is a derivative (that does not meet hedge accounting 
requirements) or it is designated as such on initial recognition. Other financial liabilities are subsequently 
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measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains 
and losses are recognised in Statement of Profit or Loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised 
in Statement of Profit or Loss.

		  The Company de-recognizes financial liabilities when, and only when, the Company’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or have expired. An exchange between with a lender of debt instruments with substantially different 
terms is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new 
financial liability. Similarly, a substantial modification of the terms of an existing financial liability (whether or 
not attributable to the financial difficulty of the debtor) is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original 
financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. The difference between the carrying amount 
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognized in profit or loss.

2.3	 Cash and Cash equivalents

	 Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand, bank balances, demand deposits with banks and other short term 
deposits which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of change in 
value and have original maturities of less than or equal to three months. These balances with banks are unrestricted 
for withdrawal and usage.

	 Other bank balances includes balances and deposits with banks that are restricted for withdrawal and usage.

	 For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short term deposits.

2.4	 Statement of Cash Flow

	 Statement of Cash Flows is prepared segregating the cash flows into operating, investing and financing activities. 
Cash flow from operating activities is reported using indirect method adjusting the net profit for the effects of: 

	 i.	 changes during the period in inventories and operating receivables and payables transactions of a non-cash 
nature;

	 ii.	 non-cash items such as depreciation, provisions, deferred taxes, unrealised foreign currency gains and losses, 
and undistributed profits of associates and joint ventures; and

	 iii.	 all other items for which the cash effects are investing or financing cash flows.

	 Cash and cash equivalents (including bank balances) shown in the Statement of Cash Flows exclude items which are 
not available for general use as on the date of Balance Sheet.

2.5	 Property, plant and equipment

	 a)	 Recognition and Measurement 

		  Tangible property plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if 
any. The cost of property, plant and equipment comprise purchase price and other non-refundable taxes or 
levies and any directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use. 

		  Advances paid towards the acquisition of property, plant and equipment outstanding at each Balance Sheet 
date is classified as capital advances under other non-financial assets and the cost of assets not put to use 
before such date are disclosed under ‘Capital work-in-progress’.

		  An item of PPE is de-recognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise 
from the continued use of the assets. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of 
PPE, is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is 
recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

		  The residual values and useful lives and method of depreciation of PPE are reviewed at each financial year end 
and adjusted prospectively.

	 b)	 Subsequent expenditure

		  Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with 
the expenditure will flow to the Company. Expenditure incurred after the PPE have been put into operations, 
such as repairs and maintenance expenses are charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss during the period 
in which they are incurred.
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	 c)	 Depreciation, estimated useful lives and residual value

		  Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to write down the cost of property and equipment to 
their residual values over their estimated useful lives as prescribed in Part C of Schedule II to the Companies 
Act 2013. The estimated lives used and differences from the lives prescribed under Schedule II are noted in 
the table below:-

Type of Assets Estimated useful life as assessed 
by the Company

Estimated useful life under 
Schedule II of the Act

Computers 3 years 3 years

Software and system development 3 years 3 years

Office equipment 5 years 5 years

Motor cars 5 years 8 years

Furniture and fixtures 10 years 10 years

Leasehold improvements Tenure of lease agreements Tenure of lease agreements

		  Depreciation is provided on a pro-rata basis i.e. from the month in which asset is ready for use. Individual 
assets costing less than or equals to Rs. 5,000 are depreciated in full, in the year of purchase. Depreciation 
on assets sold during the year is recognised on a pro-rata basis in the Statement of Profit and Loss up to the 
month prior to the month in which the assets have been disposed off.	

		  Changes in the expected useful life are accounted for by changing the depreciation period or methodology, as 
appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates.

2.6	 Intangible assets

	 Intangible assets comprises of computer software are capitalised at cost of acquisition including cost attributable to 
readying the asset for use. Such intangible assets are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and any accumulated impairment losses.

	 The useful life of these intangible assets is estimated at 3 years with zero residual value. 

	 Any expenses on such software for support and maintenance payable annually are charged to the Statement of 
Profit and Loss.

2.7	 Impairment of non-financial assets

	 The carrying values of assets at each Balance Sheet date are reviewed for impairment, if any indication of impairment 
exists. If the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the estimated recoverable amount, impairment is recognised 
for such excess amount in Statement of Profit and Loss. Recoverable amount is the greater of the net selling price 
and value in use. If at the reporting date, there is an indication that a previously assessed impairment loss no longer 
exists, the recoverable amount is reassessed and the impairment losses previously recognised are reversed such 
that the asset is recognised at its recoverable amount but not exceeding written down value which would have been 
reported if the impairment losses had not been recognised initially.

2.8	 Investment in subsidiaries

	 Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Company has control. The Company controls an entity when the company 
is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power to direct the relevant activities of the entity.

	 Investment in subsidiaries are measured at cost less accumulated impairment, if any.

2.9	 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

	 Provisions are recognised only when: 

	 	 an entity has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event; and

	 	 it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; 
and

	 	 a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation
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    	 These are reviewed at each Balance Sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimates.

	 Further, long term provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows specific to the liability. 
The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost. A provision for onerous contracts is measured at the 
present value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected net cost of continuing 
with the contract. Before a provision is established, the Company recognises any impairment loss on the assets 
associated with that contract.

	 Contingent liability is disclosed in case of: 

	 	 a present obligation arising from past events, when it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be 
required to settle the obligation; and

	 	 a present obligation arising from past events, when no reliable estimate is possible.

	 Contingent Assets:

	 Contingent assets are not disclosed in the financial statements.

2.10	Commitments

	 Commitments are future liabilities for contractual expenditure, classified and disclosed as follows:

	 	 estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and not provided for; 

	 	 uncalled liability on loan sanctioned and on investments partly paid; and 

	 	 other non-cancellable commitments, if any, to the extent they are considered material and relevant in the 
opinion of management.

2.11	Foreign exchange transactions and translations

	 a)	 Initial recognition: Transactions in foreign currencies are recognised at the prevailing exchange rates between 
the reporting currency and a foreign currency on the transaction date.

	 b)	 Conversion: Transactions in currencies other than Company’s functional currency are recorded on initial 
recognition using the exchange rate at the transaction date. At each Balance Sheet date, foreign currency 
monetary items are reported at the prevailing closing spot rate. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting 
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are generally recognised in Statement of Profit and Loss.

		  Non-monetary assets and liabilities are carried at historical cost using exchange rates as on the date of the 
respective transactions and are not retranslated at the reporting date.

2.12	Revenue recognition

	 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the 
revenue can be reliably measured and there exists reasonable certainty of its recovery.

	 a)	 Recognition of Interest income 

		  Interest income on financial asset at amortised cost is recognised on a time proportion basis taking into account 
the amount outstanding and the effective interest rate (‘EIR’).The interest income is calculated by applying the 
EIR to the gross carrying amount of non-credit impaired financial assets (i.e. at the amortised cost of the 
financial asset before adjusting for any expected credit loss allowance). For credit- impaired financial assets the 
interest income is calculated by applying the EIR to the amortised cost of the credit-impaired financial assets 
(i.e. the gross carrying amount less the allowance for ECLs.)

		  Interest income on penal interest and tax refunds is recognised on receipt basis.

		  Interest income on fixed deposit is recognised on time proportionate basis.

	 b)	 Fee and Commission income

		  Fee and commission income include fees other than those that are an integral part of EIR. The fees included 
in the Company Statement of Profit and Loss include among other things fees charged for servicing a loan, 
loan advisory fees and documentation charges.
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	 c)	 Other financial charges

		  Cheque bouncing charges, late payment charges and foreclosure charges are recognised on a point-in-time 
basis, and are recorded when realised since the probability of collecting such monies is established when the 
customer pays.

	 d)	 Income from securities

		  Gains or losses on the sale of securities are recognised in Statement of profit and loss on trade date basis as the 
difference between fair value of the consideration received and carrying amount of the investment securities.

	 e)	 Net gain/ Loss on fair value changes

		  Any differences between the fair values of the financial assets classified as fair value through the profit or loss, 
held by the Company on the Balance Sheet date is recognised as an unrealised gain/loss in the Statement of 
Profit and Loss. In cases there is a net gain in aggregate, the same is recognised in “Net gains on fair value 
changes” under income and if there is net loss in aggregate, the same is recognised in “Net loss on fair value 
changes” under expense in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

	 f)	 Dividend income

		  Dividend income is recognised when the Company’s right to receive dividend is established by the reporting 
date and no significant uncertainty as to collect ability exists.

2.13	Employee benefits

	 Short term employee benefits

	 Employee benefits falling due wholly within twelve months of rendering the service are classified as short term 
employee benefits and are expensed in the period in which the employee renders the related service. Liabilities 
recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits 
expected to be paid in exchange for the related service.

	 Long Term employee benefits

	 Company’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit that employees 
have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. Long-term employee benefit primarily 
consists of Leave encashment benefits wherein employees are entitled to accumulate leave subject to certain limits 
for future encashment/availment. Long-term compensated absences are provided for on the basis of an actuarial 
valuation at the end of each financial year using Projected Unit Credit (PUC) Method. Actuarial gains/losses, if any, 
are recognised immediately in the Statement of Profit and Loss

	 Post-employment benefits

	 a)	 Defined contribution Plans

		  Provident fund: Contributions as required under the statute, made to the Provident Fund (Defined Contribution 
Plan) are recognised immediately in the Statement of Profit and Loss. There is no obligation other than the 
monthly contribution payable to the Regional Provident Fund Commissioner.

		  ESIC and Labour welfare fund: The Company’s contribution paid/payable during the year to Employee 
state insurance scheme and Labour welfare fund are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

	 b)	 Defined benefit Plans

		  Gratuity liability is defined benefit obligation and is provided on the basis of an actuarial valuation performed 
by an independent actuary based on projected unit credit method, at the end of each financial year. 

		  Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

		  i) 	 Service cost (including current service cost, past service cost, as well as gains and losses on curtailments 
and settlements)

		  ii) 	 Net interest expense or income

		  iii) 	 Re-measurement 

		  Re-measurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return on 
plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest), are recognised 
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in OCI, net of taxes. The Company determines the net interest expense (income) on the net defined benefit 
liability (asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the 
beginning of the annual period to the net defined benefit liability (asset), taking into account any changes in 
the net defined benefit liability (asset) during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Net 
interest expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised in Statement of Profit and 
Loss.

		  The Company’s net obligation in respect of gratuity (defined benefit plan), is calculated by estimating the 
amount of future benefit that the employees have earned in the current and prior periods, discounting that 
amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets. The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the 
Balance Sheet represents the actual deficit or surplus in the company’s defined benefit plans. Any surplus 
resulting from this calculation is recognised as an asset to the extent of present value of any economic benefits 
available in the form of refunds from the plans or reductions in the future contribution to the plans.

		  Share based Payments

		  Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are recognised as an expense at the fair value of equity 
stock options at the grant date. The fair value of the options is treated as discount and accounted as employee 
compensation cost over the vesting period on a straight-line basis. The amount recognised as expense in each 
year is arrived at based on the number of grants expected to vest. If a grant lapses after the vesting period, the 
cumulative discount recognised as expense in respect of such grant is transferred to the general reserve within 
equity.

2.14	Finance cost

	 Finance costs include interest expense computed by applying the effective interest rate on respective financial 
instruments measured at amortised cost. Financial instruments include bank term loans, Vehicle loans and non-
convertible debentures. Finance costs are charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss. Ancillary and other borrowing 
costs are amortised on straight line basis over the tenure of the underlying loan.

2.15	Leases

	 The Company has adopted Ind AS 116 ‘Leases’ with the date of initial application being April 1, 2019.The 
Company’s lease asset classes primarily consist of leases for Premises. The Company, at the inception of a contract, 
assesses whether the contract is a lease or not lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the 
right to control the use of an identified asset for a time in exchange for a consideration. This policy has been applied 
to contracts existing and entered into on or after April 1, 2018.

	 The Company evaluates each contract or arrangement, whether it qualifies as lease as defined under Ind AS 116.

	 The Company as a lessee

	 The Company assesses, whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the 
contract involves–

	 a)	 the use of an identified asset,

	 b)	 the right to obtain substantially all the economic benefits from use of the identified asset, and

	 c)	 the right to direct the use of the identified asset.

	 The Company at the inception of the lease contract recognises a Right-of-Use (RoU) asset at cost and a corresponding 
lease liability, for all lease arrangements in which it is a lessee, except for leases with term of less than twelve months 
(short term) and low-value assets (assets of less than Rs. 10 Lakhs in value). 

	 Certain lease arrangements includes the options to extend or terminate the lease before the end of the lease term. 
ROU assets and lease liabilities includes these options when it is reasonably certain that they will be exercised.

	 The cost of the ROU assets comprises the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any lease 
payments made at or before the inception date of the lease plus any initial direct costs, less any lease incentives 
received. Subsequently, the right-of-use assets is measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. The ROU assets is depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement 
date over the shorter of lease term or useful life of ROU assets.
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	 ROU assets are evaluated for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying 
amounts may not be recoverable. For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of 
the fair value less cost to sell and the value-in-use) is determined on an individual asset basis unless the asset does not 
generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from other assets. In such cases, the recoverable amount 
is determined for the Cash Generating Unit (CGU) to which the asset belongs.

	 For lease liabilities at inception, the Company measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments 
that are not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if 
that rate is readily determined, if that rate is not readily determined, the lease payments are discounted using the 
incremental borrowing rate.

	 The Company recognises the amount of the re-measurement of lease liability as an adjustment to the ROU assets. 
Where the carrying amount of the ROU assets is reduced to zero and there is a further reduction in the measurement 
of the lease liability, the Company recognises any remaining amount of the re-measurement in the Statement of 
Profit and Loss.

	 For short-term and low value leases, the Company recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. 

	 Lease liability has been presented in Note 14 “Other Financial Liabilities” and ROU asset has been presented in 
Note 9B “Property, Plant and Equipment” and lease payments have been classified as cash flows from financing 
activities.

2.16	Share issue expenses

	 Expenses incurred in connection with fresh issue of Share capital are adjusted against Securities premium account 
in accordance with the provisions of Section 52 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Ind AS.

2.17	Collateral

	 To mitigate its credit risks on financial assets, the Company seeks to use collateral, where possible. The collateral 
comes in various forms, such as securities, letter of credit/guarantees, receivables, inventories, other non-financial 
assets and credit enhancements such as netting arrangements.

	 The Company provides fully secured, partially secured and unsecured loans to Corporates and individuals.

2.18	Income Tax

	 Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.  Current and deferred tax 
are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

	 Current Tax

	 The Current tax is based on the taxable profit for the year of the Company. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before 
tax’ as reported in the Statement of Profit and Loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable or 
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The current tax is calculated using applicable 
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

	 Deferred tax

	 Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
Company’s financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred 
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally 
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available 
against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not 
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that 
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. 

	 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
except where the Company is able to control the reversal of temporary difference and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary 
differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that 

Notes to Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 2020



88  | Annual Report 2019-20

there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are 
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

	 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the assets to be 
recovered.

	 Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the 
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

	 Tax assets and tax liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and 
there is an intention to settle the asset and the liability on a net basis. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 
are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off tax assets against tax liabilities.

	 Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT) credit entitlement (i.e. excess of amount of MAT paid for a year over normal tax 
liability for that year) eligible for set-off in subsequent years is recognised as an asset in accordance with Ind AS 12, 
Income Taxes, if there is convincing evidence of its realisation.

	 MAT credit is created by way of a credit to the Statement of Profit and Loss. The Company reviews the same at each 
Balance Sheet date and writes down the carrying amount of MAT credit entitlement to the extent there is no longer 
convincing evidence to the effect that Company will pay normal income-tax during the specified period.

2.19	Earnings per share

	 Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing the net profit or loss for the year attributable to equity shareholders 
(after deducting attributable taxes) by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year.

	 For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net profit or loss for the period attributable to equity 
shareholders and the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period are adjusted for the effects 
of all dilutive potential equity shares.

2.20	Segment reporting

	 The company is predominantly engaged in Lending business, whose revenue and operating income are reviewed 
regularly by Chief Operating Decision Maker. As such there are no separate reportable segments as per Ind-AS 108

2.21	Dividend distribution to equity holders of the Company

	 The Company recognises a liability to make distributions to equity holders of the Company when the distribution 
is authorised and the distribution is no longer at the discretion of the Company. As per the Act, final dividend is 
authorised when it is approved by the shareholders and interim dividend is authorised when it is approved by the 
Board of Directors of the Company. 

2.22	Goods and Services Input Tax Credit

	 Goods and Services tax input credit is accounted for in the books in the period in which the supply of goods or 
service received is accounted and when there is no uncertainty in availing/utilising the credits.

2.23	Operating cycle for current and non-current classification

	 Based on the nature of activities of the Company and the normal time between acquisition of assets and their 
realization in cash or cash equivalents, the Company has determined its operating cycle as 12 months for the 
purpose of classification of its assets and liabilities as current and non-current.
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3 	  Cash and cash equivalents 

 As at  
 31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

 As at  
 1st April 2018 

 Cash on hand  0.31  -    0.08 

 Balances with bank 

 -  in current accounts  3,258.98  2,467.46  0.58 

 Cheques and drafts on hand  -    25.12  25.00 

 3,259.29  2,492.58  25.66 

			 
4 	  Bank Balances other than cash and cash equivalents 

 As at  
 31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

 As at  
 1st April 2018 

Fixed deposit with bank  
(Maturity less than 12 months) 

 -    125.00  1,650.00 

Unclaimed dividend  1.53  1.53  -   

 1.53  126.53  1,650.00 

5	 Receivables 

 Particulars  As at  
 31st March 2020 

 As at  
 31st March 2019 

 As at  
 1st April 2018 

Trade receivables 

(i) Secured considered good  -    -    -   

(ii) Unsecured considered good  -    -    -   
Other receivables 

a) Secured, considered good ;  -    -    -   
b) Unsecured,  considered good; and  19.23  -    32.40 

c) Doubtful  -    -    -   

Subtotal (a+b+c)  19.23  -    32.40 

Less: Allowance for impairment loss  -    -    -   

Net Receivables  19.23  -    32.40 

 19.23  -    32.40 

	 There is no due by directors or other officers of the Company or any firm or private company in which any director 
is a partner, a director or a member.				  
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6.	 Loan

As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

 As at  
 1st April 2018 

(A) Advances - at amortised cost -   -   -   

     Vendor financing (Unsecured)  991.16  -    -   

    Gross  991.16  -    -   

     Less: Impairment loss allowance  4.97  -    -   

 986.19  -    -   

(B) �Term Loans in India -  
at amortised cost

-   -   -   

     Secured (Secured by tangible assets)  45,183.20  53,763.48  9,294.37 

     Unsecured  4,143.83  1,832.98  1,100.00 

    Gross  49,327.03  55,596.46  10,394.37 

     Less: Impairment loss allowance  1,728.74  394.73  128.51 

 47,598.29  55,201.73  10,265.86 

(C) (II) Loans and Advances In India -   -   -   

     (i)  Public Sectors  -    -    -   

     (ii) Others  50,318.18  55,596.46  10,394.37 

    Total Gross  50,318.18  55,596.46  10,394.37 

     Less: Impairment loss allowance  1,733.71  394.73  128.51 

    Total Net  48,584.47  55,201.73  10,265.86 

    (II) Loans and advances Outside India (Net)  -    -    -   

 48,584.47  55,201.73  10,265.86 

	 Note :			 

	 i) There is no loan assets measured at FVOCI or FVTPL or designated at FVTPL.			 

	 ii) �Due to COVID 19 Security creation has not been completed for one of the account having an exposure of  
Rs 3,000 lakhs and hence treated as unsecured.			 
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7.	 Investments

As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

 As at  
 1st April 2018 

Recorded at Amortized cost 

In India 

Investment in equity instruments (unquoted): 

- In subsidiary companies 

- Capital India Home Loans  Limited  9,000.00  4,000.00  1,500.00 

9,00,00,000 (31st March 2019: 4,00,00,000; 1st 
April 2018: 1,50,00,000) equity shares @ Rs. 10/- 
each 

- Rapipay Fintech Private Limited  1,200.00  -    -   

1,20,00,000 (31st March 2019: Nil; 1st April 2018: 
Nil) equity shares @ Rs.10/- each 

- Rapipay Fintech Holding Private Limited  936.51  -    -   

93,65,100 (31st March 2019: Nil; 1st April 2018: 
Nil) equity shares @ Rs.10/- each 

- Capital India Asset Management Private Limited  5.00  5.00  1.00 

50,000 (31st March 2019: 50,000; 1st April 2018: 
10,000) equity shares @ Rs.10/- each 

- Capital India Wealth Management Private Limited  3.00  2.00  1.00 

30,000 (31st March 2019: 20,000; 1st April 
2018: 10,000) equity shares @ Rs.10/- each 

- CIFL Holding Private Limited  3.00  2.00  1.00 

30,000 (31st March 2019: 20,000; 1st April 
2018: 10,000) equity shares @ Rs.10/- each 

- CIFL Investment Manager Private Limited  3.00  2.00  1.00 

30,000 (31st March 2019: 20,000; 1st April 
2018: 10,000) equity shares @ Rs.10/- each 

Investment in debentures (unquoted): 

- In others 

Nil (31st March 2019: 525; 1st April 2028: Nil) 
Zero coupon optionally convertible debentures 
issued by Rapipay Fintech Holding Private Limited 
@ Rs. 1 lakh each 

 -    525.00  -   

 11,150.51  4,536.00  1,504.00 

Note:			 

The Company had acquired a wholly owned subsidiary - Rapipay Fintech Holding Private Limited (‘RFHPL’) by making 
investment in equity shares of Rs 1 lakh on September 20, 2019 and converting the investment in Optionally Convertible 
Debentures along with interest of Rs 935.51 lakhs into Equity shares as per the terms of the agreement on September 
21, 2019. The investment in equity shares of RFHPL as at March 31, 2020 was Rs 936.51 lakhs. Further the company 
has invested Rs. 1,200 lakhs in equity shares of Rapipay Fintech Private Limited (‘RFPL’) during the year ended March 
31, 2020, which is a subsidiary of RFHPL.

Notes to Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)



92  | Annual Report 2019-20

8	 Other financial assets

 As at  
 31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

 As at  
 1st April 2018 

 Interest accrued and due  302.89  176.65  121.49 

 Interest accrued but not due   884.68  813.69  13.38 

 Security deposit  254.94  345.62  143.61 

 Advance paid to staff  7.51  13.02  16.35 

 Advance to related parties  -    14.99  61.41 

 1,450.02  1,363.97  356.24 

9	 Current tax assets (Net)

 As at  
 31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

 As at  
 1st April 2018 

Advance tax and tax deducted at source 
(Net of provision for tax of Rs. 916.46 Lakhs  
(PY Rs. 215.99 Lakhs)

 163.46  65.74  126.35 

 163.46  65.74  126.35 

10	 Deferred tax assets (Net)

 As at  
 31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

 As at  
 1st April 2018 

Deferred Tax Asset
Provision for ECL  436.38  114.95  35.41 

Provision for employee benefits  49.38  21.06  3.45 

Unamortised processing fee  89.15  135.50  -   

Depreciation  50.89  24.46  -   

Loan given to staff at concessional rate  0.68  0.46  -   

Amortization adjustment on Lease deposits  12.04  7.38  2.17 

Ind AS 116 Adjustment  25.27  24.38  11.62 

Deferred Tax Liabilities

Interest adjustments on Lease deposits  (11.73)  (6.84)  (1.91)

Depreciation  -    -    (3.85)

Unamortised borrowing cost  (21.25)  (42.52)  -   

Deferred Tax Asset/(Liabilities) Net  630.81  278.83  46.89 
Movement in Net deferred tax Asset during 
the year

 351.98  231.94 

	 Note:	 		

	 The Company has recognised Deferred Tax Assets arising from deductible temporary differences to the extent there 
is an evidence of future taxable profit.	

 As at  
 31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

Break up of movement in net deferred tax assets

Routed through Profit & Loss  354.36  229.85 

Routed through other comprehensive income  (2.38)  2.09 

Total  351.98  231.94 
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11	 Property, Plant and Equipment

Particulars
As at 31st March 2020

Furniture & 
Fixtures

Vehicles Office 
Equipments

Leasehold 
improvements

Computer & 
printers

Total

At cost at the beginning of the year  622.28  288.34  129.20  558.73  65.68  1,664.23 

Additions  16.66  -    2.47  10.90  46.23  76.26 

Disposals  -    8.00  -    -    1.33  9.33 

At cost at the end of the year  638.94  280.34  131.67  569.63  110.58 1,731.16 

Accumulated depreciation as at the 
beginning of the year

 74.21  37.48  29.02  165.95  21.58  328.24 

Depreciation for the period  62.33  57.37  25.96  155.13  24.76  325.55 

Disposals  -    2.10  -    -    0.25  2.35 

Accumulated depreciation as at the 
end of the year

 136.54  92.75  54.98  321.08  46.09  651.44 

Net carrying amount as at the end 
of the year

 502.40  187.59  76.69  248.55  64.49 1,079.72 

Particulars
As at 31st March 2019

Furniture & 
Fixtures

Vehicles Office 
Equipments

Leasehold 
improvements

Computer 
& printers

Total

At cost at the beginning of the year  440.49  -    85.82  305.04  41.32  872.67 

Additions  199.90  304.34  43.38  253.69  32.40  833.71 

Disposals  18.11  16.00  -    -    8.04  42.15 

At cost at the end of the year  622.28  288.34  129.20  558.73  65.68 1,664.23 

Accumulated depreciation as at the 
beginning of the year

 14.63  -    3.65  21.19  3.22  42.69 

Depreciation for the period  60.34  37.83  25.37  144.76  19.66  287.96 

Disposals  0.76  0.35  -    -    1.30  2.41 

Accumulated depreciation as at 
the end of the year

 74.21  37.48  29.02  165.95  21.58  328.24 

Net carrying amount as at the end 
of the year

 548.07  250.86  100.18  392.78  44.10 1,335.99 

Particulars
 As at 1st April 2018 

Furniture & 
Fixtures

Vehicles Office 
Equipments

Leasehold 
improvements

Computer 
& printers

Total

At cost at the beginning of the year  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Additions  440.49  -    85.82  305.04  41.32  872.67 

Disposals  -    -    -    -    -    -   

At cost at the end of the year  440.49  -    85.82  305.04  41.32 872.67 

Accumulated depreciation as at the 
beginning of the year

 -    -    -    -    -    -   

Depreciation for the period  14.63  -    3.65  21.19  3.22  42.69 

Disposals  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Accumulated depreciation as at 
the end of the year

 14.63  -    3.65  21.19  3.22  42.69 

Net carrying amount as at the end 
of the year

 425.86  -    82.17  283.85  38.10 829.98 

Notes to Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 2020
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11A Intangible assets

As at 31st March 2020
Computer softwares Total

At cost, beginning of the year  5.83  5.83 
Additions  175.20  175.20 

Total cost  181.03  181.03 
Accumulated amortization :

At beginning of the year  1.84  1.84 
Amortization  6.89  6.89 

Total amortization  8.73  8.73 
Net carrying amount  172.30  172.30 

As at 31st March 2019
Computer softwares Total

At cost, beginning of the year  2.60  2.60 
Additions  3.23  3.23 

Total cost  5.83  5.83 
Accumulated amortization :

At beginning of the year  0.23  0.23 
Amortization  1.61  1.61 

Total amortization  1.84  1.84 
Net carrying amount  3.99  3.99 

 As at 1st April 2018 

Computer softwares Total
At cost, beginning of the year - -
Additions  2.60  2.60 

Total cost  2.60  2.60 
Accumulated amortization:

At beginning of the year  -    -   
Amortization  0.23  0.23 

Total amortization  0.23  0.23 
Net carrying amount  2.37  2.37 

11B	 Right of Use assets

 As at  
 31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

 As at  
1st April 2018 

Lease Premises

Opening gross carrying value  1,769.10  1,758.95  1,758.95 

Additions  11.84  10.15 

Accumulated amortization :

At beginning of the year  571.36  136.61  -   

Amortization  439.78  434.75  136.61 

Total amortization  1,011.14  571.36  136.61 

Net carrying amount  769.80  1,197.74  1,622.34 

Notes to Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 2020
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12	 Other non-financial assets

 As at  
 31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

 As at  
1st April 2018 

Prepaid expenses  79.16  53.24  81.78 

Advance to suppliers  9.51  12.53  137.58 

Unamortised borrowing cost  84.41  146.01  -   

GST input credit  177.66  107.50  -   

 350.74  319.28  219.36 

13	 Payables

 As at  
 31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

 As at  
1st April 2018 

Trade payables

(i) total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small 
enterprises*

 0.16  7.82  -   

(ii) total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro 
enterprises and small enterprises

 74.86  90.45  33.60 

Other payables

(i) total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small 
enterprises*

 -    -    -   

(ii) total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro 
enterprises and small enterprises

 -    -    -   

 75.02  98.27  33.60 

	 *No interest has been paid/is payable by the Company during/for the year to these ‘Suppliers’. The above 
information takes into account only those suppliers who have submitted their registration details or has responded 
to the inquiries made by the Company for this purpose. This has been relied upon by the Auditors.		
	

14	 Debt Securities

 As at  
 31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

 As at  
1st April 2018 

At Amortised Cost

Unsecured

   (a) Non convertible debentures (40 debentures  
@ Rs 100 Lakhs each)

 4,000.00  -    -   

Total  4,000.00  -    -   

	 Terms of repayment:

Particulars Rate of interest Repayment details

Non convertible debentures 9% Payable after 18 
months

Notes to Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 2020
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14A	Borrowings

 As at  
 31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

 As at  
1st April 2018 

At Amortised Cost

Secured

     (a) Term loans from banks  7,645.54  12,679.69  -   

     (b) Other loans - Book Overdraft  -    -    1,105.32 

Total  7,645.54  12,679.69  1,105.32 

Borrowings in India  7,645.54  12,679.69  1,105.32 

Borrowings outside India  -    -    -   

Total  7,645.54  12,679.69  1,105.32 

	 Additional information:		

	 i) There are no borrowings measured at FVTPL or designated at FVTPL.		

	 ii) Security details		

	  - �Term loan from banks is secured against pari passu charge on standard asset portfolio of book debts and 
receivables.	

	  - Vehicle loans is secured by way of hypothecation on vehicles.		

	 Terms of repayment:

Particulars Rate of Interest Repayment details

Term loan from banks 10.10% 60 Equated quarterly repayment 
starting at the  end of 6 months 

from the disbursement date

Vehicle loans 8.50% - 8.71% 60 Equated Monthly instalments

	 iii) The borrowings have not been guaranteed by directors or others.  
iv) �Additionally the Company has not defaulted in repayment of principal and interest during the year and as at 

Balance sheet date.

Notes to Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 2020
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16	 Other financial liabilities

As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

 As at  
1st April 2018

Interest accrued but not due on borrowings  58.32  205.64  55.27 
Interest accrued but not due on NCD  77.70  -    -   
Advances deposits from customer  39.18  83.41  -   
Unclaimed dividends  1.53  1.53  -   
Creditors for capital goods  -    -    22.92 
Lease liability  906.86  1,297.40  1,685.15 

 1,083.59  1,587.98  1,763.34 

17	 Current Tax Liabilities (net)

As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

 As at  
1st April 2018

 Provision for tax (Net of advance tax of Rs. 
1,057.16 Lakhs (PY Rs. 656.90 Lakhs)) 

 383.34  43.56  -   

 383.34  43.56  -   

17A	Provisions

As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

 As at  
1st April 2018

Provision for employee benefits
Provision for gratuity (refer note 37)  52.74  19.64  1.36 
Provision for compensated absence (refer 
note 37) 

 50.47  27.55  11.18 

Provision for performance bonus  -    225.00  -   
 103.21  272.19  12.54 

18	 Other non financial liabilities 

As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

 As at  
1st April 2018

Revenue received in advance  0.03  0.88  -   
Unamortised processing fee income  354.18  465.30  -   
Unamortised interest income  8.81 - -
Statutory dues payable  62.54  89.51  222.88 

 425.56  555.69  222.88 
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19	 Equity share capital

As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

As at
01st April 2018

 Number Amount  Number Amount  Number Amount
Authorized share 
capital

Equity shares of  Rs. 
10 each

 20,40,00,000  20,400.00 20,40,00,000  20,400.00  20,40,00,000  20,400.00 

Preference shares of  
Rs. 10 each

 1,00,00,000  1,000.00  1,00,00,000  1,000.00  1,00,00,000  1,000.00 

 21,40,00,000  21,400.00 21,40,00,000  21,400.00 21,40,00,000  21,400.00 

Issued, subscribed and 
fully paid up
Equity shares of  Rs. 
10 each

 7,77,34,260  7,773.43  7,77,34,260  7,773.43  35,02,700  350.27 

Total issued, 
subscribed and fully 
paid up share capital

 7,77,34,260  7,773.43  7,77,34,260  7,773.43  35,02,700  350.27 

a.	 Reconciliation of the shares and amount outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the reporting 
period:				  

As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

As at
01st April 2018

 Number Amount  Number Amount  Number Amount
At the beginning 
of the year

 7,77,34,260  7,773.43  35,02,700  350.27  35,02,700  350.27 

Add : Allotment 
during the year

 -    -    7,42,31,560  7,423.16  -    -   

Outstanding at 
the end of the 
year

 7,77,34,260  7,773.43  7,77,34,260  7,773.43  35,02,700  350.27 

	 The Company had allotted 3,96,83,000 equity shares of the face value of Rs.10 each on preferential basis through 
private placement, at a price of Rs. 63 each (including a premium of Rs. 53 each) aggregating to Rs.2,50,00,29,000 
during the year ended 31st March 2019.

	 The Company has allotted 3,45,48,560 equity shares of Rs. 10 each, at a price of Rs. 72 each, (including a 
premium of Rs. 62 each), on rights basis aggregating to Rs. 2,48,74,96,320 during the year ended 31st March 
2019.

	 The proceeds has been utilised by the Company for the objects of the issue, other than temporary deployment.

b.	 Terms and rights attached to fully paid up equity shares:

	 The Company has only one type of equity shares having par value of Rs. 10 each. All shares rank pari passu with 
respect to dividend, voting rights and other terms. Each shareholder is entitled to one vote per share. The dividend 
proposed, if any, by the Board of Directors is subject to approval of shareholders in the ensuing Annual General 
Meeting, except in case of interim dividend. The repayment of equity share capital in the event of liquidation and 
buy back of shares are possible subject to prevalent regulations. In the event of liquidation, normally the equity 
shareholders are eligible to receive the remaining assets of the company after distribution of all preferential amounts, 
in proportion to their holdings.						   
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c.	 Shares in the Company held by each shareholder holding more than 5% shares 				 

As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

As at
01st April 2018

 Number %  Number %  Number %
Equity shares of  Rs. 10 each
Capital India Corp LLP  5,67,75,720 73.04%  5,67,75,720 73.04%  22,32,300 63.73%
Dharampal Satyapal Limited  61,97,800 7.97%  48,97,800 6.30%  3,97,800 11.36%

DS Chewing Products LLP  43,16,800 5.50%  56,16,800 7.23%  -   0.00%

 6,72,90,320 86.51%  6,72,90,320 86.57%  26,30,100 75.09%

20	 Other Equity

As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

As at
01st April 2018

Statutory Reserve under Section 45-IC of 
the RBI Act, 1934

 887.36  279.71  75.80 

Securities premium  42,119.40  42,119.40  -   
Employee stock option outstanding 
account

 92.97  25.14  -   

General reserve  1.76  1.76  1.76 
Retained earnings  3,080.86  1,025.17  151.16 
Other comprehensive income  2.00  (5.08)  -   
Advance towards share application money  -    -    12,500.00 

 46,184.35  43,446.10  12,728.72 

	 Notes:			 

	 i)	 Statutory Reserve under Section 45-IC of the RBI Act, 1934:	 		

		�  The Company created a reserve pursuant to section 45 IC the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 by transferring 
amount not less than twenty per cent of its net profit every year as disclosed in the Statement of Profit and Loss 
and before any dividend is declared.				  

	 ii)	 Securities premium:		  	

		�  The amount received in excess of face value of the equity shares is recognised in Securities Premium Account. 
In case of equity-settled share based payment transactions, the difference between fair value on grant date and 
nominal value of share is accounted as securities premium account. The account is utilised in accordance with 
the provisions of the Companies Act 2013.				  

	 iii)	Employee stock option outstanding account:	 		

		�  The reserve is used to recognise the fair value of the options issued to employees of the Company and subsidiary 
companies under Company’s employee stock option scheme.					   

	 iv)	General reserve:			

		�  Under the erstwhile Companies Act 1956, general reserve was created through an annual transfer of net income at a 
specified percentage in accordance with applicable regulations. Consequent to introduction of Companies Act 2013, 
the requirement to mandatorily transfer a specified percentage of the net profit to general reserve has been withdrawn. 
However, the amount previously transferred to the general reserve can be utilised only in accordance with the 
specific requirements of Companies Act, 2013.				  
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	 v)	 Retained earnings:	 		

		�  Retained earnings represents surplus/accumulated earnings of the Company and are available for distribution to 
shareholders.

	 vi)	Advance towards share application money:

		�  During the year ended 31st March 2019, the Company had refunded back an amount of Rs. 1,25,00,00,000 
received from Capital India Corp LLP as advance against share application money towards its entitlement under 
the Rights issue of the Company.

21	 Interest income

Particulars  For the year ended  
31st March 2020 

 For the year ended  
31st March 2019  

On 
Financial 
Assets 

measured 
at fair value 

through 
OCI

On 
Financial 
Assets 

measured at 
Amortised 

Cost

Interest 
Income on 
Securities 

classified at 
fair value 

through profit 
or loss

On 
Financial 
Assets 

measured 
at fair value 

through 
OCI

On 
Financial 
Assets 

measured at 
Amortised 

Cost

Interest 
Income on 
Securities 

classified at 
fair value 
through 

profit or loss

Interest on loans  -    10,141.58  -    -    4,574.44  -   

Interest income on 
optionally convertible 
debentures

 -    35.51  -    -    -    -   

Interest income on vendor 
financing

 -    16.75  -    -    -    -   

Interest on deposits with 
banks

 -    53.75  -    -    71.40  -   

Other interest income  -    29.65  -    -    16.54  -   

 -    10,277.24  -    -    4,662.38  -   

					   

22	 Net gain on fair value changes

Particulars
For the year ended  
31st March 2020

For the year ended  
31st March 2019

Net gain/ (loss) on financial instruments at fair value through 
profit and loss account

Mutual fund units  122.98  251.39 

Debentures  18.00  -   

Total Net gain/(loss) on fair value changes  140.98  251.39 

Fair Value changes*

 Realised  140.98  251.39 

 Unrealised  -    -   

	 *Note : Fair value changes in this schedule are other than those arising on account of interest income/expense.
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23	 Other income			 

Particulars
For the year ended  
31st March 2020

For the year ended  
31st March 2019

Revenue from space sharing  3.01  46.28 
Interest on income tax refund  1.57  4.55 

Profit on sale of fixed assets  -    0.11 

Misc. income  0.05  -   

 4.63  50.94 

24	 Finance cost			 

Particulars
For the year ended  
31st March 2020

For the year ended  
31st March 2019

Interest on borrowings  1,016.20  649.16 

Interest on debt securities  77.70  -   

Interest on inter corporate deposits  26.88  87.06 

Interest on lease liability  111.79  149.87 

Other finance costs  61.78  44.59 

 1,294.35  930.68 

25	 Impairment of financial instruments 

Particulars  For the year ended  
31st March 2020 

 For the year ended  
31st March 2019  

On Financial Assets 
measured at fair 

value through OCI

On Financial 
Assets measured at 

Amortised Cost

On Financial Assets 
measured at fair value 

through OCI

On Financial 
Assets measured at 

Amortised Cost

On Loans  -    1,338.98  -    266.22 

 -    1,338.98  -    266.22 

26	 Employee benefits expense			 

Particulars
For the year ended  
31st March 2020

For the year ended  
31st March 2019

Salaries and wages including bonus  2,078.87  1,372.67 

Contribution to provident and other funds  116.18  51.10 

Share Based Payments to employees  67.83  25.14 

Staff welfare expenses  29.91  14.63 

Others:

- Cost for giving loan to employees at concessional rate  1.12  1.56 

 2,293.91  1,465.10 
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27	 Other expenses			 

Particulars
For the year ended  
31st March 2020

For the year ended  
31st March 2019

Rent  32.28  -   

Rate, fee & taxes  35.55  39.68 

Repairs & maintenance - others  94.37  63.20 

Office expenses  64.24  54.54 

Electricity charges  20.25  15.61 

Communication expenses  21.18  20.88 

Printing & stationery  11.82  12.04 

Insurance  8.98  11.44 

Membership & subscription  54.50  30.21 

Travelling & conveyance  88.00  107.76 

Advertisement, marketing & business promotion expenses  37.80  52.98 

Commission & brokerage  7.68  2.06 

Auditor's remuneration (Refer Note 29)  28.12  17.84 

Legal & professional charges  97.66  195.43 

Rating fee  6.62  19.08 

Listing fee  5.23  2.82 

Directors sitting fees  19.02  31.40 

Donation  -    2.00 

CSR expense  15.00  -   

Miscellaneous expenses  51.89  32.64 

 700.19  711.61 

28	 Basic and Diluted Earnings per share [EPS] computed in accordance with Indian Accounting Standard (Ind 
AS) 33 “Earnings per Share’’			   			 

Particulars
For the year ended  
31st March 2020

For the year ended  
31st March 2019

Basic  

Profit after tax (Rs. In Lakhs) A  3,038  1,120 

Weighted average number of equity shares 
outstanding

B  7,77,34,260  4,21,34,493 

Basic earning per share (Rs) A/B  3.91  2.66 

Diluted

Profit after tax (Rs. In Lakhs) A  3,038  1,120 

Weighted average number of equity shares 
outstanding

B  7,77,34,260  4,21,34,493 

Add: Weighted average number of potential equity 
shares on account of employee stock options

C  10,34,028  3,49,713 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding for 
diluted EPS

D=B+C  7,87,68,288  4,24,84,206 

Diluted earning per share (before and after 
extraordinary items) (Rs)

A/D  3.86  2.64 

Face value of shares (Rs)  10.00  10.00 
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29	 Auditors Remuneration			   			 

Particulars
For the year ended  
31st March 2020

For the year ended  
31st March 2019

Payment to auditors (net of GST credit availed)  

a)  Statutory audit  19.13  11.68 

b) Taxation matters (Tax audit fees)  1.59  1.50 

c) Certification fees & Other services  7.40  4.66 

 28.12  17.84 

	 Note :  �Excludes fees of Rs. 59.95 Lacs paid for the year ended 31st March 2019 in respect of funds raised through 
rights issue, adjusted against securities premium.

30	 Expenditure in foreign currency:

Particulars
For the year ended  
31st March 2020

For the year ended  
31st March 2019

Legal & professional charges  -    9.42 

 -    9.42 
			 

	 Note :	 	

	 i)	 There are no reportable earnings in foreign currency during the year ended 31st March 2020. (31st March 
2019: Nil)		

	 ii)	 The Company do not have any exposures in foreign currency as at the Balance Sheet date.		

31	 Disclosure pursuant to Ind AS 108 “Operating Segment”	 				  

	 The Company operates mainly in the business segment of Lending activity. As such there are no reportable segments 
as per Ind AS 108 on Operating Segment. Since the business operations of the Company are concentrated in India, 
the Company is considered to operate only in the domestic segment and therefore there is no reportable geographic 
segment.					   

32	 Dividend distribution to equity shareholders

	 Dividend of Re.0.1 per share (31st March 2019: Re.0.4 per share) amounting to Rs. 77.73 Lakhs (31st March 
2019: Rs. 310.94 Lakhs) is proposed on ordinary shares. The recommended dividend will be accounted for when 
approved by the shareholders in Annual General Meeting.			 

33	 Disclosure pertaining to Corporate Social Responsibility expenses					   

	 Amount required to be spent by the Company on Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) related activities during the 
year is Rs 13.10 Lacs (previous year Rs Nil)						    

	 The amount recognised as an expense in the Statement of Profit and Loss on CSR related activities is Rs 15.00 Lacs 
(previous year Rs Nil) (Refer note 27), which comprises of :

Particulars 2019-20 2018-19

In cash Yet to be 
paid in cash

Total In cash Yet to be 
paid in cash

Total

Amount spent during the year

- Contribution to Trust registered u/s 
11 of Income tax act

 15.00  -    15.00  -    -    -   

Total  15.00  -    15.00  -    -    -   
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34	 Contingent Liabilities and Commitments

 As at  
 31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

 As at  
1st April 2018 

Contingent liabilities
Claims against the Company not 
acknowledged as debt

 -    -    -   

Guarantees
- Bank Guarantees  -    124.37  -   
- �Others (Issued on behalf of a subsidiary 

Company i.e. Capital India Home Loans 
Limited)

 59.60  -    -   

 59.60  124.37  -   
Commitments
Estimated amount of contracts(net of 
advances) remaining to be executed on 
capital account and not provided for

 -    18.36  228.09 

 Undrawn committed sanctions to borrowers 
(refer note)

 1,148.49  -    -   

 1,148.49  18.36  228.09 
 1,208.09  142.73  228.09 

	 Note :  �This disclosure is given pursuant to the notification no. DNBS.CC.PD.No. 252/03.10.01/2011-12 dated 
December 26, 2011 issued by Reserve Bank of India.

35	 In compliance with Ind AS - 27 ‘Separate Financial Statements’, the required information is as under.	

Particulars Principal place of 
Business

Percentage (%) of ownership Interest

Year ended 
March 31, 2020

Year ended
 March 31, 2019

Year ended 
March 31, 2018

Subsidiaries

Capital India Home Loans Limited India 99.7% 100% 100%

Capital India Assets Management 
Private Limited

India 100% 100% 100%

CIFL Holdings Private Limited India 100% 100% 100%

CIFL Investment Manager Private 
Limited

India 100% 100% 100%

Capital India Wealth Management 
Private Limited

India 100% 100% 100%

Rapipay Fintech Holdings Private 
Limited

India 100% Nil Nil

Rapipay Fintech Private Limited India 63% Nil Nil
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36	 Disclosure of Related party transactions pursuant to (Ind AS – 24) and Companies act 2013 “Related Party 
Disclosures” 					   

	 (i)	 Names of related parties:

Name of the related party Nature of relationship

Capital India Home Loans  Limited Wholly owned subsidiary

Capital India Wealth Management Private 
Limited

Wholly owned subsidiary

CIFL Holdings Private Limited Wholly owned subsidiary

CIFL Investment Manager Private Limited Wholly owned subsidiary

Rapipay Fintech Private Limited  
(w.e.f. 21 September 2019)

Subsidiary Company

Rapipay Fintech Holding Private Limited 
(w.e.f. 21 September 2019)

Wholly owned subsidiary

Atulya Foundation Enterprise over which control is exercised by the Company

Mr. Keshav Porwal Managing Director 

Mr. Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha Executive Director & CEO

Mr. Neeraj Toshniwal Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Rachit Malhotra Company Secretary

Mr. Deepak Vaswan Relative of a person having joint control over the Company

Mr. Yogendra Pal Singh Independent Director

Mr. Vinod Somani Independent Director

Mr. Achal Kumar Gupta (resigned on 13 
Febuary 2019)

Independent Director

	 Note: Related party and their relationships are reported only where the Company has transactions with those parties 
during the current year.
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37	 Employee benefits

	 Defined Contribution Plan - Provident Fund (PF) Contribution	 	

	 The Company makes contributions towards PF, in respect of qualifying employees. The amount recognised as an 
expense and included in Note 26 “Employee benefits expense” under the head “Contribution to Provident and 
Other Funds” are as under.			 

	 The employees of the Company are members of a retirement contribution plan operated by the government. The 
Company is required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll cost to the retirement contribution scheme to 
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Company with respect to the plan is to make the specified contributions

Particulars
For the year ended  
31st March 2020

For the year ended  
31st March 2019

Employer’s Contribution to Provident Fund  73.61   39.98 
	

	 Defined Benefit Plan - Gratuity		

	 The Company has a defined benefit gratuity plan, under which every employee who has completed atleast five years 
of service gets a gratuity on departure @15 days of last drawn basic salary for each completed year of service.	

	 The plan is of a final salary defined benefit in nature which is sponsored by the Company and hence it underwrites 
all the risks pertaining to the plan. The actuarial risks associated are:			 

	 Interest Rate Risk: 		

	 The risk of government security yields falling due to which the corresponding discount rate used for valuing liabilities 
falls. Such a fall in discount rate will result in a larger value placed on the future benefit cash flows whilst computing 
the liability and thereby requiring higher accounting provisioning. 	 	

	 Longevity Risks:		

	 Longevity risks arises when the quantum of benefits payable under the plan is based on how long the employee lives 
post cessation of service with the company. The gratuity plan provides the benefit in a lump sum form and since the 
benefit is not payable as an annuity for the rest of the lives of the employees, there is no longevity risks.	 	

	 Salary Risks:		

	 The gratuity benefits under the plan are related to the employee’s last drawn salary. Consequently, any unusual  rise 
in future salary of the employee raises the quantum of benefit payable by the company, which results in a higher 
liability for the company and is therefore a plan risk for the company.			 

	 The estimates of the future salary increases, considered in actuarial valuation, include inflation, seniority, promotion 
and other relevant factors such as supply and demand in the employment market. The discount rate is based on the 
prevailing market yield on government securities as at the balance sheet date for the estimated average remaining 
service.		

	 The disclosure as required by Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) -19 “Employee Benefits” is as under.

Particulars
As at  

31st March 2020
As at 

31st March 2019
Mortality rate IALM (2012-14) 

Ultimate
IALM (2012-14) 

Ultimate

Interest / Discount Rate 6.84% 7.79%

Rate of increase in compensation Year 1 - 0%  and 
Year 2 onwards 

-10%

10.0%
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Particulars
As at  

31st March 2020
As at 

31st March 2019
II. Reconciliation of net defined benefit (asset)/liability
(a) Reconciliation of present value of defined benefit obligation
    Opening Defined Benefit Obligation  19.64  1.36 
    Interest Cost  1.53  -   
    Current Service Cost  41.03  11.11 
    Actuarial (Gains) / Losses  (9.46)  7.17 
    Closing Defined Benefit Obligation  52.74  19.64 
(b)  Reconciliation of present value of plan asset
    Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of year  -    -   

    Transfer in of Funds  -    -   

    Interest Income  -    -   

    Contributions  -    -   

    Benefits paid  -    -   

    Return on Plan Assets excluding Interest Income  -    -   
    Fair value of plan assets at the end of year  -    -   
(c) Reconciliation of net defined benefit (asset)/liability
    Present value of Obligation as at the end of year  52.74  19.64 
    Fair value of plan assets as at the end of year  -    -   
    Funded status  52.74  19.64 
    Recognised in Balance Sheet - (Asset) / Liability  52.74  19.64 
III. Actuarial (Gain)/Loss on Obligation
    Due to Demographic Assumption  (1.55)  0.00 
    Due to Financial Assumption  1.73  3.95 
    Due to Experience  (9.64)  3.22 
    Net Actuarial (Gain)/ Loss on Obligation  (9.46)  7.17 
IV. Actual Return on Plan Assets
    Actual Interest Income  -    -   
    Expected Interest Income  -    -   
    Return on Plan Assets excluding Interest Income  -    -   
V. Net Interest
    Interest Expense  1.53  -   

    Interest Income    -    -   

    Net Interest Exp/(Income)  1.53  -   
VI. Expenses Recognised in Profit and Loss account under
    Employee benefit expenses

    Current Service Cost    41.03  11.11 

    Net Interest Exp/(Income)  1.53  -   

    Past Service Cost (vested benefits)    -    -   
    Expenses recognised in Profit and Loss Account  42.56  11.11 
VII.�Remeasurements recognised in Other Comprehensive 

Income
    Net Actuarial (Gain)/ Loss on Obligation  (9.46)  7.17 

    Return on Plan Assets excluding Interest Income  -    -   

    Total Actuarial (Gain)/ Loss recognised in OCI
VIII. Others   
    Weighted average duration of defined benefit Obligation  11.00  14.00

Notes to Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 2020
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	 Sensitivity analysis :		

	 Sensitivity analysis for significant actuarial Assumptions, showing how the defined benefit Obligation would be 
affected, considering increase/decrease of 100 basis points as at 31.03.20 is as below :		

Particulars
As at  

31st March 2020
As at 

31st March 2019
Change in rate of Discount Rate + 100 basis points  46.15  17.23 

Change in rate of Discount Rate- 100 basis points  60.64  23.29 

Change in rate of Salary Escalation Rate + 100 basis points  58.17  23.02 

Change in rate of Salary Escalation Rate - 100 basis points  47.77  17.37 

Change in rate of Attrition Rate + 100 basis points  50.37  18.85 

Change in rate of Attrition Rate - 100 basis points  55.32  21.18 

	 The Expected Payout as at 31st March 2020 are as under:

Particulars
As at  

31st March 2020
As at 

31st March 2019
Year 1  -    -   

Year 2  -    -   

Year 3  2.95  -   

Year 4  3.45  -   

Year 5  3.57  1.13 

Year 6 to Year 10  19.86  6.49 

Notes: 		

	 Since the gratuity plan and Leave encashment plan of the Company is not funded, and hence the disclosure related 
to plan assets are not applicable.		

	 The company has recognised Rs. 22.92 Lacs (31st March 2019: Rs. 16.37 Lacs) for compensated absence in 
Statement of Profit and Loss for current year. Total provision for compensated absences is Rs. 50.47 Lacs as at 
31st March 2020 (31st March 2019: Rs. 27.55 Lacs).

38	 Employee Stock Option Plan	 	

	 The shareholders of the Company passed a resolution through postal ballot/ e-voting on 23rd September 2018 for 
approval of the issue of 35,00,000 options under the Scheme titled “CIFL EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLAN 
2018” (ESOP SCHEME). 		

	 The ESOP Scheme allows the issue of options to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries (whether in India 
or abroad). Each option comprises one underlying equity share.		

	 As per the ESOP Scheme, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors grants the 
options to the employees deemed eligible. The Exercise Price for the Options shall be determined by the Board 
which shall not be less than the face value of the Shares of the Company as on date of Grant. The options granted 
vest not earlier than minimum period of 1 (One) year and not later than maximum period of 5 (Five) years from the 
date of Grant. The Board at its discretion may grant Options specifying Vesting Period ranging from minimum and 
maximum period as afore-stated. The Exercise Period in respect of Vested Options shall be period as specified in 
the Grant Letter, which period shall not be more than 5 (Five) years from the date of Vesting of Options.		

	 Method used for accounting for shared based payment plan.		

	 The Company uses fair value to account for the compensation cost of stock options to employees of the 
Company.	

Notes to Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)



Annual Report 2019-20 |  111

	 Movement in the options outstanding under the Employees Stock Option Plan for the year ended 31st 
March 2020

Particulars
Options (Numbers) Weighted average 

exercise price per 
option (Rs.)

Option outstanding at the beginning of the year  16,35,000 72

Granted during the year  4,15,000 72

Vested during the year  4,08,750 72

Exercised during the year  -    -   

Lapsed during the year  -    -   

Options outstanding at the end of the year  20,50,000 72

Options available for grant  14,50,000 72

	 Movement in the options outstanding under the Employees Stock Option Plan for the year ended  
31st March 2019

Particulars
Options (Numbers) Weighted average 

exercise price per 
option (Rs.)

Option outstanding at the beginning of the year  -    -   

Granted during the year  16,35,000 72

Vested during the year  -    -   

Exercised during the year  -    -   

Lapsed during the year  -    -   

Options outstanding at the end of the year  16,35,000 72

Options available for grant  18,65,000 72

	 Weighted average remaining contractual life for options outstanding as at 31st March 2020 is 1 year 7 
months (Previous year 2 years and 1 month).

	 The fair value of the options has been determined under the Black-Scholes model. The assumptions used 
in this model for calculating fair value are as below:

Particulars
As at  

31st March 2020
As at  

31st March 2019
Risk-free interest rate 6.62% - 7.10% 6.62% - 7.10%

Expected life of the option 1 year to 4 years 1 year to 4 years

Expected annual volatility of shares 18% 18%

Expected dividend yield 0.00% 0.00%

		
	 The above management assumption has been relied upon by the Auditors.

	 During the year ended 31st March 2020, the company recorded an employee stock compensation expense of Rs. 
67.83 Lacs (Previous year Rs. 25.14 Lacs) in the Statement of Profit and Loss. 	 	
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39	 Disclosure Pursuant to Ind AS 116 “Leases” 	 			 

	 The Company has adopted Ind AS 116 ‘Leases’ with the date of initial application being April 1, 2019. Ind AS 116 
replaces Ind AS 17 – Leases and related interpretation and guidance.			 

	 The Company has applied Ind AS 116 using the full retrospective approach, and accordingly the comparative 
information relating to prior years has been restated.			 

	 In adopting Ind AS 116, the Company has applied the below practical expedients:			 

	 The Company has applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics.

	 The Company has treated the leases with remaining lease term of less than 12 months as if they were “short term 
leases”.			 

	 The Company has not applied the requirements of Ind AS 116 for leases of low value assets (assets of less than Rs. 
10 Lakhs in value).			 

	 The Company has excluded the initial direct costs from measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of 
transition.			 

	 The Company has used hindsight, in determining the lease term if the contract contains options to extend or 
terminate the lease.

	 Impact of adoption of Ind AS 116 on Balance sheet 

Particulars
As at  

31st March 
2020

As at  
31st March 

2019

As at  
31st March 

2018
Right of use assets  769.80  1,197.74  1,622.34 

Lease liabilities  906.86  1,297.40  1,685.15 

Derecognition of Lease equalisation reserve  58.41  48.33  60.35 

	 Impact of adoption of Ind AS 116 on Statement of Profit and Loss

Particulars
For the year ended  
31st March 2020

For the year ended 
31st March 2019

Depreciation on Right of use assets  439.78  434.75 

Interest cost on lease liability  111.79  149.87 

Interest income on lease deposit  (23.13)  (16.54)

Derecognition of rent  (509.40)  (479.32)

Net deferred Tax impact  (25.58)  (24.92)

Impact on the statement of profit and loss for the period  (6.54)  63.84 

			 
	 Impact of adoption of Ind AS 116 on Statement of Cash flows			

	 The adoption of Ind AS 116 resulted in Increase in operating cash flows and Decrease in financing cash flows by 
Rs. 499.32 Lacs as repayment of the lease liabilities and related interest will be classified as cash flow from financing 
activities.

	 Maturity analysis of Lease Liabilities:

Particulars
As at  

31st March 
2020

As at  
31st March 

2019

As at  
31st March 

2018
Not later than 1 year  408.92  390.54  387.75 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  497.94  906.86  1,297.40 

Later than 5 years  -    -    -   

Total  906.86  1,297.40  1,685.15 
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40	 Disclosure pursuant to Ind AS 12 ‘Income Taxes’

	 (i)	 Tax Expenses recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss

Particulars
For the year ended  
31st March 2020

For the year ended 
31st March 2019

Current tax:
     In respect of current year  1,440.49  700.46 

     In respect of prior years  -    0.52 

Deferred Tax:
Deferred tax relating to origination and reversal of temporary 
differences

 (354.36)  (229.85)

Total Income Tax recognised in profit or loss
     Current tax  1,440.49  700.98 

     Deferred tax  (354.36)  (229.85)

Total Income Tax recognised in profit or loss  1,086.13  471.13 

	 (ii)	Income Tax recognised in Other comprehensive income

Particulars
For the year ended  
31st March 2020

For the year ended 
31st March 2019

Deferred tax related to items recognised in Other 
comprehensive income during the year:
Remeasurement of defined employee benefits  (2.38)  2.09 

Total Income tax recognised in Other comprehensive 
income

 (2.38)  2.09 

	 (iii)	Reconciliation of effective tax rate :			 

	 The reconciliation of estimated income tax expense at tax rate to income tax expense reported in profit or 
loss is as follows :	 		

Particulars
For the year ended  
31st March 2020

For the year ended 
31st March 2019

Profit before Tax  4,124.39  1,591.21 

Enacted income tax rate (%) 25.17% 29.12%

Income tax expense calculated at applicable income tax rate  1,038.11  463.36 

Tax effect of adjustments to reconcile expected income tax 
expense to reported income tax expense:
Expenses that are not deductible for tax purposes  575.52  483.95 

Dividend income exempt from income tax -  -   

Deductions available under income tax  (173.14)  (246.85)

Income tax for earlier year  -    0.52 

Income Tax expense recognised in profit and loss  1,440.49  700.98 

Deferred Tax recognised in profit and loss  (354.36)  (229.85)

Tax recognised in profit and loss  1,086.13  471.13 
Actual effective income tax rate (%) 26.33% 29.61%

Notes to Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)
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	 (iv)	Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

Particulars
As at  

31st March 
2020

As at  
31st March 

2019

As at  
1st April 

2018
Deferred Tax Asset :
Loans & Advances (EIR Adjustment and ECL 
Provision)

 436.38  114.95  35.41 

Provisions  49.38  21.06  3.45 

Unamortised processing fee  89.15  135.50  -   

Property, Plant and Equipment & Intangible assets  50.89  24.46  -   

Loan given to Staff at concessional rate  0.68  0.46  -   

Amortization adjustment on Lease deposits  12.04  7.38  2.17 

ROU and Lease liability  25.27  24.38  11.62 

Deferred Tax Liability:
Interest adjustments on Lease deposits  11.73  6.84  1.91 

Property, Plant and Equipment & Intangible assets  -    -    3.85 

Unamortised borrowings costs  21.25  42.52  -   

Net Deferred Tax Asset/(Liability)  630.81  278.83  46.89 

	 (v)	 Movement in temporary differences

Particulars
For the year ended  
31st March 2020

For the year ended 
31st March 2019

Credit / (Charge) in the Statement of Profit and Loss during 
the period 
Loans & Advances  275.08  215.03 

Property, Plant and Equipment & Intangible assets  26.43  28.30 

ROU and Lease liability  0.89  12.76 

Borrowings  21.27  (42.52)

Provisions  30.70  15.52 

Security deposits  (0.23)  0.28 

Advances to staff  0.22  0.46 

Total (a)  354.36  229.85 
Credit / (Charge) in the other comprehensive income 
during the period
Provisions - employee benefits  (2.38)  2.09 

Total (b)  (2.38)  2.09 
Net deferred income tax asset at the beginning (c)  278.83  46.89 

Net deferred tax asset/(Liabilities) at the end of the period 
(d) = (a) + (b) + (c)

 630.81  278.83 

Notes to Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)
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42	 Capital Management	 					   

	 The Company manages its capital to ensure that the Company will be able to continue as going concern while 
maximising the return to stakeholders through optimisation of the debt and equity balance.			 

	 For the purpose of the Companies capital management capital includes issued capital and equity reserves. The 
primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure that the Company complies with RBI prescribed 
Capital adequacy requirements and maintains adequate capital to support its business and maximise shareholders 
value. The Capital to Risk Weighted Asset Ratio (CRAR) of the company is as under.

Items
As at  

31st March 2020
As at  

31st March 2019
i.  CRAR (%) 80.35% 81.22%

ii. CRAR - Tier I capital (%) 79.13% 80.86%

ii. CRAR - Tier II capital (%) 1.22% 0.36%
		

	 As per RBI Prudential norms, the minimum CRAR requirement for NBFCs is 15% and the Company has maintained 
CRAR well above the regulatory norms throughout the year	

	 Regulatory capital-related information is presented as a part of the RBI mandated disclosures. The RBI norms 
require capital to be maintained at prescribed levels. In accordance with such norms, Tier I capital of the company 
comprises of share capital, share premium, reserves and Tier II capital comprises of provision on loans that are not 
credit-impaired. There were no changes in the capital management process during the periods presented.

43	 Financial Risk Management						    

	 The Company’s Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s 
risk management framework. The board of directors has constituted the risk management committee, which is 
responsible for developing and monitoring the Company’s risk management policies. The Company’s risk 
management committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Company’s risk management 
policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced 
by the Company.							     

	 The Company’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Company, to 
set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and 
systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions.					   

	 The Company has exposure to the following risks arising from its business operations:				 

	 i)	 Credit risk			 

	 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty fails to meet an obligation under a contract. 
Lending activities account for most of the Company’s credit risk. Other sources of credit risk also exist in loans and 
transaction settlements. Credit risk is measured as the amount that could be lost if a customer or counterparty fails to 
make repayments. The maximum exposure to credit risk in case of all the financial instruments is restricted to their 
respective carrying amount.

	 Credit Risk is monitored through stringent credit appraisal, counterparty limits ands internal risk ranges of the 
borrowers. Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of the ability of all the customers and counter 
parties to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing lending limits where appropriate.

	 Company primarily offers loans secured by Real estate. In order to mitigate credit risk, Company also seeks collateral 
appropriate to the product segment. The most common types of collateral the company receives, measured by 
collateral value, are mortgages on financial assets in the form of  real estate.		

Notes to Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)
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	 a)	 Maximum exposure to the Credit risk			 

		  This table below shows the Company’s maximum exposure to the credit risk.

Particulars Mar-20 Mar-19 Mar-18
Financial Assets at amortised cost - Loans & 
Advances (Gross)

 50,318.18  55,596.46  10,394.37 

Less : Impairment loss allowances  1,733.71  394.73  128.51 

Financial Assets at amortised cost - Loans & 
Advances (Net)

 48,584.47  55,201.73  10,265.86 

Trade receivables  19.23  -    32.40 

Total  48,603.70  55,201.73  10,298.26 

 	 Credit risk on Cash and Cash equivalents is considered to be Nil as these are generally held with leading banks.	

	 b)	 Credit quality analysis	 		

		  An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date based on the facts and circumstances existing on 
that date to identify expected losses on account of time value of money and credit risk. The credit quality of 
Loans and advances measured at amortised cost is primarily assessed by the Days Past Due (DPD) status and 
other qualitative factors leading to increase in credit risk.			 

		  Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment	 		

		  In assessing the impairment of financial assets under the expected credit loss model, the Company defines 
default when a loan obligation is overdue for more than 90 days and credit impaired.			 

		  Assessment of significant increase in credit risk	 		

		  When determining whether the risk of default has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Company 
considers the DPD status of the loans. Credit risk is deemed to have increased significantly when an asset is 
more than 30 days past due (DPD) and other qualitative  internal or external factors demonstrating credit or 
liquidity risk.			 

		  Calculation of expected credit losses	 		

		  The key elements in calculation of ECL are as follows		

		  PD - The Probability of Default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. A default 
may only happen at a certain time over the assessed period, if the facility has not been previously derecognised 
and is still in the portfolio. 	

		  EAD - The Exposure at Default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account 
expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest, 
whether scheduled by contract or otherwise, expected draw downs on committed facilities, accrued interest 
from missed payments and loan commitments.		

		  LGD - The Loss Given Default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given 
time. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would 
expect to receive, including from the realisation of any collateral. It is usually expressed as a percentage of the 
EAD. The LGD is determined based on valuation of collaterals and other relevant factors.		

		  For PD the Company has relied upon the PD data from industry benchmarks and external rating agencies. For 
Loss Given Default (LGD) the Company has relied on internal and external information.		

		  In relation to COVID-19, Management has applied appropriate overlay to the above method of determining 
ECL. Refer note 48 for additional details.		

Notes to Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 2020
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	 The following table sets out information about the credit quality of financial assets measured at amortised cost.

Particulars
As at  

31st March 
2020

As at  
31st March 

2019

As at  
1st April 
 2018

Gross Stage 1 (DPD< 30 days) Performing asset 
and 12 month ECL

 41,246.74  55,416.03  6,592.32 

Less : Impairment loss allowance  757.59  392.98  92.87 

Net Stage 1 Assets  40,489.15  55,023.05  6,499.45 

ECL Prov. Coverage 1.84% 0.71% 1.41%

Gross Stage 2 (30>DPD< 90 days) Under 
performing assets increase in credit risk and 
Lifetime ECL

 9,071.44  180.43  3,802.05 

Less : Impairment loss allowance  976.12  1.75  35.64 

Net Stage 2 Assets  8,095.32  178.68  3,766.41 

ECL Prov. Coverage 10.76% 0.97% 0.94%

Gross Stage 3 (DPD>90) Non-performing assets  
credit impaired and lifetime ECL

 -    -    -   

Less : Impairment loss allowance  -    -    -   

Net Stage 3 Assets  -    -    -   

ECL Prov. Coverage  -    -    -   

Total Loans & Advances  50,318.18  55,596.46  10,394.37 

Less : Impairment loss allowance  1,733.71  394.73  128.51 

Net Loans & Advances  48,584.47  55,201.73  10,265.86 

ECL Provision Coverage 3.45% 0.71% 1.24%

	
	 Credit impairment charge to the income statement

Particulars
For the year ended  
31st March 2020

For the year ended 
31st March 2019

New and increased provisions (incl. write off)  1,338.98  266.22 

Write-backs of specific provisions  -    -   

Recoveries of specific provisions  -    -   

Total charge to the income statement  1,338.98  266.22 

	 Write-offs still under enforcement activity			 
	 The contractual amount outstanding on loans and advances that were written off during the year ended March 2020, 

and are still subject to enforcement activity was Nil.

Notes to Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 2020
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c)	 Movement in Gross Exposures and credit impairment for loans and advances			 

	 The Company uses ‘Expected Credit Loss’ (ECL) model, for evaluating impairment of Financial Assets measured at 
amortised cost or FVTOCI. Company follows a ‘three-stage’ model for impairment based on changes in credit quality 
since initial recognition. Please refer to the accounting policy for details.

Movement in Gross Exposure to  
Loans & Advances

Movement in ECL

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Balance as at April 1, 2018  6,592.32 3,802.05  -   10,394.37  92.87  35.64  -    128.51 

Changes due to financial assets 
recognised in opening balance that 
have: 

- - - - - - -

- Transferred to 12 month ECL 666.67  (666.67)  -    -    2.91  (2.91) -  -   

- Transferred to lifetime ECL 
-significant increase in credit risk

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

- Transferred to lifetime ECL credit 
– impaired 

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Increase due to financial assets 
originated

 49,257.04  -    -    49,257.04  302.66  -    -    302.66 

Decrease due to loans derecognised 
on full payment

 (1,100.00) (2,954.95)  -    (4,054.95)  (5.47)  (30.98)  -    (36.45)

Net remeasurement (Due to recovery 
on regular basis changes in rating, 
changes in security value etc.)

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Amounts written off during the year  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Balance as at March 31, 2019 55,416.03  180.43  -   55,596.46 392.97  1.75  -    394.72 

Changes due to financial assets 
recognised in opening balance that 
have: 

- - - - - - - -

- Transferred to 12 month ECL  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

- Transferred to lifetime ECL 
-significant increase in credit risk

 (5,828.90)  5,828.90  -    -    (43.45)  43.45  -    -   

- Transferred to lifetime ECL credit 
– impaired 

 -    -   - -  -    -   -  -   

Increase due to financial assets 
originated

 20,471.48  3,242.54 -  23,714.02  516.78  932.67 -  1,449.45 

Decrease due to loans derecognised 
on full payment

 (28,811.87)  (180.43)  -   (28,992.30) (108.71)  (1.75) -  (110.46)

Net remeasurement (Due to recovery 
on regular basis changes in rating, 
changes in security value etc.)

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Amounts written off during the year  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Balance as at March 31, 2020 41,246.74 9,071.44  -   50,318.18 757.59  976.12  -   1,733.71 
			 
d)	 Collateral and other credit enhancements					   

	 Company would generally have its credit exposures backed by securities, either primary or collateral. Lending Policy 
of the Company prescribes Asset cover norms and collateral guidelines for its various product offering. The amount 
and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty and product offered.

	 Company grants loans against collateral of real estate (Land, Under construction projects, Ready property) including 
commercial and residential properties.

	 As collateral is a source of mitigating credit risk, assessment of the condition of the securities and their value is 
undertaken on regular basis. There were no significant changes in the collateral policy of the company during the 
Financial Year 2019-2020.

	 Company does not have any Credit impaired assets as on March 2020 (March 19 Nil).				 
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e) 	 Credit Concentration	 				  

	 The Company’s loan portfolio is primarily concentrated on real estate, as detailed below.

Particulars
 As at  

31st March 
2020

 As at  
31st March 

2019

As at  
1st April 
 2018

Real Estate 62.60% 57.34% 36.58%

Others 37.40% 42.66% 63.42%

ii)	 Liquidity Risk						    

	 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulties in meeting the obligations associated with 
its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or other financial assets. The Company’s approach to 
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they 
are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the 
Company’s reputation.

	 Company has in place an Asset-Liability Management Committee (ALCO) which functions as the operational unit 
for managing the Balance Sheet within the performance and risk parameters laid down by the Board and Risk 
Committee of the Board. ALCO reviews Asset Liability strategy and Balance Sheet management in relation to asset 
and liability profile. ALCO ensures that the objectives of liquidity management are met by monitoring the gaps in 
the various time buckets, deciding on the source and mix of liabilities, setting the maturity profile of the incremental 
assets and liabilities etc.

	 Key principles adopted in the Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk include:

	 a) 	 Monitoring the Company’s liquidity position on a regular basis, using a combination of contractual and 
behavioural modelling of balance sheet and cash flow information.

	 b) 	 Maintaining a high quality liquid asset portfolio or maintaining undrawn bank lines.

	 c) 	 Operating a prudent funding strategy which ensures appropriate diversification and limits maturity 
concentrations.						   

	 The Company’s principal sources of liquidity are cash and cash equivalents, liquid asset portfolio like Mutual funds 
and the cash flow that is generated from operation.						    

	 The following are the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities at the reporting date. The amounts are 
gross and undiscounted, and include interest accrued till the reporting date.

 As at  
31st March 2020

Contractual cash flows
Total Upto 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years More than 5 years

Borrowings (Includes Interest 
accrued but not due)

 7,703.86  5,095.53  2,584.76  23.57  -   

Debt Securities (Includes Interest 
accrued but not due)

 4,077.70  77.70  4,000.00 - -

Trade and Other Payables  75.01  75.01  -    -    -   

Other Financial Liabilities  947.57  449.63  497.94  -   

 12,804.14  5,697.87  7,082.70  23.57  -   
			 

As at  
31st March 2019

Contractual cash flows
Total Upto 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years More than 5 years

Borrowings (Includes Interest 
accrued but not due)

 13,435.33  5,789.79  7,645.54  -    -   

Trade and Other Payables  98.27  98.27  -    -    -   

Other Financial Liabilities  1,382.34  475.48  906.86  -    -   

 14,915.94  6,363.54  8,552.40  -    -   
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As at  
1st April 2018

Contractual cash flows
Total Upto 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years More than 5 years

Borrowings (Includes Interest 
accrued but not due)

 1,105.32  1,105.32  -    -    -   

Trade and Other Payables  33.60  33.60  -    -    -   

Other Financial Liabilities  2,463.35  560.68  1,404.73  497.94  -   

 3,602.27  1,699.60  1,404.73  497.94  -   

iii)	 Market Risk 	 					   

	 Market risk represents the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to 
changes in market variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices.

iv)	 Interest rate risk						    

	 Company has exposure to interest rate risk, primarily from its lending business and related borrowings. The following 
table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates (all other variables being constant) 
of the Company’s Statement of Profit and Loss.

% Increase in rate Increase/(decrease) in profit
31st March 

2020
31st March 

2019
31st March 

2020
31st March 

2019

Borrowings that are re-priced 0.25% 0.25%  (19.11)  (31.70)

Loans that are re-priced 0.25% 0.25%  125.80  138.99 

	 Interest rate risk is managed primarily by monitoring the sensitivity of expected net interest income (‘NII’) under 
varying interest rate scenarios. This monitoring is undertaken by ALCO on regular basis. The NII sensitivities shown 
are indicative and based on simplified scenarios.						    

44	 Financial Instruments	 					   

	 i) 	 Accounting classification and fair values							     

	 The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial instruments (excluding investment in 
subsidiaries), including their levels in the fair value hierarchy. The company has disclosed financial instruments not 
measured at fair value at carrying values because their carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of the fair 
values.

 As at  
31st March 2020

Carrying Amount Fair value hierarchy

FVTPL Amortised 
Cost

Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  -    3,259.29  3,259.29  -    -    -    -   

Bank balances other than Cash & 
cash equivalents

 -    1.53  1.53  -    -    -    -   

Other receivables  -    19.23  19.23  -    -    -    -   

Loans & advances  -    48,584.47  48,584.47  -    -    -    -   

Others financial assets  -    1,450.02  1,450.02  -    -    -    -   

Total  -    53,314.54 53,314.54  -    -    -    -   
Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables  -    75.01  75.01  -    -    -    -   

Debt Securities  4,000.00  4,000.00 

Borrowings  -    7,645.54  7,645.54  -    -    -    -   

Other financial liabilities  -    1,083.59  1,083.59  -    -    -    -   

Total  -    12,804.14 12,804.14  -    -    -    -   
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 As at  
31st March 2019

Carrying Amount Fair value hierarchy

FVTPL Amortised 
Cost

Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  -    2,492.58  2,492.58  -    -    -    -   

Bank balances other than Cash & 
cash equivalents

 -    126.53  126.53  -    -    -    -   

Loans & advances  -    55,201.73  55,201.73  -    -    -    -   

Others financial assets  -    1,363.97  1,363.97  -    -    -    -   

Total  -    59,184.81 59,184.81  -    -    -    -   

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables  -    98.27  98.27  -    -    -    -   

Borrowings  -    12,679.69  12,679.69  -    -    -    -   

Deposits  550.00  550.00 

Other financial liabilities  -    1,587.98  1,587.98  -    -    -    -   

Total  -    14,915.94 14,915.94  -    -    -    -   

As at  
1st April 2018

Carrying Amount Fair value hierarchy

FVTPL Amortised 
Cost

Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  -    25.66  25.66  -    -    -    -   

Bank balances other than Cash & 
cash equivalents

 -    1,650.00  1,650.00  -    -    -    -   

Other receivables  -    32.40  32.40  -    -    -    -   

Loans & advances  -    10,265.86  10,265.86  -    -    -    -   

Others financial assets  -    356.24  356.24  -    -    -    -   

Total  -   12,330.16 12,330.16  -    -    -    -   
Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables  -    33.60  33.60  -    -    -    -   

Borrowings  -    1,105.32  1,105.32  -    -    -    -   

Deposits  -    700.00  700.00 

Other financial liabilities  -    1,763.34  1,763.34  -    -    -    -   

Total  -    3,602.26 3,602.26  -    -    -    -   
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45	 Ind AS 101 - First Time adoption of Indian Accounting Standards:

	 The Company has transitioned its basis of accounting to Ind AS from Previous GAAP (the erstwhile Accounting 
Standards notified under the Act, read with relevant rules issued thereunder). These are the Company’s first financial 
statements prepared in accordance with Ind AS. The Company has adopted all the Ind AS and the adoption was 
carried out in accordance with Ind AS 101 First time adoption of Indian Accounting Standards. Accordingly, the 
Significant Accounting Policies set out in Note No 1, have been applied consistently to all the periods presented in 
the financial statements, including comparative information presented in the financial statements for the year ended 
March 31, 2019 and the  opening Ind AS Balance Sheet as at April 1, 2018.

	 In preparing these Ind AS Financial Statements, the Company has also availed certain exemptions and exceptions 
in accordance with Ind AS 101, as explained below. The resulting difference between the carrying values of the 
assets and liabilities in the financial statements as at the transition date under Ind AS and Previous GAAP have been 
recognised directly in equity (retained earnings or another appropriate category of equity). This note explains the 
adjustments made by the Company in restating its Previous GAAP financial statements, including the Balance Sheet 
as at April 1, 2018 and the subsequent financial statements.						    

	 Optional Exemptions from retrospective application							     

	 Ind AS 101 allows first time adopters certain exemptions from retrospective application of certain requirements 
under Ind AS. The Company has elected to apply the following optional exemptions from retrospective application 
of Ind AS:

	 a)	 Deemed cost for Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets

		  The Company has elected to measure all its property plant and equipment and intangible assets at the Previous 
GAAP carrying amount as its deemed cost on the date of transition to Ind AS.

	 b)	 Investments in subsidiaries						    

		  The Company has elected to measure its investments in subsidiaries at the Previous GAAP carrying amount 
as its deemed cost on the date of transition to Ind AS.	

	 The company has prepared opening Balance Sheet as per Ind AS as of April 01, 2018 (transition date) by recognising 
all assets and liabilities whose recognition is required by Ind AS, derecognising items of assets or liabilities which 
are not permitted to be recognised by Ind AS, reclassifying items from Previous GAAP to Ind AS as required, and 
applying Ind AS to measure the recognised assets and liabilities.	

	 Reconciliation of balance sheet (including equity) as previously reported under IGAAP to Ind AS

As at 1st April 2018 As at 31st March 2019

Previous 
GAAP

Adjustment Ind AS Previous 
GAAP

Adjustment Ind AS

ASSETS

1. Financial Assets

(a) Cash & cash equivalents  25.66  -    25.66  2,494.11  (1.53)  2,492.58 

(b) Bank balances other than Cash & 
cash equivalents

 1,650.00  -    1,650.00  125.00  1.53  126.53 

(c) Receivables

- Other Receivables  32.40  -    32.40  -    -    -   

(d) Loans (refer note i and ii) 10,352.80  (86.94) 10,265.86 55,371.98  (170.24)  55,201.73 

(e) Investments  1,504.00  -    1,504.00 4,536.00  -    4,536.00 

(f) Other financial assets (refer note 
v and vii)

 399.70  (43.46)  356.24 1,547.64  (37.66)  1,363.97 
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As at 1st April 2018 As at 31st March 2019

Previous 
GAAP

Adjustment Ind AS Previous 
GAAP

Adjustment Ind AS

2. Non-financial Assets

(a) Current tax assets(net)  126.35  -    126.35  65.74  -    65.74 

(b) Deferred tax asset (net) (refer 
note ix)

 28.04  18.85  46.89  292.21  (13.39)  278.83 

(c) Property, plant and equipment  829.98  -    829.98  1,336.00  -    1,336.00 

(d) Intangible assets  2.37  -    2.37  3.99  -    3.99 

(e) Capital work in progress  235.22  -    235.22  84.53  -    84.53 

(f) Right of use assets (refer note vii)  -    1,622.34  1,622.34  -    1,197.73  1197.73

(g) Other non-financial assets (refer 
note v)

 216.55  2.82  219.36  171.43  1.84  319.28 

Total Assets  15,403.06  1,513.61 16,916.67 66,028.63  978.28  67,006.91 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

LIABILITIES

1. Financial Liabilities

Payables

(i) Trade Payables

total outstanding dues of micro 
enterprises and small enterprises

 -    -    -    7.82  -    7.82 

total outstanding dues of creditors 
other than micro enterprises and 
small enterprises

 33.60  -    33.60  90.45  -    90.45 

(ii) Other Payables

total outstanding dues of micro 
enterprises and small enterprises

 -    -    -    -    -    -   

total outstanding dues of creditors 
other than micro enterprises and 
small enterprises

 -    -    -    -    -    -   

(b) Borrowings  1,105.32  -    1,105.32  12,679.69  -    12,679.69 

(c) Deposits  700.00  -    700.00  550.00  -    550.00 

(d) Other financial liabilities (refer 
note vii)

 78.19  1,685.15  1,763.34  290.57  1,297.41  1,587.98 

2. Non-Financial Liabilities

(a) Current tax liabilities (net)  -    -    -    43.56  -    43.56 

(b) Provisions  12.53  0.01  12.54  272.19  -    272.19 

(c) Other non-financial liabilities  283.23  (60.35)  222.88  604.02  (48.33)  555.69 

EQUITY

(a) Equity share capital  350.27  -    350.27  7,773.43  -    7,773.43 

(b) Other equity  12,839.92  (111.20) 12,728.72  43,716.90  (270.79)  43,446.10 

Total Liabilities and Equity  15,403.06  1,513.61 16,916.67 66,028.63  978.29  67,006.91 
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	 Reconciliation Statement of Profit and Loss as previously reported under IGAAP to Ind AS	 	

For the year ended 31st March 2019
Previous 
GAAP

Adjustment Ind AS

1 Revenue from operations :

Interest income (refer note i)  4,645.84  16.54  4,662.38 

Fees  and commission income  724.44  -    724.44 

Net gain on fair value changes  251.39  -    251.39 

Total revenue from operations  5,621.66  16.54  5,638.20 

Other income (refer note vii)  4.65  46.29  50.94 

Total income  5,626.32  62.83  5,689.14 

2 Expenses :

Finance costs (refer note iv and vii)  780.81  149.87  930.68 

Impairment of financial instruments (refer note ii)  182.91  83.31  266.22 

Employee benefits expenses (refer note viii)  1,725.76  (260.65)  1,465.10 

Depreciation and amortization (refer note v and vii)  289.57  434.75  724.33 

Others expenses (refer note vii)  1,190.92  (479.32)  711.61 

Total expenses  4,169.97  (72.05)  4,097.93 

3 Profit/(loss) before tax  1,456.35  134.87  1,591.21 
4 Tax Expense:

Current Tax  700.98  -    700.98 

Deferred Tax(Credit) (refer note ix)  (264.17)  34.33  (229.85)

Total Tax expense  436.81  34.33  471.13 

5 Profit / (loss) for the period from continuing operations  1,019.54  100.54  1,120.09 
6 Other Comprehensive Income

(i) Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

 - Remeasurement gain/(loss) on Defined benefit plan (refer note vi)  -    (7.17)  (7.17)

(ii) Income Tax  relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or 
loss

 -    2.09  2.09 

Other Comprehensive Income  -    (5.08)  (5.08)

7 Total Comprehensive Income for the period  1,019.54  95.46  1,115.00 

	 Transition to Ind AS - Reconciliations
	 Reconciliation of Equity 					   

Particulars
As at  

31st March 2019
As at  

1st April 2018
Total Equity as per IGAAP  51,490.32  13,190.19 
Adjustment made during the transition to IND AS

a) Ind as 116 Adjustment (refer note vii)  (83.74)  (42.18)

b) ECL Adjustment on Financial instruments measured at 
Amortized cost (ii)

 (170.24)  (86.94)

c) Others (including taxes)  (16.82)  17.92 

Total Impact due to Ind AS transition on April 1, 2018  (270.80)  (111.20)
Total Equity as per Ind AS as at 1st April, 2018  51,219.53  13,078.99 
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	 Statement of reconciliation of cash flow statement under Ind AS and cash flow statement reported under Previous 
GAAP					   

Particulars Previous GAAP Adjustment Ind AS
Net cash used in operating activities (A) (refer note vii)  (44,909.76)  (491.34)  (44,418.42)

Net cash used in investing activities (B)  (3,803.41)  1.53  (3,804.94)
Net cash generated from financing activities (C)(refer 
note vii)

 49,531.62  491.34  49,040.28 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C)  818.45  1.53  816.93 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  1,675.66  -    1,675.66 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  2,494.11  1.53  2,492.58 

	 An explanation of how the transition from previous GAAP to Ind AS has affected the Company’s financial 
position, financial performance and cash flows is set out in the following notes and tables.

i)	 Effective interest rate (EIR) method : 							    

	 Previous GAAP did not require loans to be recorded using the EIR method. Under Ind AS, the EIR method calculates 
the amortised cost of a financial instrument and allocated such interest over the relevant period. The EIR is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows (including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of 
the EIR, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the instrument, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

ii)	 Expected credit loss (ECL) :							     

	 Previous GAAP provisions for credit losses were primarily based on RBI guidelines. Under Ind AS, the ECL allowance 
is based on the credit losses expected to arise from all possible default events over the expected life of the financial 
assets (‘life time ECL’), unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which case, 
the allowance is based on the 12-month ECL.			 

iii)	 Income recognition on credit-impaired loans :							    

	 RBI guidelines required income on NPAs to be reversed. Under Ind AS, income continues to be recognised on credit 
impaired loans, by applying the effective interest rate to the net amortised cost of loans (i.e. net of allowance for loan 
losses)				  

iv)	 Borrowing costs :	 						    

	 Previous GAAP did not require amortised cost accounting for liabilities. Under Ind AS, the Company determines the 
effective interest rate of its borrowings and records interest expense on that basis.				  

v)	 Security deposits :							     

	 Previous GAAP did not require the fair valuation of financial instruments at initial recognition. Under Ind AS, the 
Company records security deposits provided to landlords at time value of money, with corresponding adjustments to 
interest income and depreciation.				  

vi)	 Employee defined benefit plans :							     

	 Previous GAAP required actuarial experience adjustments relating to defined benefit plans, i.e. gratuity to be 
recorded in the profit and loss account. By contrast, under Ind AS, the Company records such adjustments in OCI.	

vii)	 Lease Rent :	 						    

	 Previous GAAP as well as Ind AS 17 require to classify lease as finance lease and operating lease and for operating 
leases, lessee is required to recognise the lease payments as an expense (Lease rent) on a straight line basis.	

	 Ind AS 116 introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for 
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all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee is required to 
recognise a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying leased asset and a lease liability representing 
its obligation to make lease payments.							     

	 Under Ind AS 116, a lessee measures right-of-use assets similarly to other non-financial assets (such as property, 
plant and equipment) and lease liabilities similarly to other financial liabilities. As a consequence, a lessee recognizes 
depreciation of the right-of-use asset and interest on the lease liability, and also classifies cash repayments of the 
lease liability into a principal portion and an interest portion and presents them in the statement of cash flows 
applying Ind AS 7, Statement of Cash Flows.			 

viii)	 Share-based payment transactions :							     

	 Under Previous GAAP, the Company recorded its ESOP grants at intrinsic value while under Ind AS, the grants are 
recorded at fair value.						   

ix)	 Deferred tax :							     

	 Deferred tax effect of all adjustments has been recognised on transition date and during the year ended 31 March 
2019				  

x)	 Ind AS 101 exemptions :							     

	 The company has used certain available exemptions under Ind AS 101 for first-time adoption, and accordingly has 
retained the accounting under Previous GAAP for transactions that occurred prior to the Ind AS transition date. 
These optional exemptions relate to property plant and equipment, intangible assets, investment in subsidiaries.	

xi)	 Cash flow statement :	 						    

	 There are no significant differences in the principles used for presenting cash flows between the previous GAAP and 
Ind AS.		

46	 Disclosure Pursuant to RBI Notification no RBI/2019-20/170 DOR (NBFC).CC.PD.
No.109/22.10.106/2019-20					   

Asset Classification as per RBI Norms Asset 
classification 
as per Ind AS 

109

Gross 
Carrying 

Amount as 
per Ind AS

Loss Allowances 
(Provisions) as 
required under 

Ind AS 109

Net Carrying 
Amount

Provisions 
required as per 
IRACP norms

Difference 
between Ind AS 
109 provisions 

and IRACP 
norms

1 2 3 4 (5=3-4) 6 (7=4-6)

Performing assets

Standard Stage 1  41,246.74  757.59  40,489.15  164.99  592.60 

Stage 2  9,071.44  976.12  8,095.32  109.37  866.75 

Subtotal  50,318.18  1,733.71  48,584.47  274.36  1,459.35 

Non-Performing Assets (NPA)

Substandard Stage 3  -    -    -    -    -   

Doubtful - up to 1 year Stage 3  -    -    -    -   

1 to 3 years Stage 3  -    -    -    -   

More than 3 years Stage 3  -    -    -    -   

Subtotal for doubtful  -    -    -    -    -   

Loss  -    -   

Subtotal for NPA  -    -    -    -    -   
Other items such as guarantees, loan 
commitments, etc. which are in the 
scope of Ind AS 109 but not covered 
under current Income Recognition, Asset 
Classification and Provisioning (IRACP) 
norms

Stage 1  -    -    -    -    -   

Stage 2  -    -    -    -    -   

Stage 3  -    -    -    -    -   

Subtotal  -    -    -    -    -   

Total

Stage 1  41,246.74  757.59  40,489.15  164.99  592.60 

Stage 2  9,071.44  976.12  8,095.32  109.37  866.75 

Stage 3  -    -    -    -    -   

Total  50,318.18  1,733.71  48,584.47  274.36  1,459.35 
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47	 Additional Disclosures as per the guidelines issued by the Reserve Bank of India in respect of Non Banking 
Financial (Non deposit accepting or holding) Systemically Important (NBFC-ND-SI) is as under:

	 The disclosure are based on the Ind AS Financials. Accordingly, the corresponding comparative for the previous year 
have been restated, in order to confirm to current period presentation.

a. 	 Capital funds, risk assets/ exposure and risk asset ratio (CRAR) 			 

Particulars
As at  

31st March 2020
As at  

31st March 2019
1 CRAR (%) 80.35% 81.22%

2 CRAR - Tier I capital (%) 79.13% 80.86%

3 CRAR - Tier II Capital (%) 1.22% 0.36%

4 Amount of subordinated debt raised as Tier-II capital  -    -   
5 Amount raised by issued of Perpetual Debt Instruments  -    -   

b.	 Investments		  (Amount in Rs. crore)

S.No Particulars
As at  

31st March 2020
As at  

31st March 2019
1 Particulars

Value of investments

(i) Gross value of investments  111.51  45.36 

(a) in India  -    -   
(a) outside India

(ii) Provision for depreciation  -    -   
(a) in India  -    -   
(a) outside India

(iii) Net value of investments  111.51  45.36 
(a) in India  -    -   

2 (a) outside India

Movement of provisions held towards depreciation on 
investments

 -    -   

(i) Opening balance  -    -   
(ii) Add : Provisions made during the year  -    -   
(iii) Less : Write-off/ write-back of excess provision during 
the year

 -    -   

(i) Closing balance

c.	 Derivatives			

	 The Company has no transactions / exposure in derivatives in the current year.			 

d.	 Disclosures relating to Securitisation			 

	� The Company has not entered in securitisation transaction during the year and had no outstanding securitisation 
transactions for earlier years.			 

e.	� Details of Financial Assets sold to Securitisation / Reconstruction Company for Asset Reconstruction	

	� The Company has not sold any financial asset to securitisation / reconstruction company for asset reconstruction in 
the current year.			 

f.	 Details of Assignment transactions 			 

	 The Company has not undertaken any assignment transactions in the current year.	
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g.	� Details of non-performing financial assets purchase / sold			 

	 The Company has not purchased / sold any non-performing financial assets in the current year.

h.	 Exposure			 

	 i.   Exposure to Real Estate Sector			 
(Amount in Rs. crore)

Sr.No
Particulars

As at  
31st March 2020

As at  
31st March 2019

a) Direct exposure

(i) Residential Mortgages -

Lending fully secured by mortgages on residential 
property that is or will be occupied by the borrower or 
that is rented

 2.35  11.60 

(ii) Commercial Real Estate -

Lending secured by mortgages on commercial real 
estates (office buildings, retail space, multipurpose 
commercial premises, multi-family residential buildings, 
multi-tenanted commercial premises, industrial or 
warehouse space, hotels, land acquisition, development 
& construction etc.). Exposure would also include non-
fund based (NFB) limits;

 299.40  299.69 

(iii) Investments in Mortgage Backed Securities (MBS) and 
other securitised exposures -

1 Residential,  -    -   

2 Commercial Real Estate.  -    -   

Total Exposure to Real Estate Sector  301.75  311.29 

	 ii. Exposure to Capital Market	 (Amount in Rs. crore)

Sr. 
No

Particulars
As at  

31st March 
2020

As at  
31st March 

2019
(i) direct investment in equity shares, convertible bonds, convertible debentures and 

units of equity-oriented mutual funds the corpus of which is not exclusively invested 
in corporate debt;

 -    -   

(ii) advances against shares / bonds / debentures or other securities or on clean basis 
to individuals for investment in shares (including IPOs / ESOPs), convertible bonds, 
convertible debentures, and units of equity-oriented mutual funds;

 -    -   

(iii) advances for any other purposes where shares or convertible bonds or convertible 
debentures or units of equity oriented mutual funds are taken as primary security;

 -    -   

(iv) advances for any other purposes to the extent secured by the collateral security of 
shares or convertible bonds or convertible debentures or units of equity oriented 
mutual funds i.e. where the primary security other than shares / convertible bonds 
/ convertible debentures / units of equity oriented mutual funds does not fully cover 
the advances;

 -    -   

(v) secured and unsecured advances to stockbrokers and guarantees issued on behalf 
of stockbrokers and market makers;

 -    -   

(vi) loans sanctioned to corporates against the security of shares / bonds / debentures 
or other securities or on clean basis for meeting promoter's contribution to the 
equity of new companies in anticipation of raising resources;

 -    -   

(vii) bridge loans to companies against expected equity flows / issues;  -    -   

(viii) all exposures to Venture Capital Funds (both registered and unregistered)  -    -   

Total Exposure to Capital Market  -    -   
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i.	 Details of financing of parent company products 			 

	 Not Applicable					   

j	 Details of Single Borrower Limit (SGL) / Group Borrower Limit (GBL) exceeded by the NBFC 	

	 The Company has not lent/ invested/ lent and invested in Single Borrower / Single Group of Borrowers in 
excess of limits prescribed by the RBI.			 

k.	 Unsecured Advances			 

	 Refer Note 6 for unsecured advances. The Company has not given any unsecured advances against the rights, 
licenses, authorisations etc.			 

l.	 Registration obtained from other financial sector regulators			 

	 The Company is not registered with any financial sector regulators except with the RBI.	 	

m	 Disclosure of Penalties imposed by RBI and other regulators			 

	 No penalties were imposed by the RBI and other regulators during current year.	 			 

n	 Provisions and contingencies (shown under the head expenditure in Statement of Profit and Loss):		
					   

(Amount in Rs. crore)

Sr.No Particulars 31st March 2020 31st March 2019
(i) Provision made towards income tax  14.40  7.01 

(ii) Provision for impairment of financial assets  13.39  2.66 

o.	 Draw Down from Reserves			 

	 There has been no draw down from reserves during the current year.		

p.	 Concentration of Advances, Exposures and NPAs					   

	 i)  Concentration of Advances	 (Amount in Rs. crore)

Particulars
31st March 2020 31st March 2019

Total Advances to twenty largest borrowers  438.23  484.75 

Percentage of Advances to twenty largest borrowers to Total 
Advances 

87.09% 87.19%

	 ii)  Concentration of Exposures	 (Amount in Rs. crore)

Particulars 31st March 2020 31st March 2019
Total Exposures to twenty largest borrowers / customers  449.71  484.75 

Percentage of Exposures to twenty largest borrowers / customers to 
Total Exposure on borrowers / customers

87.38% 86.37%

	 iii) Concentration of NPAs 	 (Amount in Rs. crore)

Particulars
31st March 

2020
31st March 

2019
Total of Exposures to top four NPA accounts*	  -    -   

	 * there are no account classified as NPA as on 31st March 2020			 

Notes to Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March 2020



Annual Report 2019-20 |  131

	 iv) Sector-wise NPAs (% of NPA to Total Advances in that sector)	 (Amount in Rs. crore)

Particulars
31st March 2020 31st March 2019

Agriculture & allied activities  -    -   

MSME  -    -   
Corporate borrowers  -    -   
Services  -    -   
Unsecured personal loans  -    -   
Auto loans  -    -   
Other personal loans  -    -   

	 v) Movement of NPAs		  (Amount in Rs. crore)

Particulars 31st March 2020 31st March 2019
(i) Net NPAs to Net Advances (%)  -    -   
(ii) Movement of NPAs (Gross):
(a) Opening balance  -    -   

(b) Additions during the year  10.66  -   

(c) Reductions during the year  10.66  -   

(d) Closing balance  -    -   
(iii) Movement of Net NPAs
(a) Opening balance  -    -   

(b) Additions during the year  9.56  -   

(c) Reductions during the year  9.56  -   

(d) Closing balance  -    -   
(iv) Movement of provisions for NPAs (excluding provisions on 

standard assets)
(a) Opening balance  -    -   

(b) Provisions made during the year  1.10  -   

(c) Write-off / write-back of excess provisions  1.10  -   

(d) Closing balance  -    -   

q.	 Overseas Assets (for those with Joint Ventures and Subsidiaries abroad)			
	 The Company has not invested in overseas assets in the current and previous year. There are no outstanding 

investments from earlier years.			

r.	 Off-balance Sheet SPVs sponsored by the Company			 
	 The Company has no off-balance sheet SPV in the current year.			 

s.	 Disclosure of Complaints			 
	 The Company has not received any complaints in the current year.

t.	 Ratings assigned by credit rating agencies and migration of ratings during the year

S.No. Instruments Credit Rating Agency As on 31st March 2020 As on 31st March 2019

1 Long Term Instruments �Acuite Ratings & Research Limited	 ACUITE A- (Stable) ACUITE A- (Stable)
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u.	 Statement on Asset Liability Management

	 Maturity pattern of certain items of assets and liabilities as at 31st March 2020	 (Amount in Rs. crore)

S.No Item Up to 30/ 
31 days

Over 1 
month to 
2 months

Over 2 
months  
upto 3 
months

Over 3 
months  

to 6 months

Over 6 
months  

to 1 year

Over 1 
year  

to 3 years

Over 3 
years   

to 5 years

Over 5 
years

Total

1 Deposits  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

2 Advances  5.59  10.33  48.80  66.49  118.32  238.22  4.81  10.62  503.18 

3 Investments  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    111.51  111.51 

4 Debt securities  -    -    -    -    -    40.00  -    -    40.00 

5 Borrowings  0.03  12.53  0.03  12.59  25.19  25.85  0.24  -    76.46 

6 Foreign Currency 
assets

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

7 Foreign Currency 
liabilities

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

	 Maturity pattern of certain items of assets and liabilities as at 31st March 2019

S.No Item Up to 30 / 
31 days

Over 1 
month to 
2 months

Over 2 
months  
upto 3 
months

Over 3 
months  

to 6 months

Over 6 
months  

to 1 year

Over 1 
year  

to 3 years

Over 3 
years   

to 5 years

Over 5 
years

Total

1 Deposits  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

2 Advances  73.85  2.19  5.61  61.94  111.84  268.05  21.92  10.56  555.96 

3 Investments  -    -    -    -    -    -    5.25  40.11  45.36 

4 Borrowings  0.03  12.53  0.03  12.58  25.17  81.72  0.24  -    132.30 

5 Foreign Currency 
assets

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

6 Foreign Currency 
liabilities

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

			 

v. 	 Restructured advances									       
	 There are no restructured advance as on 31st March 2020, hence disclosure of information as required in terms of 

Para 24 of Non-Banking Financial Company - Systemically Important Non-Deposit taking Company and Deposit 
taking Company (RBI guidelines) is not required.

 w. 	 Fraud Reporting	 								      
	 As required by the Chapter II paragraph 5 for Monitoring of frauds in NBFCs (RBI guidelines), the details of frauds 

noticed / reported are as below:

Particulars
Year ended                 

31st March 2020
Year ended                 

31st March 2019

Amount Involved  -    -   

Amount Recovered  -    -   

Amount written off/provided  -    -   

Balance  -    -   
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48	 The outbreak of COVID 19 pandemic and consequent lockdown has severely impacted business and operations 
of the Company since the last week of March 2020. In terms of the policy approved by the Board of directors 
pursuant to Reserve Bank of India (RBI) Circular dated March 27, 2020 and April 17, 2020 relating to ‘COVID-19 
– Regulatory Package’, the Company has granted EMI moratorium to eligible borrowers for a period upto 3 months 
with regards to the payment falling due between March 1, 2020 and May 31, 2020. Further, in relation to the 
accounts overdue but standard as at February 29, 2020 where moratorium benefit has been extended in terms of 
aforesaid RBI guidelines, the staging of those accounts at  March 31 2020 is based on the days past due status 
as on February 29, 2020. Based on an assessment by the Company, this relaxation has not been deemed to be 
automatically triggering significant increase in credit risk.  On May 22, 2020, the RBI has announced extension of 
the Moratorium Period by further three months which is currently under evaluation by the Company.

	 In relation to COVID-19, judgments and assumptions include the extent and duration of the pandemic, the impacts 
of actions of governments and other authorities, and the responses of businesses and consumers in different 
industries. While the methodologies and assumptions applied in the impairment loss allowance calculations remained 
unchanged from those applied prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company has separately incorporated 
estimates, assumptions and judgments specific to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic based on early indicators 
of moratorium and delayed payments metrics observed along with an estimation of potential stress on probability 
of defaults and exposure at defaults. Accordingly, the Company has measured additional impairment loss allowance 
and recognised a total provision towards expected credit losses of Rs. 1733.71 lakhs as at March 2020. The extent 
to which the COVID-19 pandemic will impact the Company’s impairment loss allowance on assets and future results 
will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and the Company will continue to closely monitor 
the same.			 

49	 The Financial Statements have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and approved by the Board of Directors at 
its meeting held on 1st June, 2020.

50	 There have been no events after the reporting date that require disclosure in these financial statements.

For Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP	 For and on behalf of the board	
Chartered Accountants	 Capital India Finance Limited	
Firm Registration No. :117366W/W -100018				  
						    
Rukshad N. Daruvala	 Keshav Porwal	 Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha
Partner	 Managing Director	 Executive Director & CEO
Membership No.: 111188	 DIN : 06706341	 DIN : 07869849
Place: Mumbai	 Place: Mumbai	 Place: Mumbai
Date: 1st June 2020	 Date: 1st June 2020	 Date: 1st June 2020

	 Neeraj Toshniwal	 Rachit Malhotra
	 Chief Financial Officer	 Company Secretary 
	 Place: Mumbai	 Place: New Delhi
	 Date: 1st June 2020	 Date: 1st June 2020
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[Schedule to the Balance Sheet of a Non Banking Financial Company as required in terms of paragraph 18 
of Non-Banking Financial Company - Systemically Important Non-Deposit taking Company (Reserve Bank) 
Directions, 2016]

LIABILITIES SIDE

1 Loans and advances availed by the NBFC inclusive of interest 
accrued thereon but not paid:

Amount 
Outstanding

Amount 
Overdue

a. Debentures (other than falling within the meaning of public deposits)

  - Secured  -    -   

  - Unsecured  4,000.00  -   

b. Deferred Credits  -    -   

c. Term Loans  7,645.54  -   

d. Inter-corporate loans and borrowings  -    -   

e. Commercial Paper  -    -   

f. Public Deposits (Refer note 1 below)  -    -   

g. Other Loans  -    -   

ASSET SIDE
2 Break up of Loans and Advances including bills receivables [other 

than those included in(4) below]:
Amount 

Outstanding
(a) Secured  45,183.20 

(b) Unsecured  5,134.98 

3 Break up of Leased Assets and stocks on hire and other assets 
counting towards AFC activities

Amount 
Outstanding

i. Lease Assets including lease rentals under sundry debtors:

a.  Finance Lease  -   

b.  Operating Lease  -   

ii. Stocks on hire including hire charges under sundry debtors:  -   

a.  Assets on hire  -   

b.  Repossessed Assets  -   

iii. Other Loans counting towards AFC activities:  -   

a.  Loans where assets have been repossessed  -   

b.  Loans other than (a) above  -   
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4 Break up of Investments:	 Amount
Current Investments
1. Quoted  -   

       i.  Shares - Equity  -   

         - Preference  -   

      ii.  Debentures and Bonds  -   

   iii.  Units of mutual funds  -   

   iv.  Government Securities  -   

   v.   Others

2. Unquoted
    i. Shares - Equity  -   
       - Preference  -   
   ii. Debentures and Bonds  -   

  iii. Units of mutual funds  -   

  iv. Government Securities  - 
  v. Others  -  

Long Term Investments
1. Quoted  -   

i. Shares - Equity  -   

         - Preference  -   

ii. Debentures and Bonds  -   

iii. Units of mutual funds  -   

iv. Government Securities  -   

v. Others  -   

2. Unquoted
i. Shares - Equity  11,150.51 

         - Preference  -   
ii. Debentures and Bonds  -   

iii. Units of mutual funds  -   

iv. Government Securities  - 
v. Others  -  

5	 Borrower group-wise classification of all leased assets, stock on hire and loans and advances (Refer note 2 
below):

S.No. Category
Amount net of provision

Secured Unsecured Total

1 Related Parties**

a. Subsidiaries  -    -    -   

b. Companies in the same group  -    -    -   

c. Other related parties  -    -    -   

2 Other than related parties  45,183.20  5,134.98  50,318.18 

Total  45,183.20  5,134.98  50,318.18 
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6	 Investor group-wise classification of all investments (current and long term) in shares and securities (both 
quoted and unquoted): (Refer note 3 below)	 		

Market Value/ 
Break up of fair 
value or NAV

Book Value (Net 
of Provisions)

1 Related Parties**
  a. Subsidiaries  9,417.13  11,150.51 

  b. Companies in the same group  -    -   

  c. Other related parties  -    -   

2 Other than related parties  -    -   

Total  9,417.13  11,150.51 
	
	 **As per Accounting Standard issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (‘ICAI’).

7 Other information Amount
i. Gross Non-Performing Assets

  a. Related Parties  -   

  b. Other than related parties  -   

ii. Net Non-Performing Assets

  a. Related Parties  -   

  b. Other than related parties  -   
iii. Assets acquired in satisfaction of debt  -   

		
	 Notes:
			 
	 1	� As defined in paragraph 2(1)(xii) of the Non-Banking Financial  Companies Acceptance of Public Deposits 

(Reserve Bank) Directions, 1998.			 
					   
	 2	� Provisioning norms shall be applicable as prescribed in the Non-Banking Financial Company - Systemically 

Important Non-Deposit taking Company (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016.			 
				  
	 3	� All Accounting Standards and Guidance Notes issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (‘ICAI’) 

are applicable including for valuation of investments and other assets as also assets acquired in satisfaction of 
debts.  However, market value in respect of quoted investments and break up/ fair value/ NAV in respect of 
unquoted investments should be disclosed irrespective of whether they are classified as long term or current in 
category 4 above.			 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF CAPITAL INDIA FINANCE LIMITED

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Capital India Finance Limited (“the Holding 
Company”) and its subsidiaries, (the Holding Company and its subsidiaries together referred to as “the Group”), which 
comprise the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2020, and the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss 
(including other comprehensive income), the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and the Consolidated Statement 
of Cash Flow for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid consolidated 
financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) in the manner so required and 
give a true and fair view in conformity with the Indian Accounting Standards prescribed under section 133 of the Act read 
with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended (“Ind AS”), and other accounting principles 
generally accepted in India, of the consolidated state of affairs of the Group as at March 31, 2020 and their consolidated 
profit, their consolidated total comprehensive income, their consolidated changes in equity and cash flows for the year 
ended on that date. 

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the Standards on Auditing specified 
under section 143 (10) of the Act (SAs). Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the Auditors’ 
Responsibility for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent  of  the  
Group in  accordance  with  the  Code  of  Ethics  issued  by  the  Institute  of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI) 
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements under the 
provisions of the Act and the Rules made thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements and the ICAI’s Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note 47 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, which describes that the Group has recognised 
impairment on financial assets to reflect the adverse business impact and uncertainties arising from COVID-19 pandemic. 
Such estimates are based on current facts and circumstances and may not necessarily reflect the future uncertainties and 
events arising from the Covid-19 pandemic.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters. We have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in 
our report.
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Sr. 
No.

Key Audit Matter Auditors’ Response

1 Identification of and provisioning for 
expected credit loss (ECL) on loans in 
accordance with the Holding Company’s 
policy 
(Refer Note 2.5 and 6 to the consolidated 
financial statements)

The Holding Company has loans carried at 
amortised cost amounting to Rs. 48,584.47 net 
of provision for ECL Rs. 1,733.71 as at March 
31, 2020.

Identification of and provisioning for ECL on 
loans in accordance with the Holding Company’s 
policy is a key audit matter due to the current 
processes at the Holding Company which 
requires manual interventions, management 
estimates and judgement and other stakeholders 
focus. The most significant judgements are:
 �Timely identification and classification of 

the loans which also include considering the 
impact of recent Reserve Bank of India’s (RBI) 
COVID-19 regulatory circulars.

 �Determining the probability of defaults 
based on comparative external ratings and 
estimation of loss given defaults based on the 
value of collaterals and relevant factors. 

 �Inputs and Judgements used in determination 
of management overlay at various asset stages 
considering the current uncertain economic 
environment with the range of possible effects 
unknown to the country arising out of the 
COVID-19 Pandemic.

Accordingly, our audit was focused on 
identification of and provisioning for ECL on 
loans due to the materiality of the balances and 
associated provision.

Our audit approach included testing the design, operating 
effectiveness of internal controls and substantive audit 
procedures in respect of identification of and provisioning for 
ECL on loans in accordance with the Company’s policy. In 
particular:
 �we have evaluated the Holding Company’s internal control 

system in adhering to the Holding Company’s policy for 
identification of and provisioning for ECL on loans;

 �we have identified and tested the design and implementation 
as well as operational effectiveness of key control pertaining 
to identification, classification and staging of loans in 
correct buckets,  key assumptions used for the purpose of 
determination of impairment provision, completeness and 
accuracy of the data inputs used and monitoring of overdue 
positions by business and finance team;

 �we test checked loans to examine the approval process, validity 
of the recorded amounts, loan documentation, examined the 
statement of accounts, indicators of impairment, expected 
credit loss provision,  additional provisions made on loans 
considering the current uncertain economic environment 
arising out of COVID 19 pandemic and compliance with 
identification of and provisioning for ECL on loans;

 �evaluated the management judgment, governance process 
and review controls and discussed the process and 
assumptions for identification of and provisioning for ECL on 
loans with senior management including the Chief Executive 
Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Head of Credit and Risk.

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon
	 The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of other information. The other 

information comprises the Directors’ Report including annexures to Directors’ Report, Management Discussion and 
Analysis Report and Report on Corporate Governance, but does not include the consolidated financial statements, 
standalone financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.

	 Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

	 In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information, compare with the financial statements of the subsidiaries audited by the other auditors, to the extent it 
relates to these entities and, in doing so, place reliance on the work of the other auditors and consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
during the course of our audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. Other information so far as it relates 
to the subsidiaries, is traced from their financial statements audited by the other auditors. 

	 If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in section  134(5) of the  Act with  respect  
to  the  preparation  of  these  consolidated  financial statements that give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial 
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position, consolidated financial performance (including other comprehensive income), consolidated changes in equity and 
consolidated cash flows of the Group in accordance with the Ind AS and other accounting principles generally accepted 
in India. The respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group are responsible for maintenance of  
adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets of the Group and for 
preventing and detecting frauds  and  other  irregularities;  selection  and  application  of  appropriate accounting  policies;  
making  judgments  and  estimates  that  are  reasonable  and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of 
adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the 
accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the  financial statements that give a true and fair 
view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements by the Directors of the Holding Company, as aforesaid. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the 
Group are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the management either intends 
to liquidate or cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group are also responsible for overseeing the financial 
reporting process of the Group. 

Auditors’ Responsibility for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

	 Obtain an understanding of internal financial control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section  143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible for expressing our 
opinion on whether the Holding Company has adequate internal financial controls system in place and the operating 
effectiveness of such controls.

	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the management.

	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group 
to cease to continue as a going concern.

	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities within the Group to 
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the audit of the financial statements of such entities included in the consolidated financial statements 
of which we are the independent auditors. For the other entities included in the consolidated financial statements, 
which have been audited by the other auditors, such other auditors remain responsible for the direction, supervision 
and performance of the audits carried out by them. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the consolidated financial statements that, individually or in aggregate, 
makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable user of the consolidated financial statements 
may be influenced. We consider quantitative materiality and qualitative factors in (i) planning the scope of our audit work 
and in evaluating the results of our work; and (ii) to evaluate the effect of any identified misstatements in the consolidated 
financial statements.

We communicate with those charged with governance of the Holding Company and such other entities included in the 
consolidated financial statements of which we are the independent auditors regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of 
such communication.

Other Matters

We did not audit the financial statements of 6 subsidiaries, whose financial statements reflect total assets of Rs. 6,460.62 
lakhs as at March 31, 2020, total revenues of Rs. 607.17 lakhs and net cash inflows amounting to Rs. 1,548.38 lakhs for 
the year ended on that date, as considered in the consolidated financial statements. These financial statements have been 
audited by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us by the Management and our opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements, in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of these subsidiaries, and 
our report in terms of subsection (3) of Section 143 of the Act, in so far as it relates to the aforesaid subsidiaries, is based 
solely on the reports of the other auditors.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements above and our report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
below, is not modified in respect of the above matters with respect to our reliance on the work done and the reports of 
the other auditors.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1.	 As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit and on the consideration of the reports of the other 
auditors on the separate financial statements of the subsidiaries referred to in the Other Matters section above we 
report, to the extent applicable that:

	 a)	 We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and 
belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit of the aforesaid consolidated financial statements. 

	 b)	 In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law relating to preparation of the aforesaid consolidated 
financial statements have been kept so far as it appears from our examination of those books and the reports 
of the other auditors.

	 c)	 The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other 
Comprehensive Income), Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and the Consolidated Statement of 
Cash Flow dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the relevant books of account maintained for the 
purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements. 

	 d)	 In  our  opinion,  the  aforesaid  consolidated  financial  statements  comply  with  the  Ind AS specified under 
Section 133 of the Act, as applicable. 

	 e)	 On the basis of the written representations received from the directors of the Holding Company as on March 
31, 2020 taken on record by the Board of Directors of the Company and the reports of the statutory auditors 
of its subsidiary companies incorporated in India, none of the directors of the Group companies incorporated 
in India is disqualified as on March 31, 2020 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164 (2) 
of the Act.
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	 f)	 With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls over  financial reporting and  the  operating  
effectiveness of  such  controls,  refer  to  our  separate  Report  in “Annexure A” which is based on the 
auditors’ reports of the Holding company and subsidiary companies incorporated in India to whom internal 
financial controls over financial reporting is applicable. Our report expresses an unmodified opinion on the 
adequacy and operating effectiveness of internal financial controls over financial reporting of those companies.

	 g)	 With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditors’ Report in accordance with the requirements 
of section 197(16) of the Act, as amended, in our opinion and to the best of our information and according to 
the explanations given to us, the remuneration paid by the Holding Company to its directors during the year 
is in accordance with the provisions of section 197 of the Act.

	 h)	 With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditors’ Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the 
Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as amended in our opinion and to the best of our information 
and according to the explanations given to us: 

		  i)	 The consolidated financial statements disclose the impact of pending litigations on the consolidated 
financial position of the Group.

		  ii)	 The Group did not have any material foreseeable losses on long-term contracts including derivative 
contracts.

		  iii)	 There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and Protection 
Fund by the Holding Company and its subsidiary companies incorporated in India.

For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS LLP
Chartered Accountants

(Firm’s Registration No. 117366W/W-100018)

Rukshad N. Daruvala
Partner

Place: Mumbai	 Membership No. 111188
Date: June 1, 2020 	 UDIN: 20111188AAAACS2433
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ANNEXURE “A” TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
(Referred to in paragraph 1(f) under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ 
section of our report of even date) 

Report on the Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting under Clause (i) of Sub-
section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)
In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Capital India Finance Limited (hereinafter 
referred to as “the Holding Company”) as of and for the year ended March 31, 2020, we have audited the internal 
financial controls over financial reporting of the Holding Company and its subsidiary companies, which are companies 
incorporated in India, as of that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The respective Board of Directors of the Holding company and its subsidiary companies, which are companies incorporated 
in India, are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls based on the internal control over 
financial reporting criteria established by the respective Companies considering the essential components of internal 
control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance 
Note”) issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. These responsibilities include the design, implementation 
and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and 
efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to the respective company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, 
the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the 
timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Companies Act, 2013.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the internal financial controls over financial reporting of the Holding 
Company and its subsidiary companies which are companies incorporated in India, based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with the Guidance Note issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India and the Standards on 
Auditing, prescribed under Section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal 
financial controls. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls over financial 
reporting was established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial controls 
system over financial reporting and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls over financial 
reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls over financial reporting, assessing the risk that 
a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on 
the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained and the audit evidence obtained by the other auditors of the subsidiary 
companies which are companies incorporated in India, in terms of their reports referred to in the Other Matters paragraph 
below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the internal financial controls system over 
financial reporting of the Holding Company and its subsidiary companies which are companies incorporated in India.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal financial control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal financial control over financial reporting includes 
those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions 
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorisations of 
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection 
of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial 
statements.
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Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting, including the possibility of 
collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not 
be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls over financial reporting to future periods 
are subject to the risk that the internal financial control over financial reporting may become inadequate because of 
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion

In  our opinion, to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us and based on the consideration 
of the reports of the other auditors referred to in the Other Matters paragraph below, the Holding Company and its 
subsidiary companies which are companies incorporated in India, have, in all material respects, an adequate internal 
financial controls system over financial reporting and such internal financial controls over financial reporting were operating 
effectively as at March 31, 2020, based on the criteria for internal financial control over financial reporting established by 
the respective companies considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit 
of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

Other Matters

Our aforesaid report under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of the internal financial 
controls over financial reporting insofar as it relates to 6 subsidiary companies, which are companies incorporated in India, 
is based solely on the corresponding reports of the auditors of such companies incorporated in India.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of the above matter.

For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS LLP
Chartered Accountants

(Firm’s Registration No. 117366W/W-100018)

Rukshad N. Daruvala
Partner

Place: Mumbai	 Membership No. 111188
Date: June 1, 2020 	
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Consolidated Balance sheet as at 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)

Particulars Note 
No.

 As at  
 31st March 

2020 

 As at  
 31st March 

2019 

 As at  
 01st April

   2018

ASSETS
1 Financial Assets
(a) Cash & cash equivalents 3  6,797.62  2,945.96  539.25 

(b) Bank balances other than Cash & cash 
equivalents

4  117.53  583.79  2,650.00 

(c) Receivables  

(i) Trade Receivables
5

 231.25       -    -   

(ii) Other Receivables  19.23       -    32.40 

(d) Loans 6  55,588.33  55,643.43  10,265.86 

(e) Investments 7  863.41  2,375.53  -   

(f) Other financial assets 8  1,658.03  1,454.56  320.35 

  

2 Non-financial Assets
(a) Inventories 8A  11.56  -    -   

 
(b) 

Current tax assets(net) 9  387.04  86.71  129.71 

(c) Deferred tax asset (net) 10  700.44  286.64  51.99 

(d) Property, plant and equipment 11  1,731.11  1,528.29  829.99 

(e) Capital work in progress  42.16  202.26  235.22 

(f) Intangible Assets Under Development  89.80  -    -   

(g) Goodwill on consolidation  552.26  -    -   

(h) Other intangible assets 11A  469.23  4.13  2.37 

(i) Right of use assets 11B  1,900.82  1,547.07  1,622.34 

(j) Other non-financial assets 12  566.45  361.32  222.49 

Total Assets   71,726.27  67,019.69  16,901.97 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES

1 Financial Liabilities
(a) Payables 13

(i) Trade Payables
total outstanding dues of micro 
enterprises and small enterprises

 0.16  8.10  -   

total outstanding dues of creditors 
other than micro enterprises and small 
enterprises

 133.46  109.54  34.16 

(ii) Other Payables
total outstanding dues of micro 
enterprises and small enterprises

 -    -    -   

total outstanding dues of creditors 
other than micro enterprises and small 
enterprises

 44.81  -    -   

(b) Debt Securities 14  4,000.00  -    -   

(c) Borrowings 14A  8,186.74  12,679.69  1,105.32 

(d) Deposits 15  -    550.00  700.00 

(e) Other financial liabilities 16  5,446.87  1,950.03  1,763.35 
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Particulars Note 
No.

 As at  
 31st March 

2020 

 As at  
 31st March 

2019 

 As at  
 01st April

   2018

2 Non-Financial Liabilities  
(a) Current tax liabilities (net) 17  383.34  43.56  -   

(b) Provisions 17A  222.51  348.21  12.53 

(c) Other non-financial liabilities 18  646.58  575.13  223.61 

EQUITY
(a) Equity share capital 19  7,773.43  7,773.43  350.27 

(b) Other equity 20  44,341.29  42,982.00  12,712.73 

Equity attributable to owners of the Company  52,114.72  50,755.43  13,063.00 

(c) Equity attributable to Non-Controlling 
Interests

 547.08  -    -   

Total Liabilities and Equity  71,726.27  67,019.69  16,901.97 

Notes 1 to 49 forms part of the Consolidated Financial Statements				  

In terms of our report attached

For Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP	 For and on behalf of the board	
Chartered Accountants	 Capital India Finance Limited	
Firm Registration No. :117366W/W -100018				  

Rukshad N. Daruvala	 Keshav Porwal	 Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha
Partner	 Managing Director	 Executive Director & CEO
Membership No. : 111188	 DIN : 06706341	 DIN : 07869849
Place: Mumbai	 Place: Mumbai	 Place: Mumbai
Date: 1st June 2020	 Date: 1st June 2020	 Date: 1st June 2020

	 Neeraj Toshniwal	 Rachit Malhotra
	 Chief Financial Officer	 Company Secretary 
	 Place: Mumbai	 Place: New Delhi
	 Date: 1st June 2020	 Date: 1st June 2020

Consolidated Balance sheet as at 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)

Particulars Notes  For the year ended 
 31st March 2020 

 For the year ended 
 31st March 2019 

Revenue from operations:
(i) Interest income 21  10,742.06  4,739.26 

(ii) Fees and commission income  672.75   799.99 

(iii) Net gain on fair value changes 22  225.33  284.92 

(iv) Sale of devices  29.87  -   

(v) Other operating income  227.30  130.00 

(I) Total revenue from operations  11,897.31  5,954.17 
(II) Other income 23  2.17  11.02 

(III) Total income (I+II)  11,899.48   5,965.19 
Expenses :  

(i) Finance costs 24  1,669.51   943.75 

(ii) Impairment of financial instruments 25A  1,394.60  268.72 

(iii) Loss on derecognition of financial assets 25B  130.00  -   

(iv) Cost of materials consumed 8A  27.08  -   

(v) Employee benefits expenses 26  3,824.51   1,940.31 

(vi) Depreciation and amortization 11,11A&11B  1,151.97  765.27 

(vii) Others expenses 27  1,267.57  927.75 

(IV) Total expenses (IV)  9,465.24  4,845.80 
(V) Profit before exceptional items and tax (III-IV)  2,434.24  1,119.39 

(VI) Exceptional items  -    -   

(VII) Profit before tax (V -VI )  2,434.24  1,119.39 

(VIII) Tax Expense:
Current Tax  1,440.49  700.98 

Deferred Tax  (392.31)  (232.57)

(IX) Profit for the year from continuing operations(VII-
VIII)

 1,386.06  650.98 

(X) Profit from discontinued operations  -    -   

(XI) Tax Expense of discontinued operations  -    -   

(XII) Profit from discontinued operations(After tax) (X-XI)  -    -   

(XIII) Profit for the year  1,386.06  650.98 
(XIV) Other Comprehensive Income

(i) Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss  16.36  (7.17)

(ii) Income Tax  relating to items that will not be 
reclassified to profit or loss

 (4.14)  2.09 

Subtotal (A)  12.22  (5.08)
(i) Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss  -    -   

(ii) Income Tax relating to items that will be reclassified 
to profit or loss

 -    -   

Subtotal (B)  -    -   
Other Comprehensive Income (A + B)  12.22  (5.08)
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Particulars Notes  For the year ended 
 31st March 2020 

 For the year ended 
 31st March 2019 

(XV) Total Comprehensive Income for the year  1,398.28  645.90 
Profit for the year attributable to :
Owners of the parent  1,723.08  650.98 

Non-controlling interests  (337.02)  -   

Other Comprehensive Income for the year 
attributable to :
Owners of the parent  11.59  (5.08)

Non-controlling interests  0.63  -   

Total Comprehensive Income for the year 
attributable to :
Owners of the parent  1,734.67  645.90 

Non-controlling interests  (336.39)  -   

(XVI) Earnings per equity share (Face value of Rs 10 
each)

28

Basic (Rs.)  2.22  1.55 

Diluted (Rs.)  2.19  1.53 

Notes 1 to 49 forms part of the Consolidated Financial Statements				  

In terms of our report attached

For Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP	 For and on behalf of the board	
Chartered Accountants	 Capital India Finance Limited	
Firm Registration No. :117366W/W -100018				  

Rukshad N. Daruvala	 Keshav Porwal	 Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha
Partner	 Managing Director	 Executive Director & CEO
Membership No. : 111188	 DIN : 06706341	 DIN : 07869849
Place: Mumbai	 Place: Mumbai	 Place: Mumbai
Date: 1st June 2020	 Date: 1st June 2020	 Date: 1st June 2020

	 Neeraj Toshniwal	 Rachit Malhotra
	 Chief Financial Officer	 Company Secretary 
	 Place: Mumbai	 Place: New Delhi
	 Date: 1st June 2020	 Date: 1st June 2020

Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)
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Consolidated Cash flow statement for the year ended 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)

Particulars  For the year ended 
 31st March 2020 

 For the year ended 
 31st March 2020 

A. CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Profit before exceptional items and taxes  2,434.24  1,119.39 

Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows:
Add : Non-cash expenses

Depreciation and amortisation expenses  1,151.97  765.27 

Provision for employee benefits  (118.14)  328.50 

Share based payments to employees  92.87  46.14 

Interest on Lease liability  229.01  162.94 

Interest income on Lease and Fixed deposits  (39.41)  (92.15)

Impairment on financial instruments  1,381.48  268.72 

Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment  -    (0.11)

Less : Income/expense considered separately

Interest on OCD  (35.51)  -   

Operating profit before working capital changes  5,096.51  2,598.71 
Changes in -

(Increase) in loans and advances  (1,258.95)  (45,646.29)

(Increase) / Decrease in trade and other receivables  (20.66)  32.40 

(Increase) in other financial assets  (126.53)  (1,424.23)

(Increase) / Decrease in other non-financial assets  89.62  (138.83)

(Decrease) / Increase in trade payables  (118.29)  83.48 

Increase / (Decrease) in other financial liabilities  1,038.36  (564.97)

Increase / (Decrease) in other non-financial liabilities  (416.78)  351.52 

Cash generated from/ (used in) operations  4,283.28  (44,708.21)

Income tax paid  (1,291.19)  (614.42)

Net Cash generated from/ (used in) operating activities (A)  2,992.07  (45,322.63)

B) CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and Intangible assets  (546.04)  (1,016.20)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  7.88  41.33 

Purchase of non current investments at amortized cost  (376.00)  (525.00)

Investments in Mutual fund  987.12  (1,850.53)

Investment in bank deposits (having original maturity of more than 3 months)  475.33  416.21 

Net Cash generated from/ (used in) investing activities (B)  548.29  (2,934.17)

C) CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds from issue of equity shares at premium  452.50  49,875.25 

Share issue expenses  -    (332.69)

Payment of dividend and dividend distribution tax thereon  (374.92)  (40.63)

Payment of Lease rent  (690.80)  (518.11)

Repayment of advance towards share application money  -    (12,500.00)

Proceeds from borrowings  4,600.00  30,195.94 

Repayment of borrowings  (5,642.95)  (17,666.25)

Net cash (used in)/ generated from financing activities (C)  (1,656.17)  49,013.51 
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Particulars  For the year ended 
 31st March 2020 

 For the year ended 
 31st March 2020 

D) Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C)  1,884.19  756.71 
E) Cash and cash equivalents as at the beginning of the year  2,945.96  2,189.25 

F) Cash received on acquisition of Subsidiary : Rapipay Fintech Private 
Limited

 1,961.87  -   

G) Cash received on acquisition of Subsidiary : Rapipay Fintech Holding 
Private Limited

 5.60  -   

H) Cash and cash equivalents as at the end of the year  6,797.62  2,945.96 

Cash and cash equivalents comprises:
Particulars Year ended

31st March 2020
Year ended

31st March 2019

Cash in hand  0.51  -   

Cheques in hand  -    25.12 

Balances with banks

- in current accounts*  5,210.27  2,720.84 

- in deposit accounts  675.00  200.00 

- Other

Other balance with bank

- Escrow account  6.56  -   

- Balance with non schedule bank  905.28  -   

 6,797.62  2,945.96 

Note: The above Cash Flow Statement has been prepared under the ‘Indirect method’ as set out in Ind AS 7 on ‘Statement 
of Cash Flows’.

Notes 1 to 49 forms part of the Consolidated Financial Statements				  

In terms of our report attached

For Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP	 For and on behalf of the board	
Chartered Accountants	 Capital India Finance Limited	
Firm Registration No. :117366W/W -100018				  

Rukshad N. Daruvala	 Keshav Porwal	 Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha
Partner	 Managing Director	 Executive Director & CEO
Membership No. : 111188	 DIN : 06706341	 DIN : 07869849
Place: Mumbai	 Place: Mumbai	 Place: Mumbai
Date: 1st June 2020	 Date: 1st June 2020	 Date: 1st June 2020

	 Neeraj Toshniwal	 Rachit Malhotra
	 Chief Financial Officer	 Company Secretary 
	 Place: Mumbai	 Place: New Delhi
	 Date: 1st June 2020	 Date: 1st June 2020

Consolidated Cash flow statement for the year ended 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)
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1	 Basis of Consolidation

	 The consolidated financial statements relates to Capital India Finance Limited (the Holding Company / Company) 
and its subsidiary companies. The Holding Company and its subsidiary companies constitute the group. The Group’s 
is primarily into lending business.

	 The Holding Company’s equity shares are listed on the BSE Limited in India. 	

2	 Significant accounting Policies

	 2.1	 Basis of Preparation

		  A)   	Statement of Compliance

	 		  The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with the Indian 
Accounting Standards (‘Ind AS’) notified under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 ( ‘the Act’) 
read with Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 as amended from time to time and 
other relevant provisions of the Act and the directions issued by the Reserve Bank of India (“RBI”) as 
applicable to a Non-Banking Finance Company (‘NBFC’) (“RBI guidelines”) and with the provisions of 
National Housing Bank Act, 1987, the Housing Finance Companies (NHB) Directions, 2010 and other 
guidelines/ instructions / circulars issued by the National Housing Bank as applicable (“NHB directions”). 

			   The Group has adopted lnd AS from 1st April 2019 and the financial statements for the year ended 31st 
March 2020 are the Group’s first Ind AS Financial Statements. However, the effective date of transition 
to Ind AS is 1st April 2018, being the beginning of the earliest period for which the Group needs to 
present comparative information.

			   The transition to Ind AS has been carried out from the erstwhile Accounting Standards notified under 
the Act, read with relevant rules issued thereunder, guidelines issued by the RBI and other generally 
accepted accounting principles in India (collectively referred to as ‘the Previous GAAP’). The impact of 
transition has been recorded in the opening reserves as at 1st April 2018 and is provided in Note 46. 
The corresponding comparative previous period as presented in these financial statements have been 
restated / reclassified in order to conform to current year presentation.

			   The adoption of Ind AS has been carried out in accordance with Ind AS 101 First time adoption of 
Indian Accounting Standards. An explanation of how the transition to Ind AS has affected the previously 
reported financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the Group is provided in Note 46.

			   The accounting policies are applied consistently to all the periods presented in the financial statements, 
including the preparation of the opening Ind AS Balance Sheet as at 1st April 2018 being the ‘date of 
transition to Ind AS’.						    

		  B)	 Functional and presentation currency

			   The Group’s presentation and functional currency is Indian Rupees. All figures appearing in the 
consolidated financial statements are in Indian rupees in lakh rounded off to two decimal places as 
permitted by Schedule III to the Act. Per share data are presented in Indian Rupee to two decimal places.

		  C)	 Basis of preparation, presentation and disclosure of consolidated financial statements

			   The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain 
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in 
the accounting policies. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in 
exchange for goods and services. Further, Assets and liabilities are classified as per the normal operating 
cycle (determined at 12 months) and other criteria set out in Schedule III of the Act as applicable to 
NBFCs.

		  D)	 Fair value measurement

			   Fair value is the price that would be received on sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the 
most advantageous market to which the Group has access at that date. 
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			   The best estimate of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the 
transaction price. If the Group determines that the fair value on initial recognition differs from the 
transaction price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an 
identical asset or liability nor based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, 
then the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between 
the fair value on initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently that difference is recognised 
in Statement of Profit and Loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but no later than 
when the valuation is wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction is closed out. 

			   All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

			      ��Level 1 - Valuation using quoted market price in active markets: The fair value for financial instruments 
traded in active markets at the reporting date is based on their quoted market price, without any 
deduction for transaction costs. A market is regarded as active, if transactions for the asset or liability 
take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

			      �Level 2 - Valuation using observable inputs: If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the 
Group uses valuation techniques that maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise 
the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates most of the factors that 
market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction.

			      �Level 3 - Valuation with significant unobservable inputs: The valuation techniques are used only when 
fair value cannot be determined by using observable inputs. The Group regularly reviews significant 
unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments. Level 3 assets are typically very illiquid, and fair 
values can only be calculated using estimates. 

			   The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 
data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising 
the use of unobservable inputs. 

		  E)	 Use of judgment and Estimates 

			   The preparation of the financial statements requires the management to make judgments, estimates 
and assumptions in the application of accounting policies that affects the reported amount of assets, 
liabilities and the accompanying disclosures along with contingent liabilities as at the date of financial 
statements and revenue & expenses for the reporting period. Although these estimates are based on the 
management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, uncertainty about these assumptions and 
estimates could result in outcomes different from the estimates. Difference between actual results and 
estimates are recognised in the year in which the results are known or materialise i.e. prospectively.

			   Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
The key areas involving estimation uncertainty, higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions are significant to the financial statements include:

			   i)	 Impairment of financial assets

			   ii)	 Estimation of fair value measurement of financial assets and liabilities 

			   iii)	 Effective interest rate

			   iv)	 Business model assessment

			   v)	 Provisions and Contingencies

			   vi)	 Useful life and expected residual value of assets

			   vii)	 Tax position for current tax and recognition of deferred tax assets/liabilities

			   viii) 	 Measurement of Defined Benefit Obligations and actuarial assumptions

			   ix)	 Classification of lease and related discount rate
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			   Further an entity is consolidated as a subsidiary if the Company has control over the said entity based 
on the management evaluation of investments and related agreements/ deeds and determine that the 
Group has control over the said entity in terms of Ind AS-110 on Consolidated Financial Statements. 
Control shall include the right to appoint majority of the directors or to control the management or 
policy decisions exercisable by a person or persons acting individually or in concert, directly or indirectly, 
including by virtue of their shareholding or management rights or shareholders’ agreements or voting 
agreements or in any other manner.

		  F)	 First-time adoption of Ind AS – mandatory exceptions and optional exemptions

			   Overall Principle:

			   The Group has prepared the opening Balance Sheet as per Ind AS as of 1st April 2018 (“the transition 
date”) by recognising all assets and liabilities whose recognition is required by Ind AS, not recognising 
items of assets or liabilities which are not permitted by Ind AS, by reclassifying items from Previous 
GAAP to Ind AS as required under Ind AS, and applying Ind AS in measurement of recognised assets 
and liabilities. However, this principle is subject to certain exceptions and certain optional exemptions 
availed by the Group as mentioned below:

			   Deemed cost for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets –

			   The Group has elected to measure property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets at its Previous 
GAAP carrying amount and use that Previous GAAP carrying amount as its deemed cost at the date of 
transition to IND AS i.e. 01st April 2018..

	 2.2	 Principles of consolidation

		  The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries. 
Control is achieved when the Group:

	 	 	 has power over the investee

	 	 	 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

	 	 	 has the ability to use its power to affect its returns

		  The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

		  When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee 
when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee 
unilaterally. 

		  The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting rights 
in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

	 	 	 the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other 
vote holders;

	 	 	 potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or other parties;

	 	 	 rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

	 	 	 any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Group has, or does not have, the current 
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns 
at previous shareholders’ meetings.

		  Subsidiaries:

		  Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss from the date the Group gains 
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

		  Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Group 
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners 
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of the Group and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a 
deficit balance.

		  When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

		  All intra-Group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses, and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

		  Change in ownership interests

		  The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control as transactions 
with equity owners of the Group. A change in the ownership interest results in an adjustment between 
the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in 
the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any 
consideration paid or received is recognised within equity.

	 2.3	 Business combinations

		  Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method as per Ind AS 103 – Business 
Combinations. The consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is 
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities 
incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in 
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition- related costs are generally recognised in Statement of Profit 
and Loss as incurred.

		  At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair 
value at the acquisition date, except that:

		  Deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised 
and measured in accordance with Ind AS 12 Income Taxes and Ind AS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

		  Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the 
acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities 
assumed.

		  Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share 
of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured at the noncontrolling interests’ 
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

	 2.4	 Goodwill

		  Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost established at the date of acquisition of the 
business less accumulated impairment loss if any. 

		  For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash generating units 
(CGU) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

		  A CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there 
is an indication that the unit may be impaired, if the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying 
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the 
unit and then to the other assets of the units pro-rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit, 
any impairment loss or goodwill is not reversed in subsequent period.

		  On disposal of relevant CGU the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit 
or loss on disposal.

	 2.5	 Financial Instruments

		  a)	 Recognition and initial measurement –  

			   Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provision of the instruments.

			   Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets 
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and financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets 
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction cost directly attributable to the 
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in Statement of 
Profit and Loss.

		  b)	 Classification and Subsequent measurement of financial assets –

			   On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at 

			   -	 Amortised cost

			   -	 FVOCI – debt instruments

			   -	 FVOCI – equity instruments

			   -	 FVTPL

		  Amortised cost - The Group’s business model is not assessed on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but at 
a higher level of aggregated portfolios being the level at which they are managed. The financial asset is held 
with the objective to hold financial asset in order to collect contractual cash flows as per the contractual terms 
that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payment of principal and interest (SPPI) on the 
principal amount outstanding. Accordingly, the Group measures Bank balances, Loans, Trade receivables and 
other financial instruments at amortised cost.

		  FVOCI - debt instruments - The Group measures its debt instruments at FVOCI when the instrument is held 
within a business model, the objective of which is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling 
financial assets; and the contractual terms of the financial asset meet the SPPI test.

		  FVOCI - equity instruments - The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value through 
profit or loss, unless the Group’s management has elected to classify irrevocably some of its equity instruments 
at FVOCI, when such instruments meet the definition of Equity under Ind AS 32 Financial Instruments and are 
not held for trading.

		  Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except if and in the period the Group 
changes its business model for managing financial assets.

		  All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL. This 
includes all derivative financial assets.

		  Subsequent measurement of financial assets

		  Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost using effective interest method. 
The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and 
impairment are recognised in Statement of Profit and Loss. Any gain and loss on derecognition is recognised 
in Statement of Profit and Loss.

		  Debt investment at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income under effective interest 
method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in Statement of profit and loss. 
Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in OCI are 
reclassified to Statement of Profit and Loss. 

		  For equity investments, the Group makes selection on an instrument-by-instrument basis to designate equity 
investments as measured at FVOCI. These selected investments are measured at fair value with gains and 
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the 
reserves. The cumulative gain or loss is not reclassified to Statement of profit and loss on disposal of the 
investments. These investments in equity are not held for trading. Instead, they are held for strategic purpose. 
Dividend income received on such equity investments are recognised in Statement of Profit and Loss.

		  Equity investments that are not designated as measured at FVOCI are designated as measured at FVTPL and 
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in Statement of Profit and Loss.

		  Financial assets at FVTPL are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest 
or dividend income, are recognised in Statement of Profit and Loss.
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	 c)	 Derecognition of financial assets

		  The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another party. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks 
and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained 
interest in the asset and an associated liability for the amount it may have to pay.

		  If the Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its Balance Sheet, but retains 
either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets, the transferred assets are not 
derecognised and the proceeds received are recognised as a collateralised borrowing.

	 d)	 Financial guarantee contracts

		  A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse 
the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with 
the terms of a debt instrument.

		  Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are initially measured at their fair values and, if not designated 
as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

	 	 	 the amount of loss allowance determined in accordance with impairment requirements of Ind AS 109; 
and

	 	 	 the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in 
accordance with the principles of Ind AS 115.

	 e)	 Offsetting

		  Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the Balance Sheet when, 
and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either 
to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

	 f)	 Impairment of financial instruments

		  The Group uses ‘Expected Credit Loss’ (ECL) model, for evaluating impairment of financial assets measured at 
amortised cost or FVTOCI, except for investments in equity instruments. Group follows a ‘three-stage’ model 
for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition.

		  Stage 1 (Performing Assets) – includes financial assets that have not had a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition or that have low credit risk at the reporting date. For these assets, 12-month ECL 
is recognised and interest income is calculated on the gross carrying amount of the assets (that is, without 
deduction for credit allowance). 12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that results from default events on 
a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date, if the credit risk has not 
significantly increased since initial recognition. 

		  Stage 2 (Underperforming Assets with significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition) – 
includes financial instruments that have had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition (unless 
they have low credit risk at the reporting date) but that do not have objective evidence of impairment. For 
these assets, lifetime ECL are recognised, but interest income is calculated on the gross carrying amount of the 
assets. Lifetime ECL are the expected credit losses that result from all possible default events over the expected 
life of the instrument. 

		  Stage 3 (Non-performing or Credit-impaired assets) – includes financial assets that have objective evidence 
of impairment at the reporting date. For these assets, lifetime ECL is recognised and interest income is 
recognised on Net exposure (that is Gross carrying amount less Provision for Expected credit losses).

       		  Measurement of Expected Credit Loss

		  Expected Credit Losses (ECL) on financial assets is an unbiased probability weighted amount based out of 
possible outcomes after considering risk of credit loss even if probability is low and incorporate all available 
information which is relevant to the assessment including information about past events, current conditions 
and reasonable and supportable forecasts of future events and economic conditions at the reporting date. 
Measurement of expected credit losses are based on 3 main parameters.
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	 	 	 Probability of default (PD): It is defined as the probability of whether borrowers will default on their 
obligations in future. Since the Group don’t have any history of past losses therefore it was not adequate 
enough to create our own internal model through which actual defaults for each grade could be estimated. 
Hence, the default study published by one of the recognised rating agency is used for estimating the PDs 
for each range grade in case of corporate clients and for Individual clients Group estimates PD based on 
Industrial data available at public domain for similar kind of Loans.

	 	 	 Loss given default (LGD): It is the magnitude of the likely loss, if there is a default. The LGD represents 
expected losses on the EAD given the event of default, taking into account, among other attributes, the 
mitigating effect of collateral value. 

			   The default study published by one of the recognised rating agency is used for estimating the LGD for 
secured and unsecured loans.

	 	 	 Exposure at default (EAD): EAD represents the expected balance at default, taking into account the 
repayment of principal and interest from the Balance Sheet date to the date of default together with any 
expected drawdowns of committed facilities.

	 g)	 Write offs – The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written-off (either partially or in full) to the 
extent that there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. This 
is generally the case when the Group determines that the borrower does not have assets or sources of income 
that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off and when there is no 
reasonable expectation of recovery from the collaterals held. However, financial assets that are written-off 
could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group’s procedures for recovery of 
amounts due.

	 h)	 Presentation of allowance for ECL in the Balance Sheet – Loss allowances for ECL are deducted from the 
gross carrying amount of financial assets measured at amortised cost.

	 i)	 Financial liabilities and equity instruments: 

		  Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and 
an equity instrument.

	 Equity instruments

		  An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 
all of its liabilities.

	 Financial liabilities

		  Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified 
as FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading or it is a derivative (that does not meet hedge accounting 
requirements) or it is designated as such on initial recognition. Other financial liabilities are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are 
recognised in Statement of Profit or Loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in Statement 
of Profit or Loss.

		  The Group de-recognizes financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or have expired. An exchange between with a lender of debt instruments with substantially different 
terms is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new 
financial liability. Similarly, a substantial modification of the terms of an existing financial liability (whether or 
not attributable to the financial difficulty of the debtor) is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original 
financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. The difference between the carrying amount 
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognized in profit or loss.   

	 2.6	 Cash and Cash equivalents

		  Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand, bank balances, demand deposits with banks and other short 
term deposits which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of 
change in value and have original maturities of less than or equal to three months. These balances with banks 
are unrestricted for withdrawal and usage.
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		  Other bank balances includes balances and deposits with banks that are restricted for withdrawal and usage.

		  For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short term 
deposits.

	 2.7	 Statement of Cash Flow

		  Statement of Cash Flows is prepared segregating the cash flows into operating, investing and financing 
activities. Cash flow from operating activities is reported using indirect method adjusting the net profit for the 
effects of: 

		  i.	 changes during the period in inventories and operating receivables and payables transactions of a non-
cash nature;

		  ii.	 non-cash items such as depreciation, provisions, deferred taxes, unrealised foreign currency gains and 
losses, and undistributed profits of associates and joint ventures; and

		  iii.	 all other items for which the cash effects are investing or financing cash flows.

		  Cash and cash equivalents (including bank balances) shown in the Statement of Cash Flows exclude items 
which are not available for general use as on the date of Balance Sheet.

	 2.8	 Property, plant and equipment

		  a)	 Recognition and Measurement 

			   Tangible property plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment, 
if any. The cost of property, plant and equipment comprise purchase price and other non-refundable 
taxes or levies and any directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to its working condition for its 
intended use. 

			   Advances paid towards the acquisition of property, plant and equipment outstanding at each Balance 
Sheet date is classified as capital advances under other non-financial assets and the cost of assets not put 
to use before such date are disclosed under ‘Capital work-in-progress’.

			   An item of PPE is de-recognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to 
arise from the continued use of the assets. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an 
item of PPE, is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset and is recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

			   The residual values and useful lives and method of depreciation of PPE are reviewed at each financial 
year end and adjusted prospectively.

		  b)	 Subsequent expenditure

			   Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated 
with the expenditure will flow to the Group. Expenditure incurred after the PPE have been put into 
operations, such as repairs and maintenance expenses are charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss 
during the period in which they are incurred.

		  c)	 Depreciation, estimated useful lives and residual value

			   Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to write down the cost of property and 
equipment to their residual values over their estimated useful lives as prescribed in Part C of Schedule II 
to the Companies Act 2013. The estimated lives used and differences from the lives prescribed under 
Schedule II are noted in the table below:-

Type of Assets Estimated useful life as assessed 
by the Group

Estimated useful life under 
Schedule II of the Act

Computers 3 years 3 years

Computer Software 3 years 3 years

Office equipment 5 years 5 years

Vehicles 5 years 8 years

Furniture and fixtures 10 years 10 years

Leasehold improvements Tenure of lease agreements Tenure of lease agreements
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			   Depreciation is provided on a pro-rata basis i.e. from the month in which asset is ready for use. 
Individual assets costing less than or equals to Rs. 5,000 are depreciated in full, in the year of purchase. 
Depreciation on assets sold during the year is recognised on a pro-rata basis in the Statement of Profit 
and Loss up to the month prior to the month in which the assets have been disposed off.

		  	 Changes in the expected useful life are accounted for by changing the depreciation period or methodology, 
as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates.

	 2.9	 Intangible assets

		  Intangible assets comprises of computer software are capitalised at cost of acquisition including cost attributable 
to readying the asset for use. Such intangible assets are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

		  The useful life of these intangible assets is estimated at 3 years with zero residual value. 

		  Any expenses on such software for support and maintenance payable annually are charged to the Statement 
of Profit and Loss.

	 2.10	Impairment of non-financial assets

		  The carrying values of assets at each Balance Sheet date are reviewed for impairment, if any indication of 
impairment exists. If the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the estimated recoverable amount, impairment 
is recognised for such excess amount in Statement of Profit and Loss. Recoverable amount is the greater of 
the net selling price and value in use. If at the reporting date, there is an indication that a previously assessed 
impairment loss no longer exists, the recoverable amount is reassessed and the impairment losses previously 
recognised are reversed such that the asset is recognised at its recoverable amount but not exceeding written 
down value which would have been reported if the impairment losses had not been recognised initially.

	 2.11	Inventory

		  Inventory represents Mobile ATM devices, Biometric devices, Mobile Point of Sale devices. Inventory is carried 
at Cost or Net realizable value whichever is lower.

	 2.12	Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

		  Provisions are recognised only when: 

	 	 	 an entity has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event; and

	 	 	 it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation; and

	 	 	 a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation

    		  These are reviewed at each Balance Sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimates.

		  Further, long term provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows specific to the 
liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost. A provision for onerous contracts is 
measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected 
net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a provision is established, the Group recognises any impairment 
loss on the assets associated with that contract.

		  Contingent liability is disclosed in case of: 

	 	 	 a present obligation arising from past events, when it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be 
required to settle the obligation; and

	 	 	 a present obligation arising from past events, when no reliable estimate is possible.

		  Contingent Assets:

		  Contingent assets are not disclosed in the financial statements
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	 2.13	Commitments

		  Commitments are future liabilities for contractual expenditure, classified and disclosed as follows:

	 	 	 estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and not provided for; 

	 	 	 uncalled liability on loans sanctioned, first loss default guarantee on loans, uncalled liability on investments 
partly paid; and

	 	 	 other non-cancellable commitments, if any, to the extent they are considered material and relevant in the 
opinion of management.

	 2.14	Foreign exchange transactions and translations 

		  a)	 �Initial recognition: Transactions in foreign currencies are recognised at the prevailing exchange rates 
between the reporting currency and a foreign currency on the transaction date.

		  b)	 �Conversion: Transactions in currencies other than Group’s functional currency are recorded on initial 
recognition using the exchange rate at the transaction date. At each Balance Sheet date, foreign 
currency monetary items are reported at the prevailing closing spot rate. Foreign exchange gains and 
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are generally recognised in Statement of Profit and Loss.

			   Non-monetary assets and liabilities are carried at historical cost using exchange rates as on the date of 
the respective transactions and are not retranslated at the reporting date.

	 2.15	Revenue recognition

		  Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and 
the revenue can be reliably measured and there exists reasonable certainty of its recovery.

		  a)	 Recognition of Interest income 

			   Interest income on financial asset at amortised cost is recognised on a time proportion basis taking into 
account the amount outstanding and the effective interest rate (‘EIR’).The interest income is calculated 
by applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount of non-credit impaired financial assets (i.e. at the 
amortised cost of the financial asset before adjusting for any expected credit loss allowance). For credit- 
impaired financial assets the interest income is calculated by applying the EIR to the amortised cost of 
the credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. the gross carrying amount less the allowance for ECLs.)

			   Interest income on penal interest and tax refunds is recognised on receipt basis.

			   Interest income on fixed deposit is recognised on time proportionate basis.

		  b)	 Fee and Commission income

			   Fee and commission income include fees other than those that are an integral part of EIR. The fees 
included in the Group Statement of Profit and Loss include among other things fees charged for servicing 
a loan, loan advisory fees and documentation charges.

	 	 c)	 Other financial charges

			   Cheque bouncing charges, late payment charges and foreclosure charges are recognised on a point-in-
time basis, and are recorded when realised since the probability of collecting such monies is established 
when the customer pays.

		  d)	 Income from securities

			   Gains or losses on the sale of securities are recognised in Statement of profit and loss on trade date basis 
as the difference between fair value of the consideration received and carrying amount of the investment 
securities.

		  e)	 Net gain/ Loss on fair value changes

			   Any differences between the fair values of the financial assets classified as fair value through the profit 
or loss, held by the Group on the Balance Sheet date is recognised as an unrealised gain/loss in the 
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Statement of Profit and Loss. In cases there is a net gain in aggregate, the same is recognised in “Net 
gains on fair value changes” under income and if there is net loss in aggregate, the same is recognised 
in “Net loss on fair value changes” under expense in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

		  f)	 Dividend income

			   Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive dividend is established by the reporting 
date and no significant uncertainty as to collectability exists.

		  g)	 Revenue from prepaid instruments and allied services

			   Revenue is recognized on completion of provision of services. Prepaid Sale includes sale of prepaid 
electronic mobile recharge vouchers/pins, money remittance services, and other E-services purchased 
from services operators at discounted rates.

			   Revenue, net of discount, from sale of electronic recharge vouchers/pins is recognized on transfer of 
all significant risks and rewards to the customer and when no significant uncertainty exists regarding 
realization of consideration.

			   Income from Technical integration and money remittance services is recognized on accrual basis after 
completion of service delivery.

	 2.16	Employee benefits

		  Short term employee benefits

		  Employee benefits falling due wholly within twelve months of rendering the service are classified as short 
term employee benefits and are expensed in the period in which the employee renders the related service. 
Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of 
the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related service.

		  Long Term employee benefits

		  Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit that employees 
have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. Long-term employee benefit primarily 
consists of Leave encashment benefits wherein employees are entitled to accumulate leave subject to certain 
limits for future encashment/availment. Long-term compensated absences are provided for on the basis of an 
actuarial valuation at the end of each financial year using Projected Unit Credit (PUC) Method. Actuarial gains/
losses, if any, are recognised immediately in the Statement of Profit and Loss

		  Post-employment benefits

		  a)	 Defined contribution Plans

			   Provident fund: Contributions as required under the statute, made to the Provident Fund (Defined 
Contribution Plan) are recognised immediately in the Statement of Profit and Loss. There is no obligation 
other than the monthly contribution payable to the Regional Provident Fund Commissioner.

			   ESIC and Labour welfare fund:  The Group’s contribution paid/payable during the year to Employee 
state insurance scheme and Labour welfare fund are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

		  b)	 Defined benefit Plans

			   Gratuity liability is defined benefit obligation and is provided on the basis of an actuarial valuation 
performed by an independent actuary based on projected unit credit method, at the end of each financial 
year. 

			   Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

			   i)  �Service cost (including current service cost, past service cost, as well as gains and losses on curtailments 
and settlements)

			   ii) Net interest expense or income
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			   iii) Re-measurement 

			   Re-measurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the 
return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest), 
are recognised in OCI, net of taxes. The Group determines the net interest expense (income) on the 
net defined benefit liability (asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the 
defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the net defined benefit liability (asset), 
taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset) during the period as a result of 
contributions and benefit payments. Net interest expense and other expenses related to defined benefit 
plans are recognised in Statement of Profit and Loss. 

			   The Group’s net obligation in respect of gratuity (defined benefit plan), is calculated by estimating the 
amount of future benefit that the employees have earned in the current and prior periods, discounting 
that amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets. The retirement benefit obligation recognised 
in the Balance Sheet represents the actual deficit or surplus in the Group’s defined benefit plans. Any 
surplus resulting from this calculation is recognised as an asset to the extent of present value of any 
economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plans or reductions in the future contribution 
to the plans.

			   Share based Payments

			   Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are recognised as an expense at the fair value of 
equity stock options at the grant date. The fair value of the options is treated as discount and accounted 
as employee compensation cost over the vesting period on a straight-line basis. The amount recognised 
as expense in each year is arrived at based on the number of grants expected to vest. If a grant lapses 
after the vesting period, the cumulative discount recognised as expense in respect of such grant is 
transferred to the general reserve within equity.

	 2.17	Finance cost

		  Finance costs include interest expense computed by applying the effective interest rate on respective financial 
instruments measured at amortised cost. Financial instruments include bank term loans, Vehicle loans and 
non-convertible debentures. Finance costs are charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss. Ancillary and other 
borrowing costs are amortised on straight line basis over the tenure of the underlying loan.

	 2.18	Leases

		  The Group has adopted Ind AS 116 ‘Leases’ with the date of initial application being April 1, 2019.The 
Group’s lease asset classes primarily consist of leases for Premises. The Group, at the inception of a contract, 
assesses whether the contract is a lease or not lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys 
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a time in exchange for a consideration. This policy has 
been applied to contracts existing and entered into on or after April 1, 2018.

		  The Group evaluates each contract or arrangement, whether it qualifies as lease as defined under Ind AS 116.

		  The Group as a lessee

		  The Group assesses, whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the 
contract involves–

		  a)	 the use of an identified asset,

		  b)	 the right to obtain substantially all the economic benefits from use of the identified asset, and

		  c)	 the right to direct the use of the identified asset.

		  The Group at the inception of the lease contract recognises a Right-of-Use (RoU) asset at cost and a 
corresponding lease liability, for all lease arrangements in which it is a lessee, except for leases with term of 
less than twelve months (short term) and low-value assets (assets of less than Rs. 10 Lakhs in value). 

		  Certain lease arrangements includes the options to extend or terminate the lease before the end of the lease 
term. ROU assets and lease liabilities includes these options when it is reasonably certain that they will be 
exercised 

Notes to the Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2020



Annual Report 2019-20 |  163

		  The cost of the right-of-use assets comprises the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any 
lease payments made at or before the inception date of the lease plus any initial direct costs, less any lease 
incentives received. Subsequently, the right-of-use assets is measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses, if any. The right-of-use assets is depreciated using the straight-line method 
from the commencement date over the shorter of lease term or useful life of right-of-use assets.

		  Right of use assets are evaluated for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable 
amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less cost to sell and the value-in-use) is determined on an individual 
asset basis unless the asset does not generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from other 
assets. In such cases, the recoverable amount is determined for the Cash Generating Unit (CGU) to which the 
asset belongs.

		  For lease liabilities at inception, the Group measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease 
payments that are not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit 
in the lease, if that rate is readily determined, if that rate is not readily determined, the lease payments are 
discounted using the incremental borrowing rate.

		  The Group recognizes the amount of the re-measurement of lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use 
assets. Where the carrying amount of the right-of-use assets is reduced to zero and there is a further reduction 
in the measurement of the lease liability, the Group recognizes any remaining amount of the re-measurement 
in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

		  For short-term and low value leases, the Group recognizes the lease payments as an operating expense on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. 

		  Lease liability has been presented in Note 16 “Other Financial Liabilities” and ROU asset has been presented 
in Note 11B “Property, Plant and Equipment” and lease payments have been classified as financing cash 
flows.

	 2.19	Share issue expenses

		  Expenses incurred in connection with fresh issue of Share capital are adjusted against Securities premium 
account in accordance with the provisions of Section 52 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Ind AS.

	 2.20	Collateral

		  To mitigate its credit risks on financial assets, the Group seeks to use collateral, where possible. The collateral 
comes in various forms, such as securities, letter of credit/guarantees, receivables, inventories, other non-
financial assets and credit enhancements such as netting arrangements.

		  The Group provides fully secured, partially secured and unsecured loans to Corporates and individuals.

	 2.21	Income Tax

		  Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.  Current and deferred 
tax are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

		  Current Tax

		  The Current tax is based on the taxable profit for the year of the Group. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit 
before tax’ as reported in the Statement of Profit and Loss because of items of income or expense that are 
taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The current tax is calculated 
using applicable tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

		  Deferred tax

		  Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in 
the Group’s financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are 
generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits 
will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of assets and 
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. 
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		  Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of temporary difference and it is probable 
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from 
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the 
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

		  The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the 
assets to be recovered.

		  Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in 
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

		  Tax assets and tax liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts 
and there is an intention to settle the asset and the liability on a net basis. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax 
liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off tax assets against tax liabilities.

		  Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT) credit entitlement (i.e. excess of amount of MAT paid for a year over normal 
tax liability for that year) eligible for set-off in subsequent years is recognised as an asset in accordance with Ind 
AS 12, Income Taxes, if there is convincing evidence of its realisation.

		  MAT credit is created by way of a credit to the Statement of Profit and Loss. The Group reviews the same at 
each Balance Sheet date and writes down the carrying amount of MAT credit entitlement to the extent there is 
no longer convincing evidence to the effect that Group will pay normal income-tax during the specified period.

	 2.22	Earnings per share

		  Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing the net profit or loss for the year attributable to equity 
shareholders (after deducting attributable taxes) by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding 
during the year.

		  For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net profit or loss for the period attributable to 
equity shareholders and the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period are adjusted for 
the effects of all dilutive potential equity shares.

	 2.23	Segment reporting

		  The Board of Directors of the Company has been identified as the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) 
as defined by Ind AS 108, “Operating Segments”. Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent 
with the internal reporting provided to the CODM. The accounting policies adopted for segment reporting are 
in conformity with the accounting policies adopted for the Group. Revenue and expenses have been identified 
to segments on the basis of their relationship to the operating activities of the segment. Income / costs which 
relate to the Group as a whole and are not allocable to segments on a reasonable basis have been included 
under Unallocated Income / Costs

	 2.24	Dividend distribution to equity holders of the Group

		  The Group recognises a liability to make distributions to equity holders of the Group when the distribution is 
authorised and the distribution is no longer at the discretion of the Group. As per the Act, final dividend is 
authorised when it is approved by the shareholders and interim dividend is authorised when it is approved by 
the Board of Directors of the Group. 

	 2.25	Goods and Services Input Tax Credit

		  Goods and Services tax input credit is accounted for in the books in the period in which the supply of goods 
or service received is accounted and when there is no uncertainty in availing/utilising the credits.

	 2.26	Operating cycle for current and non-current classification

		  Based on the nature of activities of the Group and the normal time between acquisition of assets and their 
realization in cash or cash equivalents, the Group has determined its operating cycle as 12 months for the 
purpose of classification of its assets and liabilities as current and non-current.

.
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Notes to the Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)

 3	 Cash and cash equivalents

Particulars As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

As at
1st April 2018

 Cash on hand  0.51  -    0.08 

 Balances with banks 

 -  in current accounts  5,210.27  2,720.84  34.17 

 -  �i�n fixed deposits with original maturity less than  
3 months

 675.00  200.00  480.00 

Other balances with bank

 - Escrow account$  6.56  -    -   

 - Balance with non schedule bank  905.28  -    -   

  Cheques, drafts on hand  -    25.12  25.00 

 6,797.62  2,945.96  539.25 

	 $ The balance in Yes bank escrow account is maintained as per the guidelines of Reserve Bank of India for operating 
of semi closed Prepaid Payment Instrument and can be used only for the specified purposes. 			 

 4 	  Bank Balances other than cash and cash equivalents 

Particulars As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

As at
1st April 2018

Fixed deposit with bank (Maturity less than 12 months)  116.00  582.26  2,650.00 

Unclaimed dividend  1.53  1.53  -   

 117.53  583.79  2,650.00 

5.	 Borrowings

Particulars As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

As at
1st April 2018

Trade receivables 

i) Secured considered good  -    -    -   

ii) Unsecured considered good  231.25  -    -   

iii) Doubtful  13.12 

Subtotal (i+ii+iii)  244.37 

Less: Allowance for bad and doubtful debts  13.12 

Net Receivables (a)  231.25  -    -   

Other receivables 

i) Secured considered good  -    -    -   

ii) Unsecured considered good  19.23  -    32.40 

iii) Doubtful  -    -    -   

Subtotal (i+ii+iii)  19.23  -    32.40 

Less: Allowance for bad and doubtful debts  -    -    -   

Net Receivables (b)  19.23  -    32.40 

Total (a)+(b)  250.48  -    32.40 

	 Note: There are no dues from directors or other officers of the Group either severally or jointly with any other 
person, nor any trade or other receivable are due from firms or private companies respectively in which any director 
is a partner, a director or a member.			 
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6	 Loans 

Particulars As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

As at
1st April 2018

(A) Advances - at amortised cost

Vendor financing (Unsecured)  991.16  -    -   

Gross  991.16  -    -   

Less: Impairment loss allowance  4.97  -    -   

 986.19  -    -   
(B) Term Loans in India - at amortised cost

Secured (Secured by tangible assets)  51,402.93  54,198.31  9,294.37 

Unsecured  4,972.95  1,842.35  1,100.00 

Gross  56,375.88  56,040.66  10,394.37 

Less: Impairment loss allowance  1,773.74  397.23  128.51 

Total (Net)  54,602.14  55,643.43  10,265.86 

(C) (I) Loans and Advances In India

 (i)  Public Sectors  -    -    -   

 (ii) Others  57,367.04  56,040.66  10,394.37 

Total Gross  57,367.04  56,040.66  10,394.37 

Less: Impairment loss allowance  1,778.71  397.23  128.51 

Total Net  55,588.33  55,643.43  10,265.86 

Less: Allowance for bad and doubtful debts  -    -    -   

(II) Loans and advances Outside India (Net) -  -   -

Total (Net)  55,588.33  55,643.43  10,265.86 

	 Note 1 : There is no loan assets measured at FVOCI or FVTPL or designated at FVTPL.			 

	 Note 2 : �Due to COVID 19 Security creation has not been completed for one of the account having an exposure of 
Rs 3,000 Lakhs and hence treated as unsecured.			 

7.	  Investments

Particulars As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

As at
1st April 2018

Recorded at Amortized cost 

Investment in debentures (unquoted): 

- In others  -    525.00  -   

Nil (31st March 2019: 525; 1st April 2018: Nil) Zero 
coupon optionally convertible debentures issued by 
Rapipay Fintech Holding Private Limited @ Rs. 1 Lakh 
each

Recorded at Fair value through P&L 

In India 

Investment in Liquid mutual fund units  863.41  1,850.53  -   

 863.41  2,375.53  -   

	 Note : 			 

	 The Holding Company had acquired a wholly owned subsidiary - Rapipay Fintech Holding Private Limited (‘RFHPL’) 
by making investment in equity shares of Rs 1 Lakh on September 20, 2019 and converting the investment in 
Optionally Convertible Debentures along with interest of Rs 935.51 Lakhs into Equity shares as per the terms of 
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the agreement on September 21, 2019. The investment in equity shares of RFHPL as at March 31, 2020 was 
Rs 936.51 Lakhs. Further the company has invested Rs. 1,200 Lakhs in equity shares of Rapipay Fintech Private 
Limited (‘RFPL’) during the year ended March 31, 2020, which is a subsidiary of RFHPL.			 

8.	 Other financial assets

 Particulars As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

As at
1st April 2018

 Interest accrued and due  302.89  176.65  121.49 

 Interest accrued but not due on Loans  940.56  814.96  13.38 

 Interest accrued but not due on FD  2.17  4.28  5.44 

 Security deposit  362.68  444.60  143.61 

 Advance Paid to Staff  13.82  14.07  16.34 

 Advance to related parties  -    -    20.09 

 Other advances  17.89  -    -   

 Other financial assets  18.02  -    -   

 1,658.03  1,454.56  320.35 

8A	 Inventory

Particulars As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

As at
1st April 2018

Opening stock  15.21  -    -   

Add:  Purchase  23.43  -    -   

 38.64  -    -   

Less: Closing stock  11.56  -    -   

Cost of materials consumed  27.08  -    -   

9	 Current tax assets (Net)

 Particulars As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

As at
1st April 2018

Advance tax and tax deducted at source 
(Net of provision for tax of Rs. 916.46 Lakhs  
(PY Rs. 215.99 Lakhs)  387.04  86.71  129.71 

 387.04  86.71  129.71 
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10	 Deferred tax assets (Net)

Particulars As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

As at
1st April 2018

Deferred Tax Asset/(Liabilities) Net

Deferred Tax Asset

Impairment on financial instruments  490.01  115.59  35.41 

Provision for employee benefits  72.06  30.69  3.45 

Unamortised processing fee  89.15  135.50  -   

Depreciation  50.89  24.46  -   

Loan given to Staff at concessional rate  0.68  0.46  -   

Amortization adjustment on Lease deposits  15.61  7.90  2.17 

Preliminary expenses & Accumulated losses  1.49  2.31  5.10 

Ind AS 116 Adjustment  38.86  25.84  11.62 

Deferred Tax Liabilities

Interest adjustments on Lease deposits  (14.97)  (7.29)  (1.91)

Depreciation  (31.15)  (0.60)  (3.85)

Unamortised borrowing cost  (21.25)  (42.52)  -   

Unrealised gain on MF  (2.00)  (5.70)  -   

Deferred Tax Asset/(Liabilities) Net  689.38  286.64  51.99 

Movement in Net deferred tax Asset during the year  388.17  234.66  51.99 

Mat credit entitlement  11.06  -    -   

 700.44  286.64  51.99 

	 Note:	 		

	 The Group has recognised Deferred Tax Assets arising from deductible temporary differences to the extent there is 
an evidence of future taxable profit.

Break up of movement in net deferred tax assets

Routed through Profit & Loss  392.31  232.57 

Routed through other comprehensive income  (4.14)  2.09 

 388.17  234.66 
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11	 Property, plant and equipment

Particulars As at March 31, 2020

Furniture & 
Fixtures

Vehicles Office 
Equipments

Leasehold 
improvements

Computer & 
printers

Total

At cost at the beginning of the year  698.07  324.40  185.81  714.65  113.49  2,036.42 

Additions  93.05  -    84.11  250.48  71.85  499.49 

Disposals  -    8.00  0.44  -    2.08  10.52 

At cost at the end of the year  791.12  316.40  269.48  965.13  183.26 2,525.39 

Accumulated depreciation as at the beginning of the year  76.20  43.55  34.41  172.19  27.93  354.28 

Depreciation for the year  76.66  64.59  52.43  209.37  39.58  442.63 

Disposals  -    2.10  0.03  -    0.50  2.63 

Accumulated depreciation as at the end of the year  152.86  106.04  86.81  381.56  67.01  794.28 

Net carrying amount as at the end of the year  638.26  210.36  182.67  583.57  116.25 1,731.11 

Particulars As at March 31, 2019

Furniture & 
Fixtures

Vehicles Office 
Equipments

Leasehold 
improvements

Computer & 
printers

Total

At cost at the beginning of the year  440.49  -    85.82  305.04  41.32  872.67 

Additions  241.75  340.40  78.84  330.45  54.30  1,045.74 

Disposals  18.11  16.00  -    -    9.65  43.76 

At cost at the end of the year  664.13  324.40  164.66  635.49  85.97 1,874.65 

Accumulated depreciation as at the beginning of the year  14.63  -    3.65  21.19  3.21  42.68 

Depreciation for the year  61.28  43.90  28.90  148.29  23.84  306.21 

Disposals  0.76  0.35  -    -    1.42  2.53 

Accumulated depreciation as at the end of the year  75.15  43.55  32.55  169.48  25.63  346.36 

Net carrying amount as at the end of the year  588.98  280.85  132.11  466.01  60.34 1,528.29 

Particulars As at 1st April 2018

Furniture & 
Fixtures

Vehicles Office 
Equipments

Leasehold 
improvements

Computer & 
printers

Total

At cost at the beginning of the year  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Additions  440.49  -    85.82  305.04  41.32  872.67 

Disposals  -    -    -    -    -    -   

At cost at the end of the year  440.49  -    85.82  305.04  41.32  872.67 

Accumulated depreciation as at the beginning of the year  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Depreciation for the year  14.63  -    3.65  21.19  3.21  42.68 

Disposals  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Accumulated depreciation as at the end of the year  14.63  -    3.65  21.19  3.21  42.68 

Net carrying amount as at the end of the year  425.86  -    82.17  283.85  38.11  829.99 
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11A	Other intangible assets

As at March 31, 2020                                                                              
Particulars Computer softwares Other Intangible 

assets
Total

At cost, beginning of the year  256.68  -    256.68 

Additions  291.31  -    291.31 

Total cost  547.99  -    547.99 

Accumulated amortization:

At beginning of the year  41.81  -    41.81 

Amortization  36.95  -    36.95 

Total amortization  78.76  -    78.76 
Net carrying amount  469.23  -    469.23 

As at March 31, 2019                                                                             
Particulars Computer softwares Other Intangible 

assets
Total

At cost, beginning of the year  2.60  -    2.60 

Additions  3.40  -    3.40 

Total cost  6.00  -    6.00 

Accumulated amortization :  -    -    -   

At beginning of the year  0.23  -    0.23 

Amortization  1.64  -    1.64 

Total amortization  1.87  -    1.87 
Net carrying amount  4.13  -    4.13 

As at 1st April 2018
Particulars Computer softwares Other Intangible 

assets
Total

At cost, beginning of the year  -    -    -   

Additions  2.60  -    2.60 

Total cost  2.60  -    2.60 

Accumulated amortization :  -    -    -   

At beginning of the year  -    -    -   

Amortization  0.23  -    0.23 

Total amortization  0.23  -    0.23 
Net carrying amount  2.37  -    2.37 

11B	 Right of Use assets

 Particulars As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

As at
1st April 2018

Premises

Gross Carrying value  2,141.11  1,758.95  1,758.95 

Additions  1,101.64  382.16  -   

Total Gross carrying value  3,242.75  2,141.11  1,758.95 

Accumulated amortization :

At beginning of the year  669.54  136.61  -   

Amortization  672.39  457.43  136.61 

Total amortization   1,341.93  594.04  136.61 

Net carrying amount  1,900.82  1,547.07  1,622.34 
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12.	 Other non-financial assets

 Particulars As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

As at
1st April 2018

Prepaid Expenses A/c  99.88  63.54  81.78 

Advance Paid to Suppliers  12.28  19.84  137.59 

Capital advances  7.70  -    -   

GST Input Credit  333.32  131.93  3.12 

Advance to service providers  25.79  -    -   

Unamortised Borrowing costs  87.48  146.01  -   

 566.45  361.32  222.49 

13	 Payables

 Particulars As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

As at
1st April 2018

Trade payables 

(i)  �total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small 
enterprises  0.16  8.10  -   

(ii) �total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro 
enterprises and small enterprises  133.46  109.54  34.16 

Other payables

(i)  �total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small 
enterprises  -    -    -   

(ii) �total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro 
enterprises and small enterprises  44.81  -    -   

 178.43  117.64  34.16 

Disclosure under MSMED Act , 2006, to the extent the Company has received information from the Suppliers 
regarding their status			 

Details of dues to Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises as per the confirmation received from the parties following is the 
status of MSME parties.

 Particulars As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

As at
1st April 2018

The Principal amount remaining unpaid at the end 
of the year  0.16  8.10  -   

The Interest amount remaining unpaid at the end of the 
year  -    -    -   

Balance of MSME parties at the end of the year  0.16  8.10  -   

No interest has been paid/is payable by the Group during/for the year to these ‘Suppliers’. The above information takes 
into account only those suppliers who have submitted their registration details or has responded to the inquiries made by 
the Group for this purpose. This has been relied upon by the Auditors.
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14	 Debt Securities

 Particulars As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

As at
1st April 2018

At Amortised Cost
Unsecured

(a) �Non convertible debentures (40 debentures  
@ Rs 100 Lakhs each)  4,000.00  -    -   

Total  4,000.00  -    -   

Terms of repayment:

Particulars Rate of interest Repayment details

Non convertible debentures 9% Payable after 18 months

14A	Borrowings

Particulars As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

As at
1st April 2018

At Amortised Cost 

Secured 

    (a) Term loans 

       (i) from banks  7,645.54  12,679.69  -   

      (ii) from other parties  541.20  -    -   

   (b) Other loans - Book Overdraft  -    -    1,105.32 

Total  8,186.74  12,679.69  1,105.32 

Borrowings in India  8,186.74  12,679.69  1,105.32 

Borrowings outside India  -    -    -   

Total   8,186.74  12,679.69  1,105.32 

Additional information:
i) There are no borrowings measured at FVTPL or designated at FVTPL.
ii) Security details

Particulars Outstanding 
Amount

Secured by Terms of repayment

Term loan from banks  7,500.00 Pari passu charge 
on standard 

asset portfolio of 
book debts and 

receivables.

10 Equated quarterly 
repayments starting 

at the end of 6 
months from the 
disbursement date

Vehicle loans  145.54 Hypothecation on 
vehicles

60 Equated Monthly 
instalments

Term loan from UGRO Capital Limited  481.60 Hypothecation of 
Loan Book

Equated Monthly 
Instalments

Term loan from Ambit Finvest Private Limited  59.60 i) Hypothecation of 
Loan Book 

ii) Corporate 
Guarantee given by 
Parent Company

Equated Monthly 
Instalments

iii)	 The borrowings have not been guaranteed by directors or others. 

iv)	 Additionally the Company has not defaulted in repayment of principal and interest during the year and as at Balance 
sheet date.
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15	 Deposits	 	

Particulars As at March 31, 2020                                                                              
 At Amortised 

Cost 
 At Fair Value 

Through profit or 
loss 

 Designated at 
fair value through 

profit or loss 

 Total 

1 2 3 (4)=(1)+(2)+(3)

Deposits - Unsecured 

From others  

Inter corporate deposits  -    -    -    -   

 -    -    -    -   

Particulars As at March 31, 2019                                                                            
 At Amortised 

Cost 
 At Fair Value 

Through profit or 
loss 

 Designated at 
fair value through 

profit or loss 

 Total 

1 2 3 (4)=(1)+(2)+(3)

Deposits - Unsecured 

From others  

Inter corporate deposits  550.00  -    -    550.00 

 550.00  -    -    550.00 

Particulars As at 1st April 2018
 At Amortised 

Cost 
 At Fair Value 

Through profit or 
loss 

 Designated at 
fair value through 

profit or loss 

 Total 

1 2 3 (4)=(1)+(2)+(3)
Deposits - Unsecured 
From others  
Inter corporate deposits  700.00  -    -    700.00 

 700.00  -    -    700.00 

- Inter corporate deposits was raised at an interest rate of 8% and repaid in FY 2019-20 				  
- The Group has not defaulted in repayment of principal and interest during the year and as at Balance sheet date.

16 	 Other financial liabilities		

Particulars As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

As at
1st April 2018

Interest accrued but not due on borrowings  62.63  205.64  55.27 

Interest accrued but not due on NCD  77.70  -    -   

Advances deposits from customer  157.90  83.40  -   

Advances from channel partner  2,514.41  -    -   

Unclaimed dividends  1.53  1.53  -   

Creditors for capital goods  3.05  14.06  22.93 

Lease Liability  2,093.65  1,645.40  1,685.15 

Others (refer note)  536.00  -    -   

 5,446.87  1,950.03  1,763.35 

Note : Others includes refunds payable to Agents

Notes to the Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)
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17 	  Current Tax Liabilities

Particulars As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

As at
1st April 2018

Provision for tax (Net of advance tax of  
Rs. 1,057.16 Lakhs (PY Rs. 656.90 Lakhs))  383.34  43.56  -   

 383.34  43.56  -   

17A 	Provisions

Particulars As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

As at
1st April 2018

Provision for employee benefits 

Provision for gratuity  73.91  27.08  1.36 

Provision for compensated absence   76.59  36.13  11.17 

Provision for performance bonus  72.01  285.00  -   

 222.51  348.21  12.53 

18 	 Other non financial liabilities

Particulars As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

As at
1st April 2018

 Unamortised processing fee income  371.26  465.80  -   

 Revenue received in advance  0.03  0.88  -   

 Unamortised Interest income  8.81  -    -   

 Statutory dues payable  266.48  108.45  223.61 

 646.58  575.13  223.61 

19	 Equity share capital

Particulars  As at  31st March 2020  As at  31st March 2019 As at 1st April 2018

 Number Amount  Number Amount  Number Amount

Authorized share capital

Equity shares of  Rs. 10 
each

20,40,00,000 20,400.00 20,40,00,000 20,400.00 20,40,00,000 20,400.00 

Preference shares of  Rs. 
10 each

 1,00,00,000  1,000.00  1,00,00,000  1,000.00  1,00,00,000  1,000.00 

21,40,00,000 21,400.00 21,40,00,000 21,400.00 21,40,00,000 21,400.00 

Issued, subscribed and 
fully paid up

Equity shares of  Rs. 10 
each

 7,77,34,260  7,773.43  7,77,34,260  7,773.43  35,02,700  350.27 

Total issued, subscribed 
and fully paid up share 
capital

7,77,34,260  7,773.43  7,77,34,260  7,773.43  35,02,700  350.27 

Notes to the Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)
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a.	 Reconciliation of the shares and amount outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the reporting 
period:

Particulars  As at  31st March 2020  As at  31st March 2019 As at 1st April 2018
 Number Amount  Number Amount  Number Amount

At the beginning of the 
year

 7,77,34,260  7,773.43  35,02,700  350.27  35,02,700  350.27 

Add : Allotment during 
the year

 -    -    7,42,31,560  7,423.16  -    -   

Outstanding at the end 
of the year

 7,77,34,260  7,773.43  7,77,34,260  7,773.43  35,02,700  350.27 

	 The Company had allotted 3,96,83,000 equity shares of the face value of Rs.10 each on preferential basis through 
private placement, at a price of Rs. 63 each (including a premium of Rs. 53 each) aggregating to Rs.2,50,00,29,000 
during the year ended 31st March 2019.

	 The Company has allotted 3,45,48,560 equity shares of Rs. 10 each, at a price of Rs. 72 each, (including a premium 
of Rs. 62 each), on rights basis aggregating to Rs. 2,48,74,96,320 during the year ended 31st March 2019. 
The proceeds has been utilised by the Company for the objects of the issue, other than temporary deployment.	

b.	 Terms and rights attached to fully paid up equity shares:						    

	 The Company has only one type of equity shares having par value of Rs. 10 each. All shares rank pari passu with 
respect to dividend, voting rights and other terms. Each shareholder is entitled to one vote per share. The dividend 
proposed, if any, by the Board of Directors is subject to approval of shareholders in the ensuing Annual General 
Meeting, except in case of interim dividend. The repayment of equity share capital in the event of liquidation and 
buy back of shares are possible subject to prevalent regulations. In the event of liquidation, normally the equity 
shareholders are eligible to receive the remaining assets of the company after distribution of all preferential amounts, 
in proportion to their holdings.										       

c.	 Shares in the Company held by each shareholder holding more than 5% shares

Particulars  As at  31st March 2020  As at  31st March 2019 As at 1st April 2018
 Number %  Number %  Number %

Equity shares of  Rs. 10 each

Capital India Corp LLP  5,67,75,720 73.04% 5,67,75,720 73.04%  22,32,300 63.73%

Dharampal Satyapal Limited  61,97,800 7.97%  48,97,800 6.30%  3,97,800 11.36%

DS Chewing Products LLP  43,16,800 5.50%  56,16,800 7.23%  -   0.00%

6,72,90,320 86.51%  6,72,90,320 86.56% 26,30,100 75.09%

 					   
20	 Other Equity

Particulars As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

As at  
1st April 2018

Statutory Reserve under Section 45-IC of the RBI Act, 
1934 887.35  279.71  75.80 

Securities premium  42,119.48  42,119.40  -   

Employee stock option outstanding account  138.93  46.14  -   

General reserve  1.76  1.76  1.76 

Retained earnings  1,187.26  540.07  135.17 

Other comprehensive income  6.51  (5.08)  -   

Advance towards share application money  -    -    12,500.00 

 44,341.29  42,982.00  12,712.73 

Notes to the Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)
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Notes:			

i)	 Statutory Reserve under Section 45-IC of the RBI Act, 1934:			 

	 The Company created a reserve pursuant to section 45 IC the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 by transferring 
amount not less than twenty per cent of its net profit every year as disclosed in the Statement of Profit and Loss and 
before any dividend is declared.		

ii)	 Securities premium:			

	 The amount received in excess of face value of the equity shares is recognised in Securities Premium Account. In 
case of equity-settled share based payment transactions, the difference between fair value on grant date and nominal 
value of share is accounted as securities premium account. The account is utilised in accordance with the provisions 
of the Companies Act 2013.			 

iii)	 Employee stock option outstanding account:	 		

	 The reserve is used to recognise the fair value of the options issued to employees of the Company and subsidiary 
companies under Group’s employee stock option scheme.		

iv)	 General reserve:	 		

	 Under the erstwhile Companies Act 1956, general reserve was created through an annual transfer of net income at a 
specified percentage in accordance with applicable regulations. Consequent to introduction of Companies Act 2013, 
the requirement to mandatorily transfer a specified percentage of the net profit to general reserve has been withdrawn. 
However, the amount previously transferred to the general reserve can be utilised only in accordance with the 
specific requirements of Companies Act, 2013.			 

v)	 Retained earnings:	 		

	 Retained earnings represents surplus/accumulated earnings of the Group and are available for distribution to 
shareholders.			 

vi)	 Advance towards share application money:			 

	 During the year ended 31st March 2019, the Company had refunded back an amount of Rs. 12,500 Lakhs received 
from Capital India Corp LLP as advance against share application money towards its entitlement under the Rights 
issue of the Company.

21	 Interest income 			 

Particulars  For the year ended 
March 31, 2020

 For the year ended 
March 31, 2019

Interest on Loans  10,589.82  4,575.71 
Interest income on OCD  35.51  -   
Interest income on Vendor financing  16.75  -   
Interest on deposits with Banks  60.72  145.26 
Other interest income  39.26  18.29 

 10,742.06  4,739.26 

	 Note: Interest income is on financial instruments classified under amortised cost

22	 Net gain/ (loss) on fair value changes	

Particulars  For the year ended 
March 31, 2020

 For the year ended 
March 31, 2019

Net gain/ (loss) on financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss 
account :-
Mutual fund units  207.33  284.92 

Debentures  18.00  -   

Total Net gain/(loss) on fair value changes  225.33  284.92 
Fair Value changes* 
Realised  217.40  262.98 
Unrealised  7.93  21.94 

	  *Fair value changes in this schedule are other than those arising on account of interest income/expense

Notes to the Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)
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23	 Other income

Particulars  For the year ended 
March 31, 2020

 For the year ended 
March 31, 2019

 Misc. income  0.13  0.00 

 Profit & loss on sale of fixed asset  -    0.11 

 Revenue from Space sharing  -    6.37 

 Interest on income tax refund  1.84  4.54 

 Cheque bouncing charges  0.19  -   

 Other non operating income  0.01  -   

 2.17  11.02 
.	 					   
24	 Finance cost

Particulars  For the year ended 
March 31, 2020

 For the year ended 
March 31, 2019

 Interest on borrowings  1,038.63  649.16 

 Interest on debt securities  77.70  -   

 Interest on Inter corporate deposits  26.88  87.06 

 Bank charges  235.07  0.23 

 Interest on Lease Liability  227.77  162.94 

 Other borrowing costs  63.46  44.36 

 1,669.51  943.75 
	 				  
25A	 Impairment losses on financial instruments

Particulars  For the year ended 
March 31, 2020

 For the year ended 
March 31, 2019

On Loans  1,381.48  268.72 

On Trade receivables  13.12  -   

 1,394.60  268.72 
	 				  
25B	 Loss on derecognition on financial assets

Particulars  For the year ended 
March 31, 2020

 For the year ended 
March 31, 2019

On Receivables  130.00  -   

 130.00  -   
	 				  
26	 Employee benefits

Particulars  For the year ended 
March 31, 2020

 For the year ended 
March 31, 2019

Salaries and wages including bonus  3,523.01  1,799.96 

Contribution to provident and other funds  161.47  74.92 

Share Based Payments to employees  92.87  46.14 

Staff welfare expenses  46.04  17.73 

Others:

- Cost for giving loan to employees at concessional rate  1.12  1.56 

 3,824.51  1,940.31 
	 				  

Notes to the Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)
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27	 Other expenses
Particulars  For the year ended 

March 31, 2020
 For the year ended 

March 31, 2019
Rent  15.19  -   

Rate, fee & taxes  65.94  165.96 

Repairs & maintenance - others  116.45  82.03 

Office expenses  100.71  58.45 

Electricity charges  37.47  18.63 

Communication expenses  40.84  23.73 

Printing & stationery  18.37  16.89 

Insurance  9.06  11.44 

Membership & subscription  54.50  30.21 

Travelling & conveyance  201.20  118.72 

Advertisement, marketing & business promotion exp  52.13  55.07 

Commission & brokerage  48.26  10.93 

Auditor's remuneration  48.32  27.97 

Legal & professional charges  277.92  214.48 

Rating fee  6.62  19.08 

Listing fee  5.23  2.82 

Directors sitting fees  26.47  31.40 

Donation  -    2.00 

CSR expense  15.00  -   

Facilitation Fees  4.44  -   

Server Maintenance  36.42  -   

SMS service charges  11.71  -   

License fees  1.95  -   

Miscellaneous expenses  73.37  37.94 

 1,267.57  927.75 

	 				  
28	 Basic and Diluted Earnings per share [EPS] computed in accordance with Indian Accounting Standard (Ind 

AS) 33 “Earnings per Share’’							     

Particulars  For the year ended 
March 31, 2020

 For the year ended 
March 31, 2019

Basic

Profit after tax (Rs. In Lakhs) A  1,723.08  650.98 

Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding B  777.34  421.34 

Basic earning per share (Rs) A/B  2.22  1.55 

Diluted

Profit after tax (Rs. In Lakhs) A  1,723.08  650.98 

Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding B  777.34  421.34 

Add: Weighted average number of potential equity shares 
on account of employee stock options

C  10.34  3.50 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding for 
diluted EPS

D=B+C  787.68  424.84 

Diluted earning per share (before and after extraordinary 
items) (Rs)

A/D  2.19  1.53 

Face value of shares (Rs) 10 10

	 				  

Notes to the Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)
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29	 Expenditure in foreign currency

Particulars  For the year ended 
March 31, 2020

 For the year ended 
March 31, 2019

Tour & travelling expenses  0.60  -   

Legal & professional charges  -    9.42 

Service charge on purchase of forex currency  0.03  -   

Purchase of MATM device for testing  0.37  -   

Purchase of software  0.96  -   

 1.96  9.42 

	 There are no reportable earnings in foreign currency during the year ended 31st March 2020. (31st March 2019: 
Nil)	

	 The Company does not have any exposures in foreign currency as at the Balance Sheet date.	

30	 Disclosure pursuant to Ind AS 108 “Operating Segment”			 

	 Reportable segment is that operating segment which meets any of the following Qualitative thresholds:	

	 a)   �Its revenue, from both external customers and inter-segment transfers is 10% or more of the combined revenue, 
internal and external of all operating segments.			 

	 b)   �The absolute amount of its profit or loss is 10% or more of the greater, in absolute amount of		

	      (i) The combined reported profit of all operating segments.			 

	     (ii) The combined reported loss of all operating segments.			 

	  c) Its assets are 10% or more of the combined assets of all operating segments

	 The Group’s management has identified Lending business and Prepaid payment instrument business as two 
reportable segment based on risk and return of business as a whole.  Since the business operations of the Company 
are concentrated in India, the Company is considered to operate only in the domestic segment and therefore there 
is no reportable geographic segment. Till December 2019 Group was operating in a Single reportable segment. The 
detailed segmental information is as under:			 

S.No Particulars  For the year ended 
March 31, 2020

 For the year ended 
March 31, 2019

1 Segment Revenue
Lending business 5,965.19 11,292.31

Prepaid Payment Instrument business  -   607.17

Total Segment Revenue 5,965.19 11,899.48

2 Segment Results (Profit before Tax)
Lending business  1,123.90 3,346.63

Prepaid Payment Instrument business  -    (904.81)

Others  (4.51)  (7.58)

Total Segment Results  1,119.39 2,434.24

3 Segment Assets

Lending business  66,640.74 65,191.67

Prepaid Payment Instrument business  -   5,439.35

Unallocated  373.34 1,087.49

Others  5.61 7.76

Total Segment Assets  67,019.69  71,726.27 

4 Segment Liabilities

Lending business  16,220.30 15,035.56

Prepaid Payment Instrument business  -   3,642.07

Unallocated  43.56 383.34

Others  0.40 3.50

Total Segment Liabilities  16,264.26  19,064.47 

Notes to the Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)
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31	 Dividend distribution to equity shareholders			 

	 Dividend of Re.0.1 per share (31st March 2019: Re.0.4 per share) amounting to Rs. 77.73 Lakhs (31st March 
2019: Rs. 310.94 Lakhs) is proposed on ordinary shares. The recommended dividend will be accounted for when 
approved by the shareholders in Annual General Meeting.

32	 Disclosure pertaining to corporate social responsibility expenses

	 Amount required to be spent by the Group on Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) related activities during the year 
is Rs 13.10 Lakhs (previous year Rs Nil)						   

	 The amount recognised as an expense in the Statement of Profit and Loss on CSR related activities is Rs 15.00 
Lakhs (Previous year Rs Nil) (Refer Note 27), which comprises of :

Particulars 2019-20 2018-19

In 
cash 

Yet to be paid 
in cash

Total In cash Yet to be paid 
in cash

Total

Amount spent during the year

- Contribution to Trust registered u/s 11 of Income 
Tax Act

 15.00  -    15.00  -    -    -   

Total 15.00  -    15.00  -    -    -   
							       		

 33	 Contingent Liabilities and Commitments

Particulars As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

As at
1st April 2018

Contingent liabilities

Claims against the Group not acknowledged as debt

- Income Tax matters (refer note ii and iii)  268.55  -    -   

Guarantees

- Bank Guarantees  -    124.37  -   

- FLDG guarantee given (net of provision)  21.99  -    -   

- Others - guarantee on behalf of subsidiary  59.60  -    -   

Total (a)  350.14  124.37  -   
Commitments

Estimated amount of contracts(net of advances) 
remaining to be executed on capital account and not 
provided for  1.08  148.64  228.09 

Undrawn committed sanctions to borrowers*  1,829.94  211.00  -   

Total (b)  1,831.02  359.64  228.09 
Total (c=a+b)  2,181.16  484.01  228.09 

Note :				  

i) 	� This disclosure is given pursuant to the notification no. DNBS.CC.PD.No. 252/03.10.01/2011-12 dated December 
26, 2011 issued by Reserve Bank of India.				  

	 There are no long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which there were any material foreseeable 
losses.	

ii) 	� In case of AY 2013-14 the AO had computed a tax liability of Rs.252.48 Lakhs against which the Group had filed 
an appeal with CIT (A). The CIT( A) vide order dated 16th April 2019 had decided the case in favour of the Group. 
The Income tax department had filed the case with ITAT, and the matter is pending at ITAT. The management of the 
Group believes the chances of any liability arising out of the case against the Group is remote.	

Notes to the Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)
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iii) �	 In case of AY 2015-16 the AO had computed a tax liability of Rs 16.07 Lakhs against which the Group had filed 
an appeal with CIT (A). The CIT(A) vide order dated 8th July 2019 had decided the case in favour of the Group. 
The Income tax department had filed the case with ITAT, and the matter is pending at ITAT. The management of the 
Group believes the chances of any liability arising out of the case against the Group is remote.			 

34	 The following subsidiary company has been considered in the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements:	

Name of the entity Relationship Country of 
incorporation

Ownership held 
by

Percentage (%) of 
ownership Interest

March 
31, 2020

March 
31, 2019

Capital India Home Loans  Limited Subsidiary India Capital India 
Finance  Limited

99.70% 100%

Capital India Assets Management Private 
Limited

Subsidiary India Capital India 
Finance  Limited

100% 100%

CIFL Holdings Private Limited Subsidiary India Capital India 
Finance  Limited

100% 100%

CIFL Investment Manager Private Limited Subsidiary India Capital India 
Finance  Limited

100% 100%

Capital India Wealth Management Private 
Limited

Subsidiary India Capital India 
Finance  Limited

100% 100%

Rapipay Fintech Holding Private Limited  
(w.e.f. September 21, 2019)

Subsidiary India Capital India 
Finance  Limited

100% Nil

Rapipay Fintech Private Limited  
(w.e.f. September 21, 2019)

Subsidiary India Capital India 
Finance  Limited

62.80% Nil

	 Note: The Board of Directors of the Group, in their meeting held on January 27, 2020, have approved the 
amalgamation of Rapipay Fintech Holding Private Limited with Rapipay Fintech Private Limited. The Board believes 
this will simplify the corporate structure and consolidate its similar businesses under single entity. Further, the 
Group has filed a first motion application on March 2, 2020 with National Company Law Tribunal in this respect, 
under section 230 to 232 and other applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Companies 
(Compromise, Arrangements and Amalgamations) Rules, 2016 and the National Company Law Tribunal Rules.

	
				  

Notes to the Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)
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Notes to the Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)

36	 Disclosure of Related party transactions pursuant to (Ind AS – 24)and Companies act 2013 “Related Party 
Disclosures

	 (i)	 Names of related parties:

Name of the related party Nature of relationship

Atulya Foundation Enterprise over which control is exercised by the Company

Mr. Keshav Porwal Managing Director 

Mr. Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha Executive Director & CEO

Mr. Neeraj Toshniwal Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Rachit Malhotra Company Secretary

Mr. Deepak Vaswan Relative of a person having joint control over the Company

Mr. Yogendra Pal Singh Independent Director

Mr. Vinod Somani Independent Director

Mr. Vineet Kumar Saxena Whole Time Director and Chief Executive Officer of Subsidiary company

Sukhdev Singh Kahyap Relative of KMP of Subsidiary company

Mr. Yogendra Singh Kashyap Managing Director of Subsidiary company

Mr. Ankit Ghanshyam Lahoti Executive Director of Subsidiary company

Sahyog Homes Limited Enterprise where key management personnel exercise significant influence

Capital India Corp LLP Enterprise having significant influence and control

	 Note: Related party and their relationships are reported only where the Company has transactions with those 
parties during the current year / previous year.

(ii)	 Details of transaction with related parties are as under:

Related party Nature of transaction March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019

Atulya Foundation CSR Expenses  15.00  -   

Sahyog Homes Limited Reimbursement of expenses  -    15.03 

Capital India Corp LLP Repayment of Advance towards share application 
money

 -    12,500.00 

Issue of equity share  992.50  - 

Mr. Deepak Vaswan Remuneration paid  15.35 

Mr. Keshav Porwal Remuneration paid  190.73  110.00 

Mr. Amit Sahai Kulshreshtha Remuneration paid  199.60  109.99 

Mr. Vineet Kumar Saxena Remuneration paid  167.64  124.68 

Mr. Neeraj Toshniwal Remuneration paid  100.79  65.38 

Mr. Rachit Malhotra Remuneration paid  46.88  25.75 

Mr. Yogendra Pal Singh Sitting fees paid  12.05  1.00 

Mr. Vinod Somani Sitting fees paid  12.40  10.15 

Sukhdev Singh Kahyap Opening balance  10.00  -   

Loan repayment  10.00  -   

Loan written back  -    -   

Mr. Yogendra Singh Kashyap Remuneration paid  84.50  -   

Mr. Ankit Ghanshyam Lahoti Remuneration paid  40.00  -   

	 Note: Remuneration paid excludes amounts pertaining to gratuity and compensated absences, which are actuarially 
valued at the Company level.			 
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Notes to the Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)

37	 Employee benefits

	 Defined Contribution Plan - Provident Fund (PF) Contribution		

	 The Group makes contributors towards PF, in respect of qualifying employees. The amount recognised as an 
expense and included in Note 26 “Employee Benefits” under the head “Contribution to Provident and Other Funds” 
are as under.	

	 The employees of the Group are members of a retirement contribution plan operated by the government. The 
Group is required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll cost to the retirement contribution scheme to fund 
the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the plan is to make the specified contributions.

(Rs in lakhs)

Particulars FY 2019-20 FY 2018-19

Employer’s Contribution to Provident Fund  101.35  56.36 

	 Defined Benefit Plan - Gratuity	 	

	 The Group has a defined benefit gratuity plan, under which every employee who has completed atleast five years of 
service gets a gratuity on departure @15 days of last drawn basic salary for each completed year of service.

	 The plan is of a final salary defined benefit in nature which is sponsored by the Group and hence it underwrites all 
the risks pertaining to the plan. The actuarial risks associated are:

	 Interest Rate Risk: 		

	 The risk of government security yields falling due to which the corresponding discount rate used for valuing liabilities 
falls. Such a fall in discount rate will result in a larger value placed on the future benefit cash flows whilst computing 
the liability and thereby requiring higher accounting provisioning.

	 Longevity Risks:		

	 Longevity risks arises when the quantum of benefits payable under the plan is based on how long the employee lives 
post cessation of service with the Group. The gratuity plan provides the benefit in a lump sum form and since the 
benefit is not payable as an annuity for the rest of the lives of the employees, there is no longevity risks.

	 Salary Risks:		

	 The gratuity benefits under the plan are related to the employee’s last drawn salary. Consequently, any unusual rise 
in future salary of the employee raises the quantum of benefit payable by the Group, which results in a higher liability 
for the Group and is therefore a plan risk for the Group.

	 The estimates of the future salary increases, considered in actuarial valuation, include inflation, seniority, promotion 
and other relevant factors such as supply and demand in the employment market. The discount rate is based on the 
prevailing market yield on government securities as at the balance sheet date for the estimated average remaining 
service.		

	 The disclosure as required by Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) -19 “Employee Benefits” is as under.

Particulars As at 
March 31, 2020

As at 
March 31, 2019

I. Assumption

Mortality rate IALM (2012-14) 
Ultimate

IALM (2012-14) 
Ultimate

Interest / Discount Rate 6% to 6.87% 7.76% to 7.79%

Rate of increase in compensation 0.0% to 5% [NEXT 
YEAR], 10.0% 

[THEREAFTER]

10.0%

Expected average remaining service 23 to 28 Years 24 to 27 Years
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Notes to the Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)

Particulars As at 
March 31, 2020

As at 
March 31, 2019

II. Reconciliation of net defined benefit (asset)/liability

 (a) Reconciliation of present value of defined benefit obligation

Opening Defined Benefit Obligation  30.84  1.36 
Interest Cost  2.34  -   
Current Service Cost  57.10  17.19 
Transfer in of liability  -    1.36 
Actuarial (Gains) / Losses  (16.36)  7.17 
Closing Defined Benefit Obligation  73.92  27.08 
(b)  Reconciliation of present value of plan asset

Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of year  -    -   
Transfer in of Funds  -    -   
Interest Income  -    -   
Contributions  -    -   
Benefits paid  -    -   
Return on Plan Assets excluding Interest Income  -    -   
Fair value of plan assets at the end of year  -    -   
(c) Reconciliation of net defined benefit (asset)/liability

Present value of obligation as at the end of year  73.92  27.08 
Fair value of plan assets as at the end of year  -    -   
Funded status  73.92  27.08 
Recognised in Balance Sheet - (Asset) / Liability  73.92  27.08 
III. Actuarial (Gain)/Loss on Obligation

Due to Demographic Assumption  (1.94)  0.00 
Due to Financial Assumption  (0.46)  3.95 
Due to Experience  (13.96)  3.22 
Net Actuarial (Gain)/ Loss on obligation  (16.36)  7.17 
IV. Actual Return on Plan Assets

Actual Interest Income  -    -   
Expected Interest Income  -    -   
Return on Plan Assets excluding Interest Income  -    -   
V. Net Interest

Interest Expense  2.11  -   
Interest Income  0.23  -   
Net Interest Exp/(Income)  2.34  -   
VI. Expenses Recognised in Profit and Loss account under

Employee benefit expenses

Current Service Cost  57.10  17.19 
Net Interest Exp/(Income)  2.34  -   
Past Service Cost (vested benefits)  -    1.36 
Expenses recognised in Profit and Loss Account  59.44  18.55 
VII. Remeasurements recognised in Other Comprehensive Income

Net Actuarial (Gain)/ Loss on obligation  (16.36)  7.17 
Return on Plan Assets excluding Interest Income  -    -   
Total Actuarial (Gain)/ Loss recognised in OCI  (16.36)  7.17 
VIII. Others

Weighted average duration of defined benefit obligation 11 to 24 years 13 to 14 years



186  | Annual Report 2019-20

Notes to the Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)

	 Sensitivity analysis :		

	 Sensitivity analysis for significant actuarial assumptions, showing how the defined benefit obligation would be 
affected, considering increase/decrease of 100 basis points as at 31.03.20 is as below :

Particulars As at 
March 31, 2020

As at 
March 31, 2019

I. Assumption

Change in rate of Discount Rate + 100 basis points  65.58  23.86 

Change in rate of Discount Rate- 100 basis points  83.84  31.67 

Change in rate of Salary Escalation Rate + 100 basis points  81.24  31.34 

Change in rate of Salary Escalation Rate - 100 basis points  67.27  24.03 

	
	 The Expected Payout as at 31st March 2020 are as under:

Particulars As at 
March 31, 2020

As at 
March 31, 2019

Year 1  0.05  -   

Year 2  0.05  -   

Year 3  3.83  -   

Year 4  4.71  0.19 

Year 5  4.96  1.58 

Year 6 to year 10  33.08  11.14 

	 Notes: 		

	 Since the gratuity plan and Leave encashment plan of the Group is not funded, and hence the disclosure related to 
plan assets are not applicable.		

	 The Group has recognised Rs. 32.13 (31st March 2019: Rs. 24.96) for compensated absences in Statement of 
Profit and Loss for current year. Total provision for compensated absences is Rs. 76.59 as at 31st March 2020 
(31st March 2019: Rs. 36.13).		

38	 Employee Stock Option Plan	

	 CIFL EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLAN 2018				  

	 The shareholders of the Holding Company passed a resolution through postal ballot/ e-voting on 23rd September 
2018 for approval of the issue of 35,00,000 options under the Scheme titled “CIFL EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION 
PLAN 2018” (ESOP SCHEME). 				  

	 The ESOP Scheme allows the issue of options to employees of the Holding Company and its subsidiaries (whether 
in India or abroad). Each option comprises one underlying equity share.				  

	 As per the ESOP Scheme, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors grants the 
options to the employees deemed eligible. The Exercise Price for the Options shall be determined by the Board 
which shall not be less than the face value of the Shares of the Holding Company as on date of Grant. The options 
granted vest not earlier than minimum period of 1 (One) year and not later than maximum period of 5 (Five) years 
from the date of Grant. The Board at its discretion may grant Options specifying Vesting Period ranging from 
minimum and maximum period as afore-stated. The Exercise Period in respect of Vested Options shall be period 
as specified in the Grant Letter, which period shall not be more than 5 (Five) years from the date of Vesting of 
Options.			 
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	 Method used for accounting for shared based payment plan.				  

	 The Group uses fair value to account for the compensation cost of stock options to employees of the 
Group.	

	 Movement in the options outstanding under the Employees Stock Option Plan for the year ended 31 March 
2020 and 31 March 2019

Particulars Year ended March 2020 Year ended March 2019

Options 
(Numbers)

Weighted average 
exercise price per 

option (Rs.)

Options 
(Numbers)

Weighted average 
exercise price per 

option (Rs.)

Option outstanding at the beginning of the year  16,35,000 72  -    -   

Granted during the year  4,15,000 72 16,35,000 72

Vested during the year  4,08,750 72  -    -   

Exercised during the year  -    -    -    -   

Lapsed during the year  -    -    -    -   

Options outstanding at the end of the year  20,50,000 72 16,35,000 72

Options available for grant  14,50,000 72 18,65,000 72

	 Weighted average remaining contractual life for options outstanding as at 31st March 2020 is 1 year 7 
months (Previous year 2 years and 1 month).

	 CIHL EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLAN 2018				  

	 In the extraordinary general meeting held on 8 August 2018, the shareholders approved the issue of 12,500,000 
options under the Scheme titled “CIHL EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLAN 2018” (ESOP SCHEME). 	

	 The ESOP Scheme allows the issue of options to employees of the Company and its Holding Company (whether 
in India or abroad). Each option comprises one underlying equity share.				  

	 As per the ESOP Scheme, the Board grants the options to the employees deemed eligible. The Exercise Price for 
the Options shall be determined by the Board/NRC which shall not be less than the face value of the Shares of the 
Company as on date of Grant. The options granted vest not earlier than minimum period of 1 (One) year and not 
later than maximum period of 5 (Five) years from the date of Grant. The Board/NRC at its discretion may grant 
Options specifying Vesting Period ranging from minimum and maximum period as afore-stated. The Exercise 
Period in respect of Vested Options shall be period as specified in the Grant Letter, which period shall not be more 
than 5 (Five) years from the date of Vesting of Options.

	 Movement in the options outstanding under the Employees Stock Option Plan for the year ended 31 March 
2020 and 31 March 2019

Particulars Year ended March 2020 Year ended March 2019

Options 
(Numbers)

Weighted average 
exercise price per 

option (Rs.)

Options 
(Numbers)

Weighted average 
exercise price per 

option (Rs.)

Option outstanding at the beginning of the year  82,55,000 10  -    -   

Granted during the year  50,000 10  82,55,000 10

Vested during the year  33,02,000 10  -    -   

Exercised during the year  25,000 10  -    -   

Lapsed during the year  -    -    -    -   

Options outstanding at the end of the year  82,80,000 10  82,55,000 10

Options available for grant  41,95,000 10  42,45,000 10

	 Weighted average remaining contractual life for options outstanding as at 31st March 2020 is 4 months 
(Previous year 1 year and 4 months).
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	 The fair value of the options has been determined under the Black-Scholes model. The assumptions used 
in this model for calculating fair value are as below: 	 			 

Assumptions CIFL EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION 
PLAN 2018

CIHL EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION 
PLAN 2018

As at  
31st March 2020

As at  
31st March 2020

As at  
31st March 2020

As at  
31st March 2020

Risk-free interest rate 6.62% - 7.10% 6.62% - 7.10% 6.6% to 7.2% 6.6% to 7.2%

Expected life of the option 1 year to 4 years 1 year to 4 years 1 year to 4 years 1 year to 4 years

Expected annual volatility of shares 18% 18% 13% to 16.7% 13% to 16.7%

Expected dividend yield 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

	 The above management assumption has been relied upon by the Auditors.

	 During the year ended 31st March 2020, the Group recorded an employee stock compensation expense of Rs. 
92.87 Lakhs (Previous year Rs. 46.14 Lakhs) in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

39	 Disclosure Pursuant to Ind AS 116 “Leases” 		

	 The Group has adopted Ind AS 116 ‘Leases’ with the date of initial application being April 1, 2019. Ind AS 116 
replaces Ind AS 17 – Leases and related interpretation and guidance.			 

	 The Group has applied Ind AS 116 using the full retrospective approach, and accordingly the comparative 
information relating to prior years has been restated.			 

	 In adopting Ind AS 116, the Group has applied the below practical expedients:			 

	 The Group has applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics

	 The Group has treated the leases with remaining lease term of less than 12 months as if they were “short term 
leases”			 

	 The Group has not applied the requirements of Ind AS 116 for leases of low value assets (assets of less than Rs. 10 
Lakhs in value)			 

	 The Group has excluded the initial direct costs from measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of transition

	 The Group has used hindsight, in determining the lease term if the contract contains options to extend or terminate 
the lease

	 Impact of adoption of Ind AS 116 on Balance sheet 

Particulars As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

As at
1st April 2018

Right of use assets  1,900.82  1,547.07  1,622.34 

Lease liabilities  2,093.65  1,645.40  1,685.15 

Derecognition of Lease equalisation reserve  82.58  49.75  60.35 

	 Impact of adoption of Ind AS 116 on Statement of profit and loss

Particulars  For the year ended 
March 31, 2020

 For the year ended 
March 31, 2019

Depreciation on Right of use assets  672.39  457.43 

Interest cost on Lease liability  227.77  162.94 
Interest Income on Lease Deposit  (32.74)  (18.29)
Derecognition of rent  (801.63)  (507.52)
Net deferred Tax impact  (39.50)  (26.44)
Impact on the statement of profit and loss for the period  26.29  68.12 

	 Impact of adoption of Ind AS 116 on Statement of Cash flows			

	 The adoption of Ind AS 116 resulted in Increase in operating cash flows and Decrease in financing cash flows by 
Rs. 690.80 Lakhs (PY Rs. 518.11 Lakhs) as repayment of the lease liabilities and related interest will be classified 
as cash flow from financing activities.
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40	 Disclosure pursuant to Ind AS 12 ‘Income Taxes’

	 (i)	 Tax Expenses recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss

Particulars  For the year ended 
March 31, 2020

 For the year ended 
March 31, 2019

Current tax:
     In respect of current year  1,440.49  700.46 
     In respect of prior years  -    0.52 
Deferred Tax:
Deferred tax relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences  (392.31)  (232.57)
Total Income Tax recognised in profit or loss
     Current tax  1,440.49  700.98 
     Deferred tax  (392.31)  (232.57)
Total  1,048.18  468.41 

(ii)	 Income Tax recognised in Other comprehensive income

Particulars  For the year ended 
March 31, 2020

 For the year ended 
March 31, 2019

Deferred tax related to items recognised in Other comprehensive 
income during the year:
Remeasurement of defined employee benefits  (4.14)  2.09 
Total Income tax recognised in Other comprehensive income  (4.14)  2.09 

(iii)	 Reconciliation of effective tax rate :		

	 The reconciliation of estimated income tax expense at tax rate to income tax expense reported in profit or loss is as 
follows :	 	

Particulars  For the year ended 
March 31, 2020

 For the year ended 
March 31, 2019

Profit before Tax  2,434.24  1,119.39 

Enacted income tax rate (%) 25.17% 29.12%

Income tax expense calculated at applicable income tax rate  612.70  325.97 

Tax effect of adjustments to reconcile expected income tax expense to 
reported income tax expense:

Expenses that are not deductible for tax purposes  1,000.91  621.34 

Deductions available under income tax  (173.12)  (246.85)

Income tax for earlier year  -    0.52 

Income Tax expense recognised in profit and loss  1,440.49  700.98 

Deferred Tax recognised in profit and loss  (392.31)  (232.57)

Tax recognised in profit and loss  1,048.18  468.41 
Actual effective income tax rate (%) 43.06% 41.84%

	 The Group has recognised Deferred Tax Assets arising from deductible temporary differences to the extent there is 
an evidence of future taxable profit. The Group has not recognised Deferred Tax Assets on Unabsorbed Losses as 
at March 31, 2020
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(iv)	 Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities	 	

Particulars As at
31st March 2020

As at
31st March 2019

As at
1st April 2018

Deferred Tax Asset/(Liabilities) Net

Deferred Tax Asset

Impairment on financial instruments  490.01  115.59  35.41 

Provision for employee benefits  72.06  30.69  3.45 

Unamortised processing fee  89.15  135.50  -   

Depreciation  50.89  24.46  -   

Loan given to Staff at concessional rate  0.68  0.46  -   

Amortization adjustment on Lease deposits  15.61  7.90  2.17 

Preliminary expenses & Accumulated losses  1.49  2.31  5.10 

Ind AS 116 Adjustment  38.86  25.84  11.62 

Deferred Tax Liabilities

Interest adjustments on Lease deposits  (14.97)  (7.29)  (1.91)

Depreciation  (31.15)  (0.60)  (3.85)

Unamortised borrowing cost  (21.25)  (42.52)  -   

Unrealised gain on MF  (2.00)  (5.70)  -   

Deferred Tax Asset/(Liabilities) Net  689.38  286.64  51.99 

Movement in Net deferred tax Asset during the year  388.17  234.66  51.99 

 Mat credit entitlement  11.06  -    -   

  700.44  286.64  51.99 

(v)	 Movement in temporary differences

Particulars  For the year ended 
March 31, 2020

 For the year ended 
March 31, 2019

Credit / (Charge) in the Statement of Profit and Loss during the period 

Impairment on financial instruments  374.41  80.19 

Provision for employee benefits  45.51  25.15 

Unamortised processing fee  (46.35)  135.50 

Depreciation  (4.13)  27.71 

Loan given to Staff at concessional rate  0.22  0.46 

Amortization adjustment on Lease deposits  7.71  5.73 

Preliminary expenses & Accumulated losses  (0.82)  (2.79)

Ind AS 116 Adjustment  13.02  14.22 

Interest adjustments on Lease deposits  (7.68)  (5.38)

Unamortised borrowing cost  21.27  (42.52)

Unrealised gain on MF  3.71  (5.70)

Net deferred tax asset at on acquisition of RFPL  (14.56)  -   

Total (a)  392.31  232.57 
Credit / (Charge) in the other comprehensive income during the 
period

Provisions - employee benefits (b)  (4.14)  2.09 

Total (a)+(b)  388.17  234.66 
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42	 Capital Management	 	

	 The objective of the Group’s Capital Management is to maximise shareholder value, safeguard business continuity 
and support the growth and continue as going concern. The Group determines the capital requirement based on 
annual operating plans and long-term and other strategic investment plans. The funding requirements are met 
through loans and operating cash flows generated.		

	 For the purpose of the Group’s capital management capital includes issued capital and equity reserves. The primary 
objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that the Group complies with RBI prescribed Capital 
adequacy requirements and maintains adequate capital to support its business and maximise shareholders value. The 
Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in the light of changes in economic environment and 
the requirements of the financial covenants.

43	 Financial Risk Management				  

	 The respective Board of Directors of the group through its respective committees has overall responsibility for 
the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. They oversees how management monitors 
compliance with the risk management policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management 
framework in relation to the risks.		

	 The risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced, to set appropriate risk limits and 
controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly 
to reflect changes in market conditions.			 

	 The Group has exposure to the following risks arising from its business operations:	

	 i)	 Credit risk				  

	 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty fails to meet an obligation under a contract. 
Lending activities account for most of the Group’s credit risk. Other sources of credit risk also exist in loans and 
transaction settlements. Credit risk is measured as the amount that could be lost if a customer or counterparty fails to 
make repayments. The maximum exposure to credit risk in case of all the financial instruments is restricted to their 
respective carrying amount					   

	 Credit Risk is monitored through stringent credit appraisal, counterparty limits ands internal risk ranges of the 
borrowers. Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of the ability of all the customers and 
counterparties to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing lending limits where 
appropriate.					  

	 Group primarily offers loans secured by real estate/housing property. In order to mitigate credit risk, Group also 
seeks collateral appropriate to the product segment and also ensure that Loan to value ratio is maintained as 
specified by regulator . Other means of mitigating credit risk that the Group uses are guarantees. The most common 
types of collateral the Group receives, measured by collateral value, are mortgages on financial assets in the form of  
Residential/Commercial property/Real estate.

	 a)	 Maximum exposure to the Credit risk

	 This table below shows the Group’s maximum exposure to the credit risk

Particulars Mar-20 Mar-19 Mar-18
Financial Assets at amortised cost - Loans & Advances (Gross)  57,367.04  56,040.66  10,394.37 
Less : Impairment loss allowances  1,778.71  397.23  128.51 
Financial Assets at amortised cost - Loans & Advances (Net)  55,588.33  55,643.43  10,265.86 
Financial Assets measured at FVTPL - Mutual funds  863.41  1,850.53  -   
Receivables  250.48  -    32.40 
Total  56,702.22  57,493.96  10,298.26 

. 	 Credit risk on Cash and Cash equivalents is considered to be Nil as these are generally held with leading banks.

b)	 Credit quality analysis			 

	 An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date based on the facts and circumstances existing on that 
date to identify expected losses on account of time value of money and credit risk. The credit quality of Loans and 
advances measured at amortised cost is primarily assessed by the Days Past Due (DPD) status and other qualitative 
factors leading to increase in credit risk			 
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	 Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment	 		

	 In assessing the impairment of financial assets under the expected credit loss model, the Company defines default 
when a loan obligation is overdue for more than 90 days and credit impaired.			

	 Assessment of significant increase in credit risk			 

	 When determining whether the risk of default has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Company 
considers the DPD status of the loans. Credit risk is deemed to have increased significantly when an asset is more 
than 30 days past due (DPD) and other qualitative internal or external factors demonstrating credit or liquidity risk.

	 Calculation of expected credit losses			 

	 The key elements in calculation of ECL are as follows:		

	 PD - The Probability of Default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. A default may 
only happen at a certain time over the assessed period, if the facility has not been previously derecognised and is 
still in the portfolio. 		

	 EAD - The Exposure at Default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account expected 
changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest, whether scheduled 
by contract or otherwise, expected drawdowns on committed facilities, accrued interest from missed payments and 
loan commitments.			 

	 LGD - The Loss Given Default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given time. It 
is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, 
including from the realisation of any collateral. It is usually expressed as a percentage of the EAD. The LGD is 
determined based on valuation of collaterals and other relevant factors.			 

	 For PD the Company has relied upon the PD data from industry benchmarks and external rating agencies. For Loss 
Given Default (LGD) the Company has relied on internal and external information.		

	 In relation to COVID-19, Management has applied appropriate overlay to the above method of determining ECL. 
Refer note 48 for additional details.

Particulars As at  
March 31, 2020

As at  
March 31, 2019

As at  
April 01, 2018

Gross Stage 1 (DPD< 30 days) Performing asset and 12 
month ECL  48,295.61  55,860.23  6,592.32 
Less : Impairment loss allowance  802.60  395.48  92.87 
Net Stage 1 Assets  47,493.01  55,464.75  6,499.45 
ECL Prov. Coverage 1.66% 0.71% 1.41%

Gross Stage 2 (30>DPD< 90 days) Under performing 
assets increase in credit risk and Lifetime ECL  9,071.43  180.43  3,802.05 
Less : Impairment loss allowance  976.11  1.75  35.64 
Net Stage 2 Assets  8,095.32  178.68  3,766.41 
ECL Prov. Coverage 10.76% 0.97% 0.94%

Gross Stage 3 (DPD>90) Non-performing assets  credit 
impaired and lifetime ECL  -    -    -   
Less : Impairment loss allowance  -    -    -   
Net Stage 3 Assets  -    -    -   
ECL Prov. Coverage 0.00% 0.00%  -   

Total Loans & Adv  57,367.04  56,040.66  10,394.37 
Less : Impairment loss allowance  1,778.71  397.23  128.51 
Net Loans & Advances  55,588.33  55,643.43  10,265.86 
ECL Prov. Coverage 3.10% 0.71% 1.24%
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	 Credit impairment charge to the income statement

Particulars Year ended  
March 31, 2020

Year ended  
March 31, 2019

New and increased provisions (incl. write off)  1,381.48  268.72 
Write-backs of specific provisions  -    -   
Recoveries of specific provisions  -    -   
Total charge to the income statement  1,381.48  268.72 

	 Write-offs still under enforcement activity			 
	 The contractual amount outstanding on loans and advances and Trade receivables that were written off during the 

year ended March 2020 is 130.00 Lakhs and 13.12 Lakhs respectively and the contractual amount outstanding on 
loans and advances and Trade receivables that are still subject to enforcement activity was Nil.

c)	 Movement in Gross Exposures and credit impairment for loans and advances

	 The Company uses ‘Expected Credit Loss’ (ECL) model, for evaluating impairment of Financial Assets measured 
at amortised cost or FVTOCI. Company follows a ‘three-stage’ model for impairment based on changes in credit 
quality since initial recognition. Please refer to the accounting policy for details.

As at April 1, 2018 Movement in Gross Exposure to Loans & Adv. Movement in ECL
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Balance as at April 1, 2018 6,592.32  3,802.05  -   10,394.37  92.87  35.64  -    128.51 
Changes due to financial assets 
recognised in opening balance that 
have: 
- Transferred to 12 month ECL  666.67  (666.67)  -    2.91 (2.91 )  -   

- �Transferred to lifetime ECL - 
significant increase in credit risk

 -    -    -    -    -   

- Transferred to lifetime ECL credit 
– impaired 

 -    -    -    -    -   

Increase due to financial assets 
originated

49,701.24 49,701.24  305.17  -    -    305.17 

Decrease due to loans 
derecognised on full payment

(1,100.00) (2,954.95) (4,054.95)  (5.47)  (30.98)  -    (36.45)

Net remeasurement (Due to 
recovery on regular basis changes 
in rating, changes in security value 
etc.)
Amounts written off during the 
year

 -    -    -    -    -   

Balance as at March 31, 2019 55,860.23  180.43  -   56,040.66  395.48  1.75  -    397.23 
Changes due to financial assets 
recognised in opening balance that 
have: 
- Transferred to 12 month ECL  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   
- �Transferred to lifetime ECL - 
significant increase in credit risk

 (5,828.90)  5,828.90  -    -    (43.45)  43.45  -    -   

- Transferred to lifetime ECL credit 
– impaired 

 -    -    -    -    -    -   

Increase due to financial assets 
originated

 27,076.14  3,242.54  30,318.68  559.27  932.67  -   1,491.94 

Decrease due to loans 
derecognised on full payment

 (28,811.87)  (180.43)  -   (28,992.30) (108.71)  (1.75)  (110.46)

Net remeasurement (Due to 
recovery on regular basis changes 
in rating, changes in security value 
etc.)

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Amounts written off during the 
year

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Balance as at March 31, 2020 48,295.60  9,071.44  -    57,367.04  802.59  976.12  -   1,778.71 



Annual Report 2019-20 |  195

Notes to the Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2020
(Currency: Rs. In Lakhs)

d)	 Collateral and other credit enhancements					   

	 Group would generally have its credit exposures backed by securities, either primary or collateral. Lending 
Policy of the Company prescribes Asset cover norms and collateral guidelines for its various product offering. 
The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty and 
product offered.

	 Group grants loans against collateral of real estate (Land, Under construction projects, Ready property) including 
commercial and residential properties. 
As collateral is a source of mitigating credit risk, assessment of the condition of the securities and their value is 
undertaken on regular basis. There were no significant changes in the collateral policy of the Group during the 
Financial Year 2019-2020

	 Group does not have any Credit impaired assets as on March 2020 (March 19 Nil).

e) 	 Credit Concentration	 				  

	 The Group’s loan portfolio is primarily concentrated on real estate, as detailed below.

Particulars  As at  
31st March 2020

 As at  
31st March 2019

 As at  
1st April 2018

Real Estate 54.91% 56.89% 36.58%

Others 45.09% 43.11% 63.42%
			 
ii)	 Liquidity Risk				  

	 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulties in meeting the obligations associated with its financial 
liabilities that are selected by delivering cash or other financial assets. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity 
is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due, under both 
normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. 
The respective BOD of the group through its respective committees monitors liquidity functions. They review Asset 
Liability strategy and Balance Sheet management in relation to asset and liability profile. They ensures that the 
objectives of liquidity management are met by monitoring the gaps in the various time buckets, deciding on the source 
and mix of liabilities, setting the maturity profile of the incremental assets and liabilities etc.		

	 Key principles adopted in the Group’s approach to managing liquidity risk include:	

	 a)	� Monitoring the Group’s liquidity position on a regular basis, using a combination of contractual and behavioural 
modelling of balance sheet and cash flow information						    

	 b) 	Maintaining a high quality liquid asset portfolio						    

	 c)	� Operating a prudent funding strategy which ensures appropriate diversification and limits maturity 
concentrations				  

	 The Group’s principal sources of liquidity are cash and cash equivalents, Overdraft facilities from Banks, liquid asset 
portfolio like Mutual funds and the cash flow that is generated from operation.			 

	 The following are the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities at the reporting date. The amounts are 
gross and undiscounted, and include interest accrued till the reporting date.

 As at  
31st March 2020

Contractual cash flows
Total Upto 1 

year
1-3 years 3-5 years More than 5 

years

Borrowings (Includes Interest accrued but not due)  8,249.38  5,336.51  2,889.30  23.57  -   

Debt securities  4,077.70  77.70  4,000.00 

Trade and Other Payables  178.43  178.43  -    -    -   

Other Financial Liabilities  5,306.54  3,775.72  954.73  422.38  153.71 

 17,812.05 9,368.36 7,844.03  445.95  153.71 
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 As at  
31st March 2019

Contractual cash flows
Total Upto 1 

year
1-3 years 3-5 years More than 5 

years

Borrowings (Includes Interest accrued but not due)  12,885.34  5,239.80  7,645.54  -    -   

Trade and Other Payables  117.64  117.64  -    -    -   

Other Financial Liabilities  2,294.39  1,083.74  1,016.81  153.64  40.20 

 15,297.37 6,441.18 8,662.35  153.64  40.20 

 As at  
1st April 2018

Contractual cash flows
Total Upto 1 

year
1-3 years 3-5 years More than 5 

years

Borrowings (Includes Interest accrued but not due)  1,160.59  1,160.59  -    -    -   

Trade and Other Payables  34.16  34.16  -    -    -   

Other Financial Liabilities  2,408.08  505.41  1,404.73  497.94  -   

 3,602.84 1,700.17 1,404.73  497.94  -   

iii)	 Market Risk 		  				  

	 Market risk represents the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to 
changes in market variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices.

iv)	 Interest rate risk	 					   

	 Group has exposure to interest rate risk, primarily from its lending business and related borrowings. The following 
table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates (all other variables being constant) 
of the Group’s statement of profit and loss.

% Increase in rate Increase/(decrease) in profit
31st March 2020 31st March 2019 31st March 2020 31st March 2019

Borrowings that are re-priced 0.25% 0.25%  (30.47)  (33.07)

Loans that are re-priced 0.25% 0.25%  143.42  140.10 
						    

	 Interest rate risk is managed primarily by monitoring the sensitivity of expected net interest income (‘NII’) under 
varying interest rate scenarios. This monitoring is undertaken by the respective Board of directors of the group 
through its respective committees on regular basis. The NII sensitivities shown are indicative and based on simplified 
scenarios.

44	 Impairment of Goodwill					   

	 The Group tests goodwill for impairment annually on March 31. During the year ended March 31, 2020, the testing 
did not result in any impairment in the carrying amount of goodwill.	

45	 Financial Instruments			 

	 Accounting classification and fair values:							    

	 The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial instruments (excluding investment in 
subsidiaries), including their levels in the fair value hierarchy. The Group has disclosed financial instruments not 
measured at fair value at carrying values because their carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of the fair 
values.							     
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As at March 31, 2020 Carrying Amount Fair value hierarchy
FVTPL Amortised 

Cost
Total Level 

1
Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial Assets
Investment in Mutual fund Units  863.41  -    863.41  -    -    -    -   
Cash and cash equivalents  -    6,797.62  6,797.62  -    -    -    -   
Other Bank Balances  -    117.53  117.53  -    -    -    -   
Trade and other receivables  -    250.48  250.48  -    -    -    -   
Loans & Advances  -    55,588.33  55,588.33  -    -    -    -   
Others financial assets  -    1,658.03  1,658.03  -    -    -    -   
Total  863.41  64,411.99 65,275.40  -    -    -    -   
Financial liabilities
Trade and Other Payables  -    178.43  178.43  -    -    -    -   
Debt Securities  -    4,000.00  4,000.00 
Borrowings  -    8,186.74  8,186.74  -    -    -    -   
Other Financial Liabilities  -    5,446.87  5,446.87  -    -    -    -   
Total  -    17,812.04 17,812.04  -    -    -    -   

As at March 31, 2019 Carrying Amount Fair value hierarchy
FVTPL Amortised 

Cost
Total Level 

1
Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial Assets
Investment in Mutual fund Units  1,850.53  -    1,850.53  -    -    -    -   
Investment in Debt Instruments  -    525.00  525.00 
Cash and cash equivalents  -    2,945.96  2,945.96  -    -    -    -   
Other Bank Balances  -    583.79  583.79  -    -    -    -   
Loans & Advances  -    55,643.43  55,643.43  -    -    -    -   
Others financial assets  -    1,454.56  1,454.56  -    -    -    -   
Total  1,850.53  61,152.74 63,003.27  -    -    -    -   
Financial liabilities
Trade and Other Payables  -    117.64  117.64  -    -    -    -   
Borrowings  -    12,679.69  12,679.69  -    -    -    -   
Deposits  -    550.00  550.00 
Other Financial Liabilities  -    1,950.03  1,950.03  -    -    -    -   
Total  -    15,297.36 15,297.36  -    -    -    -   

As at April 01, 2018 Carrying Amount Fair value hierarchy
FVTPL Amortised 

Cost
Total Level 

1
Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents  -    539.25  539.25  -    -    -    -   
Other Bank Balances  -    2,650.00  2,650.00  -    -    -    -   
Other receivables  -    32.40  32.40  -    -    -    -   
Loans & Advances  -    10,265.86  10,265.86  -    -    -    -   
Others financial assets  -    320.35  320.35  -    -    -    -   
Total  -    13,807.86  13,807.86  -    -    -    -   
Financial liabilities
Trade and Other Payables  -    34.16  34.16  -    -    -    -   
Borrowings  -    1,105.32  1,105.32  -    -    -    -   
Deposits  -    700.00  700.00  -    -    -    -   
Other Financial liabilities  -    1,763.35  1,763.35  -    -    -    -   
Total  -    3,602.83  3,602.83  -    -    -    -   
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46	 Ind AS 101 - First Time adoption of Indian Accounting Standards			 

	 The Group has prepared opening balance sheet as per Ind AS as at April 01, 2018 (transition date) by recognising 
all assets and liabilities whose recognition is required by Ind AS, derecognising items of assets or liabilities which 
are not permitted to be recognised by Ind AS, reclassifying items from Previous GAAP to Ind AS as required, and 
applying Ind AS to measure the recognised assets and liabilities.

	 Reconciliation of Equity :

Particulars As at  
March 31, 2019

As at  
April 01, 2018

Total Equity as per IGAAP  51,042.04  13,174.20 
Adjustment made during the transition to IND AS

a) Accounting for Operating Leases (refer note vii)  (89.28)  (42.18)

b) ECL Adjustment on Financial instruments measured at Amortized cost 
(refer note iii)

 (171.53)  (86.94)

c) Others (including taxes)  (25.80)  17.92 

Total Impact due to Ind AS adjustments  (286.61)  (111.20)
Total Equity as per Ind AS as at 1st April, 2018  50,755.43  13,063.00 

	 Reconciliation of Total Comprehensive Income for the year ended March 31, 2019

Particulars Amount 
Profit after Tax as per Old GAAP  587.25 
Adjustment made during the transition to IND AS

a) Expected credit loss (refer note iii)  (84.60)

b) ESOP Fair value adjustment (refer note viii)  234.05 

c) Accounting for Operating Leases (refer note vii)  (47.10)

d) Others (including taxes)  (38.62)

Profit after tax as per Ind AS (Before Other Comprehensive income)  650.98 

Other Comprehensive Income (Net of Tax)  (5.08)

Total Comprehensive Income as per Ind AS  645.90 

	 Statement of reconciliation of cash flow statement under Ind AS and cash flow statement reported under Previous GAAP

Particulars Previous GAAP Adjustment Ind AS

Net cash used in operating activities (A) (refer note vii)  (45,840.74)  (518.11)  (45,322.63)

Net cash used in investing activities (B)  (2,932.64)  1.53  (2,934.17)

Net cash generated from financing activities (C)(refer note vii)  49,531.62  518.11  49,013.51 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C)  758.24  1.53  756.71 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  2,189.25  -    2,189.25 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  2,947.49  1.53  2,945.96 

	 An explanation of how the transition from previous GAAP to Ind AS has affected the Group’s financial position, 
financial performance and cash flows is set out in the following notes and tables.			 

	 i)	 Effective interest rate (EIR) method : 	 		

		  Previous GAAP did not require loans to be recorded using the EIR method. Under Ind AS, the EIR method 
calculates the amortised cost of a financial instrument and allocated such interest over the relevant period. 
The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows (including all fees paid or received 
that form an integral part of the EIR, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the 
expected life of the instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial 
recognition.	
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	 ii)	 Expected credit loss (ECL) :	 		

		  Previous GAAP provisions for credit losses were primarily based on RBI guidelines. Under Ind AS, the ECL 
allowance is based on the credit losses expected to arise from all possible default events over the expected 
life of the financial assets (‘life time ECL’), unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk since 
origination, in which case, the allowance is based on the 12-month ECL.	

	 iii)	 Income recognition on credit-impaired loans :			 

		  RBI guidelines required income on NPAs to be reversed. Under Ind AS, income continues to be recognised 
on credit impaired loans, by applying the effective interest rate to the net amortised cost of loans (i.e. net of 
allowance for loan losses)			

	 iv)	 Borrowing costs :			 

		  Previous GAAP did not require amortised cost accounting for liabilities. Under Ind AS, the Group determines 
the effective interest rate of its borrowings and records interest expense on that basis.		

	 v)	 Security deposits :			 

		  Previous GAAP did not require the fair valuation of financial instruments at initial recognition. Under Ind 
AS, the Group records security deposits provided to landlords at time value of money, with corresponding 
adjustments to interest expense and depreciation.		

	 vi)	 Employee defined benefit plans :			 

		  Previous GAAP required actuarial experience adjustments relating to defined benefit plans, i.e. gratuity to be 
recorded in the profit and loss account. By contrast, under Ind AS, the Group records such adjustments in OCI

	 vii)	 Lease Rent :		  	

		  Previous GAAP as well as Ind AS 17 require to classify lease as finance lease and operating lease and for 
operating leases, lessee is required to recognise the lease payments as an expense (Lease rent) on a straight 
line basis.	

		  Ind AS 116 introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities 
for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee is 
required to recognise a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying leased asset and a lease 
liability representing its obligation to make lease payments.			 

		  Under Ind AS 116, a lessee measures right-of-use assets similarly to other non-financial assets (such as 
property, plant and equipment) and lease liabilities similarly to other financial liabilities. As a consequence, 
a lessee recognizes depreciation of the right-of-use asset and interest on the lease liability, and also classifies 
cash repayments of the lease liability into a principal portion and an interest portion and presents them in the 
statement of cash flows applying Ind AS 7, Statement of Cash Flows.	

	 viii)	 Share-based payment transactions :	 		

		  Under Previous GAAP, the Group recorded its ESOP grants at intrinsic value while under Ind AS, the grants 
are recorded at fair value.		

	 ix)	 Deferred tax :			 

		  Deferred tax effect of all adjustments has been recognised on transition date and during the year ended 31 
March 2019.			 

	 x)	 Ind AS 101 exemptions :			 

		  The Group has used certain available exemptions under Ind AS 101 for first-time adoption, and accordingly 
has retained the accounting under Previous GAAP for transactions that occurred prior to the Ind AS transition 
date. These optional exemptions relate to property plant and equipment, intangible assets, investment in 
subsidiaries.	

	 xi)	 Cash flow statement :	 		

		  There are no significant differences in the principles used for presenting cash flows between the previous 
GAAP and Ind AS.
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47	 COVID Impact	 			 

	 The outbreak of COVID 19 pandemic and consequent lockdown has severely impacted business and operations of 
the Group since the last week of March 2020. In terms of the policy approved by the Board of directors of Group 
companies pursuant to Reserve Bank of India (RBI) Circular dated March 27, 2020 and April 17, 2020 relating to 
‘COVID-19 – Regulatory Package’, the Group has granted EMI moratorium to eligible borrowers for a period upto 
3 months with regards to the payment falling due between March 1, 2020 and May 31, 2020. Further, in relation 
to the accounts overdue but standard as at February 29, 2020 where moratorium benefit has been extended in 
terms of aforesaid RBI guidelines, the staging of those accounts at  March 31 2020 is based on the days past due 
status as on February 29, 2020. Based on an assessment by the Group, this relaxation has not been deemed to be 
automatically triggering significant increase in credit risk.. On May 22, 2020, the RBI has announced extension of 
the Moratorium Period by further three months which is currently under evaluation by the Group.

	 In relation to COVID-19, judgments and assumptions include the extent and duration of the pandemic, the impacts 
of actions of governments and other authorities, and the responses of businesses and consumers in different 
industries. While the methodologies and assumptions applied in the impairment loss allowance calculations 
remained unchanged from those applied prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has separately incorporated 
estimates, assumptions and judgments specific to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic based on early indicators 
of moratorium and delayed payments metrics observed along with an estimation of potential stress on probability of 
defaults and exposure at defaults. Accordingly, the Group has measured additional impairment loss allowance and 
recognised a total provision towards expected credit losses of Rs. 1778.71 Lakhs as at 31 March 2020. The extent 
to which the COVID-19 pandemic will impact the Group’s impairment loss allowance on assets and future results 
will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and the Group will continue to closely monitor the 
same.

48	 The Financial Statements have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and approved by the Board of Directors at 
its meeting held on 01st June, 2020			 

49	 There have been no events after the balance sheet date that require disclosure in these financial statements.	
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